# DIGITAL COMMONS

@ UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA

## University of South Florida Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

2-1-2014

## The Effect of Teachers' Epistemological Beliefs on Practice

Milton David Huling University of South Florida, milton.huling@polk-fl.net

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Science and Mathematics Education Commons

#### Scholar Commons Citation

Huling, Milton David, "The Effect of Teachers' Epistemological Beliefs on Practice" (2014). USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations. https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/5044

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

#### The Effect of Teachers' Epistemological Beliefs on Practice

by

### Milton Huling

Dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Curriculum and Instruction with an emphasis in Science Education Department of Secondary Education College of Education University of South Florida

> Major Professor: Dana Zeidler, Ph.D Allan Feldman, Ph.D Benjamin Herman, Ph.D Sarah Kiefer, Ph.D

> > Date of Approval February 1, 2014

Keywords: Epistemology, Nature of Science, Constructivism, Positivism, Perry Model

Copyright © 2014, Milton Huling

### DEDICATION

To my parents, Milton Sr. and Melba Huling, thank you for everything.

I must also include my cousins, Judy and Evans Mank for their support and inspiration.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Completion of my dissertation is by no means an individual effort. Thank you to the science teachers who trusted me with their beliefs, thoughts, and opinions. I would like to thank my committee members for their support throughout my dissertation. This includes Professors Feldman, Kiefer, and Herman. There are not enough words to express my gratitude towards Professor Dana Zeidler, my dissertation advisor.

I would like to thank all of my family and friends including Angela Chapman, Wardell Powell, Sherry Moser, Paula Leftwich and Diane Conley. Without you to lean on, I could not have made it. A special thank you must go to my wife for tolerating this long and arduous journey.

Table of Contents	
List of Tables	v
Abstract	vii
Chapter One	1
Introduction	1
Scientific Literacy	9
Nature of Science	13
Teaching the Nature of Science	16
Personal Epistemological Beliefs	
Constructivism	
Positivism	
Statement of Problem	
Research Questions	
Importance of Study	
Summary	
Chapter Two: Review of Literature	
Introduction	
Scientific Literacy and the Need for Nature of Science	40
Nature of Science	
What Do We Know About Learning the Nature of Science?	
What Do We Know about Teaching NOS?	54
Barriers to NOS instruction.	59
Teacher knowledge of NOS	59
Situational and institutional barriers.	61

## **Table of Contents**

. 63
. 65
. 66
. 70
. 73
. 77
. 80
. 87
. 90
. 92
. 95
- - -

Chapter Three: Methods	
Introduction	
Participants and Setting	
Instructional Context	105
Research Design and Methodology	109
Instruments/Measures	111
SUSSI: Nature of science.	
EBS: Personal epistemological beliefs.	
NOS-COP: Pedagogical practice.	115
Interview protocol	118
Data Collection	118
Teacher Selection	118
Collection of Participant Data	120
Timeframe for the Study	
Analysis of Results	125
Quantitative analysis	125
Qualitative analysis	
Development of teacher profiles	127
Comparison between teachers	

Summary
---------

Chapter Four: Results	
Introduction	
Research Questions 1a - What is the nature of the relationship betwepistemological beliefs and NOS beliefs?	ween personal
Teacher profiles	
The Researcher	
Profile Conclusions	
Research Question 1b - In what ways does the co-occurence between under NOS and personal epistemological beliefs affect the importance teachers	erstandings of place on NOS?
Knowledge Versus Importance of NOS.	
Summary	
Research Question 1c - In what ways does the co-occurrence between une NOS and personal epistemological beliefs affect the classroom activities construction?	derstandings of luring NOS 186
Research Question 1d - What other factors are responsible for influencing teachers make about classroom instruction?	the choices
State Standards & District Curriculum.	
Class Time, Planning Time and Testing as a Function of Time	198
School Administrative and Peer Constraints.	
Summary of Barriers	
Question One Summary	
Question Two - In what ways do classroom practices differ between NOS instruction of scientific practices and skills?	instruction and
Research Question 2a - In what ways are these differences reflective of un NOS?	nderstandings of
Research Question 2b - In what ways are these differences reflective of period epistemological beliefs?	ersonal 212
Question 2 Summary	

Chapter Five	. 216
Introduction	. 216
Discussion of Findings	. 216
Beliefs and their influence on importance about NOS.	. 219
Beliefs and their implications to practice	. 220
Epistemological Beliefs and Other Constraints to Practice.	. 222
NOS/Practice and Skills	. 225
Personal Epistemological Beliefs/NOS/ Practice and Skills.	. 227
Conclusions	. 228
Implications	. 230
Limitations	. 233
Suggestions for Future Research	. 235
References:	. 237
Appendix A: Epistemological Beliefs Survey	. 268
Appendix B: District's Curriculum	
Appendix D. District's Currentum	. 275
Appendix C: Student Understanding of Science and Scientific Inquiry	. 275
Appendix D: Student Understanding of Science and Scientific Inquiry Appendix D: Nature of Science Observation and Classroom Protocol	. 275 . 276 . 281
Appendix D: Student Understanding of Science and Scientific Inquiry Appendix D: Nature of Science Observation and Classroom Protocol Appendix E: Semi-structured Interview Questions	. 275 . 276 . 281 . 285
Appendix E: Student Understanding of Science and Scientific Inquiry Appendix D: Nature of Science Observation and Classroom Protocol Appendix E: Semi-structured Interview Questions Appendix F: Participant Profiles	. 275 . 276 . 281 . 285 . 287

## List of Tables

Table 1:	Curriculum for First 64 Days of Class with Denotations of Purpose of Concepts.	108
Table 2:	Instruments used during the study	112
Table 3:	Classroom Observation Protocol Cronbach Data	116
Table 4:	Research Schedule	124
Table 5:	Instruments used for each research question	132
Table 6:	Epistemological Beliefs Descriptive Statistics	136
Table 7:	SUSSI Descriptive Statistics	136
Table 8:	Correlation between EBS and SUSSI Overall Scores	137
Table 9:	Epistemological Scores of Phase Two Participants	142
Table 10:	Overview of Participants	180
Table 11:	Importance of NOS within Instruction	181
Table 12:	Teacher Interpretations of NOS	182
Table 13:	Participant Responses About NOS Activities	187
Table 14:	EBS/NOS vs. Practice Type	192
Table 15:	Teacher Perceived Constraints	197

Table 16:	Time as a Barrier	199
Table 17:	Administrative Constraints	201
Table 18:	Co-Planning w/Peers	202
Table 19:	Frequency and Quality of Activities for NOS and Practice & Skills	207
Table 20:	Disparate Beliefs	230

#### Abstract

Unfortunately, for the most part, teachers do not teach the Nature of Science (NOS). Even when teachers have adequate NOS knowledge, their knowledge still does not make its way into practice. While there are various reasons for this happening, this study has isolated other, more typical, constraints to teaching in order to look more closely at the influence of personal epistemological beliefs, understandings of NOS, and their effects on practice. In an effort to minimize typical constraints of time for the teaching of NOS, a sixth grade physical science course was chosen as a way to minimize this constraint. Within this course there was a School District- mandated schedule for the teaching of NOS. This curriculum map included details of what NOS topics to teach and when to teach them. In Phase One of the study, correlational relationships between these understandings of NOS and personal epistemological beliefs were investigated. A Pearson Correlation Coefficient of 0.62 was calculated based on 28 sixth grade science teachers. In *Phase Two* of the research, eleven participants were chosen for a more indepth analysis. Through the use of triangulation of interview data, classroom observations, artifact collection and survey scores to ascertain the constraints for each individual, even though few constraints could be verified that would affect instruction, only three of eleven participants taught NOS. Personal epistemological beliefs play a role in the way instruction is approached in either a constructivist or non-constructivist manner.

#### **Chapter One**

#### Introduction

Scientific literacy is now recognized throughout the world as a means of increasing both the economic and industrial development of a nation, as well as carrying out that progress in a socially and environmentally sustainable way (Fensham, 2008). Fensham notes that to meet these demands requires both identification and training of individuals who will enter the professions of science and technology. These professionals will direct the economics of the nation, while improving the personal health of its citizens. Equally important is the need for non-scientists to become scientifically literate in order to become informed consumers of information that is rich in science and technology, in order to support a more sustainable vision of growth (2008). Simultaneously, this vision enjoys support from varying international organizations (e.g., UNESCO [United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization] and ICASE (International Council of Associations for Science Education) and has not escaped notice from organizations closer to home (National Science Board, 2006; National Academy of Science, 2007). The National Science Board (2006) reports that a host of stakeholders, from business and industry policy-makers to government agencies, proclaim that to increase this Nation's opportunities in a global marketplace, efforts to increase educational opportunities for all students must occur. These calls to action resonate in an environment where K-12 education has been challenged with its inadequacies, including accusations such as college readiness.

Currently, thirty percent of students entering post-secondary institutions require remedial coursework (National Academy of Science, 2007). Moreover, comparisons of scientific literacy against other industrialized nations (National Center for Education Statistics, 2004; Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2007) reveal American students have fallen short of the mark.

It has been 30 years since the publication of *Nation at Risk* (National Commission on Excellence, 1983) with the dire prognosis of American education and its calls for reform. There is evidence to suggest many of the reforms recommended in the *Nation at Risk* document have come to fruition, including the emphasis on more rigorous core courses (such as science), accountability, and by some measures the addition of more qualified teachers (United States Department of Education, 2008). When the question is posed, "Have we done enough to ensure every student becomes scientifically literate?" international assessments suggest that answer is "No." Furthermore, despite prior warnings sounded in *A Nation at Risk* (National Commission on Excellence, 1983) and the adoption of reform protocols, scientific literacy is not keeping pace with demands of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. The urgency of these issues applies to this nation's immediate science and technological development. These same issues globally affect the future of all nations (Fensham, 2008).

Within the U.S., recent reports suggest that though much progress has been made in scientific literacy, considerable work remains undone (National Center for Education Statistics, 2004; Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2009). According to the Programme for International Student Assessment, (PISA) which compared 15 year-olds on their math, reading and science skills in 34 of the world's industrialized countries, U.S. students did not fare well (OECD, 2009). As a caveat, it should be noted that "scientific literacy" is a term

often used in science education, but one that lacks a clear definition. At present, the science education landscape is a competition between two broad "visions" of scientific literacy (Roberts, 2007). The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (2009) defines scientific literacy as "an overarching competency comprising a set of three specific scientific competencies. A competency is more than just knowledge and skills (OECD, 2003) which includes the capacity to mobilize cognitive and non-cognitive resources in any given context (p. 126)." The PISA assessment, despite claims to the contrary, measures only the more decontextualized concept of science, favoring facts and processes (Vision I) and measuring only Scientific Literacy within a narrow definition (Sadler and Zeidler, 2009). In contrast to Vision I, Vision II (Roberts 2007) embraces a more functional view of science, where students are exposed to contextualized socioscientific issues (SSI).

Administrators of the 2009 PISA announced the test would be designed to go beyond simple recall of scientific knowledge. Instead, the new test design would measure students' ability to identify scientific issues, to explain phenomena scientifically, and to use scientific evidence in real life situations (OECD, 2007). Sadler and Zeidler (2009) criticized test items used in PISA as typical decontextualized (Vision I type) questions within an unnecessary background story. In contrast, Vision II favors a more contextualized vision of science that promotes personal decision-making. Through Vision II, science instruction moves away from the notion of decontextualized facts and processes students ought to know (being able to do science) toward one that embraces "real life" situations (being able to use science), where traditional boundaries of science become blurred within other social considerations (Sadler & Zeidler, 2009). This embedded nature of science, within a contextualized setting, establishes *relevance* for the learner and acts as a "watchword" for Vision II (Roberts, 2011).

First proposed by Zeidler (1984) and Zeidler & Schafer, (1984), a growing global cadre of science educators has expressed interest in expanding the definition of scientific literacy to include the moral and ethical aspects of science as a societal endeavor (Zeidler & Keefer, 2003; Zeidler, Sadler, Simmons, & Howes, 2005; Zeidler & Sadler, 2008). It has been argued (Zeidler & Sadler, 2008; Zeidler et al., 2005) that any vision of scientific literacy must consider morality and ethics. The study of socioscientific issues (SSI) elevates character development within the scientific literacy framework. In doing so, it provides opportunities for students to engage in discourse to consider moral, environmental and political aspects of science and their impact on society. SSI is mentioned here not just to provide a discussion of scientific literacy beyond what most consider Vision II, but also as part of the larger discussion about providing best practices for students. By providing these experiences, students are challenged by opportunities to develop their own knowledge using socioscientific reasoning (Zeidler & Sadler, 2011).

As debates are taking place in science education about how school science needs to look, PISA (OECD, 2009) (its limited SL scope notwithstanding), does provide one measure of students' achievement that should not be ignored, especially considering the current environment of accountability. On the three measures (reading, mathematics and science), American 15 yearold students placed in the middle half to lower third of the group. According to the 2009 results of PISA for scientific literacy, the United States ranked 17th (behind Poland, Belgium, Ireland, and Hungary) and only slightly above the mean. Miller's (2007) research on adults over the past 20 years has also yielded disparaging reports about scientific literacy. As of 2005, the highest level of scientific literacy, globally, was found in Sweden (35%), with the U.S. placing second with a scientific literacy rate of 28%. To place second provides little solace given the majority of U.S. citizens remain scientifically illiterate, despite two decades of gains. From 1988 to 2005,

scientific literacy among adults in the U.S has increased from 10% to 28%, according to Miller (2007). Using a set of core knowledge and process questions, Miller and his colleagues tested adults in 27 European Union nations plus the United States, Canada, China, Japan, Korea, India, and New Zealand. The differences between scientific literacy levels of secondary students and adult respondents are credited to the American university system, which requires one year of science for all students, regardless of major (Hobson, 2008). While these increases are encouraging for those adults who matriculate through college coursework, they could hardly be considered a satisfactory level for living in a technological society (Hazen, 2002) and frankly reflect the urgency about scientific literacy felt by the science education community, both nationally and internationally.

For over twenty years, scientific literacy has continued to be a mainstay of global reform documents (AAAS, 1989, 1993, 1997, 2009; Achieve, Inc., 2013; McComas & Olson, 1998; Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China, 2001; Zeidler & Sadler, 2011; NRC, 1996; NSTA, 2000; Turkish Ministry of National Education, 2005) and international assessments (National Center for Education Statistics, 2004; Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2007). Scientific literacy is now viewed as an important outcome in science education and is enjoying worldwide caché (McEneaney, 2003) despite its definitional challenges.

During the last half century, much research has focused on learning about the nature of science (NOS), which distinguishes scientific knowledge from other knowledge and is a key component of scientific literacy (Lederman, N., & Lederman, J., 2004). This research, too, has provided an unsuitable outlook for education in terms of what students are expected to know and do in science classes.

Just as assessments on the broader scope of scientific literacy have provided a disparaging outlook, decades of research have also shown that neither teachers nor students are capable of expressing adequate understandings of NOS (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000a; Duschl, 1990; Lederman, 1992, 2007; Schwartz & Lederman, 2002).

As research suggests (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 1998), NOS is best learned through an explicit reflective approach. Through a set of subsequent research studies (e.g., Abd-El-Khalik, 2001, 2005; Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000b; Akerson, Abd-El-Khalik, & Lederman, 2000; Bell, Matkins, & Gansneder, 2011; Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik, 2002) have demonstrated the greater effectiveness of these methods over previously attempted methods and make the point that explicit does not mean didactic, rather the intended understandings are planned for, as opposed to hope for as an artifact of instruction. Opportunities to reflect must be given to students so they may construct their own knowledge within a setting of student-centered activities, but the complexion of such activities, whether contextual or decontextualized, has become a topic of discussion amongst the science education community.

There has been recent criticism of methods of teaching NOS as a set of de-contextualized tenets used in previous research on explicit-reflective instruction (Allchin, 2011; Brickhouse, Dagher, Letts, & Shipman, 2000; Johnston & Southerland, 2002; Olson & Clough, 2001; Ryder, Leach, & Driver, 1999; Smith & Scharmann, 1999). A host of researchers (e.g., Brown, Collins, & Duguid, 1989; Metz, 1998; Roth, 1995; Wells, 1999) question the ability of students to recognize NOS concepts taught out of context, as an integral component of science and scientific issues. Clough (2003) has expressed concern that instructional attempts at teaching NOS without contextualization have contributed to the minimal effectiveness of explicit-reflective instructions.

More recent research suggests explicit-reflective instruction as a best practice regardless of the contextualized or decontextualized nature of NOS instruction (Bell, et al., 2011).

Clough (2003) maintains that employing explicit-reflective practices is only part of the necessary components to effective NOS instruction. From a review of research into how people learn, he promotes the case that beyond a contextualized setting, NOS requires "extensive scaffolding between a variety of NOS instructional contexts and [that] pedagogical strategies are important to promote a deep understanding of the NOS" (Herman, Olson & Clough, 2011, p.2). Explicit-reflective practice, whether as a threshold to best practice or as a practical method on its own, may remain at present, unresolved. More important is that, despite consensus within the science education community of effective practices of NOS instruction within the typical K-12 classroom, NOS instruction remains either absent or rarely and effectively addressed (Abd-El-Khalik, Bell, & Lederman, 1998; Clough, 2006; Lakin & Wellington, 1994; Lederman, 2007).

Though scientific literacy as a goal of reform has been embraced by national and international reform movements, desired classroom practices expected as a result of these reforms have met challenges. Along with the mandate for scientific literacy, teacher practice has been a popular topic of science education reform that favors a constructivist approach (Karakas, 2007), such as explicit-reflective instructional methods and scaffolding between NOS contexts. It is unfortunate that a schism now separates the educational theory of these student-centered reforms from the everyday practice of science teachers (e.g., Lederman, 2007; Tsai, 2002; Windschitl 2002). What is envisioned in science education reform expressed by what students are expected to do will require substantive change in the practice of science education from the way it is currently taught in K-12 classrooms (NRC, 1996). As an example of the importance of NOS, the *Framework for K-12 Science Education: Practices, Crosscutting Concepts, and Core* 

*Ideas* (NRC, 2012) has included this statement: "...there is a strong consensus about characteristics of the scientific enterprise that should be understood by an educated citizen" (NRC, 2012, page 78). To acquire the experience necessary to carry out such a task requires students to practice with scientific issues. The skills required are not those that could be easily transferred from teacher to student. In fact, these are the same skills necessary to prepare students to become citizens in a world that will place ever-increasing demands on their abilities to think logically and critically about a myriad of scientific issues.

It is unfortunate that recent comparisons of scientific literacy in the US to other industrialized nations have not cast a favorable light upon this nation or its science education community. Thinking globally about science education and given the new requirements for the workplace in the 21st Century that can best be described as a *Knowledge Society* (Gilbert, 2005), scientific literacy education in all developed nations needs to be re-examined (Aikenhead, Orpwood, & Fensham, 2011). While a plethora of calls exist for the production of more mathematicians, scientists, and engineers in order to improve **our** economic outlook, this is only a part of a much larger global science education issue. As science and technology invade every aspect of life within the industrialized world, no one will escape the need to become scientifically literate and the science education community should promote worldwide scientific literacy (Bybee, 2008; Yore, Pimm, & Tuan, 2007).

The problematic nature of classroom practice is a serious matter for science education in its attempts to increase scientific literacy. The remainder of this chapter is aimed at defining scientific literacy, its association with NOS, and the psychological impediments to effective pedagogical practice that reside in personal epistemological beliefs.

#### **Scientific Literacy**

Despite being heralded as a world-wide educational outcome, scientific literacy lacks definitional consensus (McEneaney, 2003). Scientific literacy is fraught with multiple and sometimes contradictory meanings (Pearson, Moje & Greenleaf, 2010) reflective of its complex nature. Bybee, Fensham and Laurie (2009) note how deceptively simple scientific literacy may sound, masking its true complexity. As stated by Abd-El-Khalik and Akerson (2004), the development of coherent themes for science education reform, such as scientific literacy based upon previous reform frameworks (AAAS, 1989, NRC, 1996), can serve as an important general guide for student achievement; these reform documents nevertheless distort the vision that scientific literacy, close scrutiny of policy documents and assessments programs do not promote a uniform vision. Differences exist between two philosophical camps which view scientific literacy as either the science itself (to include the products and processes of science) or as the manner in which science interacts with society (the relevance of science to society) (Miller, 2007; National Science Board, 2006; Roberts, 2011).

Zeidler and Sadler (2011) have proposed that Vision II of scientific literacy encompasses most socioscientific issues, though they argue that SSI may surpass the boundaries of Vision II framed by Roberts (2007), yet could be included in a more comprehensive view of Vision II. SSI seeks to provide students with instruction that includes real world and relevant issues to promote the decision-making process. It is the use of relevant issues that allows students to interact with issues that involve societal and scientific issues and could fall under a comprehensive Vision II framework for scientific literacy. In contrast, some aspects of SSI exceed the current Vision II framework. Zeidler and Sadler (2011) suggest any vision of scientific literacy is incomplete

unless it includes moral and ethical considerations included within SSI. It is recommended (Zeidler & Sadler, 2011) that in order to move toward a more progressive view of scientific literacy, students will need to practice within a range of social, and ethical dimensions in order to make informed decisions (e.g. social justice, tolerance for dissenting voice, mutual respect for cultural differences, and making evidenced-driven decisions) and ask that Vision II become more inclusive to encompass SSI.

Miller (2007) argues that if a person can read an article that involves holes in the ozone layer of the atmosphere (Ozone Holes) or genetic engineering as easily as the sports or leisure page in the New York *Times*, then one could consider himself scientifically literate. In other words, a person knows enough to live in a society steeped in science and its related technology, but not enough to understand the jargon used by scientists and engineers in professional journals. These views are contrasted by those who believe that to be scientifically literate one must be exposed to and understand the mathematical rigors or grasp the complex and specific vocabulary (Hazen, 2002). Most students entering school will not become mathematicians, scientists, or engineers; nevertheless they will enter into a world that will demand an understanding of, and an ability to use, scientific information.

Despite the historical and ongoing definitional challenges of scientific literacy, what is needed to achieve either vision (Vision I or II) in terms of pedagogical practices enjoys a more or less universal vision. At present, the favored theoretical framework for science teaching within the science education community is rooted in constructivism (Abd-El-Khlaik & Akerson, 2009) as it mirrors the current consensus of what is known about the acquisition of human knowledge (Yang, Chang, & Hsu, 2008). Within a constructivist classroom, the practice of teaching should include hands-on and minds-on interactions that require critical and creative thought processes to solve problems. Instruction should **not** be founded upon memorization from textbooks or acquisition of a set of facts and vocabulary that is later tested using multiple choice assessments (NRC, 1996). Despite the calls to reform teacher practice, research has noted that many science classes are taught as reading classes (Britner, 2008), rather than using methods that support positive attitudes about science learning, such as those recognized as student-centered, hands-on (Anderson, 2007) including issues-oriented instruction (McComas & Moore, 1997). Most definite is the need to increase scientific literacy amongst the nation's students, but what hinders these attempts may be the teachers themselves. Teachers may not be prepared, either by District professional development or by schools of education, with the knowledge and skills to affect the change required by reform movements to increase the level of student's scientific literacy in ways that reflect a more progressive vision.

Within both Vision I and Vision II for scientific literacy, common ground exists and it is what is included in the reform documents that govern the direction of science education in the U.S. Scientific literacy is defined in the *National Science Education Standards* as the ability for students to make informed decisions dealing with science and scientific issues with a lesser emphasis on science as a collection of facts (NRC, 1996). Other, more recent reforms have also been introduced for English Language Arts that have ramifications for a literacy component specific to science (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010).

The Common Core State Standards Initiative (CCSSI), spurred on by National Governors Association Center for Best Practices and Council of Chief State School Officers (2010), has developed new sets of standards for English Language Arts and Mathematics. The goal of this initiative was to develop clear and concise standards that were relevant to real-world application.

Currently, 45 states have adopted the *Common Core State Standards* to include, *The Grades* 6-12 *Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science, and Technical Subjects* (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010). For example, the following are excerpts of the *Common Core Literacy Standards* for grades 6-8 science:

- CCSS.ELA-Literacy.RST.6-8.8 Distinguish among facts, reasoned judgment based on research findings, and speculation in a text;
- CCSS.ELA-Literacy.RST.6-8.9 Compare and contrast the information gained from experiments, simulations, video, or multimedia sources with that gained from reading a text on the same topic.

While designed to be specific to literacy, the goals of decision-making are similar to the standards for science previously mentioned (NRC, 1996) with regard to stressing decision-making requirements for student outcomes. These same constructs are also aligned with the recently released *Next Generation Science Standards* (Achieve, Inc., 2013). While these new science standards have been released in their final form, they have not yet been adopted by most states and no tests have been developed to align to them. For now, states continue to rely on the older *National Education Science Standards* (NRC, 1996) to base their curriculum. It is for this reason; discussion about science standards will be limited to the older standards.

To become scientifically literate requires that students learn the skills (processes and methods) of science (conducting observations, inferences, and conducting experiments), but this objective is only part of the picture. Individuals often conflate the process and methods of science with the knowledge construction component of science (Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik, 2002).

#### **Nature of Science**

Over the past century, the nature of science has been a subject of much debate by philosophers, historians, science educators and sociologists. Giere (1988) points out that with the benefit of hindsight, the past century can be divided in two between positivism and constructivism with its center focused on Kuhn's (1962) *Structure of Scientific Revolution*. Since 1962, the nature of science and its importance to the science education community have undergone an abundance of debate and research.

The nature of science (NOS) can be thought of in a variety of ways: 1) the values and beliefs inherent to the individual's development of scientific knowledge (Lederman & Zeidler, 1987); 2) the epistemology of science, and 3) science as a way of knowing (Lederman, 1992). These differing definitions showcase "the multifaceted and complex nature of the human endeavor we call science" (Akerson et al., 2000, p.298). Simply put, NOS describes the characteristics of science, without which, science could not be distinguished clearly from many other disciplines that share some, but not all, of its characteristics. While the previous description of core attributes of science provides a partial and simplistic view, there are other attributes that require a greater depth of knowledge about science. Just as scientific knowledge has changed through time, the concept of NOS has also changed throughout the past decades illustrating its own tentative and dynamic nature. These changes are reflective of the systematic thinking about the very nature and workings of NOS (Abd-El-Khalik, et al., 1998).

The latter half of the 20<sup>th</sup> Century, thanks to Kuhn's (1962) influence, has been rich with debate about the philosophical nature of science. Though debates still exist, these debates remain mostly at the margins and outside the domain of school science. At present, there is a general

consensus about its definition as it applies to science education. The current view of the nature of science can be thought of as how the scientific community passes judgment over what is accepted and what is not, or how much faith the community places on scientific knowledge (Marks & Eiks, 2009). To date, significant reform movements such as the *National Science Education Standards* (NRC, 1996), the *Benchmarks for Scientific Literacy: Project 2061* (AAAS, 2009), NSTA position statement: *Nature of Science* (2000), the newly-released *Next Generation Science Standards* (Achieve, Inc., 2013), plus the recent *Perth Declaration* (ICASE, 2007), emphasize the importance of the nature of science (NOS) as a key component to scientific literacy.

A benefit put forth for having an adequate understanding of NOS is that it enables the student (or citizen) to develop a better understanding of science content and provides him with the skills necessary to become a more informed decision-maker and better consumer of scientific information (McComas, Clough, Alamazroa, 1998). To help portray the importance of NOS on a global scale, this trend for increasing student understandings of NOS (as a part of scientific literacy) is not just limited to the United States (AAAS, 1990, 1993, 2009; Achieve, Inc. 2013; NRC, 1996; NSTA 2000), but has pervaded reform movements globally, from Europe to Asia (Matthews, 2009).

Though philosophers, historians, science educators, and sociologists still debate NOS these disagreements, for the most part, play a miniscule role in of NOS studied within the K-16 domain and remain largely at the margins. Most recently, there have been calls for a more inclusive form of NOS called "Whole Science," promoted by the noted philosopher Douglas Allchin (2011). These claims criticize the separation of NOS from its episodic event. While these criticisms have provided for lively debate within recent professional journals (Allchin, 2011,

2012; Schwartz, Lederman & Abd-El- Khalik, 2012), in terms of NOS within global reform movements, these discussions remain outside the scope of K-12 science. At present, a set of characteristics serve as a basis for most recent descriptions of NOS relevant to educational reform movements (Akerson et al., 2000); these include suggestions that scientific knowledge is:

- tentative (subject to change);
- empirically based (based on and/or derived from observations of the natural world);
- subjective (theory-laden);
- partly the product of human inference, imagination, and creativity (involves the invention of explanation);
- socially and culturally embedded;
- distinguishing between observations and inferences;
- promoting functions of and relationships between scientific theories and laws.

Despite the emphasis on NOS and its relevance within reform movements and the science education community, success toward student understanding of NOS has been largely absent. Research has consistently shown that student's comprehension of NOS is not on a par with the contemporary vision of the science education community (Duschl, 1990; Lederman, 1992, 2007). In addition, students see the value in learning about science as a process with an understanding of NOS (Adams & Chiappetta, 1998; Freedman, 2002; Gibson & Chase, 2002; Ryder et al., 1999; Siegel & Ranney, 2003; Tomanek & Cummings, 2000; Wenner, 1993). Unfortunately, what students need and desire may not be what they get in the classroom. This discouraging, but perhaps expected revelation about student's NOS understandings comes as research reveals a shortfall with teacher's understandings about NOS (Abd-El-Khalik , 2005; Abd-El-Khalik , 2000; Akerson, Morrison, & McDuffie, 2006; Tsai, 2002).

#### **Teaching the Nature of Science**

For certain, teacher knowledge and specific pedagogy to teach NOS play an important role in a student's scientific literacy and research reveals that teachers are limited by their knowledge of NOS (e.g., Abd-El-Khalik , 2005; Abd-El-Khalik , 2000; Abd-El-Khalik & BouJaoude 1997; Carey & Strauss 1970; Pomeroy 1993). Colleges of Education typically require one methods course that would include as a part, NOS. Perhaps of little surprise, teachers have had little experience learning either what is NOS or the importance of NOS or learning to develop the skills necessary to teach NOS. It is now realized that more than one science methods course is needed (Roehrig & Luft, 2006). Teachers cannot be expected to teach what they themselves do not understand, but even when they do have adequate knowledge of NOS, challenges remain. The assumption that knowledge of NOS would translate into practice based on their general pedagogical skills has been shown to be fallacious (Abd-El-Khalik et al., 1998; Bell, Lederman, & Abd-El- Khalik, 2000; Lederman, 1992), or, that what they say about the NOS on surveys may not be reflected in their teaching practice (Brickhouse, 1990; Hodson, 1993; Taylor & Dana, 2003). Lederman (2007), in an extensive review of NOS research from the past 50 years, noted that students' and teachers' understandings of NOS have remained stagnant. Perhaps because of lack of exposure within methods courses, teachers' do not regard NOS equal to or certainly more important than traditional science content. Furthermore, even if teachers

have adequate understandings of NOS, there is still no guarantee of its translation into practice. If teacher knowledge and skills were the only cause, the solution would be simple, but this issue seems to be an ongoing struggle for science education suggestive of a deeper rooted source.

According to Abd-El-Khalik & Akerson (2004), teachers must possess sufficient knowledge of NOS, they must possess the pedagogy to teach NOS, and they *must* value NOS as important, if not more so, than "traditional" subject matter. In other words, teachers must acquire the knowledge and skills, as well as be willing to change the day-to-day practice within their classroom. They must emphasize not just the subject matter itself, but also how scientific knowledge is constructed, but these changes can come with much resistance (Yang et al., 2008). Research has demonstrated (Tsai, 2002, 2007; Yang et al., 2008) that a teacher's beliefs about how knowledge is constructed (e.g., their *epistemological beliefs*), are at odds with constructivist student-centered teaching practices. These epistemological beliefs are often more linked to the types of classroom instructional strategies than knowledge of content (Olafson & Shraw, 2010). Epistemological beliefs have also been linked to NOS retention (Akerson et al. 2006) and relationships of views held by teachers about NOS (Akerson, Buzzelli, Donnelly, 2008). Akerson, Buzzelli, & Donnelly (2010) suggest the need to continue this line of research between the potential relationship of epistemological beliefs and NOS instruction. Thus far, research into epistemological beliefs has focused on those beliefs associated with the knowledge and knowledge construction of science rather than the broader, more general view.

The main objective of this research is to investigate the relationship between the two epistemological beliefs, as they are associated with science, as well as with teachers' more personal epistemological beliefs about general knowledge and knowledge construction. Perhaps the possible dynamic between the two realms of epistemological beliefs, the nature of science

(NOS) and broader epistemological beliefs and how these beliefs interact with other common barriers to instruction will shape this study. Though strong arguments exist for students to gain adequate understandings of NOS (Bell & Lederman, 2003), it may be first necessary to understand the role of the teacher's broader and more personal beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction. It may be this knowledge that helps the scientific community make progress towards the goal of scientific literacy of students. Just as NOS can be defined as the epistemology of science, a broader scope of beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction exist called "personal epistemological beliefs."

#### **Personal Epistemological Beliefs**

Personal epistemology can be thought of as one's own beliefs about the certainty, simplicity, and sources of knowledge, as well as the justification for knowing (Hofer, 2002). Personal epistemology is a seemingly related construct to NOS as they both involve the characteristics of knowledge and knowledge construction (Abd-El-Khalik, 2003). Most researchers now agree that personal epistemologies develop over time in a constructivist manner and that beliefs about learning may be a precursor to one's own beliefs about knowledge. Feucht and Bendixen (2010) describe more than four decades of historical development of the field that have brought a variety of frameworks. These frameworks designate personal epistemology as a cognitive developmental journey, "driven by a process of cognitive disequilibrium" (p. 5). If the goal for scientific literacy includes students' understanding of how scientific knowledge is constructed, and the science education community is interested in the situational learning opportunities of students, then a look at the broader field of personal epistemological beliefs would seem prudent.

The progressive development of personal epistemologies has been supported by evidence that suggests an evolving trend from young to older student in the development of beliefs about learning to beliefs of the nature of knowledge (Bendixen & Rule, 2004; Jehng, Johnson, & Anderson, 1993; Schommer, 1990; Schommer-Aikins, Mau, Brookhart, & Hutter, 2000). Both the original work of Perry (1970) and later work by King and Kitchener (1994) with their *Reflective Judgment Model* are categorized as late-onset developmental models that coincide with higher education (Chandler, Hawlett & Sokol, 2002). Both researchers suggest a link between epistemological development and critical thinking skills associated with the increased expectations of higher education (King & Kitchener, 1994; Perry, 1970). According to both the Perry Model (1970) and the Reflective Judgment Model (King & Kitchener, 1994) it is in late adolescence or emergent adulthood that individuals can develop a more sophisticated understanding of knowledge. Before late adolescence, epistemological beliefs formerly were assumed to remain absolutist. Current research has provided insight into qualitative differences about knowledge and knowing in Kindergarten children (Wildenger, Hofer, & Burr, 2010). These early onset changes about beliefs of knowledge should be of great interest to educators, especially given their intricate relationship with beliefs about learning (Elby, 2009) and achievement (Wood & Kardash, 2002). In their research, Wood and Kardash (2002) have found clear evidence that the most common factors associated with students' epistemological beliefs (with the exception of the Attainability of Objective Truth) have a strong correlation with academic aptitude on college readiness tests.

Perry (1970), in his original work at Harvard University, concluded that entering freshmen had views of knowledge as facts handed down from authority, whereas seniors believe knowledge to be tentative, derived from reason and empirical inquiry (Schommer-Aikens, 2004). More current conceptions of personal epistemology suggest the construct as a system of more-orless independent beliefs developing in an asynchronous manner. It is important not to confuse the issue of the independence of beliefs (e.g., Beliefs about Learning, Beliefs about Knowledge) with their interrelationships with learning. Though some researchers have discomfort with this linkage (Schommer-Aikins, 2004; Chandler et al., 2002), the problem involves theory and not application. As described by Elby (2009), "they are clearly related, as one's beliefs about knowledge are likely to influence how one approaches learning, but they are definitely not the same" (p. 4). Therefore, regardless of the dichotomy in theory, "educational researchers agree that both students' conceptions of knowledge, as well as their conceptions of learning, develop progressively through educational experiences" (Loyens, Rikers, & Schmidt, 2009, p. 502). What is most important for this research is that researchers agree that beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction (knowing) exist in what researchers refer to as "developmental stages" (Bendixen & Rule, 2004). Naïve epistemological beliefs (or more absolutist/positivist positions) can be thought of as absolute, from an authority figure, or certain and never changing. The other end of the spectrum would be considered as having beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction (or constructivist positions) that are personally constructed, contextual, and tentative. In an ideal world, the science education community should hope students' and teachers' epistemological beliefs would be closer to sophisticated beliefs than naïve, tentative rather than fixed, and contextual instead of factual.

Studies of personal epistemologies and their relationship to other fields such as conceptual change, nature of science, and science education in general cannot be overlooked due to relationships with teacher practice (Feucht & Bendixen, 2010). Theoretical and empirical work has indicated the importance of teachers' personal epistemologies (or more specifically epistemic development) affect choices teachers make about their teaching practices; for instance: 1) how they choose teaching strategies; 2) how they choose teaching materials; 3) how they might accept education reform, and 4) how they view professional development (Feucht, 2008; Feucht & Bendixen, 2010, Patrick & Pintrich, 2001; Schraw & Olafson, 2002; Tsai, 2002). Feucht and Bendixen (2010) describe how teachers with absolutist mindsets tend to view knowledge as transferable from the expert teacher to the naïve passive learner. Teachers with evaluativist views about knowledge tend to encourage a more collaborative strategy, where students construct their own knowledge and justify their knowledge commitments. While the field of epistemology has seen robust research over the past forty years, it is only more recently that work with respect to teachers' personal epistemological beliefs and their relationships with educational practice have gained the attention of researchers. As teachers' epistemological beliefs are viewed as an influential factor in the classroom and these epistemological beliefs do affect practice (Olafson & Shraw, 2010), it would seem wise to include these factors in any research pertaining to science education.

With the knowledge that indicates that teachers' beliefs about the personal construction of knowledge (personal epistemologies) influences their classroom practice, the question must be asked, "How do these philosophical differences in teachers' affect practice?" As teachers move away from their more objective views on the nature of knowledge to one including an emphasis on the personal construction of knowledge, traditional classroom approaches no longer make

sense. For teachers, this change in beliefs about knowledge is correlated to a shift in the philosophy of learning (Lorsbach, Tobin, Briscoe, & LaMaster, 1995; Tobin, 1990). Hopefully, this shift in their philosophy of learning will cause a change in classroom practices they employ. It is this shift from the objectivist beliefs (rooted in positivism) toward a more personal construction of knowledge (constructivism) that can change teachers' practices. There is much evidence to suggest personal epistemologies can be at odds with reform-minded philosophies associated with learning (Tsai, 2002). In recent research, relationships between teachers' understandings of how people learn, or construct knowledge, definitively correlate with how they teach NOS (Herman, Clough, & Olson, 2013). Other research (Akerson, Buzzelli, & Donnelly, 2010) has also looked at teachers' epistemological positions and how they correlate with a teacher's emphasis of (or value) NOS. It is important to note, the study by Akerson, et al. (2010) looked at preservice teachers during their internships, where effects from the supervising teacher dominated teacher practice. This leaves an open question about how personal epistemological beliefs (views consistent with either positivism or constructivism) might affect a practicing teacher.

#### Constructivism.

The constructivist epistemology, in a pedagogical sense as is used within this discussion, is either a way to make sense of how students learn or can be thought of as a theory of knowledge used to explain how and what we know (Lorsbach & Tobin, 1993). Constructivism is suggestive of a more sophisticated level within the personal epistemological framework, where knowledge is something the learner constructs and not something passed from omniscient authority to the naive passive learner (Feucht & Bendixen, 2010). A constructivist epistemology

determines how teachers' view knowledge, including how it is created and used. These constructivist epistemologies are important because these ideals are necessary to drive the type of instruction called for in reforms and reflective of the type of instruction necessary for the development of sophisticated NOS understandings.

Constructivism, even with its worldwide acceptance in reform documents as a learning theory, is not without its critics (Solomon, 1994; Osborne, 1996; Jenkins, 2000). These critics have described constructivist pedagogy as relativist and even unscientific (Scerri, 2003). Much of the misunderstanding is rooted in that fact that constructivism is a theory of learning and not a theory of teaching. Some teachers and even some philosophers conflate constructivist practices with pedagogy solely associated with hands-on or discovery learning; where students develop their own knowledge through social interaction with little guidance from the instructor (Mayer, 2004). While hands-on learning can play a role in constructivist practices, its presence is not a sufficient condition. Discovery learning, while philosophically related to constructivist practices, is a more extreme version of constructivist pedagogy. Discovery, or implicit instruction, has fallen from favor as a best practice in lieu of a more explicit or guided approach.

The learning theory of constructivism comes directly out of the work of Piaget and Vygotsky (Slavin, 2000), though its influence can be traced back to the social pedagogical ideas of the educational philosophers Rousseau, Pestalozzi and Fröbel (Kornbeck & Jensen, 2009). Perhaps most well-known in American education is the work of Dewey in the early part of the 20th century. It was Dewey who put focus on the learner with his student-centered approach of education and who stated that "education is a constant reorganization or reconstructing of experience" (Dewey, 1916/1966, p. 89). Nearly a century since Dewey, while his ideas are commonplace within the halls of academia and modern learning theories, the true practice of

constructivist teaching methods are observed on a much lesser degree. Too often, the practice of science teaching has succumbed to teachers' naïve personal epistemological beliefs, which conflict with constructivist beliefs about learning (Tsai, 2002). As suggested by Yang et al., these naive views of knowledge suggest positions that are "philosophically more like that of the positivist" (2008, p.13). It is here, where theory diverges from practice and as a result, students may suffer the consequences.

#### Positivism.

Positivism, a contrasting view of how knowledge is created, is a term that can have multiple meanings, from a commitment to social evolution, to a philosophical meaning involving logical positivism, or a methodological tradition within scientific practice (Riley, 2007), with the latter two having correlations to this discussion. Within a positivist methodology, or practice, all knowledge comes from single sense-data. Furthermore, theories are thought to be just human-made linkages between these single data (Alvesson & Skolberg, 2009). Science in a positivist tradition has its roots in empiricism, where socially constructed knowledge held no place and "truth" was believed to be obtainable. In the field of psychology in the mid-twentieth century, psychologists believed they could only study what could be measured and observed (Trochim, 2006); much like the scientists who held beliefs that science was only conducted by using the scientific method. Just as these ideals of one scientific method and objective truth conflict with modern views of the nature of science, so too does the notion of positivist pedagogy conflict with reform ideals for teaching science.

Ledoux and McHenry (2004) describe instructional methods and curriculum based in a constructivist framework a route to help students "develop conceptual models that will function as their own coding system for the to-be-known world" (p. 387). This is in contrast to a teacher having a more naïve understanding on Perry's scale (Perry, 1970) of knowledge and knowledge construction where "The objectives [of learning] are concrete and learning is observable and measureable" (p. 387). It is critical to realize the importance of teachers and their levels of understandings of knowledge and knowledge construction along a continuum of epistemological beliefs. It will be the teacher who will choose the types of strategies employed in the classroom. Will those strategies be student- or teacher-centered, focused on knowledge construction, or rooted in rote learning? Perhaps the more important questions might be: What role will the teacher's personal epistemologies play in the value placed on NOS instruction? How will that instruction look? and What other factors might influence either the epistemological beliefs or instruction practice?

#### **Statement of Problem**

While research supports the fact that teachers can learn NOS, this knowledge might not translate into practice (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000; Lederman, 1999). Without the support of the teacher, student understandings of NOS as an outcome will stall. Intentions toward teaching NOS are critical (Lederman, Abd-El-Khalik, & Bell, 2001), especially given its importance within scientific literacy. Important questions that must be asked, therefore, include: "Why do science teachers not consider NOS to play a critical role in teaching? Even if teachers do understand its importance to scientific literacy, why are they not putting NOS into practice?" Research has shown how personal epistemologies relate to the types of classroom practices
employed (Sinatra & Kardash, 2004; Tsai, 2002, 2007) by teachers. Epistemological beliefs associated with science (SEBs) also control the importance teachers' place on NOS (Tsai, 2002). Although NOS has been described as an epistemological belief, more recently these two constructs have been discussed as separate, but related constructs (Wu & Tsai, 2011). Scientific epistemological beliefs (SEBs) and NOS are similar in that they both address beliefs about scientific knowledge and knowing science. To differentiate SEBs from NOS, SEBs place more emphasis on beliefs about the nature of knowing science, justification of scientific knowledge, and decision-making on socioscientific issues. For example, SEBs place a focus on a person's beliefs about how scientific knowledge may be tentative or socially constructed, more so than the development of the knowledge during the scientific enterprise.

As Abd-El-Khlaik and Akerson (2004) suggest, this is where research should be focused. How teachers value NOS is a crucial factor in the teaching of NOS (Lederman et al., 2001) as these principles are what shape classroom behaviors (Bell & Pearson, 1992; Olafson & Shraw, 2010; Tsai, 2002). Gallagher (1991) found that science teachers holding epistemological beliefs centered in positivist view of science teaching either did not teach aspects of NOS, or they focused entirely on the scientific method and more traditional positivist views of the nature of science. Hashweh (1996) found a similar relationship where teachers' constructivist beliefs were associated with constructivist behaviors in science classrooms. Given the important association of teachers' epistemological beliefs on practice, it then seemed prudent to investigate the relationship between teachers' epistemological beliefs and how these beliefs about the broader scope of knowledge and knowledge construction affect NOS instruction.

# **Research Questions**

To gain a better understanding of the relationship between teachers' intentions to teach NOS and their possible relationships with personal epistemological beliefs, the following questions were advanced:

# **Research Question 1**

# 1. In what ways do teachers' epistemological beliefs affect practice in the science classroom during NOS instruction?

#### Question 1 Rationale

To overcome the hurdles of providing students with appropriate experiences to learn NOS, a host of known obstacles must be overcome. Recent research has provided evidence that epistemological beliefs strongly correlate with the ability to predict teacher practice (Olafson & Shraw, 2010). As epistemological beliefs are associated with teachers' views of NOS (Akerson et al., 2008), as well as classroom practice (Yang et al., 2008), it would seem prudent to investigate the intersection (of NOS, personal epistemological beliefs and practice).

# Research Question 1a

a. What is the nature of the relationship between personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS?

#### Question 1a Rationale

What is now emerging in epistemological theory is that there exists a tentative relationship between domain-specific epistemologies and more general epistemologies (Palma & Marra, 2008). New views of epistemology consider that domain-specific epistemological beliefs are nested under a larger, more general, epistemology (Buehl & Alexander, 2006; Hofer, 2006). Given the proposed relationship between these two constructs, in order to gain ground toward better understandings amongst teachers about NOS, it would seem imperative to further this research into this proposed relationship.

#### Research Question 1b

b. In what ways does the co-occurrence between NOS and personal epistemological beliefs affect the importance teachers place on NOS?

#### *Question 1b Rationale*

Recent research suggests a relationship between NOS and personal epistemological beliefs (Akerson, et al., 2006; Akerson, et al., 2008; Akerson et al., 2010). The latest research by Akerson, Buzzelli, and Donnelly (2010) has found that improved "intellectual levels" (referring to their epistemological sophistication) of teachers were associated with classroom practice associated with NOS instruction. The reason suggested as to why teachers chose not to teach NOS was they did not view NOS as important as other content. It seems quite rational to believe that better understanding of NOS must be a precursor to its gaining importance. This translation of knowledge of NOS into a teacher's belief that NOS has importance is not automatic, suggesting other epistemological beliefs outside the context of NOS may play a role. Zeidler, Herman, Ruzek, Linder & Lin (2013) have identified classic utilitarianism as a factor influencing

reasoning. By applying reasoning skills, one could expect a person to give the emphasis to that which would have the maximum benefit, or marginal utility. In Zeidler, et al., (2013) recent cross-cultural study of students' use of reasoning found that utility, at best, played a secondary role. Furthermore, this study supported the notion that a set of complex epistemological beliefs play a role in decisions about socioscientific issues, supporting other related research (Yang & Tsai, 2010; Zeidler, Sadler, Applebaum, & Callahan, 2009).

#### Question 1c

c. In what ways does the co-occurrences between NOS and personal epistemological beliefs correlate with the classroom activities during NOS instruction?

#### *Question 1c Rationale*

The effects of epistemological beliefs on practice have received much attention and are typically found to be at odds with reform-based (constructivist) practices (Tsai, 2002, 2007; Yang et al., 2008). Constructivist teaching practices also serve as the basis for NOS instruction (i.e., explicit-reflective instruction). Unfortunately, positivist pedagogy such as lecture still dominates classroom practice on a global scale (e.g., Hammer 1994; Lemke 1990; Tsai 2002; Poole 1994; Windschitl 2002). In a series of studies, Akerson et al. (2008, 2010), have reported how student teachers holding more constructivist views about knowledge and knowledge construction using the Perry Model (1970) held more sophisticated understandings of NOS. These studies have also shown that understandings of knowledge construction more like that of a pedagogical constructivist were associated with better understandings of NOS, but, as previous research has suggested, this knowledge did not translate into practice. With the assumption that NOS instruction will occur due to a mandated District curriculum that includes NOS, this research hopes to investigate the type of NOS instruction that occurs as a result of differing views of knowledge and knowledge construction (i.e., epistemological beliefs).

Realizing that the NOS portion of the District's curriculum occupies on 25 of the 64 allotted days for the unit containing both NOS and the practice of science, NOS is clearly present. It is also important to realize, this question refers to the amount of instruction that should be present to cover the spectrum of NOS concepts included within the curriculum maps. These curriculum maps too where not designed for each teacher to be on the same page as others, but more so to act as a guide for instruction. NOS should appear within instruction for about 25 days and hopefully embedded within other sections to provide rich instruction for students. This question does not compare the amounts of instruction between practice and skills based on quantity, only how much NOS instruction that should be present given the District mandates. If NOS instruction is not present, then other factors beyond the curriculum are to blame.

# Question 1d

# *d.* What other factors are responsible for influencing teacher's choices they make about classroom instruction?

#### *Question 1d Rationale*

Recent research has suggested an intricate relationship among teachers' epistemological views, their classroom practice, and the institutional environment (Tsai, 2006). As colleges of education are charged with producing teachers equipped to handle the demands of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century classroom, it is important to distinguish between what research tells us about how epistemological beliefs have a strong correlation to practice and what teachers believe about what affects their practice. While beliefs are associated with classroom practices (e.g., Hashweh, 1996; Kang & Wallace, 2004) it is important to understand the different perspectives.

### Question 2

In what ways do classroom practices differ between instruction of NOS and instruction of process skills?

#### Question 2 Rational

A plethora of research supports teachers' lack of NOS understandings (Abell & Smith, 1994; Akerson et al., 2006; King, 1991; Lakin & Wellington, 1994; Murcia & Schibeci, 1999; Smith & Anderson, 1999; Tsai, 2002), as well as social and institutional constraints for its lack of or inadequate teaching (Larkin, Seyforth & Lasky, 2009; Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000; Saka, Southerland & Brooks, 2009). If, as suggested (Hammrich, 1997, 1998; Lederman, 1992; Nott & Wellington, 1995; Tsai, 2006; Yang et al., 2008), epistemological beliefs are related to the types of classroom instruction, then logically instructional types (i.e., constructivist or positivist) would be independent of context (i.e., NOS or the practice and skills of science), but this may not be the case.

It is suggested (Driver, Newton & Osborne, 2000; Linn & Hsi, 2000) that individuals hold incoherent and non-cohesive views of scientific inquiry depending on context. This domainspecific view stands in contrast to the domain-general developmental models (Bell & Linn, 2002) derived from the work of Piaget and his stages of development (1968). Piaget extended his structured view of epistemological development to include "horizontal decalage" to accommodate context and task variation (Inhelder & Piaget, 1958; Piaget, 1968). This question is directed at how instruction looks for separate types of content (NOS and process skills) and how this instruction is effective by epistemological beliefs.

a. In what ways are these differences reflective of understandings of NOS?

# Question 2a Rationale

Research into teachers NOS understandings has resulted in knowledge that, even if teachers have adequate knowledge of NOS, There is no guarantee that NOS will be reflected in practice (e.g., Bell, 1996; Duschl & Wright, 1989; Lederman, 1992; Lederman & Druger, 1985; Lederman & Zeidler, 1987). Knowing that typical instruction of traditional content is taught in a positivist fashion such as lecture or conformational laboratory investigations, Allchin's (2011) view of NOS tenets as a "positivist manifesto" could be realized. While most research has focused on whether or not NOS is introduced into the classroom, this research is distinct. This research is different from most research as the school district mandates a set of tenets of NOS that must be covered within the first 9 weeks of school. b. In what ways are these differences reflective of personal epistemological beliefs?

# Question 2b Rationale

Even within the discipline of science, non-coherent and non-cohesive epistemological views have been found. BouJoude (2000) found that biology teachers were more apt to hold positivist beliefs about learning than chemistry and physics. This finding suggests that even differing content strands within the same discipline may affect classroom practice that is independent of NOS understandings. By comparing personal epistemological beliefs of teachers with their classroom practice, this research hopes to further delineate the domain specificity between NOS content and traditional content as they compare to personal epistemological beliefs.

#### **Importance of Study**

While much has been learned about how NOS is taught and some about how it is learned, the struggle to increase students' scientific literacy continues. If teachers' personal epistemological beliefs encumber the value they place on NOS, then a better understanding of this relationship is needed. The goal of this research has been to investigate the obstacles that prevent teachers from fulfilling the visions of recent reforms with regard to NOS instruction. As these are the obstacles that stall improvements in student's understandings of NOS, which then affect their overall scientific literacy, this must become a matter of utmost importance within the science education community.

# **Summary**

As the developed world now embraces science and technologically-based study for economic sustainability and growth, the need for science education to keep pace is critical (Akpan, 2010). There now exists a rich history of research about teaching and learning that has pervaded global reform movements. For instance, the recent draft of the Australian National Teacher Standards (ASTA, 2009) mentions how highly-accomplished teachers should communicate the strengths and weaknesses of science, through diverse practices, as well as ways of knowing. As scientific literacy, and its component of NOS, has gained a global caché (AAAS, 1989, 1993, 1997, 2009; Achieve, Inc., 2013; ASTA, 2007; McComas & Olson, 1998; NRC, 1996; NSTA, 2000; Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China, 2001; Turkish Ministry of National Education, 2005), the struggle to improve student understandings remains. The science education community has played its role in providing an abundance of research about the teaching and learning of NOS. This research has taught us much about teachers' inadequacies when it comes to their own knowledge and pedagogical skills, but even this knowledge has left us short of the mark with respect to advancing the reform movement into classrooms. Perhaps something else has caused the headwind preventing the science education community from traversing the schism between theory and practice. If this "something else" is indeed the personal epistemological beliefs of the teachers, then a better understanding of these co-occurrences are needed.

#### **Chapter Two: Review of Literature**

# Introduction

Scientific literacy, with NOS a major component, has been the emphasis of a copious amount of research for almost 60 years (Lederman, 2007). Through this extensive research into NOS, much has been learned about how NOS should be taught and how it is learned. Unfortunately, despite the abundance of research that pertains to instruction and learning of NOS, the bridge between pedagogical theory and practice has not yet been constructed. With scientific literacy now seemingly tied to the perception of educational systems and economic futures of nations, continued research into this pedagogical and theoretical schism should take center stage. As teachers are responsible for at least the majority of what happens in the classroom, research into the factors that inhibit such pedagogy would seem essential. While many teachers do lack an adequate understanding of NOS, some do have adequate knowledge and still; yet NOS has failed to become an emphasis in the typical science classroom. Teachers practice are affected by a host of reasons that include NOS (Hammrich, 1997; 1998; Lederman, 1992; Nott & Wellington, 1995, Tsai, 2007), personal epistemological beliefs (Yang et al., 2008), and a variety of social and institutional factors (Larkin et al., 2009, Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 2000; Saka et al., 2009). It is these unseen, but ever-present factors that control a teacher's actions and will become the focus of this research.

While inadequate understandings of NOS cannot be disregarded as an important reason why teachers' do not value NOS, other causes such as institutional factors and epistemological factors have both been shown to play a role (e.g., Larkin et al., 2009; Lederman & Abd-El-

Khalik, 2000; Yang et al., 2008; Saka et al., 2009). With NOS serving as the seminal benchmark for scientific literacy, it would seem essential to look at factors that affect the way NOS is taught and learned within the science classroom. With reform movements acting as a guide to instruction and given the rich research history about NOS learning, the schism that exists between reform and instruction is clearly dependent upon the teacher. It is here this research aims to look at the teacher as a barrier (or impediment) to the goals of scientific literacy, called for in science reform efforts.

Within current and past science reform initiatives is the requirement for the development of a scientifically literate citizenry (e.g., AAAS, 1989, 1993, 1997, 2009; Achieve, Inc., 2013; NRC, 1996; NSTA, 2000). To date, the global science education community holds firm to the belief that scientific literacy hinges upon students' gaining a sophisticated understanding of the nature of science (NOS), a principal component of scientific literacy (e.g., AAAS, 1989, 1993, 1997, 2009; Achieve, Inc., 2013; ASTA, 2007; McComas & Olson, 1998; NRC, 1996; NSTA, 2000; Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China, 2001; Turkish Ministry of National Education, 2005). This trend for increasing student understandings of NOS is not just limited to the United States, but has pervaded reform movements globally, from Europe to Asia (Matthews, 2009). A copious amount of literature reflecting the belief that NOS instruction links decision-making ability within science and technology related issues (Carey & Smith, 1993; Collins & Shapin, 1986; Cotham & Smith, 1981; Driver, Leach, Millar, & Scott, 1996; Kuhn, Amsel & O'Loughlin, 1989; Lederman, 1983, 1999; Millar & Wynne, 1988; Shamos, 1995).

The general stance is that by having a sophisticated understanding of the way science knowledge is constructed, citizens will be better able to recognize pseudoscience claims, to distinguish good science from bad, and to have the ability to apply science within their everyday lives (Bell & Lederman, 2003). For the most part, the science education community knows a lot about how best to teach NOS and some about how it is learned, but the path has not yet been fully cleared to a point where we can be confident that students will have an adequate understandings of NOS when they leave school.

For decades, research has demonstrated the lack of NOS knowledge in both teacher and student (Abd-El-Khalik & BouJaoude 1997; Akerson & Hanuscin, 2007; Behnke 1950; Carey & Stauss 1970; Duschl, 1990; Lederman, 1992, 2007; Pomeroy 1993) and provided insight into how best to teach NOS (Abd-El-Khalik, 2001, 2005; Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000; Akerson et al., 2000; Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik, 2002). This research has instilled a sense of urgency within science education departments for the development of coursework aimed at helping new teachers. It is unfortunate that little progress has been made toward this goal. This may indicate there are other factors inhibiting the progress towards citizens becoming scientifically literate.

Tsai (2007) suggests that a teacher's *scientific epistemological beliefs* (SEBs) – a construct related to NOS, but focused more on the knowledge construction – are responsible for and associated with classroom practices. Within his research, Tsai (2007) found SEBs do play a critical role in in the enactment of inquiry-based science instruction, something other researchers have previously suggested (Abd-El-Khalik, 2005; Roehrig & Luft 2004; Tsai, 2002). According to Tsai (2007), the theoretical positions of views of scientific knowledge aligned with either positivism or constructivism held a strong relationship with classroom practice. While there have

been studies that reflect the role of SEBs on student learning, few studies have been undertaken a look at the role of a teachers' SEBs and their correlation with choices with regard to instructional practice. This is unfortunate as these SEBs are considered an important factor affecting instruction (Hammrich, 1997, 1998; Lederman, 1992; Nott & Wellington, 1995). In a recent research article by Yang, Chang and Hsu (2008), the idea of teachers' epistemological beliefs were expanded to include the teachers' broader beliefs about knowledge (personal epistemological beliefs) and were made clear when the authors stated, "Teachers' views concerning constructivist instruction were consistent with their epistemological beliefs towards knowledge and learning" (p. 17).

As research from various studies has shown (Akerson et al., 2006; Akerson &Volrich, 2006), there exists a relationship between a person's epistemological positions and their conceptualization of NOS. One study has provided evidence that suggests intellectual levels do predict how NOS is taught (Gallagher, 1991). Gallagher (1991) explains that secondary science teachers hold views of science as a body of knowledge with little emphasis on to the processes of science or how this scientific knowledge is constructed. Science teachers possessing epistemological beliefs centered in positivist view of science and favoring the transmission of ideas and concepts over student construction of knowledge either did not teach aspects of NOS, or focused entirely on the scientific method (Abd-El-Khalick & Lederman, 2000). A study by Tsai (2007) has highlighted teachers' epistemological beliefs as an important influencing factor of classroom climate and instruction. This brings forth the question as to how this might influence NOS instruction. It is this intersection of epistemological beliefs and NOS that may play a significant role in whether a teacher values NOS, and hence chooses to teach it.

It would seem difficult if a teacher held a belief about knowledge centered in positivism, where knowledge was absolute with no inclusion of an individual's construction of knowledge, to expect the kind of practice necessary for good science instruction called for in reforms. Also, for a teacher possessing a positivist philosophy the notion of the modern vision NOS would be a difficult barrier to overcome with regard to the practice of teaching aligned with current reform movements and the goal of having a scientifically literate populace.

Chapter Two is arranged first to inform the reader about scientific literacy, how it is defined, its global importance and how the nature of science plays an integral role. Then, NOS is further explained in terms of its historical past in terms of philosophical changes over the past 100 years and research of teaching and learning NOS from the past 60 years. To follow, the philosophical and historical view of NOS, an explanation of known barriers to the teaching of NOS is discussed. Thereafter, related work from the field of educational psychology is reviewed to look at teachers' beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction. This section explains how these beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction are related to constructivism and positivism, both as philosophies of learning, as well as how these philosophies influence classroom practice. Recent work that relates studies of teaching and learning NOS and epistemological beliefs, both from a strictly science perspective and that of the broader category of personal epistemological beliefs, is then reviewed. It is this last section's review of recent research that will guide this research to further investigate these relationships.

# Scientific Literacy and the Need for Nature of Science

With every passing day, citizens of the world are confronted with questions that to answer require knowledge of science. Lederman & Neiss (1997) describe science as divided into three parts: 1): the body of knowledge, 2) the processes and methods, and a 3; way of constructing reality (the nature of science). While the exact definition in terms of what it means for school science is still debated, scientific literacy is mostly assumed to mean the ability of students to engage issues concerning science. For instance, a scientifically literate person is one who uses scientific information and scientific ways of knowing for the purpose of making decisions concerning himself, as well as the general society, hence the "democratic argument" for scientific literacy (Driver et al., 1996). Roberts (2007), in an extensive recapitulation of the varying views of Scientific Literacy, developed a heuristic model to explain these varying views. Within his heuristic, Roberts (2007) describes how most visions of scientific literacy fall into two over-arching themes, referred to as Vision I and Vision II. Reflective of Vision I are some reform documents that articulate scientific concepts and what students should master (e.g., AAAS, 1990; AAAS, 1993). Within Vision I, the primary goal of science education is to promote scientific concepts and processes and to help students develop robust understandings of scientific findings. Vision One's decontextualized understanding of science is contrasted with Vision Two's contextualized understanding. With the prioritization of contextualized understandings, Vision II removes the traditional boundaries of science and, in turn, broadens the scope to include personal decision-making where science is embedded within real-life social, political, economic and ethical concerns. Zeidler and Sadler (2011) describe Vision II as a place where distinctions of scientific ideas end and social consideration begin to blur. Zeidler and Sadler (2011) succinctly describe the difference between Vision I and Vision II in terms of what

is expected from a scientifically literate person as what they ought to know (Vision I) and be able to do (Vision II) with their understanding of science. Vision II, with its form of functional scientific literacy, considers that any science content learning without an inclusion of its application, to include sociomoral implications, is an artificial divorce (Zeidler & Sadler, 2008a). Beyond the discussion of contextualized and decontextualized learning, there exist another variant in understandings of scientific literacy that requires further description.

To become "scientifically" literate requires that students learn the skills (processes and methods) of science (conducting observations, inferences, and conducting experiments), but this objective is only part of the picture. Individuals often conflate the process and methods of science with the knowledge construction component of science (Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik, 2002). This type of knowledge is deemed important in recent reform movements as essential for students to learn in order to meet the citizenry requirement of the reform movements (AAAS, 1989, 1993, 1997, 2009; Achieve, Inc., 2013; ASTA, 2007; McComas & Olson, 1998; NRC, 1996; NSTA, 2000; Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China, 2001; Turkish Ministry of National Education).

Beyond science content knowledge, citizens must have appropriate thinking skills to process the types of information they encounter on a daily basis about socioscientific issues in a meaningful manner in order to make informed decisions. Through intelligent public discourse and debate, it will be the "collective judgment" of the American citizenry that will determine how resources are shared and tax monies spent on issues concerning science and technology (NRC, 1996, p. 11).

For this reason, it is of utmost importance that students gain an understanding of science as a "way of knowing" if decisions regarding real world issues are to be made. In other words, students of science must learn more than mere content knowledge and scientific processes; they must also learn about a part of the philosophy of science called the "nature of science" (NOS).

A major focus on NOS came as a result of a shift in the views of science during the middle of the last century from a more positivist view of science to a more constructivist viewpoint (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000). It was only after this paradigm shift marked by Kuhn's publication (1962) that NOS gained enthusiasm as a relevant discussion. It is unfortunate that despite its worldwide caché, little ground has been made toward increasing students' understandings of this concept.

# **Nature of Science**

The nature of science can be thought of as the epistemology of science, or science as a way of knowing. As described by Lederman and Zeidler (1987), the nature of science encompasses the values inherent to the individual's development of scientific knowledge. It includes how the scientific community passes judgment on what is accepted and what is not, or how much faith the community places on scientific knowledge (Marks & Eiks, 2009).

All knowledge has a value and belief system associated with it that is integral to its development. Science has its own specific set of values and beliefs that characterizes it as "scientific (Lederman 1992)." It is through these characteristics of knowledge that science sets itself apart from other disciplines. While characteristics of NOS are still debated, there are established characteristics that serve as a basis for most recent descriptions of NOS applied to academic research and educational reform movements (Akerson et al., 2000), these include: 1.)

Scientific knowledge is: 1) tentative (subject to change); 2.) empirically based (based on and/or derived from observations of the natural world); 3.subjective (theory-laden); 4.) partly the product of human inference, imagination, and creativity (involves the invention of explanation); 5.) socially and culturally embedded; 6.) makes a distinction between observations and inferences; 7.) clarifies the functions of and relationships between scientific theories and laws.

Provided below is an example of Florida's standards (Florida Department of Education, 2012), which are reflective of the National Science Education Standards (NRC, 1996) characteristics of NOS:

- SC.6.N.1.2: Explain why scientific investigations should be replicable.
- SC.6.N.2.2: Explain that scientific knowledge is durable because it is open to change as new evidence or interpretations are encountered.
- SC.7.N.1.7: Explain that scientific knowledge is the result of a great deal of debate and confirmation within the science community.
- SC.7.N.2.1: Identify an instance from the history of science in which scientific knowledge has changed when new evidence or new interpretations are encountered.
- SC.7.N.3.1: Recognize and explain the difference between theories and laws and give several examples of scientific theories and the evidence that supports them.
- SC.8.N.3.2: Explain why theories may be modified but are rarely discarded.
- SC.8.N.4.2: Explain how political, social, and economic concerns can affect science, and vice versa.

Much like the Common Core Standards for ELA and mathematics now being adopted by 45 of the 50 States (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010), a new set of science standards has just been finalized that eventually may replace the current science standards (NRC, 1996). These new standards, much like the old, emphasize the importance of NOS and further support the focus on robust and relevant science education (Achieve, Inc., 2013). The purpose and goal of these new standards focus on the premise that:

*"all* students have some appreciation of the beauty and wonder of science; possess sufficient knowledge of science and engineering to engage in public discussions on related issues; are careful consumers of scientific and technological information related to their everyday lives; are able to continue to learn about science outside school; and have the skills to enter careers of their choice (NSTA, 2012, p. ES-1)..." including (but not limited to) careers in science, engineering, and technology"

Throughout the past century, the views of the nature of science have changed as philosophers, historians, and educators of science have debated its precise account (Alters, 1997; Loving, 1997; Matthews, 1994). Abd-El-Khalik and Lederman (2000) describe how the nature of science has changed over the past century. The changes in NOS went through a large shift from the inclusion of the basic steps of science (Central Association for Science and Mathematics Teachers, 1907) toward how scientific knowledge itself is constructed through a process that includes the empirical roots of science, as well as the social and psychological factors. It is these social and psychological factors that are now deemed of great importance and are expected to take part of the more recent reform movements (e.g., AAAS, 1989, 1993, 1997, 2009; Achieve,

Inc., 2013; NRC, 1996; NSTA, 2000), but these factors came as a result of what reads like an epic battle for supremacy. It was this shift from the more mechanical views of science toward one of social construction that perhaps best characterizes the dynamics of this period. Just as science itself is no longer characterized by a smooth transition of scientific knowledge, those who helped guide the definitional properties of the nature of science did not enjoy a peaceful transition.

The past century's struggles with defining the nature of science can be divided almost in half, marked by Kuhn's (1962) work, the *Structure of Scientific Revolutions* (Giere, 1988). While philosophers holding empiricist views of science attempted to justify the logical processes of science, a new regime that believed science contained social and psychological factors argued, from a historical perspective, that science was not always rational. Historical investigation revealed that science did not make smooth transitions which were often filled with what Kuhn called "revolutions" as one "paradigm" was replaced by another (Kuhn, 1962).

Just like the historical scientific revolutions described by Kuhn (1962), philosophers, historians, and educators of science and can be generally separated into two opposing camps (Giere, 1988). It was Popper (1959) who described how the logical empiricists described those who viewed science from this new perspective as irrational and committing the "sin of psychologism" (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000, p. 666). Popper supported the notion that science should be described by its scientific claims through verifiable observation, rather than a more descriptive account of how science works in terms of a Kuhnian view of knowledge construction (Giere, 1988). Abd-El-Khalik and Lederman (2000) describe the logical empiricist argument as "conflating logic with psychology (p. 667)." Kuhn's work emphasized the social context of science as opposed to the more logical and empiricist views of the time.

Popper (1963) suggested that science advances through what he describes as conjectures and refutations. In this view, he proposes that science offers up a theory (conjecture) in the attempt to disprove it. Through this process, the absence of refutations is considered support. While theoretically this perspective is sound, there is no historical or current evidence that scientists or science in general operates in this manner (McComas, 2000). Popper's view also emphasized the philosophy of science centered upon empiricism as he considered any psychological and sociological foundation as external to science (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000).

Thanks to Kuhn's (1962) analysis of the history of science, the understandings of NOS made a turn toward a new vision which included social and psychological factors. During the second half of the past century, the trend toward contextual considerations of scientific discovery emerged. Kuhn (1962) described science as a discipline not progressing systematically toward a better understanding of scientific concepts, but one that moves in surges, moving through what Kuhn described as "scientific paradigms." Kuhn (1962) continues to explain that anomalous (or inconsistent) data accumulates until which time the existing theory cannot be maintained and a new theory to better accommodate the anomalous data is sought. During these paradigm shifts, or times of crisis, the scientific community faced choices as a result of too much anomalous data that did not fit with the current understandings. In a mechanical system – as science was once thought to be – changes in understandings should occur slowly and meticulously as new information becomes available. Instead, science was observed to completely abandon its previous conceptions for new conceptions that better explained the anomalous data. It should be noted that these new conceptions should not be thought of as being closer to "truth." It would seem that no matter how much one wishes for science to be completely objective and rational,

Kuhn's historical analysis of the history of science paints a different picture, one with science having an influential social component. Kuhn's view of the nature of science has helped expand science's original logical empirical viewpoint, toward its current view. Though the current conception of NOS retains the original empiricist roots, it now includes psychological and sociological characteristics. More recently, challenges to the NOS have come with the view that knowledge of a list of tenets are insufficient to fully appreciate and make judgments about scientific claims.

There are critics that make the claim the notion of divorcing the tenets of NOS from the episodic event it is associated with, is unwise. These recent criticisms of NOS (and its set of characteristics) refer to these NOS tenets as a post Positivistic manifesto (Allchin, 2011), referring to its exclusionary nature, devoid of a real-life contexts in which to gauge the reliability of claims. Allchin (2011) adds, the nature of science is not the same as the philosophy of science (AAAS, 2009, chap. 1), nor or the citizens capable of becoming philosophers. Well-informed citizens need to understand how evidence works (Allchin, 2011). The notion of "Whole Science" as described by Allchin (2011) does provide a more inclusive perspective of NOS, rather than the more exclusive list of the more traditional list of NOS tenets.

Allchin (2011) questions what is it that we expect students to be able to do? There are certainly limits to these expectations. Critics of Allchin's request for the broadening of the breadth of NOS, decry "Whole Science" blurs the lines between NOS and the skills of inquiry and misrepresents a large body of work towards the current epistemological underpinnings of NOS (Schwartz et al., 2012).

The problem that is raised is that it is possible to help students develop the ability to pass judgment on mature science with its clearer examples of right and wrong. In contrast, within cases of the new science that is still emerging, problems arise (Brickhouse et al., 2000; Driver, Leach, Millar, & Scott, 1996; Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalick, 2002; Ryder et al., 1999; Schwartz, Lederman, & Crawford, 2004). Herman et al., (2013) responds to this issue by providing a more moderate solution in that NOS experiences should be inclusive of the learners' prior experiences. In order to promote deeper and robust understandings of NOS, it may be necessary to utilize NOS instruction within a variety of contexts (Clough, 2006). Clough (2006) argues that NOS instruction also needs to include extensive scaffolds between contexts. It is argued (Herman et al., 2013) that NOS instruction should occur along a continuum from decontextualized to highly contextualized.

Though the importance of NOS may have become apparent early in the 20th century, it was not until the late 1950s to early 1960s that research into NOS increased. One of the first tracks of research was intended to investigate students' conceptions of NOS. The disparaging findings set in motion what is now a long history of research into the problematic nature of learning about the nature of science.

#### What Do We Know About Learning the Nature of Science?

In an extensive review of literature, Lederman (2007) explained that initial research painted a gloomy perspective of students' understandings of NOS. As mentioned by Abd-El-Khalik and Lederman (2000), no matter what the instrument used to judge students' understandings of NOS, results were consistent that students possessed incomplete understandings of NOS (e.g., Aikenhead, 1973; Broadhurst, 1970; Lederman & O'Mally, 1990; Mackay, 1971; Rubba, 1977; Rubba, Horner, & Smith 1981; Tamir & Zohar 1991; Wilson 1954). As a consequence of this research about students' inadequate knowledge of NOS, what followed was an attempt to remedy this situation by means of new science curriculum. With large amounts of funding, curriculum writers developed numerous curricula designed to help students learn through inquiry. The "alphabet soup" curriculum named for the breadth of acronyms describing its content [e.g., BSCS (Biological Sciences Curriculum Study, PSSC (Physical Science Study Committee), ISCS (Intermediate Science Curriculum Study), IPS (Introductory Physical Science)] was produced by private publishers and various universities, with the purpose of increasing the role of hands-on activities within science classrooms. This implicit approach (as it is now aptly named), which referred to learning about science by using the processes and methods of science, became a mainstay of much of the curriculum designed in the 60s and 70s (Lawson, 1982; Rowe, 1974). While initial results proved promising, it was surmised that appropriate curriculum could be a successful tool in improving student understandings (Lederman, 1992). This enthusiasm proved short-lived, as Abd-El-Khalik and Lederman (2000) explain that "when variables such as pre-testing, teacher experience, and student prior knowledge were controlled for, confusing results emerged (p. 669)." This hands-on approach to having students perform the tasks of science in a procedural manner lacked the minds-on component called for in more recent reform movements (NRC, 1996). What is now called "cookbook" or procedure labs, with an emphasis on conformation science. Researchers concluded that curricula alone were not an adequate solution for students to gain adequate NOS understandings (Lederman, 1992).

Instilling understanding of how scientific knowledge is constructed through historical analysis was also attempted, though not without its critics. Duschl (1990) warned of the dangers of teaching what he called 'final form science,' because this approach avoided the 'collective mind of science.' It was hoped that by providing teacher training and curricula, students would then begin to develop adequate NOS understandings that were hoped for (Lederman 1992). These attempts at improving students' conceptions about science through historical analysis proved at best inconclusive and at worst ineffective at producing the kinds of sophisticated understanding desired by science educators (e.g., Klopfer & Watson, 1957; Rutherford, Holton, & Watson, 1970). As Lederman et al. (2001) describe, neither method (implicit historical or implicit through the use of hands-on scientific inquiries) has proven to be consistently successful at developing students' conceptions about NOS. The conclusion made by researchers (Lederman, 1992) was that teacher understandings of NOS were the main contributor to student learning and not curriculum, but that is not to say that much has not been learned about necessary pedagogy to teach NOS.

Research supports the view that NOS is more effective if taught in an explicit and reflective manner (Abd-El-Khalik et al., 1998; Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman 2000a; Akerson et al., 2000; Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik, 2002). The explicit-reflective method provides a methodological approach to the instruction of NOS concepts that are planned for instead of wished for as some instructional side effect (Akindehin, 1988, p. 73). This intentional approach draws students into discussions, activities, investigations, historical examples, etc. for the purpose of engaging learners in a meaningful learning experience. Through planned interventions and subsequent reflection, students' conceptions of NOS are improved in a manner superior to the two previous modes of instruction (Abd-El-Khalik, & Lederman, 1998). Abd-El-

Khalik and Lederman (1998), drawing upon a comprehensive review of literature, make the claim that a "functional understanding of NOS" can be elicited through an explicit-reflective approach (p. 137). Akerson, Abd-El-Khalik, & Lederman (2000) note the limitations of the studies that have used primarily preservice teachers as study participants. While convenient samples for most researchers, they may not be the best choice for research purposes. Both research on situated cognition (e.g., Brown, Collins, & Duguid, 1989) and on transfer of learning (e.g., Lanier & Little, 1986) suggests that methods courses may not be the optimal context for promoting sophisticated views of NOS, yet they remain a popular choice for researchers for obvious reasons. Students in their third, fourth or fifth year of college are perhaps more advanced epistemologically and their learning of NOS may be quite different than a typical high school student. On the other hand, those students within elementary methods courses may not have the science background necessary to fully integrate NOS into context for their own learning.

Also, in order to acknowledge the integration of instruction into a contextual setting versus the more typical decontextualized activities based situation (e.g., Mystery Tubes, Dinosaur Bones), research suggests that in either case, the differences in learning outcomes may have more to do with the type of instruction (explicit or implicit) than with the setting (contextualized and decontextualized) (Bell et al., 2011; Khishfe & Lederman, 2006). Bell et al. (2011) used classes of preservice secondary teachers to determine which of four types of instruction (implicit-contextual, explicit contextual, implicit decontextualized, & explicit decontextualized) provided the greatest learning outcome. Instruction for two groups contained a socioscientific issue (Global Climate Change/Global Warming), with one group having nature of science relationships explicitly tied back to the previous NOS activities completed earlier in the

semester. The other two groups were exposed only to the traditional activities-based instruction more common to nature of science instruction (e.g., Mystery Tubes, Mystery Box, Dinosaur Bones, etc.), with only one having the important discussion and debriefing following the activity. It should be noted that all groups were exposed to the NOS activities. The results of Bell et al. (2011) are consistent with Khishfe & Lederman (2006) who observed positive outcomes from both groups receiving either integrated or non-integrated explicit instruction. In the research by Khishfe and Lederman (2006), it is important to point out the methodologies were quite similar to Bell et al. (2011), but perhaps more important is that the participants were ninth grade high schools students and not the typical preservice teacher. It is not incorrect to say that contextualizing is without merit and perhaps necessary to move beyond declarative knowledge of NOS and into conceptual understandings of NOS between different contexts (Clough, 2007).

From a review of literature into how people learn, Clough (2003) cites how explicitreflective practices are not enough to promote deep understandings of NOS. For instruction to help students develop understandings of NOS, he proposes that in NOS instruction, in order to be successful, classroom experiences need to be scaffolded back and forth along a continuum. This continuum described by Clough (2003) can increase connections to the workings of science and attempts to avoid the potential for the student to dismiss NOS as extraneous to science. This scaffolding also is meant to help students make connections between NOS and different science content. As well, Bell et al. (2011) acknowledge their interest in finding opportunities to embed NOS learning into contextual setting through the use of socioscientific issues (SSI), especially given its implications for decision making.

In the past century, where NOS was merely viewed as one's understanding of the scientific method (Central Association for Science and Mathematics Teachers, 1907), has come far with respect to the formation of understandings of what is NOS and how it is best taught. A statistician named Karl Pearson (1937) proposed a series of common steps used by scientists to solve problems that has become one of the most entrenched misconceptions of science education. These steps of the scientific method generally include, 1.) define the problem, 2.) gather background information, 3.) form a hypothesis, 4.) make observations, 5.) test the hypothesis, 6.) draw conclusions, and 7.) communicate findings with other scientists (McComas, 1996). From research into the ways scientists perform their studies, it is found that there is no method universal to science. This list of steps that characterizes the scientific method has, until recently, pervaded most precollege textbooks, thereby further entrenching the myth that science is a linear set of steps that is always followed. Instead of a formal and algorithmic set of steps, research (Carey, 1994; Chalmers, 1990; Gibbs & Lawson, 1992; Gjertsen, 1989) has explained that scientists apply imagination, creativity, prior knowledge and perseverance, characteristics that all problem solvers apply. Fortunately, newer textbooks have changed to terms such as "methods of science" to better explain the process of a scientific inquiry.

Neither the historical nor the implicit hands-on approaches have provided the science educational community with effective practices for teaching NOS. Fortunately, the explicitreflective approach has provided hope that the tide of student inadequate understandings of NOS can be turned. More recent efforts to move toward a method of instruction to contextualize NOS also hold great merit, as these methods begin to address the nature of learning.

#### What Do We Know about Teaching NOS?

From over a half century of research, the science education community knows much about how NOS is best learned, but what about how it is best taught? Implicit methods with outcomes that are merely hoped for as artifacts of instruction have not proven successful in providing appropriate student understandings of NOS. Why should NOS conceptions not be treated like any other misconception? If a student fails to understand the differences between potential and kinetic energy, we would address it, not merely chance that the student may pick this concept up from some other activity. While there are many activities the student could perform that would include a transformation of energy such as the dribbling of a basketball, science educators would not leave it to chance that this knowledge would be somehow gleaned through the process. Why would an educator leave something as important as NOS to chance? Instead, research points to the need for a targeted intervention to dispel students' misconceptions by intentionally drawing students' attention to NOS issues (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000a; Akerson et al., 2000; Akindehin, 1988; Bell, Lederman, & Abd-El-Khalik, 2000; Clough, 1997, 1998, 2004; Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik, 2002; Lederman, 1992; McComas, 2000).

The research provides evidence that for NOS instruction to be effective it may need to be, at a minimum, explicit and reflective. It is quite disparaging, but implicit approaches to instruction still find their way into the classroom. There are still many teachers who believe that the mere engagement of students in a scientific task will automatically translate into knowledge of NOS (Jelinek, 1998; McComas, 1993; Moss, Abrams & Kull, 1998). To be effective, teachers need to take the next step beyond the learning of the processes of science and beyond low-level (cookbook) inquiry. However, it would be a critical error to imply that inquiry is *not* essential to NOS instruction (Abd-El-Khalik, 2001). Khishfe and Lederman's (2006) conducted research on

ninth graders (previously discussed) that included combinations of approaches ranging from implicit to explicit-contextualized during the six week intervention. Though explicit instruction was superior to implicit methods, scores were marginally better for the explicit-contextualized group versus the explicit-decontextualized group. In previous research, Khishfe and Abd-El-Khalik (2002) studied 62 sixth graders for 2.5 months looking at differences between explicit and implicit-inquiry methods of teaching NOS. Similar to the later research (e.g., Khishfe & Lederman, 2006; Bell et al., 2011), evidence supports the use of explicit reflective over the more implicit methodologies. Furthermore, it supports the use of explicit reflection across a broad age range from preservice to sixth grade, which has implications for this research.

Clough (2007) suggests the effectiveness of an explicit-reflective approach should have come as little surprise. He suggests that inappropriate understandings of NOS, just like the more traditional misconceptions of content, are highly resistant to change. Implicit approaches in these cases would be ineffective at providing the necessary situations for conceptual change. It makes little sense to believe that a highly resistant misconception of NOS would yield to self-discovery method, just as it would for more traditional content. Furthermore, Lederman, Schwartz, Abd-El-Khalik, & Bell (2001) discussed how NOS should be taught in a manner similar to any other content specific knowledge where the teacher plans for and expects an outcome from instruction. Simply put, it should be planned for, taught and assessed, and not just assumed it will occur as an artifact of instruction.

In defining explicit instruction, Abd-El-Khalik and Akerson (2009) point out that care must be taken, as explicit instruction can have varied meanings. Explicit does not mean "didactic," but rather planned for within a curriculum. The term "reflective" inherently includes complex ideas, theories, & principles when applied to instructional practice.

Dewey (1933) defined reflection as a process requiring a learner to reconstruct and reorganize his understandings. In the view of Dewey, reflection is a rigorous process that is more disciplined than other types of thinking, such as: stream of consciousness, invention and belief. According to Dewey (1916), as students are challenged by a state of disequilibrium, their own curiosity becomes the motivational impetus to satisfy their unsettledness. Reflection does not have a consistent methodology for implementation, but is more typically associated with student-centered, inquiry based, active, or collaborative practices, all of which are considered constructivist methodologies.

Khishfe and Lederman (2007) researched whether or not NOS teachings are more effective when embedded (integrated versus non-integrated) within instructional units versus a stand-alone unit. Though Khishfe and Lederman (2007) use the terms integrated and nonintegrated, they can be thought of as decontextualized and contextualized. One interesting note was that little discernible difference was observed amongst groups as both groups had positive outcomes, though the group using controversial issues had a slightly larger gain. Unlike the Khishfe and Abd-El-Khalik (2002) study, which studied sixth grade science students, Khishfe and Lederman's (2007) research again turned to preservice teachers. It is not to say this study is not important, as it most certainly is; it does suggest a relationship between college and K-12 students with regard to learning NOS that may or may not exist. This finding matches the findings of others, where it would seem that enabling students' opportunities to integrate science topics in a real life context may yield beneficial outcomes in terms of NOS understandings (Bentley & Fleury, 1998; Collins & Pinch, 1998; Sadler, Chambers, & Zeidler, 2002; Simmons & Zeidler, 2002; Zeidler et al., 2009).

Khishfe and Lederman (2007) also make a tentative claim, citing the need for further investigations along the lines of how integration may provide some efficiency in terms of time spent on NOS. In a climate of high stakes tests, time spent on NOS must be balanced with the rest of the curriculum needed to prepare students. If integration yields such efficiencies, it would seem logical to pursue this line of research. As noted previously, Bell et al., (2011) mentioned the use of SSI as intriguing due to its potential to increase the decision-making abilities of students. The use of SSI for the teaching of NOS would please many (e.g., Allchin, 2011; Brickhouse et al., 2000; Clough, 2003; Ryder et al., 1999; Zeidler & Sadler, 2008) who believe that NOS must be linked to science content. Zeidler and Sadler (2008) describe any separation between the context of science and its implications and applications involving society as an artificial divorce.

SSI is a theoretical framework that promotes the integration of student decision making on a current controversial issues steeped with social ramifications. It is through encounters with SSI issues that students are able "to make reasoned judgments of scientific data; they are challenged to consider what is right, which necessarily entails normative ethical 'oughts' and 'shoulds' (Zeidler & Sadler, 2008, p. 201)." It is through the experiences with these ill-structured problems that students are provided opportunities to make reasoned judgments based on evidence, which also include competing interests and expected outcomes (Duschl & Osborne, 2002). SSI also provides students a glimpse of how science is interrelated with their own lives and the lives of the greater community by giving students opportunities to reflect on these issues (Driver et al., 1996; Sadler, 2004; Zeidler & Keefer, 2003). Furthermore, SSI can provide a contextualized setting for the study of science content and for some NOS tenets (Abd-El-Khalik, 2003; Sadler et al., 2004; Zeidler et al., 2009; Zeidler, Walker, Ackett, & Simmons, 2002).

The use of SSI to contextualize content or NOS has been shown to be effective (Khishfe & Lederman, 2006; Sadler et al., 2004; Zeidler et al., 2009), especially if the goal is toward a more functional view of science literacy. More recent research (Eastwood, Sadler, Zeidler, Lewis, Amiri, & Applebaum, 2012) reveals that while both explicit-reflective instruction of NOS within traditional content and SSI were quantitatively similar; in fact, qualitative improvements in the SSI group hold much promise. The group having the SSI treatment was able to consider multiple perspectives. Given that epistemological views appear to be context-dependent, the emergence of multiple perspectives gained through SSI within student's understandings of NOS may prove a benefit for the making of informed decisions, an ultimate goal of NOS.

It is unfortunate that assessing this type of progressive vision of scientific literacy in terms of NOS, by its inherent nature, is limited to extended responses (Khishfe & Lederman, 2006; Walker & Zeidler, 2007; Zeidler et al., 2002) or interviews (Zeidler et al., 2009), an impractical option for large scale studies or state tests. While the full benefits of this contextualized instruction provided by SSI cannot be fully assessed and appreciated in largescale assessments, it does not diminish the fact that SSI does provide a viable option for NOS instruction and moves instruction beyond focusing on merely isolated NOS tenets. Providing students with opportunities to engage in authentic activities using socioscientific issues can and should become an important part of the strategies associated with explicit-reflective teaching methods. Research into explicit-reflective instruction has provided much knowledge of the benefits to student learning. Moreover, the explicit-reflective approach of providing students opportunities to interact with real life controversial issues also shows much promise. Unfortunately, what happens in the classroom has little to do with researched methods of instruction for various reasons and reform mandates.

# **Barriers to NOS instruction.**

To formalize what the science education community understands about the teaching and learning of NOS, two basic conditions must be met. First, teachers need to possess their own adequate understandings of NOS. Second, they must feel NOS is an important part of science instruction in order to include it within instruction. Both of these conditions can be thought of as obstacles to NOS instruction. Even when these conditions are met, teachers are faced with other social and institutional barriers to overcome as part of general practice. These situational and institutional barriers constraints include: pressure to cover content, classroom management skills, constraints by cooperating teachers, etc. Looking at these in terms of thresholds that must be crossed, it is clear that teachers must first know the content.

#### Teacher knowledge of NOS.

A teacher's understanding of NOS is a necessary requirement, as teachers need to understand themselves what they are expected to teach. What is unfortunate is that teachers' conceptions of NOS are just as inadequate as students (e.g., Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000a; Duschl, 1990; Lederman, 1992, 2007; Schwartz & Lederman, 2002). Research has shown that over the past few decades that teachers have for the most part, picked up this knowledge of NOS either through their content specific coursework or their science education courses (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000a; Duschl, 1990; Lederman, 1992, 2007; Schwartz & Lederman, 2002). For students to learn NOS, it would seem essential that teachers need to understand the humanistic manner of scientific work (Morrison, Raab, & Ingram, 2009).

As early as the 1960s, efforts were underway to improve science teachers' conceptions of NOS with little success (Gruber, 1960, 1963; Welch & Pella, 1967, 1968). Slightly more recent studies revealed that teachers' NOS conceptions seemed to be unrelated to many of the variables that one might assume important for gaining understandings of NOS: content knowledge (high school and college), science achievement, and academic achievement (Billeh & Hasan, 1975; Carey & Strauss, 1968, 1969, 1970; Olstad, 1969; Scharman, 1988a, 1988b; Wood, 1972). Therefore, the typical activities expected to encourage understandings of NOS, such as undergraduate coursework, in-service institutes, or even professional practice, did not accomplish the task of improving understandings of NOS. Should it be of any surprise that many teachers have inadequate understandings of NOS? This could be especially true for those teachers who have not been exposed to NOS through a university's preservice training program aimed at improving teacher conceptions of NOS before they enter the teaching profession. Despite a half century of NOS being emphasized as part of reform movements, to this day teachers still have inadequate understanding of it (Clough, 2006).

Science teachers tend to view science as value free and objective, devoid of uncertainty, and that any change from this focus on the facts of science (Larkin et al., 2009; Saka, 2009) would undermine this view. A host of reasons exist for why teachers have not picked up this knowledge. For many, it may be that they themselves ended up teaching science, not because they wanted to or were particularly qualified to do so; rather, it was due to the shortage of science teachers that are now available to schools. Due to recent teacher shortages in many states, schools have teachers who entered the occupation as teachers of science having little in the way of science coursework or science methods courses. For certain, in many school districts it can be regrettably uncommon to find teachers of science having the necessary pedigree to be

called a "scientist." With few having spent time doing science or having little experience in laboratory settings and/or interactions with actual scientists (Bransford & Donovan, 2005; Smith & Anderson, 1999), is it any wonder why teachers do not have a clear perspective as to the values held by scientists? They also do not understand the assumptions made by scientists as they construct their knowledge (Lederman, 1992). To teach science requires teachers to have a clear idea of what is the proper vision of science, but to complicate matters further, teachers lack the comprehensive science content knowledge, without which, NOS concepts cannot be adequately inserted (Lederman, 1992). Without this proper vision of NOS, it would seem obvious that teachers would struggle with teaching NOS, but even when NOS knowledge is present, there is no guarantee it will translate into classroom practice.

# Situational and institutional barriers.

Lederman and Abd-El-Khalik (2000) discuss multiple potential influences on why NOS instruction is absent in most classroom environments beyond just teacher's knowledge of NOS, such as institutional and curricular constraints as well as teacher intentions and experiences. These researchers go on to state that these relationships between teacher understandings of NOS and their classroom practice are more complex than previously assumed. A teacher's understanding of NOS is essential for translating this knowledge to practice. On the other hand, a teacher's NOS knowledge in itself is not a sufficient condition to expect changes in the classroom to appear solely due to its presence. Appropriate NOS instruction does not make it into the classroom for a variety of reason; only one of which is teachers' inadequate understandings of NOS (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 2000).
Research has provided the science education community with multiple reasons why NOS instruction is not evident in the classroom beyond teacher's knowledge of, and their perceived value of, NOS. Teachers' classroom management, classroom experience, and attitudes about students' abilities and motivations (Lederman, et al., 2001) have all been reasons cited for the lack of NOS instruction. Other factors discussed by Abd-El-Khalik (1998) that are more situational include pressure to cover content, constraints by cooperating teachers, as well as other institutional constraints. Teachers also believe they lack the essential skills to be able to introduce topics that would include discussions of topics that would paint a picture of science as a social endeavor (Lewis & Leach, 2006). Teachers may also struggle to find appropriate resources in which to teach NOS. It is sad to say that textbooks rarely include a satisfactory address of NOS despite the state mandates for its inclusion (Abd-El-Khalick, F., Waters, M. & Le, A.P. 2008; Lederman et al., 2001).

What the science education community does know is that teachers make choices about what happens in their classrooms. These choices are based upon institutional factors such as school resources, goals, and culture. Institutional factors such as accountability are focused on short term student achievement that favors the adoption of a teacher-centered pedagogy that targets rote knowledge gains (Saka et al., 2009). To many, the goal of today's science learning is to prepare students for the next level of science with the emphasis of the facts of science (Larkin et al., 2009) and not the understandings by which science constructs its knowledge. The notion that the importance of science lies within the facts and process and not the nature of those understandings is at the heart of the problem.

## Importance teachers place on NOS.

Lederman & Niess (1997) express the need for teachers to develop the attitude that NOS has equal or higher status than traditional content. Teachers must also develop the attitude that the knowledge of NOS will enhance students' understandings of science content. Unfortunately, these understandings do not come naturally, nor can they be mandated. The teachers may not understand that "nature of science is not important JUST because reform documents say so. Rather, the reform documents emphasize the nature of science because IT IS important (p. 2)." This lack of knowledge about the values of scientists and science in general is certainly problematic, but this may not be the only reason NOS instruction is lacking in the classroom.

Research has found a disconnect between teacher knowledge and classroom practice (e.g., Bell, 1996; Duschl & Wright, 1989; Lederman, 1992; Lederman & Druger, 1985; Lederman & Zeidler, 1987), so that even if a teacher possesses adequate knowledge, it may not get transmitted to students. Lederman's (1995, 1999) case study research of experienced teachers determined that teachers' intentions were the most important factor affecting the teachers' translation of knowledge into practice. In Lederman's (1999) multi-case study of five high school biology teachers, no relationship was found between teacher and student conceptions of NOS. Regardless of teacher knowledge of NOS, students held naïve views. In a subsequent line of research Abd-El-Khalik et al. (1998) found that teachers' conceptions of NOS do not necessarily influence their practice. Abd-El-Khalik and his colleagues stated that beyond expanding the students' knowledge of NOS, an emphasis must be placed on its importance in order for the NOS to make its way into practice. Participants in this particular study were fourteen MAT students who had already received BS degrees in their field, but now sought teaching certification. Using pre- and post-test questionnaires to study their understanding of

NOS, students were tracked through their student teaching experience, where video-taped observations, field notes, classroom artifacts and supervisor's clinical observation notes were used to assess classroom practice. Following student teaching, a semi-structured interview was employed to generate in-depth views of participants as well as corroborate previously developed views from other data sources. Despite gains in understandings of NOS from almost all participants and the acknowledged importance of teaching this construct, little evidence was found to suggest it was taught.

Though the idea that intentions, beliefs, and attitudes play an important role in activating observable actions is not new (Collette & Chiapetta, 1994), it has more recently been associated with the importance placed on NOS. Abd-El-Khalik et al., (1998) research gave rise to the notion that the importance student teachers placed on NOS related positively to their intentions to teach NOS during their student teaching experience. In a subsequent study, Bell, Lederman, & Abd-El-Khalik (2000) state that teachers need to internalize the importance of NOS, and it is this internalization responsible for determining action within the classroom. This goes beyond whether the teacher holds NOS as an important construct, but where teachers rank NOS among the total of science knowledge. In other words, is NOS important enough to waste valuable class time on with all the other demands of the modern classroom? With most research focused on teachers' understandings of NOS, a lesser amount has been focused on other potential factors associated with teachers' understandings of NOS and translations into practices (Lederman, 2001). Bridging this schism is critical in moving toward the implementation of successful classroom practices. Lederman's research (2001) demonstrated that those teachers who did not view NOS as an important construct to be taught within their classroom were reluctant to do so.

While much research has been conducted to find ways to improve teachers' conceptions of NOS, for the most part these improvements have not made their way into the classroom practices (Lederman, 2007). Unfortunate is the belief that teachers' NOS knowledge, once developed, would translate into classroom practices (Abd-El-Khalik et al., 1998; Bell, Lederman, & Abd-El-Khalik, 2000, Lederman, 2007) as teachers would somehow equate NOS knowledge with NOS's importance. This lack of teacher internalization of the importance of NOS has hindered progress, but to overcome this barrier requires a better understanding of this internalization process and how it relates to practice.

# NOS and Its Connection to Epistemological Beliefs

This internalization, or belief, that teachers place on NOS has recently developed into a new strain of research concerning epistemological beliefs, a seemingly similar, but slightly different construct than NOS. NOS is generally associated with the assumptions, values, and characteristics of scientific knowledge (Lederman, 2007, 1992; Tsai & Liu, 2005). It has also been used as a term to describe what is science, how science works, and the processes and skills employed by scientists (Clough and Olson 2008). Scientific epistemological beliefs (SEBs), on the other hand, refer to beliefs about the nature of scientific knowledge and beliefs about the nature of knowing science from a perspective associated with Hofer and Pintrich (1997). As Wu and Tsai (2011) explain, from this perspective, scientific epistemological beliefs are considered categories of personal epistemological beliefs.

Both SEBs and NOS address beliefs about scientific knowledge and knowing science. In contrast to NOS, SEBs place more emphasis on beliefs about the nature of knowing science, justification of scientific knowledge, and decision-making on socioscientific issues. For example, students who believe scientific knowledge is simple and not dependent on context may be less likely to believe that scientific knowledge is tentative (Cho, Lankford, & Westcott, 2011).

Whether or not the discussion pertains to scientific epistemological beliefs (the beliefs about the study of scientific knowledge) or NOS (related to the study of science as a way of knowing), it would seem logical that these two constructs are related (Wu & Tsai, 2011). It would also seem improbable to study one without the other. If you are studying how scientific knowledge is constructed, then you are studying NOS. If you are studying a person's scientific epistemological beliefs, then you are studying their views of NOS.

Just as personal epistemological beliefs influence how a person views knowledge and knowledge construction, looking toward these beliefs as a source, or influence, on similar or semi-related beliefs such as understandings of NOS or SEBs would seem in order.

# **Personal Epistemological Beliefs**

For half a century, educational psychologists have researched beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction in students with the most pivotal moment toward this line of research coming as a result of Perry's (1970) seminal work. Ever since the realization that the development of epistemological beliefs play a crucial role in the learning process, research has increased and expanded in scope over these past decades. Research in the field of knowledge and knowledge construction has uncovered relationships between epistemological beliefs and their effects upon such things as learning strategies (Schommer, Crouse, & Rhodes, 1992), motivation

(Buehl & Alexander, 2005), conceptual change (Mason, Gava, & Boldrin, 2008), and text comprehension (Schommer et al., 1992; Schraw & Olafson, 2002), just to name a few. Most important to this discussion is that research has also uncovered a relationship between these epistemological beliefs and science achievement of students (Bell & Linn, 2002; Edmondson & Novak, 1993; Roth & Roychoudhury, 1994; Ryder & Leach, 1999; Ryder et al., 1999; Tsai, 1998a; Westby & Samarapungavan, 2001).

The conceptions of NOS held by teachers are viewed along a spectrum from either a realist perspective or instrumentalist perspectives and have their roots in how teachers view the construction of, not just scientific knowledge, but all knowledge (Akerson, et al., 2006; Hagege, Dartnell, & Sallantin, 2007; Yang, et al., 2008). One view along the epistemological beliefs spectrum is associated with ideologies more like those of a realist, where scientific knowledge tells us about truth and how it is ultimately knowable (Hagege, Dartnell, & Sallantin, 2007). Postivism is a philosophical viewpoint where data is key to construction of knowledge. While both positivism, with its empirical roots and social constructivism being socially constructed and culturally moderated, can share some similarities, in that they both are independent of a philosophical realism. Though constructivism has been called unscientific for its reliance on the social construction of knowledge, Positivism too, shares the human element, requiring human constructed linkages of data. Neither philosophical position in itself guarantees truth, only how understandings arise. Critical realism attempts to bridge this gap by acknowledging there is a "to be known" world, regardless of whether or not humans are capable of understanding it or not. The difference, pedagogically speaking, is that positivist positions are most associated with views of knowledge as transferable as discrete units. These discrete units of knowledge to a more traditionalist teacher are accretive in nature, making that knowledge inherently transferable.

The characteristic of such knowledge is that new knowledge is added to old, with truth as its ultimate destination. Teachers holding views that knowledge is inherently transferable in discrete units view themselves and their purpose in the classroom as provider of knowledge (Hagege et al., 2007). Secondary teachers especially believe teaching to be the "maximum information transfer" and learning to be a concept associated with "every information absorption" (Boulton-Lewis, Smith, McCrindle, Burnett, & Campbell, 2001; Waeytens, Lens, &Vandenberghe, 2002). It is this approach to learning that distinguishes teachers into these two categories (positivist or constructivist), within these categories more like a positivist that are considered problematic and at odds with science education reform, but how do these epistemological positions affect how a teacher will teach NOS?

Just as an understanding of NOS plays a crucial role in explaining how scientific knowledge is assembled, epistemological beliefs play an equivalent role in how general knowledge is constructed in a broader context. While Schommer (1990) describes personal epistemologies as more or less independent dimensions where the structure, certainty, and sources of knowledge play important roles in the construction of knowledge, Hofer and Pintrich (1997) describe epistemological beliefs as one's own beliefs about learning and knowledge, one which is seemingly related to NOS (Abd-El-Khalik, 2003). To be clear, philosophical views are discussed to provide the reader a better understanding of how these beliefs are related, the focus of this research was concerned with pedagogical beliefs. It is important to realize these philosophical views discussed are different, but do share similarities or differences when related to the pedagogical beliefs associated with them.

Perry's initial efforts have continued to influence research throughout the past decades (King & Kitchner, 1994, 2002; Moore, 2002) and are now lending themselves to the issues inherent to teaching and learning NOS. Scientific literacy, a mainstay of recent reform under which current State standards are based (NRC, 1996), calls for the preparation of students to become effective decision makers about scientific issues, as well as non-scientific issues. To do so, science education researchers are looking at the effects of how epistemological beliefs determine teacher's instructional practices involving NOS (Akerson, et al., 2006; Yang, et al., 2008). Educational psychologists are looking at this from a broader perspective of epistemological beliefs into how students make choices involving ill-structured problems (those with no correct answer) concerning more general knowledge. These strands of research would seem to be similar and in fact add credence to the fact that these are related constructs and therefore, should be of great importance to science educators given the recursive nature of teachers' epistemological beliefs and the effects on students' beliefs about learning (Feucht & Bendixen, 2010).

Throughout this section, the reader will encounter two terms, epistemological beliefs and epistemic beliefs. These two terms, epistemic and epistemological beliefs, have been used in the literature to describe beliefs about knowledge and the processing of knowledge, with epistemological beliefs being the more common of these terms (Mason, 2010). It should be noted that some would prefer to distinguish one from the other based on whether or not the discussion pertains to epistemological beliefs (the beliefs about the study of knowledge) with epistemic beliefs related to the study of the beliefs about knowledge and knowing (Alexander & Sinatra, 2007; Murphy, Alexander, Green, & Edwards, 2007). Kitchener (2002) had previously favored this distinction, but it should be noted that this distinction comes from a researcher perspective,

more so, than a distinction we need be concerned (Mason, 2010). Educational and developmental psychologists study epistemic beliefs as its focus is the more personal assumptions about knowledge, which differs from the study of knowledge itself. As Vosniadou (2007) points out, anyone who studies an individual's epistemic beliefs is really studying about epistemological beliefs. Perhaps the most important factor to consider when looking at epistemic or epistemological beliefs is their importance as a major factor in conceptual change, either as a resource or constraint (Mason, 2010). So as not to get entangled in semantics about linguistics of a person's beliefs of knowledge and knowledge construction, limitations will be placed on the discussion of these two related constructs, as these are well beyond the scope of this research. The terms epistemic and epistemological will be used interchangeably throughout this paper to reflect the sources of material, whether educational, developmental psychology, or science education, more so than any intentional separation of these distinct, but obviously related constructs. Within this next section, personal epistemological beliefs will be explained and relevance added to the argument for epistemological beliefs of teachers playing a role in their instructional practice. To be clear, philosophical views are presented to provide the reader a better understanding of these philosophical viewpoints that are relevant to the discussion of pedagogical beliefs.

# History of Epistemological Research.

The most influential moment in the study of epistemological beliefs erupted during William Perry's studies (1970) at Harvard University during the 1950s and 60s. While the original intent of his studies was to investigate personality, these studies revealed a conceptual change in students' views of knowledge and knowledge construction as they matriculated

through their undergraduate coursework. While educational psychologists remain uncertain about the causes of these changes, it is a common belief that increases in the sophistication of epistemological beliefs are related in some way to the educational process. Just as science education concentrates upon NOS as a tool to enrich reasoning skills, educational psychologists have been interested in broader epistemological beliefs for these same reasons.

Although grounded in elite western culture (i.e., Harvard University students), Perry's model is based upon an individual's cognitive development and states that true learning involves qualitative changes in the way students approach knowledge (Moore, 2002). Perry's (1970) work describes the levels of these developmental reasoning skills and the fact that they do develop, but what is perhaps more important is how they are tied to the student's educational experience itself (Susman, & Rogol, 2004). Perhaps a more important question for educational researchers is how these educational experiences influence this qualitative change in reasoning.

At the core of educational experiences is the desire for students to construct knowledge beyond that of content knowledge. This development of more complex forms of thought about the world requires qualitative changes in reasoning. This progression towards more sophisticated epistemological beliefs is at the heart of second nature influencing the first. Perry's (1970) model suggests that student's progress through levels of epistemological sophistication. These levels include: dualism (positions 1- 2), multiplicity (positions 3-4), and contextual relativism (position 5), toward a final goal of commitment within relativism (positions 6-9). It is at the more constructivist positions where the objective and subjective thought process are balanced, where one does not hold an upper hand to the other (Chandler, 1987, 1988). One important caveat is that an epistemologically sophisticated stage is reached only by a fairly small percentage of the population, usually reflective of advanced degrees (Kuhn, 1991).

While the lowest level of dualism, position one, is rarely found, it describes a view of knowledge as absolute and synonymous with "truth." Within this perspective, reasoning is from a perspective of black and white, with views being either right or wrong; with no tolerance for opposing viewpoints. While position two provides lip service to opposing points of view, judgments are still made from a point of view that knowledge is absolute and unquestionable; though other views may be acknowledged, they are still deemed undeniably wrong. Positions three and four are still considered dualistic in the nature of reasoning, though a progression can be ascertained through views that there is some knowledge that is "not yet known" (position 3) towards a view that "we may never know" (position 4) (Moore, 2002).

The transition between four and five is viewed as significant by Perry, perhaps due to the transcending of the *laissez faire* attitudes of position four, where attitudes of "do your own thing" or "anything goes" prevail (Moore, 2002). It is this boundary that this argument uses to differentiate the naïve from the sophisticated in terms of how knowledge is constructed. Beginning with position five, there is a shift in views about knowledge and knowledge construction that considers context as an important factor.

Position five describes a position where students have progressed through a series of position of dualism, and the potential for a growing numbers of exceptions to exist to one which includes the skills of contextualized reasoning. Within positions five and above, students now have the ability to consider alternate points of view as they acknowledge their own points of view.

This shift in epistemological stances is a major step in active meaning making, changing dramatically the conceptions of how one views knowledge and knowledge construction, even though the Perry model extends through positions six through nine and represents not epistemological changes, but ethical changes. Little work has been done on these upper reaches of sophistication as few college undergraduates are represented with the post-contextual-relativistic thinking.

From this description, it would seem that college-educated individuals should possess these more contextual and tentative views of knowledge, but in fact it is far from true. From research, it would appear that maturation alone has little, if any, effect on epistemological development (Alexander & Sinatra 2007; Hofer 2001). Rather, education can have the potential to provide the stimulus for epistemological development to occur (Hofer & Sinatra, 2010), but there are no guarantees. Hofer and Pintrich (1997) suggest that while the educational process plays a crucial role in the development of a "more sophisticated epistemological thinking" they make no claim that all students should be expected to attain this goal (p. 404). If we consider not every teacher should be expected to have contextual and tentative views of knowledge (epistemological beliefs), how does that personal view of learning and knowledge construction affect their philosophy of teaching and learning?

#### **Teachers' Epistemological Beliefs and Their Effect on Practice**

Pajares (1992) and more recently Tsai (2002, 2006) makes the point that teachers' beliefs, either implicitly or explicitly, affect students during their daily routines. These same teachers hold a host of views from beliefs about students' knowledge and knowledge construction, the role of schools, to curriculum (Levitt, 2001). While these beliefs, in turn,

influence a wide variety of other cognitive processes (Pintrich, 1990). Perhaps the most important point to make is that teachers' beliefs are an important factor in determining the complex relationship of how these beliefs correlate to student outcomes (Hofer & Pintrich, 2002; Pajares, 1992; Schraw & Olafson, 2002). Even more striking is that an individual teacher's beliefs are a more predictive factor in determining the types of instruction practices he implements in his classroom than either content knowledge or instructional strategies (Jones & Carter, 2007; Pajares, 1992, Tsai, 2002, 2006). The next question that must be asked "Is the exercise of instructional practices of teachers and the relationship to teacher beliefs a common occurrence." According to both Tobin (1993) and Peterman (1993), instructional choices are the primary confirmation of the teacher's beliefs. They are also the most likely influence on instructional practice (Jones & Carter, 2007; Pajares, 1992, Tsai, 2002; Pajares, 1992, Tsai, 2002).

Kuhn, Cheney, and Weinstock (2000) discussed that the existing research on personal epistemology demonstrates that teachers' beliefs fall into three categories that describe a developmental continuum similar to Perry's levels of sophistication , absolutists, multiplisit, and evaluativist (in Feucht, 2010). The teacher holding absolutist views perceive teaching as transference of information from expert to naive learner. The research on passive or "received knower" as Belenky, Clinchy, Goldberger, and Tarule (1986) described in *Women's Ways of Knowing* is synonymous with Perry's (1970) dualist perception of knowledge. According to Clinchy (2002), to a "received knower," the world is black and white with one correct answer devoid of ambiguity. Truth is something that can be proven and an external factor of knowledge that is lying in the hands of authority/experts.

The "received knower" describes the learning characteristic common to absolutists views from the perspective of the learner. Feucht (2010) notes other labels have been applied from the teacher perspective to include: "objective learning models (Howard, McGee, Schwartz, & Purcell, 2000), monological discourse patterns (Johnston, Woodside-Iron, & Day, 2001), realist worldviews (Tsai, 2002), and departing absolutists (White, 2000)" ( in Feucht, 2010, p.66).

In contrast to the epistemological viewpoints of absolutists, those with multiplistic views place importance on promoting a learning environment that allows students to construct their own knowledge. Resources that promote expert views are frowned upon, instead favoring a view of knowledge that is more subjective and tentative and promoting environments that encourage this type of behavior. Again, a host of terminologies have been applied to these approaches from "constructivist learning models (Howard et al., 2000), dialogical discourse patterns (Johnston et al., 2001), relativist worldviews (Schraw & Olafson, 2002), constructivist teacher beliefs (Tsai, 2002), and intuitive relativists and aspects of selective relativists (White, 2000)" (in Feucht, 2010, p.67).

Toward the other end of the continuum from the teacher's epistemological views as an absolutist stands the evaluativist, where environments are favored promoting the collaborative construction of student's knowledge versus the understandings of other people's knowledge in the previous multiplistic view. Within these classrooms, teachers favor opportunities for students to explore additional sources of knowledge by complementing their classrooms with additional materials to include electronic sources and other materials generally existing outside the typical curriculum.

It is in this environment that knowledge is perceived as a context-dependent and tentative entity (Feucht, 2010). These views have also been labeled as contextualistic worldviews by Schraw and Olafson (2002), and reflective relativist and aspects of informed relativists by White (2000). It is here the question begs to be asked, "What proportion of teachers hold these epistemological views?"

According to King and Kitchener (1994), approximately 15% of college students view knowledge as uncertain and that require the cognitive efforts of reflection in order to uncover the possibilities and to contemplate and evaluate those possibilities in order to reach reasoned judgments. Baxter Magolda (2002) reported how the majority of college students in her research still fell into the transition category of knowing in their senior year of college. Transitional knowers in this study had a dichotomous view of knowledge. For some areas such as social studies and humanities they leaned more towards what Magolda (2002) described as "Independent Knowing," whereas in the subjects of science and math, their views were more absolute with regard to the subject matter. Using these references as a benchmark, while the numbers of teachers possessing naïve epistemological views are suspect, whatever number that can be derived from this evidence is large and disturbing.

As teachers now come from numerous backgrounds and can have vastly different college experiences, it is difficult to say why specific teachers have these disparate epistemological views. One possible reason is the type of college experience: either from colleges of arts and science or colleges of education. Zeidler et. al. (2002) mention how differences in emphasis between these two camps are related to their own set of epistemological underpinnings. Regardless of the reasoning behind these differences, a more important question may need to be posed, "So what?"

## Why teachers' epistemological beliefs are important.

In terms of the student, there is a growing body of research suggesting that personal epistemologies play a crucial role in learning, impacting argumentation, as well as problem solving skills (Feucht & Bendixen, 2010). Drawing from evidence on several empirical studies, it is clear that there is a relationship between epistemological beliefs and science achievement (Bell & Linn, 2002; Elder, 2002), but it is yet unclear which epistemological beliefs may be correlated with these factors (Feucht & Bendixen, 2010). Wood and Kardash (2002) discussed that all factors, with the exception of attainability of objective of truth, are positively and significantly associated with epistemological beliefs as correlated to academic aptitude, as measured by (selfreported) ACT scores. A study by Bakken, Thompson, Clark, Johnson and Dwyer (2001) looked at a group of fifth grade students who were not achieving well in math. Upon closer study, it was found that these students were capable of considering only one variable at a time. After remediation using a hands-on approach, their achievement levels increased significantly, with no improvement in the control group that received no intervention. While the investigator noted that systems affect each other (evaluation, instruction, and achievement), thereby making the point that teachers and their practices, in fact, do make a difference. This may suggest that if teacher practice is not aligned to create an environment rich in epistemological development (i.e., constructivist practices), the personal achievements of students will suffer as a result.

One important note is that this relationship is believed to be recursive (Feucht & Bendixen, 2010) as these epistemic developments encourage critical thinking abilities, such as self-directed, self-disciplined, self-monitored, and self-corrective thinking (Paul & Elder, 2008). It is this nurturing of critical thinking at elementary and secondary grades that fosters epistemic development and has become an important consideration for teacher practice (Barnes, 1970;

Paul, Binker, Jemsen, & Krelau, 1990). In contrast, environments that do not foster critical thinking can be counter-productive (Chandler, et al., 2002; Feucht, 2008; Walton, 2000), and it is the teacher holding epistemological beliefs (held subconsciously) who can have a major effect on student achievement (Calderhead, 1996) or who can adversely affect the students' epistemic beliefs (Bendixen & Rule, 2004).

So what could a classroom look like that adversely affects epistemic development, learning, and achievement of the students held in its ward? These types of classroom experiences would include teacher-centered classrooms, where knowledge was taught as absolute or assessed in a manner where factual recall is emphasized. Given the current practice in the majority of classrooms, this could suggest that the teacher role may be more important than suspected. A more common belief is that poor teaching was synonymous with no teaching, but clearly that may not be the case. Classroom environments that do not foster epistemic growth can be worse than not having experiences with knowledge that is aligned to tested curriculum. By not providing an environment that fosters epistemic development, the damage could be far worse than students missing facts and understandings. According to this line of research, teachers may be responsible for encumbering students' epistemic growth, thereby affecting future learning beyond the present. Certainly, this could be a far greater obstacle to academic achievement than a few skills or facts they may have missed during the school year. It is important to realize the role of the teacher goes beyond just the provider of knowledge.

If the goal is to help students grow epistemologically, it would seem prudent for teachers to allow students chances to exercise the limits of their knowing and knowledge in general. For the most part, this environment that must be created by the teacher should be epistemologically rich and prosperous for the students. For example, it should be one where the teacher takes on

the role of facilitator and motivator; guiding discovery as students look for connections, reminding them that multiple answers may exist and always asking students "why?" It is these classroom traits that are believed to be associated with a classroom that is structured to enhance the personal epistemologies of students (Schommer-Aikins, Bird, & Bakken, 2010). Feucht (2010) discusses how theoretical frameworks exist that address epistemological aspects of learning. These theoretical frameworks include: 1) The model of life-problem-centered pedagogy (Westephal, 1990), 2) the model of educational restructuring (Kattmann, Duit, Gropengieber, & Komorek, 1996; Duit, Gropengieber, & Kattmann, 2005). 3) The working model of how epistemological theories influence classroom learning (Hofer, 2001), 4) the integrative model of personal epistemology (Bendixen & Rule, 2004). What has been found from analysis of these frameworks is the commonalities. Perhaps not surprising is that these frameworks have elements of constructivism and conceptual change learning in common (Kattman et al., 1996; Westphal, 1990). Brooks and Brooks (1993) firmly make the point that "In order for learning to take place in schools, teachers must become constructivists" (p.v). While this would suggest that if teachers were not constructivists no learning would take place, which is certainly not the case. The point to be made is that in regard to the modern mindset of educational researchers, good teaching is synonymous with constructivist teaching (Richardson, 2003), but what is constructivism and what is its opposite?

#### Definition and historical background of Constructivism and Positivism.

Philosophically, the constructivist learning theory is a way to make sense of how students learn (Lorsbach & Tobin, 1993, p.1). Ledoux and McHenry (2004) describe instructional methods and curriculum based in a constructivist framework (i.e., pedagogical constructivism) as one that helps students "develop conceptual models that will function as their own coding system for the to-be-known world" (p. 387).

Finding an explicit definition of constructivism is difficult because of the various forms of pedagogical constructivism that exist. Phillips (1995) describes three versions of constructivism as they apply to the learner. *Active learning* describes the role not as a passive participant such as reading or listening, but as a participant actively engaged in prediction, investigation and debate. *Social learning* would include group activities where students are engaged in dialogue, negotiation, and consensus building and understand that such things as historical perspectives are determined by the interest of the group. The creative learner, the third and final type that Phillips describes (1995), requires the learners to create and recreate knowledge for themselves. This type of learning surpasses active learning. For example, in creative learning, students may be challenged to rediscover theories and laws through exploration.

Two main types of pedagogical constructivism exist: personal, a theory of individual learning; and social constructivism, a learning theory concerning the origins of knowledge in a culture or group (Baviskar, Hartley, & Whitley, 2009, p. 542). These two concepts of personal and social constructivism were once thought to be irreconcilable (Marin et al., 2000). The outdated nature of personal constructivism was a common lament of those who rejected the Piagetian constructivism (Gilbert & Swift, 1985; Giordan & Devechi, 1987; Posner, Strike,

Hewson, & Gertzog, 1982), but while the debates continue over the different manifestations of constructivism ranging from Piaget's cognitive view to Vygotsky's social approach to constructivism, common ground can be found. Applefield, Huber, and Moallen (2001) describe four essential components of learning: (1) "learners construct their own learning; (2) new learning depends on students" existing understandings; (3) social interaction/dialogue plays a critical role; (4) authentic learning tasks are needed to ensure meaningful learning" (as cited in Brophy, 2002, p. xi).

While many give credit for pedagogical constructivism as a learning theory to Piaget and Vygotsky (Slavin, 2000), the ideas of constructivism date back at least to the Dewey's work in the early part of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. It was Dewey who focused on the learner with his student-centered approach of education and who stated: "... education is a constant reorganization or reconstructing of experience" (Dewey, 1916, p. 89). Another view would be to have a philosophical standing residing in behaviorism. Behaviorism has its own meaning associated with it and a long historical component that is beyond the scope of this paper. It is included here as an alternate view to constructivism in that its views of knowledge construction are similar to the positivist perspective discussed previously. Behaviorism mostly assumes the learner is passive and dependent upon external stimulus to form his conceptual understandings (i.e., objective versus the subjective view of constructivists). In general, behaviorists also assume that the learner begins as an empty vessel to which knowledge can be delivered via transmission of facts.

By holding this philosophy, a teacher holds a belief that it is the educational system that needs to provide students with information that is preexisting and accepted rather than constructed by the individual using his prior knowledge as a base (Scheurman, 1998). This emphasis is placed on students' prior conceptions of knowledge as opposed to knowledge being external to the individual, only to be transmitted as needed to the student, which constitutes a major difference between constructivism and other views of teaching and learning.

While Dewey is now an icon within the education community, through the first half of the twentieth century, one could make the claim that Thorndike won and Dewey lost (Lagemann, 1989), describing the battle between early constructivism roots and behaviorism. Behaviorism was the prominent psychological theory until the 1950s when it was challenged by cognitive psychologists, and later by constructivists, but just as positivism still lingers in the conceptions of scientists and science educators, behaviorism and its objectivist ideals are not dead. Behaviorist conceptions of learning still influence instructional design in fundamental ways such as task analysis, behavioral objectives, and criterion-reference evaluation (Jonassen, 1991). While behaviorists were and are more interested in the quantitative measure of knowledge, constructivism contrasts this view, looking instead at the qualitative nature of knowledge. Constructivism involves the reorganization of initial structures of knowledge (Lonka, Joram, & Brysin, 1996) and how a person's conceptions can be changed as a result of knowledge assimilations (Strike & Posner, 1992). To be clear, constructivism is a philosophy of learning and a theory of learning, not a theory of teaching. In this manner, constructivism can be described as "a philosophy about teaching and learning rather than a specific method or approach" (Harris & Graham, 1996, p.135). The view of knowledge that comes from a constructivist perspective is individually created and influenced by social and cultural factors.

Positivism, a contrasting view of how knowledge is constructed, is a term that can have multiple meanings, from a commitment to social evolution, to a philosophical meaning involving logical positivism or a methodological tradition within scientific practice (Riley, 2007) with the latter two having correlations to this discussion. As discussed earlier, science in a positivist tradition has its origins rooted in empiricism, where socially constructed knowledge held no place. In the field of psychology in the mid-twentieth century, psychologists believed they could study only what could be measured and observed (Trochim, 2006), much like the scientists who held beliefs that science was only about the scientific method. Behaviorism and positivism, while distinct epistemologies, are seemingly similar in terms of the views of knowledge and knowledge construction perspectives they propose. These views all are at odds with the notion that knowledge is socially constructed and culturally moderated, placing them at the opposite end of the continuum of knowledge construction and far removed from constructivist epistemologies. It is important to note, although the discussions about difference in philosophical positions include the extremes, from a pedagogical perspective as they relate to this research, these differences are much more moderate.

With cognitive research supporting views about human knowledge construction, constructivism has become the major theoretical framework for science education (Staver, 1998; Fosnot, 1996); but this status has not granted constructivism sanctuary from its critics. In any philosophy, there exist extremes that must be guarded against, with constructivism being no exception. Michael Matthews voices concerns about the dangers of employing constructivist practices through implicit or discovery learning and about situations where students are not guided toward better ways of understandings, as these methods may lead to a public who views choices about science as relative. For instance, he suggests people may, when suffering from a

serious disease or illness, choose experimental over tested treatments, paying little attention to scientific research (Matthews, 1998). While an interesting philosophical argument, the current tenets of NOS are much more moderate. NOS, as it exists in reform movements that serve as a foundation for many current state standards within the US, do concede that science has empirical roots based in logic and is not completely socially constructed, as clearly this would give the impression that anything goes in terms of scientific understandings. Science understandings are not completely a social construction. The current state of NOS proclaims only it has social and psychology factors associated with it, as it is fundamentally a human endeavor.

Much of the criticism comes from those who conflate pedagogy aligned to a constructivist learning theory with strictly hands-on or discovery learning; where students develop their own knowledge through social interaction, with little guidance from the instructor (Mayer, 2004). Kirschner, Sweller & Clark (2006) criticize the use of discovery learning in a critical review of constructivism and its practice. They regard practices based on constructivism (discovery learning, etc.) as a critical failure in terms of pedagogy, finding it regrettable that constructivism is epistemologically opposed to the presentation and explanation of knowledge.

For certain, extreme views exist in positivism as well as constructivism, but even the well-known proponent's philosophical views are not polar opposites. In terms of views of Realism (i.e., belief in a literal truth ) and its opposite, anti-realism (instrumentalism), Loving (1991) describe philosophers such as Toulmin, Shapere & Laudan as having views of theory development based on their success as a predictive tool rather than truth based (i.e., anti-realist), with Laudan being the most vocal in terms of his anti-realist philosophy. Von Glaserfield (1990) makes the point that instrumentalists (i.e., those who view theories as models and base their status upon their ability as a predictive tool), are much less objectionable to most scientists

(Taber, 2009f). Even von Glaserfield's (1989, 1992) radical constructivist views do not deny a single reality, but are often criticized as a relativist villain. It is not that constructivists deny a reality may exist, but rather our ability to recognize that reality, for constructivism is a theory of learning, not of being (Glaserfield, 2001).

While many documents site the differences between Kuhn and Popper, these differences appear to be moderate in terms of Realism as compared to the extremes of Laudan. Kuhn makes the case that newly developed theories may not be necessarily closer to truth (1962). Popper's view is that though scientific theories evolve over time to bring us closer to truth, they are nevertheless not completely verifiable (1963). In terms of Realism or anti-Realism (instrumentalist view) there are admitted differences, but neither reaches the extremes (Loving, 1991). According to Loving's analysis of documents written by well-known philosophers, philosophical positions were not as large as one might expect considering the portrayal of both within the literature. Even the noted Philosopher Karl Popper, supporter of Positivism in his famous publication Conjectures and Refutations (1963), realized that observations were not something to be digested. They were instead, inventions. In other words, Popper amended positivism and acknowledged the human factor that is present within scientific investigation. Nevertheless, this new post positivist view still held onto the belief of an objective truth. This post positivist view may now be embraced by many in the critical realist camp, where reality exists regardless of whether or not it can be recognized or perceived. The extreme theoretical goal post for this notion that all knowledge is constructed and that we all have different realities, smacking of relativism, is one of the concerns about the constructivist philosophy and may extend into the pedagogical realm. This radical view of constructivism, where something exists only when there are people to perceive it (Devitt, 2001), is unrelated to the discussion of NOS

and teachers' more mainstream views about knowledge and knowledge construction. While these discussions of views at the fringe serve as interesting critiques, there are few, if any, constructivists that have formally taken these radical stances (Devitt, 2001).

While clearly there are philosophical differences, the positions discussed in this research are far from a radical version of either positivism or constructivism. The pedagogical practices associated with constructivism that are deemed appropriate for the teaching of NOS are not synonymous with limited teacher intervention. So too, the discussion in this research is bounded by the continuum between pure logical and reasoning and knowledge as a social construction, with each serving as a goal post never to be reached except in the most extreme cases. Those opposed to constructivism still believe the notion that constructivists have embraced an ideology that is epistemologically opposed to the presentation and that the explanation of knowledge is problematic (Handelsman, Egert-May, Beichner, Bruns, Change, & DeHaan, R, 2004). It is these differences in epistemological stances more like that of a constructivism or more like that of a positivist that result in distinct classroom settings (Yang et al., 2008), with positivists favoring the transfer of knowledge (Windschitl 2002; Tsai 2002; Poole 1994; Hammer 1994; Lemke 1990). Neither of these epistemological positions should be regarded as radical or extreme, but there are distinct differences in classroom settings that do result from these two epistemologies. The important thing to consider is not how behaviorism and positivism differ from constructivist views, but how beliefs about these differing epistemologies affect the actions of teachers.

## Why do teachers need to be constructivists?

The dominant situation in most classrooms has the teacher holding a view of knowledge that is objective (Yang, et al., 2008) and described as "outside the bodies of cognizing beings" (Lorsbach & Tobin, 1993, p. 1). This view places science as a quest for truth with science as its vehicle. To comprehend NOS requires one to understand that scientific knowledge has empirical roots, but it also has psychological and sociological components. It is a way of knowing, but not one that prescribes to the notion that truth is in any way knowable or absolute.

Teachers who employ the use of constructivist methods are able to implement a greater number of teaching strategies more effective at producing conceptual change (Hashweh, 1996). It is central to the constructivist teacher that students' prior knowledge be considered. Also, students themselves are "active and self-regulating" participants in the learning process (Harris & Graham, 1996, p.135). The constructivist considers how students' cognitive structures evolve as a result of the imposition of new knowledge within the assimilation process (Lord, 1998). By considering the evolutionary nature of knowledge, a constructivist teacher helps students develop ownership as well as a deeper understanding (Mercer, 1996). In terms of science learning, constructivism asks students to "arrive at reasonable solutions to problems, learn to gather, evaluate, and synthesize information" (p. 150), all criteria for scientific literacy (NRC, 1996).

Furthermore, when making comparisons between constructivist approaches (teaching for understanding) and the traditional approach (aimed at mere knowledge transmission), when it comes to teacher effectiveness, there are two choices. Fenstermacher and Richardson, (2000) establish that what is thought of as good teaching within many pedagogical paradigms is synonymous with constructivist teaching. Cohen (1990) states the root of the problem is most

likely not that the teacher is ineffective at constructive practices; the problem is his deep rooted transmission beliefs. It would seem then that this goes beyond making teachers aware of particular activities or forms of instructions favored by constructivists. The choices teachers make about effective forms of instruction are mediated by the teachers' personal epistemological beliefs (Yang et al., 2008). Acknowledging the differences in teachers' worldviews between Taiwan and its more western counter-parts, this large scale study (n=690) demonstrated how personal epistemological beliefs were an important factor in the development of classroom environments. Each participant filled out a paper-pencil survey and a questionnaire designed to explore teacher's personal epistemology. Furthermore, the large sample enabled these colleagues to make well-supported claims that the educational system itself affected teachers in a negative manner. Teachers with more experience were more likely to be hold views about teaching and learning that were contrary to a constructivist viewpoint. While experience was portrayed as a negative factor for these teachers, teachers who received enrichment through professional development programs did have marginally more views more toward the constructivist perspective in terms of instructional methods from their peers. Yang et al. (2008) derive from this study that Taiwan needs a serious examination of its policies towards teacher education process within the higher education establishment (Yang et al., 2008). What is learned through this study and other works is that if the science education community changes in practice, then what is needed is a shift in teachers' epistemological beliefs, from positivist to constructivist (Yang, 2008).

Lorsbach & Tobin (1993) refer to the importance of the acceptance of the constructivist philosophy as an influence on a science educator's metamorphosis. This change transforms the teacher from one who places an emphasis on the history of science as a viable tool for NOS

instruction toward one requiring the sequencing of instruction to better place NOS understandings at the forefront of instruction. Sequencing instruction for better understandings sounds much like explicit instruction, a required instructional component required for proper NOS instruction. Lorsbach and Tobin (1993) go on to describe how these implications for the acceptance of constructivism may also include the ability to shift roles from provider of information towards one that would allow students to speak freely in cooperative learning environments, and then to share these constructed ideas with the class as a whole. This shift in classroom environment could help students explore science misconceptions in more depth, resulting in deeper understandings. This latter focus of cooperative learning and constructing knowledge is seemingly similar to the factor of "reflective" as referred to in the explicitreflective instruction of NOS. A science educator's constructivist mindset is intimately wedded with his interest in student's conceptions of NOS (Wheatley, 1991), as well as their classroom and instructional approaches (Lorsbach & Tobin, 1993). Research has shown that characteristics about how teachers view their practice as either constructivist or postivist (Akerson & Buzzelli, 2007; Perry, 1970) influence the ways they conceptualize NOS.

From an initial pool of 40 and based upon scientific epistemological beliefs, Tsai (2007) purposely selected and interviewed 4 middle school science teachers. These teachers represented in this research were all from Taiwan raising transferability issues due to the potential of differing worldviews. Furthermore, the research only entailed a very small number of teachers (n = 4). In contrast to many studies of epistemological beliefs, either specific to scientific epistemological beliefs or personal epistemological beliefs, the participants were experienced teachers, lending credence to the reliability of the research. Through these interviews, Tsai (2007) found that teachers who held more positivist-oriented beliefs, lectured more, focused

more on test scores, tutorial practice problems, and in-class testing. In contrast, Tsai (2007) found that teachers holding more constructivist–oriented beliefs held more interactive discussions, inquiry and in general focused on student-centered activities. Not surprising is that teacher's beliefs about knowledge are also related to their views of teaching science (Tsai, 2002, 2007).

# **Scientific Epistemological Beliefs**

Tsai (2002) found a positive relationship between 21 of the 37 interview subjects to suggest close alignment between scientific epistemological beliefs (SEBs) and teachers' instruction and learning of science, what is referred to as "nested" epistemological beliefs. Teachers' beliefs were categorized based on their beliefs about teaching, learning and science into three categories: traditional, process, and constructivist. It was concluded that most (21 of 37) held views considered traditional. The study consisted of physics and chemistry teachers with bachelor's degrees in the respective disciplines. It is unclear if these teachers have experienced any coursework in teaching and learning. While there is uncertainty about where these beliefs stem from, it provides an important example of how epistemological beliefs about teaching and learning can and do affect classroom practice. These findings, as they relate to other research, also provide information about how empirical views of science transcend cultures and are perhaps related to teacher's own classroom experience (Aguirre, Haggerty, & Linder, 1990; Donnelly, 1999; Gustafson, & Rowell, 1995; Koballa, Graber, Coleeman, & Kemp, 1990; Tsai, 2002).

If these beliefs about teaching and learning have such an effect on practice, clearly they deserve the attention of the science education community. This transfer of teacher belief (about the importance of NOS) to practice becomes abundantly important considering what happens when students develop their own belief system about science (scientific epistemological beliefs) as a result of instruction.

Student SEBs (or philosophical views toward science) affect students decision-making patterns with regard to scientific issues and their overall orientation toward learning about science (e.g., Bell & Lederman, 2003; Edmonson & Novak, 1993; Tsai, 2000a; Wallace, Tsoi, Calkin, & Darley, 2003). In comparing the two contrary belief structures, students holding views that science knowledge is discoverable and completely objective (positivist) have a less sophisticated understanding of science than students with SEBs leaning towards a more constructivist viewpoint with evidence, effects of the scientific paradigm of the time, and negotiation (Tsai, 1998a, 1998b,1999a, 2000b; Wallace et al., 2003).

In a similar manner, teachers' SEBs have been found to have positive relationship with practice. Hashweh's (1996) study of 35 science teachers revealed that teachers with SEBs related to a more constructivist belief about learning were more likely to take into consideration how students learn. He found through the use of questionnaires and survey data, that teachers with "constructivist-oriented views were more likely to consider students' alternative conceptions, have a richer repertoire of instructional strategies, use more effective ways for promoting student conceptual change, and report more frequent use of effective teaching strategies than did teachers with positivist-oriented" scientific epistemological views (p.45). Questions about the transferability of this study do raise concerns due to cultural and training differences between these participants versus their western counterparts. Teachers in Beirut may enter the classroom

with as little as two years of college, but again, the large sample size and use of practicing teachers makes these important findings to consider. Furthermore, these findings match similar (Benson, 1989; Gallagher, 1991) and previous studies by the author (Hashweh, 1985) conducted in the US.

Recent research by Akerson et al. (2010) investigated how more general epistemological beliefs, through the use of epistemological positions (based on epistemological views about knowledge and knowledge construction) determine relationships with the practice of preservice teachers. The study's focus was on how these epistemological positions, with regard to how preservice teachers conceptualized NOS, affected practice during their internships. Perhaps not surprising, the biggest influence was that of the supervising teacher. To extend the work along this line of research, this research proposes to look beyond preservice teachers towards traditional teachers, who would not be bound by the influence of a supervising teacher. The research by Akerson et al. (2010) also extends the current boundaries of recent investigations to include, not just scientific epistemological beliefs, but the more general views about knowledge by individuals (i.e., personal epistemological beliefs)

# **Epistemological Positions and NOS**

Epistemological positions and their effects upon NOS can be thought of as one's second nature affecting the first. It is unfortunate that these epistemological positions are not as easy to study as the refraction of light, a simple and are a somewhat isolated concept. Duell and Schommer-Aikins (2001) state that these epistemological beliefs are fragmented and complex in nature; but how are they responsible for affecting the importance placed on NOS?

Even after teachers have received explicit NOS instruction during their science education coursework, teachers struggle with conceptualizing NOS due to the level of sophistication of their personal epistemological beliefs (Akerson et al., 2006; Akerson & Volrich, 2006). A study by Akerson et al. (2006) looked at nineteen elementary preservice teachers in a preservice methods course and found that epistemological positions are related to the sustainability of learned NOS. Using the Views of Nature of Science version B (VNOS-B) (Lederman et al., 2002) and follow-up interviews, student understandings of seven common characteristics of NOS (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 1998; NSTA, 2000) were determined. At the beginning of the methods course the VNOS-B was given to the students followed by a 45-minute interview to both confirm that the researchers' interpretations of the VNOS-B were correct in order to gain a more in-depth understanding of each student's beliefs. After the initial questionnaire and interview, students experienced what are common context-free activities. At the end of the semester, students again went through the process of questionnaire and interview process to determine changes in their understanding of NOS. It was at this time that students' understandings of the seven characteristics of NOS were aligned with their epistemological positions according to the Perry scheme. Five months after the course, students came back for one more set of questionnaires and interviews. Through the comparison of Post and Post-Post Tests, it was determined that epistemological positions played a role in retention of NOS views.

While this is an encouraging finding, it still begs the question of what happens after years of teaching, or what happens alongside the potential for continued epistemological growth of teachers. Also, there is a discouraging message within this research: if a teacher does not already have an epistemological position equal to a level 5 on the Perry Model, then long-term conceptualization of NOS does not occur (Akerson et al. 2010). Previous research (Yang et al., 2008) suggests an inverse relationship between experience and epistemological position.

A previous Akerson study (Akerson et al., 2008) found that teachers with more constructivist positions also held more sophisticated understandings of NOS. In a continuation of this strand of research into teacher's epistemological positions, these authors looked at how epistemological positions relate to NOS emphasis and classroom practice, using four elementary teachers (K-3) purposefully selected based on the adequate views of NOS. These intern teachers had varying epistemological positions based upon the Perry scheme. Through the use of observation, video-tape, lesson plans and field notes, data were collected during the preservice teacher's semester long internship. Two to four observations were made on each of the four teachers each lasting from 30 to 45 minutes. The findings of this study revealed that the factor impacting how often teachers infused NOS into the lessons was the facilitating teacher. A limiting factor of this study presented by its authors was that there were no explicit questions about NOS instruction during the pre- and post- interviews. What differentiates the study by Akerson et al. (2010) from others is that this is one of few studies that specifically looked at personal epistemological beliefs. Most previous studies, including Akerson et al., (2006) drew epistemological positions from understandings of NOS. In the study by Akerson et al. 2010, epistemological beliefs were garnered from an instrument (Kelton & Griffith, 1986) specifically designed to determine personal epistemological beliefs and relate them to Perry's scheme.

There is evidence to suggest how personal epistemological beliefs and their associated positivist or constructivist views affect instruction. It is more important to note that these positions can be at odds with philosophies associated with learning (Tsai, 2002). Teacher epistemologies have been shown to affect teachers' practices (Tsai, 2002). It is these same limitations of epistemological beliefs that may limit inquiry-based instruction (Roehrig & Luft, 2004). Research states that teachers' epistemological beliefs inhibit certain practices within the classroom (e.g. Akerson et al., 2010; Tsai, 2002). Just as a lack of NOS knowledge can affect a teachers' practices, there is no denying that social and institutional factors can play a role in what happens in the classroom (Larkin, Seyforth & Lasky, 2009; Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000; Saka, Southerland & Brooks, 2009); however, a teacher's beliefs assert a more major influence on classroom practices (Abd-El-Khalik, 2005; Roehrig & Luft 2004; Tsai, 2007, 2006, 2002). Where these practices originate from is also well known, in that teachers' realist conceptions of knowledge tend to produce teacher-centered practices of lecture and other activities more focused on knowledge transmission. Most teachers hold positivist views, where knowledge is objective and controlled by the authority figure. Those teachers holding these views emphasized the facts and concepts of science and NOS was limited to the teaching of the "scientific method" (Abd-El-Khalick & Lederman, 2000).

# Conclusions

To date, the science education community supports belief that a student's sophisticated understanding of the nature of science (NOS) plays an important role in the development of scientific literacy. While much has been learned about how to teach the nature of science and some about how it is learned, the path has not been fully cleared to a point where science

educators can be confident that students will have an adequate understanding of the nature of science before they leave school.

At present, it is disappointing that students and teachers both possess inadequate understandings of NOS, (Lederman, 2007), and this situation is unacceptable for both the profession of science teaching and the scientific literacy of our current and future students. We know from research that teachers can learn NOS, but this knowledge may not translate into practice (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000; Lederman, 1999) for a host of reasons. One of those reasons may be the teachers' own personal epistemological beliefs. As research has shown, (Tsai, 2004) personal epistemologies correlate to the types of classroom practices as they are related to the importance teachers' place on NOS. Without the support of the teacher, student understandings of NOS as an outcome will stall as "intentions towards teaching NOS are critical" (Lederman, et al., 2001). The point to be made is clear: For teachers to be effective in the classroom, they must become constructivists (Brooks & Brooks, 1993). The mandate of reforms (NRC, 1996) suggests that a stronger constructivist approach be employed (Karakas, 2007) along which an acknowledgement that for NOS to be learned, it must be presented in an explicit-reflective manner (Lederman & Abd-El- Khlaik, 2000). Students must be allowed to seek out their own understandings and gain appreciation for uncertainty; both are important tenants and should play an important role in a constructivist classroom.

It is not just that teachers have inadequate views of NOS (admittedly this would be a limiting factor); it is also that even when teachers gain understanding of NOS, teachers' epistemological views may hinder the desired instruction. Yang et al. (2008) suggest that teachers' epistemological perspectives are often centered in what Perry (1970) described as the positions of dualists' or multiplicists' epistemological positions, which are not congruent with

constructivism. As well, these views of knowledge suggest that these positions are "philosophically more like that of the positivist" (Yang et al., 2008, p.13). If teachers have a view centered in positivism, is it any wonder why difficulty arises as they attempt to teach the nature of science?

In conclusion, the problem may not that these teachers cannot be taught NOS; rather, it may be that these teachers may be encumbered by their epistemological perspectives rooted in positivism and are not *able* to teach NOS in an appropriate manner. They may be held back philosophically by their own personal epistemological beliefs and, as a result, so are their students. Just as intentions to teach NOS are a crucial factor in the teaching of NOS (Lederman et al., 2001), clearly additional research is required to investigate in what ways epistemological beliefs may affect teachers' practice.
# **Chapter Three: Methods**

# Introduction

This study was built on the premise that epistemological beliefs, whether aligned with constructivism or positivism, have an impact on teacher's pedagogical practice during NOS instruction. The methods used reflected the need to better understand the dynamic through the use of a mixed methodology. To understand this relationship as it applies to practice, it was necessary to employ a process by which a deep description of the classroom setting could be established (Bogdan & Biklen, 2003). In order to gain an understanding of the relationship between the two epistemological beliefs constructs and practice, the study employed an interpretative approach. This interpretive approach (Bogdan & Biklen, 2003) was used to track teachers' teaching of NOS and to relate their teaching to their epistemological beliefs and institutional barriers. To this end, the research design was a descriptive and interpretive approach to analyze both qualitative and quantitative methods.

The purpose of this mixed-methods study was to determine relationships between personal epistemological beliefs, NOS, and the values teachers place on NOS instruction. Research studies mentioned thus far have relied on survey data of multiple choice and extended response alone (Yang et al., 2008) or a combination of extended response, interviews and classroom observations (Akerson et al., 2006; Akerson et al., 2008; Akerson et al., 2010) and only looked at teachers' scientific epistemological beliefs with the exception of one. It was only the research conducted by Akerson et al. (2010) that looked specifically at personal epistemological beliefs. In order to gain a more clear understanding of the effects of these beliefs

(personal and scientific) as they relate to teacher practice this investigation is comprised of both quantitative and qualitative measures, as well as both personal and NOS.

The primary goal of this study was to explore the relationship between these two epistemological beliefs and how these beliefs affect how teachers value NOS and how this valuation affects classroom practice. A secondary goal was to examine the role of other institutional-related barriers that inhibit the types of instruction teachers would prefer to implement. A third consideration was how these same beliefs transcend into the more general content of scientific practice and skills. A fourth consideration was how the instruction of "practices and skills" differs from what was observed during NOS instruction as they related to teacher beliefs. Practice and skills of science are defined as the processes necessary to conduct scientific inquiry (e.g. observe, predicting, measuring, interpreting, and controlling variables).

The questions guiding this research were derived from decades of research into the learning and teaching of NOS, namely that even when teachers possess an adequate knowledge of the NOS construct, translation into practice is not guaranteed (Abd-El-Khalik et al., 1998; Bell et al., 2000; Lederman, 1992). The research strand that guides this investigation has developed from the presupposition that epistemological beliefs affect classroom practice more so than knowledge of NOS (Olafson & Shraw, 2010), as well as how these beliefs affects teachers views of the importance of NOS (Akerson et al., 2008). The following research questions are offered:

# **Research Questions**

- 1. In what ways do teachers' epistemological beliefs affect practice in the science classroom during NOS instruction?
  - a. What is the nature of the relationship between personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS?
  - b. In what ways does the co-occurrence between NOS and personal epistemological beliefs affect the importance teachers place on NOS?
  - c. In what ways does the co-occurrence between NOS and personal epistemological beliefs affect the classroom activities during NOS instruction?
  - *d.* What other factors are responsible for influencing the choices they make about classroom instruction?
- 2. In what ways do classroom practices differ between NOS instruction and instruction of scientific practices and skills?
  - a. In what ways are these differences reflective of understandings of NOS?
  - b. In what ways are these differences reflective of personal epistemological beliefs?

# **Participants and Setting**

A selection of sixth grade physical science teachers were asked to participate in this study. The choice of the sixth grade physical science was a purposeful selection, based upon curriculum with in-depth reasons to be explained later in this section. The selection of classrooms and teachers comes from a large suburban district (90,000+ students) located in the southeastern US between two major metropolitan cities. The participant teachers were drawn from the district's 18 traditional middle schools, giving this sample a broad scope from semiurban to rural. The district's largest city has been listed as having one of the highest poverty rates in the country, according to the Brooking Institution (2010). Of the nearly 170 public schools within the district, 90 are designated as Title I. Of the 18 traditional middle schools where teacher participation was solicited, 15 are Title I. The district also consistently ranks in the bottom 20%, based on test scores within the state.

The teachers in this district possess a range of experience, from first year teachers to 30+ year veterans. They also come from various backgrounds, from career changers to life-long educators, and come with a broad range of science training. Most teachers in the district have had opportunities for exposure to NOS knowledge through written communications from the district office personnel (i.e., the principal investigator). At that time, I was the Secondary Science Coordinator for the School District and these communications were part of my duties. The purpose of these communications was to develop teachers' understandings through the use of humorous anecdotes describing the common misconceptions of NOS (e.g., theories do not turn into laws). These "Monday Misconceptions," as they became known, were sent to all secondary teachers throughout the 2010-2011 school year.

In terms of Highly Qualified Teachers (defined as passage of a content test), the district's percent of Highly Qualified Teachers (HQT) (95.1%) was above the state's average (93.9%) for the 2008-09 school year. The following year (2009-10) the district increased the percent of HQT to 97.3%, as compared to the state's average of 95.2%. In terms of educational status, 72% of the district's teachers held bachelor's degrees with almost 26% holding a master's degree (10% below the state average). The turnover rate for teachers within this district remains high, with an average over a three year period of almost 20%.

The demographics of the district's students ran the full gamut of race and socioeconomic status. Based on the 2009-2010 district data, the student population consisted of: White (49.60%), Black (23.60%), Hispanic (23.40%), and other (3.40%). In contrast, the instructional staff according to 2009-2010 data, report that teachers were primarily white (82.66%), with Black (11.26%) and hispanic (5.22%) teachers making up approximately 16% of the teacher force. While there was clearly much work to do within the district to raise the level of overall student achievement, the past 6 years have seen many changes taking place in an effort to move the district forward. Curriculum maps were put into place to ensure students would have access to the entire curriculum content to be tested on high stakes tests. Through this curriculum mapping process, it was decided to make every effort to ensure teachers would cover NOS content in a manner to which it was reflected on the state's high-stakes test. Currently, NOS knowledge accounts for almost 20% of a student's score on the state's high stakes test given to all 8<sup>th</sup> grade students. The first 9 weeks of the mandatory sixth grade course was designed to emphasize the importance of two related but differing concepts, the processes and skills of science and the NOS. As this situation was still present when this author assumed his role, first as the secondary science coordinator and now as elementary science coordinator for the district, it makes sense to use this as an opportunity to research teachers' practice over this extended time-frame. It is this first class in middle school (physical science) that provided the setting for this research.

During this timeframe of data collection, the researcher used a combination of "comp" time and vacation time to accommodate the observations. All time spent on research and job related tasks were carefully documented in the researcher's calendar. It should be noted the researcher's role as Elementary Science Coordinator having previously worked as the district's

Secondary Science Coordinator may have affected teacher behavior. Great care was taken to explain the reason for my visits especially that these observations were not evaluative from a District perspective and notes gained from these sessions would never be shared with school officials. Also, the voluntary participation of this research study may have taken away much of the wariness of teachers as only those who would have felt at ease with my dual role would have applied. With the exception of two participants, the researcher knew the participants and had previous opportunities to develop a level of trust. While classroom observations of any kind can be nerve wrecking for a teacher, those from District level staff especially so, at no time did the researcher feel his presence was affecting the research task.

The teachers were initially contacted about their potential participation in this study the first week of August 2012. Once preliminary agreements took place via email and IRB forms returned, participating teachers took an online version of the *Epistemological Belief Survey* (Wood & Kardash, 2002; See *Appendix A*) and the *SUSSI* survey (Liang, Chen, S., Chen, Kaya, Adams, Macklin, & Ebenezer, 2008; See *Appendix C*) before August 16<sup>th</sup>. In an effort to maintain transparency within this research, total scores of each epistemological instrument were provided to participants if they asked; however, none did. It was explained to teachers that these scores represented positions or views about knowledge and knowledge construction for both general knowledge and science knowledge. It is important to note that this survey and the subsequent one were given before observations may have had an effect on the classroom practice of the participants. It was also explained to the 28 original participants in Phase One that their selection into Phase Two was determined through the use of epistemological beliefs of both general and science knowledge. Other potential selection criteria were school location, years of experience, courses taught (e.g., regular or honors), number of science courses taken, and degree.

Using the epistemological beliefs survey as a guide, a purposeful sample was chosen to provide a range of epistemological beliefs. These select eleven teachers became participants in the second phase of this research study. They were extensively studied through interviews, observations and collections of classroom artifacts conducted throughout the first 9 weeks of school. Each of these eleven teacher participants completed two interviews throughout the instruction unit (pre and post) and as many as five observations.

Of the 28 participants who completed the initial surveys for Phase One of the Study all were Caucasian. They represented thirteen different middle schools, with all but one having Title One status. There was no obvious reason why there was a lack of representation by five of the traditional middle schools. All the District principals were contacted to ask permission to approach teachers for the research. Only one school voiced concern over the research and asked that their teachers not be contacted. As for as the other four schools, it may have been a combination of District restructuring of both administrators and teachers at that time that caused the message to get lost. It may also have been just a random occurrence that those teachers chose not to participate, but it was not due to a lack of research effort to include those schools. Another potential reason is that I have had more contact with some schools more so than others, resulting in a comfort issue to participate Years of experience ranged from several years of teaching to 30<sup>+</sup>- year veterans. The Phase I participants were drawn from a larger pool of about 70-80 total teachers. The sample of participants represented a little over 35% of potential participants. The average teaching experience for the Phase One group was slightly higher (approx. 16 yrs.) than the Phase Two group (approx. 13 yrs.). The Phase Two group represented 10 of the original 13 schools from Phase One. Included in the Phase One portion were 6 males and 22 females. The Phase Two participant group was comprised of 4 males and 7 females.

The study was approved by the University of South Florida's Division of Research Integrity and Compliance as well as the Polk County Schools Office of Assessment. All participants received an overview of the study before taking the initial surveys, as well as contact information for additional questions.

# **Instructional Context**

The study occurred during the first quarter (9 weeks) of a sixth grade physical science course, a compulsory course all sixth grade students take. Sixth grade physical science was the introductory course for secondary students who have had little exposure to science, especially hands-on activities, during their elementary years. From my previous role as Secondary Science Coordinator, many challenges existed to encourage the teaching of science within these early grades. As science is not annually assessed as are math and reading, its inclusion within the school day, especially for grades K-4, can be limited.

Currently, while science is state tested only at the fifth grade level, there are important benchmarks that are mandated throughout K-5 (FLDOE, 2012). With the priority on the tested benchmarks of reading and math at the earlier grades, it is difficult for schools and teachers to place a priority on science given the high stakes testing environment. The challenge to incorporate science into the classroom at these earlier grades remains an obstacle. The reality is that science does not become a priority until fifth grade. The problem with this practice is that benchmarks that are mandated for earlier grades that are not mentioned in the fifth grade benchmarks, leaving holes in students' understanding of certain concepts. From both informal and formal discussions with principals and teachers as the Senior Coordinator for Elementary Science, I know that in many cases, science was not taught with any fidelity until 5<sup>th</sup> grade. The

quality of this one year of science is then dependent on individual teacher quality at that particular school, leaving further questions as to the quantity and quality of student understandings. It was this lack of knowledge of and about science that prompted my predecessor to establish a prominent unit in sixth grade to focus on NOS and skills and practices of science.

The first nine weeks are aimed at providing an introduction to science, the nature of science, and its methods. Throughout the first nine weeks, several content strands are purposeful for the instruction of NOS (See Appendix B). The reasoning behind this front-loading of NOS content was a deliberate attempt to make sure students were exposed to aspects of NOS before delving into years of content instruction. This curriculum arrangement was put into place, with the help of several teachers, myself included, by a previous science supervisor to help ensure NOS would be taught in a manner reflecting its importance on the state's high-stakes test. This was not to say that NOS should only be taught during this limited time period, only that this was a deliberate attempt to place NOS at the forefront and have a better chance that it would be interpreted as valuable within the curriculum. Though it is included within the teaching unit, there were no guarantees as to the quality of this instruction. There are no mandated activities for its instruction as choices about practice are left to the classroom teacher. This design, which was built into the School District's 6<sup>th</sup> grade physical science curriculum maps that teachers are expected to follow, has been in place for over six years. The District in which the investigation took place required teachers of science to teach NOS as part of the prescribed curriculum map and as mandated by Florida's Next Generation Sunshine State Standards (NGSSS). Specifically, the 6<sup>th</sup> grade physical science course requires nine weeks of NOS instruction as an attempt at front-loading NOS instruction and to better guarantee fidelity of this important construct.

Though the nine weeks was taught within a unit sequence commonly referred to as the NOS unit, much of it falls almost exclusively within the realm of scientific processes or skills (PS) as described by the District's curriculum maps as to what students should know at the end of the unit. The following table (See Table 1) represents the concepts to be taught within the district's curriculum maps. The second column that is included describes the concept as either involved directly with NOS or falls within the domain of the processes and skills of science. This separation between NOS and practice & skills is placed in this table (See Table 1) to help the reader understand how the curriculum maps define and limit the scope of what students need to understand at the end of the unit. It is important to note, these concepts are not differentiated within the curriculum maps as PS or NOS for the teacher.

Though many of these concepts could be taught within the NOS domain and some even had a minor NOS related component included, these items included on the district curriculum maps marked as "PS" fall mainly within the area of a process skills and not NOS. For example, the language used to describe scope of instruction within the *Empirical Evidence* portion of the curriculum map emphasized the practices and skills needed to do science, such as graphing, use of technology, and identification of variables more so than any philosophical underpinnings about science. This is not to say a teacher possessing a sophisticated understanding of NOS could not make these connections, but these connections are not obvious within the curriculum map language. Clearly, there is research to suggest the decontextualized tenets of NOS can be taught effectively through activities focused on practices and skills (Clough, 2006). As an example, the concept of *Models* has four subcomponents: 1). to discuss with students the types of models, 2). benefits and limitations of models, 3).how they are helpful to understanding how things work, and 4). useful in terms of describing findings. These subcomponents listed under the concept of models within the curriculum maps seem to focus mostly, with the exception of subcomponent four, on student's familiarity and skill involved in using models versus how models are related to theories as a predictive tool. Three of the four listed subcomponents were more directed at students' learning of a practice and skill; it is this emphasis that prompted the categorization of this concept as PS on Table 1.

The Law of Gravity in terms of a mathematical model serves as a predictive tool to describe interactions between any object having mass, yet this knowledge does not help us understand how the effect occurs, only that it is related to mass and distance. An example of instruction on models that would focus on the practice and skills rather than NOS, might include having students using a model, either mathematical or pictorial, to answer questions (e.g., gravitational forces between planets, finding a location on a map, etc.). Another example would be the common model of the atom. This model is extremely useful in determining interactions between other atoms, but conversations about the fact this model may have no resemblance to the way an atom actually looks was absent from the District's Curriculum Maps.

## Table 1

	9	
Concept:	NOS (NOS)/ Process and Skills (PS)	<b>Recommended Days of Instruction</b>
What is Science?	NOS	
What is Not Science?	NOS	15 days of instruction
Science Impacting Society	NOS	is all of molaction
Investigations and Experiments Scientific	PS	
Processes	PS	25 days of Instruction
Empirical Evidence	PS	
Pose a Question	PS	
Conduct Research	PS	
Develop a Hypothesis	PS	12 Davis of Instruction
Design an Experiment	PS	12 Days of Instruction
Conduct an Experiment	PS	
Analyze Data	PS	
Models	PS	
Theories	NOS	12 days of instruction
Laws	NOS	

Curriculum for First 64 Days of Class with Denotations of Purpose of Concepts

## **Research Design and Methodology**

The purpose of this study was to investigate teachers' epistemological beliefs and the influence of those beliefs on practice during NOS instruction, as well as how these beliefs interact with other more traditional barriers (e.g., accountability, pressure to cover content, constraints of cooperating teachers or administrators and perceived student abilities). Using an interpretative mixed-methods design, both qualitative and quantitative data were obtained in order to generate a better understanding of these relationships. Quantitative measures were used to determine relative levels of epistemological beliefs for both personal epistemological beliefs (EBs), NOS, and pedagogical practice. Qualitative measures were employed to look at potential relationships between teacher's SEBs, EBs, pedagogical practice and other impediments, such as social and institutional barriers, to teachers' practice.

The reasoning behind the use of quantitative measures was to gain a better understanding of potential associations between teachers NOS and personal epistemological beliefs. The idea behind the use of qualitative methods was to probe teachers' views of practice, whether teacheror student-centered and relate those views to the importance teachers place on NOS, as well as to how these practices are reflected in their views of knowledge and knowledge construction. Fraenkel and Wallen (2003) describe the use of qualitative or descriptive methods as a starting point for most research. Patton (2002) on the other hand, describes these practices as "detailed descriptions of situations, events, people, observed behaviors, direct quotations from people about their experiences, attitudes, beliefs, and thoughts ..." (p. 22). As epistemological beliefs of participating teachers are an important variable thought to effect instructional practice, garnering insights via a qualitative practice seemed of utmost importance. Through the use of these qualitative measures, teacher conceptions concerning NOS as an important construct, personal

epistemological views, and choices about selected practices became evident and helped answer the questions concerning in what ways do these constructs affect practice.

Quantitative measures were employed to describe, compare and investigate the correlation between teachers' nature of understandings of personal epistemological beliefs versus their understandings of NOS. These descriptions, comparisons and investigation of correlations also extended to teachers' practices. Using SPSS Version 17, descriptive statistics were generated to ascertain the categorical groupings for the participants, descriptive statistics and correlational information were used to construct understandings about the variables that potentially could affect practice. As a result of applying a mixture of quota and maximum variation sampling (Miles & Huberman, 1994), participants' understandings of personal epistemological beliefs and NOS understandings were grouped into three categories (Low, Mixed [Transitional], High). Those participants scoring more than one standard deviation above the mean were categorized as "High." This rating of "High" further corresponded to a higher score on the epistemological beliefs survey. Participants scoring within one standard deviation of the mean were categorized as "Mixed." Mixed or transitional views represented the more typical view of epistemological beliefs as they related to the sampled group. Similar to the previous categorizations, participants scoring one standard deviation below the mean were categorized as "Low." The quantitative measures were used to help describe the relationship between practice and epistemological beliefs during NOS instruction as well as skills and practices instruction.

Quantitative data served as the determiner for teacher selection, as well as provided correlational information to answer *RQ1a*, "What is the nature of the relationship between personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS?" All other quantitative data served the purpose of providing additional information to gain a deeper understanding of the epistemology beliefs and practice through the use of triangulation. In this sense, the quantitative data served as support for the qualitative analysis.

Beyond the qualitative interviews and quantitative data collection methods previously mentioned from the epistemological beliefs and the nature of science evaluations, classroom observations took place to better ascertain the teacher practice. Within these observations, which are part of the normal task of the researcher fulfilling the role of curriculum coordinator for the School District, observations took place and data collected in both a quantitative and qualitative manner. The types of data collected included a qualitative and quantitative collection of common practices associated with either constructivist or positivist practices. Additionally, a journal was kept to record the researchers thoughts about the classroom experience.

# Instruments/Measures

Each of the outcome variables under consideration were evaluated using mixed methods. NOS was examined through the use of the *SUSSI* survey (Liang et al., 2008; See *Appendix C*), and an interview protocol developed by Herman et al., (2011).

Personal Epistemological beliefs were evaluated through the use of the Epistemological Beliefs Survey (EBS) created by Wood and Kardash (2002) (See Appendix A). Using an interview protocol developed by Herman et al., (2011), epistemological beliefs were probed as they related to the teaching of NOS. Classroom practices were evaluated through the use of the NOS-COP (Herman, Clough, & Olson, 2013; See Appendix D).

## Table 2

Instruments used during the study					
Construct	Quantitative	Qualitative			
Nature of Science	Students Views of Science and Scientific Inquiry	Students Views of Science and Scientific Inquiry (SUSSI) &			
	(SUSSI)	Interview protocol			
Personal Epistemological Beliefs	Epistemological Beliefs Survey (EBS)	Interview protocol			
<i>Other</i> Barriers (e.g., institutional and social)	<i>NOS-COP</i> (walk-through form)	Classroom Observation Protocol			
Pedagogical practices	<i>NOS-COP</i> (walk-through form)	Field Notes			

# struments used during the stud

# SUSSI: Nature of science.

Many students, and even teachers, are not able to express their views appropriately on an open-response format survey. It is common in these cases for the participant to respond with few words, leaving the researcher with few clues to base an inference (Liang et al., 2008). In contrast, the use of a solely quantitative survey has its own set of problems that have been addressed by Lederman, Wade and Bell, (1998). The Student Understanding of Science and Scientific Inquiry (SUSSI) was employed during this research in order to provide the triangulation. The SUSSI's blend of Likert-type items and related open-ended questions allows participants to rank items on a five-point scale (i.e., strongly disagree=SD, disagree more than agree=D, uncertain/not sure=U, agree more than disagree=A, strongly agree=SA). After completion of the Likert questions, the SUSSI provided participants the chance to explain their reasons for their choices in an openended format. The quantitative Likert portion of the *SUSSI* also provided a quantitative means to compare NOS understandings of participants to other quantitative data on epistemological beliefs and classroom practice.

The SUSSI was developed in a three-phase process. First, national and international reform documents and related literature were analyzed to determine NOS characteristics to be included within the instrument. Within this first phase came the development of an instrument based upon previous NOS instruments (e.g., VOSTS [Aikenhead & Ryan, 1992] and VNOS [Lederman et al., 2002]) and piloted in both the US and China. The second phase consisted of a modified version, based upon expert analysis and data from pilot studies. Also in the second phase, students were interviewed to better clarify content conceptions. The third phase was conducted in order to establish validity and reliability within three countries (United States, Turkey, & China).

Analysis of Likert-scale responses using the American research participants revealed a Cronbach Alpha was 0.69. Furthermore, a taxonomy identified and used for classification of the 24 Likert-items was developed that categorizes open-ended response scores into four categories. Those with understandings commensurate with contemporary views of NOS were scored as informed views (score = "3"). Responses that included partially informed views or those with responses that failed to provide support for their statement were rated as transitional (score = "2"). Responses that included misconceptions about NOS were rated as naïve (score = "1"). A lack of response, or a response that included "I Don't Know" are rated as not classifiable (score = NC) (Liang et al., 2008).

## **EBS:** Personal epistemological beliefs.

To quantitatively evaluate the levels of sophistication of the participant's views of knowledge and knowledge construction, the 38-question Epistemological Belief Survey (Wood & Kardash, 2002) was employed. The Wood and Kardash version of the epistemological beliefs survey is a compilation of the Schommer's (1990) and Jehng el al.'s version (1993). While previous versions of this survey were rather lengthy, spanning 80+ items, Wood and Kardash retained 38 items representative of the 5 independent dimensions of epistemic beliefs (See Appendix A) for their version. The five factors included on the EBS survey include: Speed of Knowledge Acquisition, Structure of Knowledge, Knowledge Construction and Modification, Characteristics of Successful Students, and Attainability of Objective Truth. Similar to the SUSSI, the 38 question EBS survey uses a 5 point Likert scale (1= strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3 = unsure, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly). After appropriate coding methods were employed to accommodate the reverse scored items, a high score on the EBS represents more sophisticated epistemological beliefs. A lower score represents a less sophisticated or naïve understanding of epistemology. Internal consistency alpha coefficients of the five subscales were reposted as: 1.) 0.74 for Speed of Knowledge Acquisition, 2.) 0.72 for Structure of Knowledge, 3.) 0.66 for Knowledge Construction and Modification, 4.) 0.58 for Characteristics of Successful Students, and 5.) 0.54 for Attainability of Objective Truth (Wood and Kardash, 2002). The overall alpha reliability of this instrument is .86.

## **NOS-COP:** Pedagogical practice.

In order to gain a deep understanding of teachers' classroom practice, multiple means of measure were employed, from classroom walk-through rubrics, participant interview protocols, and analysis of classroom artifacts. This triangulation method was necessary to overcome challenges present within any individual technique. For instance, it would be difficult to judge the importance or relevance of an activity unless the observer was familiar with the goal of the lesson. Classroom artifacts and/or teacher interviews provided the necessary context for the observation.

The observation form that was used during this research was a modified version of the *Classroom Observation Protocol* (Horizon Research, 2000). The discussion that immediately follows describes the development and nature of the *Classroom Observation Protocol* (COP) and also provides information about the reliability and credibility of the instrument. The *Classroom Observation Protocol* (COP) was developed to measure the quality of an observed science and mathematics classroom lesson. The items included in the *COP* are based upon science standards found in the *National Science Education Standards* (NRC, 1996). The validation of the protocol was accomplished using approximately 60 science and mathematics educators (who served as principal investigators of the Local Systemic Change projects). Items were identified, revised, and returned for review several times until there was broad agreement with individual content items and integrity and completeness of the instrument. Using a set of trained observers, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients for the item sets were as follows:

# Table 3

Item	Number of Items	Cronbach alpha coefficient w/o synthesis rating
Lesson design	10 + 1*	0.96
Lesson design, alternative	9 + 1*	0.92
Lesson implementation	8 + 1*	0.94
Mathematics/science content	9 + 1*	0.93
Classroom culture	8 + 1*	0.93
Classroom culture, alternative	7 + 1*	0.92
Likely impact on students' understanding	6	0.94
*Nynthesis Rating		

Classroom Observation Protocol Cronbach Data

Synthesis Rating

Concerns exist about the reliability of this survey if certain shortcomings are not overcome. These concerns should hold true for any instrument that is based upon the COP, such as the NOS-COP (Herman et al., 2013), that was the version used for this research. To overcome these concerns with regard to time in the classroom and intention of teacher's lesson design and purpose, these issues were overcome in this research by the following of means: 1) the length of observation lasted the entire period, 2) classroom artifacts were collected, and 3) lesson plans were available to the observer.

As constructivism is a theory of learning and not teaching, defining what is and is not constructivist practice was not an easy task and involved extended classroom visits from the researcher. To determine types of pedagogical practices used within the teacher participant's classrooms, a series of classroom observations took place on average of one every other week and lasting at least one hour. Every participant's classroom was visited four to five times throughout the research period. Unfortunately, it was not possible to make it to all schools to see similar content, assuming they were following the curriculum map. It was the artifact collection and casual conversation that provided the rear and forward looking perspectives of each classroom to compare content coverage and in some case the type of instructional practices during that instruction.

The importance of pedagogical practice cannot be understated as it can serve as a gatekeeper to an effective NOS implementation (Herman et al., 2013). Using the *NOS-COP* observation rubric developed by Herman, et al., (2013), pedagogical practices were tracked in order to gain a sense of teacher practice. Field notes were also taken to provide further depth to any interpretation of data.

The NOS-COP is similar to the *COP* observation protocol instrument in that it consists of the previously discussed *COP* observational protocol, with the addition of slight modifications to assess specific NOS instructional pedagogy. Herman et al. (2013) based the change of the instrument on guidelines that credit a lesson (e.g., NOS accuracy, explicit referral to the NOS, and level of NOS contextualization) as being informed by contemporary and respected NOS science education literature (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000; Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik, 2002; Clough, 2006; Khishfe & Lederman, 2006).

The nine observational indicators that comprise the *NOS-COP* are graded on a Likert scale from (1) "Not at All" to (5) "A Great Extent" referring the amount each indicator was witnessed by the researcher/observer. Two additional scores of (6) D/K and (7) N/A are also included for each item.

#### Interview protocol.

Two times during the nine weeks (pre and post) participants were interviewed using a semi-structured format based upon responses from their *Student Understanding of Science and Scientific Inquiry* (*SUSSI*) questionnaire (Liang *et al.*, 2008), as well as a five-question interview protocol based upon the protocol developed and used by Herman et al., (2013) (See *Appendix E*). This five-question (multi-component) interview protocol looked at the following factors:

- View on learning, general teaching self-reflection and responsibility;
- General and NOS teaching self-reflection, understanding of NOS teaching, motivation to teach the NOS (value or compliance), and teaching constraints;
- Teaching constraints (i.e., classroom management, institutional constraints).

# **Data Collection**

#### **Teacher Selection.**

Phase One- The researcher sent an open invitation to all sixth grade teachers in the district. Within this invitation, there was an explanation of the scope and process of this research, as well as the expectations of the participants. Permission of participants was gained through the use of an electronic questionnaire that included questions about: 1) school location, 2) years of experience, 3) courses taught (e.g., regular or honors), 4) number of science courses taken, and 5) degree. The electronic survey form included a consent form that required a click to agree to

continue. Also, all participants were asked to sign a paper copy of the consent form before beginning research. The consent form included on the electronic survey provided a secondary source of security to ensure all participants were had been properly informed. This initial information helped further select the purposeful sample, as well as providing a deeper understanding of the teacher. Information about the role of anonymity for this research and of any publications that came from this research was also provided at that time.

Once the questionnaire was completed, teachers were asked to electronically complete the electronic version of the EBS and SUSSI survey. Once data was collected, a fellow doctoral student statistically sorted participants' data according to low, medium, and high levels of understanding, referring to their positions of epistemological understandings (i.e., epistemological positions). The fellow doctoral student provided names only of those participants who completed both surveys. These participants were contacted by the principal researcher to determine if the participants would still be available for Phase Two of the research. The researcher reported those names to the fellow doctoral student to make sure the range of participants met the original criteria of having a diverse participant pool. The researcher had no access to this survey data until all data had been collected to protect against bias during the collection period. The SUSSI served as an additional informational tool in case additional information was needed for selecting the study group. This purposeful sampling determined which participants moved into phase two of the research. For this research it was important to be able to look at teachers with disparate epistemological views and compare those views to their classroom practice. A wide variety of classrooms based on varying levels of courses (e.g., honors and regular) were sought out considering student readiness has been noted as a potential barrier to the types of instruction employed. In the event there were only small differences within the

epistemological beliefs of teachers, there remained the potential to select teachers based upon their understandings of NOS using the *SUSSI* instrument. Other potential selection criteria were years of experience, courses taught (e.g., regular or honors), and educational background (e.g., courses, degree). In the unlikely event that differences could not be found in either of these domains, or other listed differences, teachers would have been selected at random. Fortunately, between the EBS and participants either being still able to participate because of transfers and in one case a new school administration that viewed research as a distraction identification was managed without additional information. This additional information was useful when constructing teacher profiles.

# **Collection of Participant Data.**

Phase One- The initial phase of the research consisted of every potential participant taking an online version of the *EBS* and the *SUSSI*. A Moodle site was constructed for the sole purpose of collecting this electronic data. Moodle is similar to BlackBoard, a learning management system used at many major universities. Moodle is a secure portal where tests and surveys can be given and scored automatically and confidentially. It was from this site that the doctoral student that was helping to facilitate this research, gathered and sort the for participant data. Throughout the data collection phase, the researcher did not have access to this site.

Phase Two – After the *EBS*, *SUSSI* data had been collected and sorted, eleven participants were selected for the purposeful sample needed for phase two. The goal was to select a minimum of three teachers from each of the three levels of epistemological understandings (low, mixed and high) based upon the standard deviation scores. More positivist positions were participants with scores one standard deviation below the mean. More constructivist positions are those participants with scores on the *EBS* of one standard deviation above the mean. It was important to note, these relative levels of understanding did not always correspond to epistemological beliefs position on the Perry Model (1970) such as Naïve, Transitional, and Sophisticated views about knowledge as used in other research to describe the philosophical or epistemological belief of the participant.

The rationale for classify teacher practice or epistemological beliefs in a range from more positivist to constructivist was based on historical and recent research on epistemological beliefs and practice. For example, Yang et al., recognized naive views of knowledge are "philosophically more like that of the positivist" (2008, p.13). In contrast, Tsai (2007) found that teachers holding more constructivist–oriented beliefs held more interactive discussions, inquiry and in general focused on student-centered activities. Historically, research has reported that for teachers to be effective in the classroom, they must become constructivists (Brooks & Brooks, 1993). It is this emphasis included in science education reforms (NRC, 1996) that suggest stronger constructivist approaches be employed (Karakas, 2007). Given the importance of the constructivism and its association with what is now recognized as a best practice, the choice was made to use this continuum between positivist and constructivist practices.

Following selection, these eleven participants were interviewed using a modified version of the interview protocol designed by Herman (2013) to probe their purpose of teaching, the value they place on NOS, as well as other factors they view as impediments to their practice. Starting in the second week of school, regular period long observations with a minimum of once every other week took place to provide information about the participants teaching practice. At the same time, additional artifacts were collected to provide additional insight into typical classroom practices of the participant. These artifacts included lesson plans and examples of

student work. Two interviews were conducted with each participant (Pre, and Post) using a modified version of Herman's interview protocol (2013). Each interview was recorded and transcribed to act as a guide and member check (Guba & Lincoln, 1985) for future interviews. Interviews were planned to be 45 to 60 minutes long corresponding to teacher planning periods. There was an acknowledgement that it would not be possible to hold all interviews during the school hours, so alternate hours, either before or after school were utilized as needed. All interviews were performed by the researcher, and each was recorded and transcribed. All transcription and coding of interview data was done by the researcher. Care was taken to maintain confidentiality of the participants: all the documentation was stored within a locked cabinet inside a locked office.

Data from the *SUSSI* and *EBS* served as the basis for comparison between understandings of NOS, personal epistemological views, and classroom practice. The rationale to use total scores and not individual category scores was deliberate and was an attempt to gauge the overall belief structure of the participants and provide insight into their beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction. Using empirical data from the *EBS*, *SUSSI*, and *NOS-COP*, descriptive and correlational data (from the 28 participants from Phase One) were used to build a deeper understanding of the constructs under study and to compare the relationships between each.

Descriptive statistics from the *EBS* provided information for the initial and purposeful selection of teachers used for intense study. Correlational data were also analyzed to determine what, if any, relationships exists between the *EBS* and *SUSSI* scores of teachers, EBS scores and the importance teachers place on NOS, as well as any relationship that existed between teacher's classroom practice. The *EBS* surveys were scored according to the developer's protocol (Wood & Kardash, 2002).

The *SUSSI* survey was utilized to provide a basis for quantitative comparison between other quantitative measures, such as the *EBS* and *NOS-COP*. As discussed in the previous paragraph, the *SUSSI* provided a quantitative means for correlational comparisons between the teachers' knowledge of NOS and their personal epistemological beliefs. The data from the SUSSI surveys were scored according to the developer's protocol (Liang et al., 2008). Openended responses within the *SUSSI* also provide added power to confirm understandings of NOS. These open-ended responses were used, along with the interview protocol responses, to help enhance the development of teacher profiles, as well as to add and/or detract support for understandings provided by the quantitative data obtained through the *SUSSI* survey instrument.

The *NOS-COP* was employed by the researcher to score classroom activities during observations. These data were available to compare teachers' personal epistemology and NOS understandings. The *NOS-COP* provided a critical piece in looking at how epistemological beliefs correlate to practice, during both NOS instruction and instruction of the practice during the NOS instruction. It was through the *NOS-COP* that types and levels (quality) of practices were measured. This quantitative data can be used both descriptively and as a variable in correlation between personal epistemological beliefs and NOS beliefs. Qualitative data were drawn from four main sources: interviews, classroom artifacts, *SUSSI* open-ended responses, and field notes.

As this research involves a timeframe where both NOS and scientific practices and skills are being taught, comparisons between NOS instruction and general content instruction were discerned as they compared to teacher beliefs. Through the use of the interviews, the teachers brought forward views of impediments to instruction that are outside epistemological beliefs. These impediments also provided important insights into science instruction.

# **Timeframe for the Study**

Potential participants were contacted by August 1<sup>st</sup>, providing a month before the start of the school year. Upon agreement to become a part of the study, participants were asked to take the EBS, and SUSSI electronically, as well as to participate in one introductory interview, before the start of the school year. Because the first week of school was filled with distractions of many types, the hour-long observation and follow-up interviews were postponed until the second week of school. A minimum of one observation every two or three weeks took place for each of the eleven participants. The total time span of this research lasted approximately nine weeks depending on the pace of the teachers with regard to the School District's curriculum pace chart. In all, each participant completed two interviews (pre and post) that lasted approximately one hour. These interviews were recorded and transcribed by the researcher.

#### Table 4

Research Schedule		
Date	Tasks	
August 1 <sup>st</sup>	Teachers were	Phase One Began
	solicited to participate	
	in study.	
Before August 26	Teachers responded to	
	EBS, SUSSI, and	
	personal survey via	
	Moodle	
August 26 <sup>th</sup> through	Pre-instructional	Phase Two Began
September 7 <sup>th</sup>	interview	
Week of September	Instructional unit	Observations began
3 <sup>rd</sup>	started	
Week of October 21 <sup>st</sup>	Instructional unit	Observations ended
	ended	
Week of October 29 <sup>th</sup>	Post-instructional	
	interviews started	
Week of November	Post-instructional	
$12^{\text{th}}$	interviews ended	

# **Analysis of Results**

Interviews, collected artifacts (lessons, test, and activities), and observation data were analyzed in order to identify common themes. These common themes were identified and were then used as codes to compare interview data with walk-through data from the *NOS-COP* and quantitative measures of epistemological positions. With the exception of *RQ1*, which was answered using strictly quantitative methods, the remaining questions were answered using an interpretive design. Furthermore, as the focus was on the processes that affect classroom practice, a lived experience for the teacher, teacher profiles were constructed in an effort to help organize, interpret and make meaning of these lived experiences.

The emergent design employed by this research was dependent on the initial information gained from survey instruments and pre-instruction interviews. This initial information served as a guide for the constant comparative method of data analysis (Glaser and Strauss, 1967). The basic premise of comparative analysis was constantly to compare data throughout the analytical process (Merriam, 1998). Staying true to the guidelines of comparative analysis, the collected qualitative data (i.e., *SUSSI* open-ended response, interviews & collected artifacts) were coded to and analyzed for emergent themes that explained the relationships among the variables.

## Quantitative analysis.

The quantitative portion of the *SUSSI* and the *EBS* score served as the basis for answering the initial question (RQ1a) about the relationship between personal epistemological beliefs and NOS beliefs. Using the total scores from each phase one participant's survey, a calculation of the product moment correlation coefficient served to show the relationship between these two constructs. *Pearson's r*, as it is sometimes called, is a measure of the linear correlation between

two variables, in this case the *EBS* and *SUSSI* scores. Values ranging between +1 and -1 give the degree of dependence of the two variables. A *Pearson r* of 0 represents no correlation whereas a score of +1 (positive correlation) or -1 (negative correlation) represents a high correlation. Using the correlational coefficient (r), the strength and direction of the relationship were described. The statistical software *SPSS Version 17* was used for all calculations throughout this research. The *EBS* was scored according to the developer's protocol (Wood & Kardash, 2002). The data from the *SUSSI* survey was scored according to its developer's protocol (Liang et al., 2008). Answering the other research questions (i.e., 1b-d & 2a-b) involved more depth of understanding than quantitative measures. A separate process for analyzing the qualitative data was used and was compared to the previous quantitative data.

## Qualitative analysis.

Coding qualitative data is a process of analyzing data to develop categories and relationships (Strauss & Corbin, 1990), which in this research occurred at two levels. First, teacher profiles were developed using common emerging themes. Second, interpretations were made between the group of teachers and their respective epistemological beliefs and their classroom practices. Interviews were one source of qualitative data about teachers' beliefs. The interviews were transcribed, coded, and analyzed to look for categories of emergent themes. The teacher profiles, that now serve the purpose of providing the reader a context, as they emerged, served as the framework to construct the emergent themes. Based on interview data, survey scores, observation data and collected artifacts, prototype profiles were constructed. These emergent profiles helped in revealing common themes across the participants. For example, time is now listed as a barrier, but this barrier had many sources (e.g., meetings, testing, schedules). By using the constant comparative method of analysis the common barrier of time emerged, even though it may not have been directly stated.

Observations and artifact collections were another source of important information to compare teacher beliefs to classroom practice. Both interviews and observations provided opportunities to further delineate a deeper understanding of each teacher's specific profile as it pertained to epistemological beliefs and its respective classroom practice. An additional source of evidence with which to build a teacher belief profile came from the initial surveys (*EBS & SUSSI [to include the extended response section]*). Through analysis of individual categories of each instrument, information was gleaned that enhanced the understandings being constructed about the teacher's beliefs and their effects on practice. Through the use of multiple data sources, triangulation techniques were utilized to construct a rich understanding, an important consideration for establishing credibility (Denzin, 1970). By cross-checking the quantitative data of *EBS* and *SUSSI* survey with interview transcriptions, extended responses from the SUSSI, the *NOS-COP* observation data, regularities from these multiple sources of data were sought.

# **Development of teacher profiles.**

The pre-instruction interview using the semi-structured interview protocol served as a starting point for the generation of a teacher profile of their understandings of epistemological beliefs and how these beliefs corresponded to teachers' conceptions about instruction. The interview questions allowed for probes into teacher beliefs about types of instruction practices, how teachers value NOS, and potential institutional barriers to instruction. This information

helped discern whether or not the participants who do teach NOS were doing so because it was required by a district mandate or because they value NOS, or both. To be clear, some teachers taught NOS because they felt they must, not because they felt that it had importance beyond curriculum compliance. After the second (post) interview, when quantitative scores were available to the researcher and observations had occurred, it was possible to determine a more robust understanding of teachers' attitude and beliefs about NOS. Through the use of triangulation, orientations became evident in terms of teaching NOS for compliance, rather than from a belief in its importance, and how NOS was taught may not have been reflective of NOS understanding. For instance, a teacher may have had a good understanding of NOS (SUSSI) and a low epistemological belief score (*EBS*). This situation could represent a case where compliance may take place (indicated by observations) because the teacher understands NOS, but may not value it based upon their epistemological position. This potential for compliance was found through the first interview. For instance, co-planning (where grade level teachers are expected to plan lessons together in order to improve the quality of the lessons and also to ensure consistency across the grade level) where one teacher dictates what and how topics were taught could be a dominant factor in practice, minimizing epistemological factors. The post interview became an importance piece of data to probe these differences for clarity.

Any additional information from the extended response section of the *SUSSI* was also used to enhance the teacher profile. Each teacher's extended responses were analyzed and coded by the researcher. Levels of sophistication were determined through this analysis to determine teachers understandings of NOS and whether the written responses differ from the beliefs gained from the quantitative portion of the instrument.

The questionnaires were read and analyzed thoroughly through a holistic lens to look for patterns, given that answers to one question may be contained within another questions response. These extended responses were included with the interview responses along with the quantitative responses for triangulation of beliefs and used to develop the teacher profiles.

Generations of categories of teacher beliefs were drawn from emergent themes that developed from the two surveys and the interviews. These themes were set against a benchmark of pedagogical views of positivism and constructivism, as it was these philosophical positions that frame this research. During each consecutive interview (teacher to teacher) with each teacher, summaries of patterns were checked against previous category findings to determine if they are contradictory, with categories of findings to be modified accordingly. It was this constant comparative method that was employed for the analysis of the qualitative data in order to investigate the understandings/beliefs teachers have constructed. A basic premise of constant comparative is to constantly compare (Merriam, 1998); each interview was transcribed and coded to add evidence for emerging conceptions, as well as to serve as a springboard for further guide questioning during the interview process. For instance, if a theme emerged about what teachers' peers discuss during common planning periods, a question was posed about these potential effects on the participant's own practice. Member checks, as a means to establish credibility, played an important role in the research process (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). After each interview session, my interpretation of the interviews was emailed to the participant to make sure the understanding I had gained matched the intentions the participant wanted to convey. Although most responses were limited to a polite, "Thank you," or other salutation, some did add to the conversation. These were included into the template used for analysis that included the original interview responses and my analysis of comments.

While there were only to interviews, pre-post) there were many causal conversations during, before, or after my observations. Notes of these conversations were documented into my log. Teacher profiles also emerged from this same analysis.

In addition to teacher interviews, a series of observations and artifact collections were conducted using the *NOS-COP*. The information gained from each observation and artifact collection was analyzed to search out supportive or contradictory themes that were gathered through the interview process. As in the process used for subsequent interviews when dissonant themes occur, these incongruences became the source of further questions during interviews with that same participant. Observation information, like evidence from interviews, was also observed for emergent themes and categories to guide the development of an understanding of teachers' classroom practice. As much of the observation protocol was quantitative in the form of a Likert Scale, descriptive statistics were used to bring a more qualitative meaning to this quantitative data.

To answer the different research questions, a variety of instruments were used to construct the teacher profiles. These teacher profiles were then used to compare against one another to look for emergent trends in terms of classroom practice. As discussed previously, research question 1a was addressed quantitatively through analysis of the *EBS* and *SUSSI* instrument. It was only RQ-1a that was addressed through the use of only two instruments and in a strictly quantitative manner. All other research questions were addressed through a minimum of three instruments with understandings developing from the triangulation of these instruments. In RQ-1b, which pertains to the effects of epistemological beliefs and the importance a teacher places on NOS, data from the two epistemological beliefs surveys were used in addition to interview data to address the question. In RQ-1c, where classroom practice is investigated as to

its potential relationship with epistemological beliefs, the *NOS-COP* classroom observation protocol replaced the interview data as the main source of information for determining relationships. Classroom artifacts supplied additional information to support any understandings that are constructed for *RQ-1c*. Unfortunately, though required by the District, lesson plans were not always available. Fortunately, teachers are asked to post an agenda and this became a valuable resource for determining what had been or would be taught. These agendas often became sources of questions to the teacher. Artifacts that were collected regularity, either directly, photographed, or notes taken about, were any type of worksheet, lab document, articles, and anything else that would give an idea of what was happening in the classroom when I was not present. In terms of "other factors" addressed in *RQ-1d* that are responsible for practice, it was the interviews that supplied the main source of information, with artifact collection supporting the meaning-making.

The next main question (RQ-2) and its sub-components investigated classroom practice and whether it differs between when teachers teach NOS and more "skills and practices" types of content. As the first nine weeks of instruction were a combination of NOS and *skills and practices*, some observations naturally occurred during each of these instruction units. To answer RQ-2a, which refers to the NOS and classroom practices between the two constructs (NOS & *skills and practice*), the *SUSSI*, *NOS-COP*, interviews and classroom artifacts served as the informational sources. For RQ-2b, the *EBS* replaces the *SUSSI* with the previous mixture of data sources.

Table 5

	<u>v</u>		1			
RQ	EBS	SUSSI	NOS-	Interviews	Type of Analysis	Classroom
Number			COP data			Artifacts
1a	Х	Х			Quantitative	
1b	Х	Х		Х	Mixed Methods	
1c	Х	Х	Х	Х	Mixed Methods	Х
1d			Х	Х	Mixed Methods	Х
2a	Х		Х	Х	Mixed Methods	Х
2b		Х	Х	Х	Mixed Methods	Х

Instruments used for each research question

#### **Comparison between teachers.**

After all interviews, observations and artifact collection had been completed, a detailed profile of each teacher was constructed. It was only after individual teacher profiles had been constructed that a comparison of teachers and the respective practices could be analyzed. Through a careful analysis, again looking for common themes, a summary of the teachers was constructed to explain the relationship between epistemological beliefs and practice. Through the use of an Excel spreadsheet, themes were matched with participants to gain an overview of epistemological beliefs and how these beliefs relate to other evidence, such as field notes from observations, artifacts, and data from the observation form. As these comparisons between beliefs and practices took place, corresponding information from interviews guided the interpretation to answer the research questions (with the exception of RQ 1a, which was purely quantitative).

Credibility was achieved by prolonged time spent doing observations (one-hour biweekly visits) as well as extensive interviews to include member checking. Dependability was achieved through the use of careful coding until which time clear patterns emerged, as well as the use of triangulation from the various instruments.

# **Summary**

A mixed-methods approach was employed in this study with the purpose of exploring the relationship between teachers' NOS beliefs, personal epistemological beliefs, and classroom practice either during NOS instruction or practice and skills.

Research was conducted during the nine weeks of instruction that included NOS as well as the practices and processes of science. These nine weeks are considered by the School District as an integral part of instruction as these concepts form the basis of further science instruction throughout their secondary careers. Before the start of the school year, teachers' epistemological beliefs were assessed using two separate instruments (*EBS & SUSSI*). These two instruments were used to define teachers' epistemological positions in science, as well as the relative relation to more general knowledge. These were independently compared to teachers' practices during NOS instruction and instruction concerning science practice and skills. Using an observational survey form (*NOS-COP*) and accompanied with interview data, common themes were developed to ascertain what relationships, if any, exist between these epistemological beliefs and how other barriers that teachers associate as major impediments to instruction.
## **Chapter Four: Results**

## Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore the effects of teachers' epistemological beliefs on practice. Specifically, this study sought to investigate two overarching questions:

1) In what ways do teachers' epistemological beliefs affect practice in the science classroom during NOS instruction?

2) In what ways do classroom practices differ between instruction of NOS and instruction of process skills?

Both overarching questions contain subcomponents. The initial subcomponent of the first overarching question was answered by looking at one large group, while the other subcomponents were answered by looking at a sub-group of the large group, referred to as *Phase One* and *Phase Two* groups. To this end, either quantitative or a combination of both qualitative and quantitative were used to answer the research questions.

First, quantitative measures will be discussed for the *Phase One* portion of the study to answer RQ1a, "What is the nature of the relationship between personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS?"As the goal of this study is to build individual teacher profiles and then compare and contrast those profiles, the section before *RQ1b* will be devoted to participant profiles. These profiles will help give the reader a context in which to place the further discussion necessary to answer the remaining questions. After the section describing the teacher (participant) profiles, the remaining research questions will be addressed in the order of the remaining research questions.

# Research Questions 1a - What is the nature of the relationship between personal epistemological beliefs and NOS beliefs?

This research question sought to examine the potential relationship between these two seemingly similar epistemological belief structures. The study employed the use of the 38 question *Epistemological Beliefs Survey* as well as the *SUSSI* survey in order to determine the overall depth of teacher understandings. The average total score of each instrument was calculated and then correlated to gain a better understanding of this potential relationship. Of the 37 participants who participated in *Phase One* of the study, which consisted of the *EBS* and *SUSSI* surveys, 28 individuals completed both surveys. The following results were derived from those participants.

For the epistemological beliefs survey, the mean score was 140.86, with a standard deviation of 10.18. The skewness and kurtosis placed the data well within the range of normality (Sk= .46; Ku = .08). The range of 42 revealed different dimensions of beliefs considering the potential scores for the survey range were of 38 to 190. With a score of 72 marking the midway point between lowest and highest potential score, the participants scored on the higher end of the range based on the test mid-point. This should be expected based on the relationship between education and epistemological beliefs (King & Kitchener, 1994; Perry, 1970). Also, true absolutists, who would presumably represent the lowest potential test score, are rarely if ever seen, in research (Moore, 2002).

Table 6

Epistemological Beliefs Descriptive Statistics

N=28	Mean	S.D	Skew	Ku	Range
	140.86	10.18	0.46	0.08	42

Data from the 40 item *SUSSI* survey revealed a similar result in that the mean and standard deviation (M = 141.5, S.D. = 10.81). The skewness and kurtosis were higher than that of the EBS, but the sample remains within the model of a normal distribution based on the random selection of participants and large sample size.

Table 7

SUSSI Descriptive Statistics								
N= 28	Mean	S.D	Skew	Ku	Range			
	141.5	10.809	1.0374	1.3538	44			

The *Pearson Correlation Coefficient* between the *EBS* and *SUSSI* instrument was determined to be 0.63, a moderately strong relationship. The p-value was 0.00033 (two-tailed) indicating statistical significance beyond the 0.05 level and should not be considered random.. What is notable is that one participant has an extreme disparity between the scores on the *EBS* and *SUSSI*. By removing this one participant, the relationship increases dramatically to R = 0.80. This participant provides an interesting dynamic between these two epistemological constructs. More about this participant will be discussed within the teacher profile section of this paper, as well as the discussion section for each research question. To answer the immediate question (1a), it would seem there should be few surprises given the suggested relationships already proposed with various research (Abd-El-Khalik, 2003).

### Table 8



Correlation between EBS and SUSSI Overall Scores

Evidence supports the relationship between the NOS and personal epistemological beliefs. This relationship is not surprising as both involve the characteristics of knowledge and knowledge construction (Abd-El-Khalik, 2003). This relationship is important due to epistemological beliefs implications on practice (Feucht, 2008; Feucht & Bendixen, 2010; Patrick & Pintrich, 2001; Schraw & Olafson, 2002; Tsai, 2002), but there has been scant quantitative research about this relationship. Having confirmed a rather strong relationship between the two epistemological beliefs amongst the participants in *Phase One*, the next sections of this paper provide the reader with a profile of the eleven participants that took part in *Phase Two*.

*Phase Two* of the study was designed to deeply probe the beliefs and practices of eleven of the twenty-eight original participants. This was accomplished through classroom observation, interviews and artifact collection of eleven of the original 28 participants. The eleven participants were chosen based on epistemological beliefs scores to represent a broad range of orientations. After these profiles are presented, the remaining research questions are addressed.

#### **Teacher profiles.**

Of the 28 participants who completed both surveys, eleven participants agreed to be part of *Phase Two*. The goal was to have participants from the larger *Phase One* sample represent a range of epistemological beliefs. These levels were determined based upon the epistemological beliefs survey's standard deviation scores. Five of the selected participants fell below one standard deviation from the mean. Four selected participants were within one standard deviation from the mean (+/-10.1) and two held *EBS* scores above one standard deviation from the mean. It should be noted that the majority of those selected that held scores within one standard deviation from the mean were in a very tight range on the boundary of the first standard deviation level. This situation of a tightly-grouped set of participants occurred not because of choice, but rather was based on who agreed to participate in *Phase Two*. Even though every attempt was made to make choices based strictly on the score, other events such as changing teachers' roles and willingness to participate influenced the final choice of participants. In the end, the sample represented a large range of scores with participants who provided rich dialogue (discussed later within the profiles and discussion of findings sections).

*Phase Two* participants' scores were similar to the larger group of 28 participants used for *Phase One* of this study. The average EBS scores for the *Phase Two* group were 141.5 versus

140.9 for the larger group. The range for the *Phase Two* group was 34 compared to 42 of the larger group. Seven points of this increased range can be attributed to one participant on the low end of the scale. In terms of the SUSSI survey, a similar situation occurred with regard to range, but this increased range was attributed to high scores from the *Phase One* group. The SUSSI average score for the *Phase Two* group was 139.2 compared to 141.5 from *Phase One*. The SUSSI scores had a similar range disparity as the EBS scores. Phase Two participants had a 29 point range while participants in Phase One had a 44-point range. It should be noted that one of these two high scores (169) on the SUSSI was a former student of my major professor and had gained knowledge of NOS through the required science education coursework. The other high score was from one of the District's top teacher/trainers. Interestingly, these same two *Phase* One participants had nearly equal EBS scores as one other participant found in Phase Two participants. The *Phase Two* participant that had this nearly equal score proved to be one of the most interesting cases in the study. He was unlike the two from *Phase One* who had equally high scores on both surveys; instead, his survey scores were quite disparate. As will be discussed further, this disparity proved to be quite interesting in its affect on teacher practice. It was unfortunate that I was not able to include the participants with the highest SUSSI scores from *Phase One*, but role changes and administration reservations did not permit the inclusion of either candidate. I was not able to conduct research, other than the after-hours survey, in one school because the administrator felt time would be better spent on school improvement. With many schools now undergoing state oversight, this would appear to be a legitimate concern.

A common thread running through all participants of *Phase Two* was that they all cared deeply for their students. This strong feeling was perhaps due to self-selection for this research more than to factors associated with the research itself. I was also fortunate to have participants willing to openly express their concerns and struggles in the classroom.

To better understand the participants, this next section provides a profile of each participant that came from the constant comparative analysis methodology. This profile provides general as well as specific information about each teacher. This research was fortunate to have such a variety to provide a wide range of years of experience, backgrounds, content knowledge, and personal & pedagogical differences. From interviews, casual conversation, and classroom observations, it was noted that each participant displayed the exemplary characteristics of good teachers, such as caring for students and a belief that their efforts could make a difference in their students' lives. These aspects may have had an association with who was willing to participate in research versus any characteristic measured to select the Phase Two participants. Whatever the reason, having teachers with these characteristics made the research easier, as now a focus could be placed on pedagogical differences instead of beliefs about their views of the educational system or students. The following descriptions provide the general profiles of each participant. The participants have been assigned a number based on the score from the *EBS* instrument (e.g., Participant One, Participant Two, etc.). The following table (See Table 9) provides an EBS total and SUSSI total score for each participant. The scores are listed from low to high according to their personal epistemological belief score in an effort to assist the reader.

It should not be assumed that the specific scores (e.g., 139 & 140) are necessarily associated with different practices or that they guarantee any given epistemological beliefs level. Relating actual scores to outcomes such as practices may be beyond the current tools available. Hofer and Sinatra (2010) mention ways the use of a dichotomous scale to capture a nondichotomous construct may be problematic.

Included in the teacher profiles are *EBS* and *SUSSI* scores to provide a sense of how the participant may view knowledge and knowledge construction and their understandings of NOS respectively. Other data used were derived from interviews, observations, artifact collection and information from the survey as to years of teaching, background if not originally teaching, etc. It should be noted that there are no discernable trends between years of teaching experience and scores on either the EBS or SUSSI survey. It was unfortunate that most teachers completed only the multiple choice section of the SUSSI. The interviews were often times running longer than promised, as was the electronic survey itself even without the completion of the extended response. To go through the extended response questions within the interview process in order to gain additional information could have added another hour onto an interview. Out of respect for teacher's time, a decision was made to not pursue answers to these questions. Though many of the participants would have gladly sacrificed the time, some had other obligations. As all participants could not share their understandings equally, pursuing only some information may not have been beneficial and ran the risk of placing bias within the research. All in all, with the addition of the casual conversations, the researchers prior relationship with most participants, additional information was gained that may have not otherwise been attainable. In total, there was adequate information to paint an accurate profile of the participants. The profiles helped in organizing main themes as they related to this research.

#### Table 9

Participant	EBS/SUSSI Score	Title I (Y/N)	Years Teaching (avg. 13.7 yrs.)	Sex M/F
One	128/125	Y	5	F
Two	131/146	Y	18	Μ
Three	131/137	Y	14	Μ
Four	131/129	Ν	3	F
Five	131/134	Y	12	F
Six	143/142	Y	17	Μ
Seven	148/153	Y	24	F
Eight	150/154	Ν	9	F
Nine	150/154	Y	25	F
Ten	151/140	Y	17	F
Eleven	162/130	Y	7	М

Epistemological Scores of Phase Two Participants

## Participant One.

*Participant One* has the lowest score on both the *EBS* (128) and *SUSSI* (125) survey. *Participant One* teaches at one of the District's lowest performing schools. Despite these challenges, her classroom organization and control were typical of a teacher with well-established rules.

Her management is reflective of her responses to interview questions that asked: What does the classroom practice of the most successful science teacher look like? Her response was, "Good classroom management, able to keep her children focused, is highly organized and well prepared." This teacher clearly practices what she feels is most important. There is no wasted time between the moments students enter her class and the time they leave. The agenda for the day was clearly present on the board so that students understood what was required of them. At no time did I see a variation from this schedule.

She understands the role of facilitator, but feels it necessary to maintain a bit more control than one would traditionally expect from the definition. As she stated in an interview, "I try to be a facilitator, but I'm also like a director. I would say I am a *facilitator-director*." It would seem, from her answers to my interview questions, she would like to move toward the role of facilitator, but feels pressured to maintain classroom control because of the types of students in her class. The reference to director in this case is synonymous with teacher and one who is in complete charge of the learning, whereas facilitator gives more responsibility to the students and the teacher acts as an assistant within the process.

In a follow-up question based on my observations of her teaching, I asked why she talked more than her students. She replied, "I do more talking in an effort to cover the information and I repeat myself quite often because of inattention." I then asked, "If students were well-behaved, as well as ready and willing to learn, how would your classroom look? She replied,

"I believe it would be a much more productive class. I would be able to not only cover the required material, but also broaden the scope to related topics. We would also be able to work on more complicated and involved labs."

Given that observation, lesson plans, or artifacts revealed no labs occurring of any type, it is unclear if these labs, if they were to take place would be procedural or involve a higher level of inquiry.

In terms of NOS, *Participant One* was quite honest when she mentioned, "The nature of science confuses me. I try to teach all the components that I think that are important." From the SUSSI survey score and interviews, it was clear that her understanding of NOS was limited. It should be noted that, although she had the lowest score, it was only lower by a few points than

five other participants. Despite the lowest score, she was using some activities to instruct her students in NOS and not just lecturing.

Given the comments about NOS confusion, I was surprised that she was using an activity from the University of Indiana ENSI website. The website includes many NOS activities. She used two activities from the site: Science versus Non-science and Sunset, Souls and Senses. Both activities were designed to explore the realm and limits of science. Participant One used these activities to help students distinguish science from non-science. This seemed to be a topic the teacher felt was important. It is also a topic included in the District's curriculum maps. In this case, the teacher felt the topic had value. When it came to other NOS topics, there was no evidence those topics were taught during the nine week grading period from lesson plans or classroom artifacts. It is not to say they may not have been mentioned within a lecture, but there were no planned or documented activities or readings on the topic. In this teacher's case, the reason they were not carried out may have been two-fold. First, she clearly had limited knowledge of NOS, despite the explicit explanations written into the District curriculum maps. Second, I witnessed school site restrictions that limited her freedom to teach what she wanted: those restrictions too may have played some role. She mentioned, "They [School Administration] expect us to teach very similarly. I think it's a high expectation for us to do very similar things. They want to see consistency between us." Participant One also mentions the school change from a block schedule (90 minute classes) to 50 minute periods as having a major impact on what she does in the classroom. When asked about variables that impact instruction, she mentioned, "The first year I was here we had block scheduling and I felt like I could at least get a lab accomplished."

The factor of a time constraint may explain the lack of hands-on experiences, but not the topics for instruction during these nine weeks. Within this time span, instruction was mostly centered on lab safety and the scientific method, not NOS. As she reports, "I do a lot of worksheets. I do the *Sunsets and Souls* from the University of Indiana. I do a cartoon on how you proceed through solving a problem and the steps of the scientific method. I try to go over the CONPTT ideas also from the University of Indiana." CONPTT is an acronym for the six criteria of science: Consistent, Observable, Natural, Predictable, Testable, and Tentative and is associated with the Science and Non-Science activity previously mentioned. I did not observe during visits or find evidence of student work posted on bulletin boards or in student journals of anything other than the *Sunsets and Souls* and *Science versus Non-science* activity. Collection of or taking notes about artifacts was a typical procedure during these visits. Unfortunately, in this case, as in many others, little to no evidence could be found of NOS instruction occurring between my visits either in student journals, lesson plans, posted in the room, etc.

Her responses during interviews seemed to indicate she placed some value on NOS and was not teaching it just because it was on the District curriculum maps. Unfortunately, it appeared her chosen method of instruction and lack of NOS understanding limited this instruction. While other influences, from administration and other teachers with whom she planned, may have played a role in her classroom choices, given her SUSSI and EBS score, it was likely her own epistemological beliefs and lack of knowledge were influential limiting factors for NOS instruction. Both her personal epistemological beliefs and NOS survey scores ranked amongst the lowest of the group. She also admitted confusion about NOS. Clearly, a lack of NOS knowledge would affect choices or lack of choices of instruction to cover the mandated

topics. Even when she did find some appropriate lesson materials, they were used as a worksheet with right or wrong answers and not a springboard for discussion about NOS topics.

#### Participant Two.

*Participant Two* was quite an interesting case. This participant has a PhD from a prominent western university in the field of science and his score on the SUSSI survey was relatively high (146). This score places this participant ninth of eleven participants in terms of levels of NOS understandings. In contrast, his score on the EBS score ranked as one of the lowest (131).

It was clear from observing his classroom and from the interview process that he placed great value on education. His classroom management was governed by well-established rules and norms. It was also obvious he had established a good rapport with students. He spoke to each and every student as if they were his own child. As one might expect from a man with his knowledge of science, his descriptions to students were marvelous. He was able to place every science term or topic into context to help students paint a mental image. His approach to teaching was much like a grandfather telling stories to his grandchildren. He even referred to these frequent occasions where he included his verbal imaginary as, "My Stories." He mentioned in the first interview, "A lot of times I can hook with one of those stories. That really helps a lot."

He credits his knowledge of science that enables him to manipulate the District's curriculum maps to his needs. As he puts it, "I will take the general unit and combine certain topics together." The District's curriculum maps use "learning essential questions" to divide the content into chunks. Mastery of content is then judged by how well students have assimilated the information that would enable them to answer the lesson essential question (LEQ).

There are also discrete topics that must be covered for students to be able to answer the LEQ at the end of the topic. Certainly, many teachers approach these discrete topics separately, providing few connections for students. *Participant Two's* vast knowledge of content enabled him to link these seemingly discrete topics into a more coherent set of knowledge. While this provided him with some freedom to design his lessons, he still felt confined by the rigid structure mandated by the District.

When asked about these constraints, he answered, "People telling me how to teach and what to teach and I don't have the freedom to take the ideas and run with them." A follow up question was asked to determine where the bulk of these constraints come from. "Number one comes from the State, with a large part of our teacher evaluations now having to do with the test results." Clearly, the large part of the frustration is believed to be from the State on what and how content is to be taught. Also, to some degree, teaching constraints come from the District with its curriculum maps. He did make it clear that his administration allowed a great degree of freedom to its teachers, so this was not a constraint at that time. While internal constraints are limited, external (beyond the school) constraints existed and even extended to the students' homes.

It was also made very clear during the interviews that this teacher felt that parents' roles in the students' academics need to be improved. He felt a major constraint was that parents do not see the value of additional practice. "Kids don't have to do homework," he responded to a question about teaching constraints. "As a result, schools and Districts are at a disadvantage." Perhaps because of his strong background in science, he clearly demonstrated passion for science education. Unfortunately, the types of knowledge expected of students were not always

reflected in the types of practices chosen. While he spoke of what students should be able to do, tasks were limited to the lowest level of inquiry.

While this participant's content knowledge about both traditional content and the nature of science were more than adequate, the stark differences in the *EBS* score and the *SUSSI* score were telling. He clearly valued the student understanding of scientific knowledge and the major role it played in their life. Despite his knowledge of science, a question could be posed as to the effect of the low *EBS* score on his practice. Within every observation, students were either doing, or preparing to do, some type of investigation or experiment. When asked about how much he spoke compared to students he responded,

"It varies. Some days I'll talk quite a bit. If I'm introducing materials I'll be asking for feedback and further questions asking what they think and different things like that. On certain days we are doing cooperative learning, I won't say a word. Sometimes I do a project or lab work on a topic and give them some latitude to design their experiment. We talk about the scientific method. For example, I have the students pick three different balls, drop them from three different heights and they get the information that satisfies the scientific method."

It became obvious during classroom observations; students were given all the key information before they designed their experiment. It was here that the lower *EBS* score with its reference to authoritarian knowledge became visible in practice. During each observed class period, it was clear who held and dispensed the knowledge to the students.

NOS instruction was limited to the scientific method, or discussed via a story; but it was never explicitly mentioned during the observations. There were no contextualized or decontextualized activities employed to teach NOS, only the scientific method.

In observations outside the timeframe of District mandated NOS instruction, there were also no signs of NOS inclusions heard or verifiable artifacts found to validate the coverage of most NOS topics other than the scientific method.

In summary, *Participant Two* has a vast knowledge of traditional content and of NOS, undoubtedly because of his years spent doing science as a researcher. He was one of few who could list the majority of the NOS concepts without prompting, yet few if any mentions of NOS were heard or artifacts found to verify its instruction.

#### Participant Three.

*Participant Three* teaches at a school rated C last year by the state. The previous year it had been rated a B. Unlike many of the District's middle school teachers, he has a biology degree. This background was evident during discussions with his class. Like other participants, his rapport with students was excellent and his belief in being a good role model was first and foremost in his mind. He made it quite clear during interviews and casual conversation how much he was devoted to his students. Like *Participant Two*, his *EBS* score is 131. His SUSSI score (137) and is slightly below the group average of 141.5.

*Participant Three*, when asked what he envisioned the best science teacher would look like, responded, "Look professional and motivate their students to the highest learning levels possible through lesson plans and activities. He should make all students feel successful. Should not leave any student behind and finds ways to make all students feel they want to learn." He went on to state, "Students should follow directions, listen to what the teacher has to say closely and take ownership of the learning process."

When asked about how he viewed his role, he replied, "Make sure that I deliver the material and instruction in an appropriate manner. Hopefully, I do this as cost-effective as possible and keep their interest level high." The comment that includes "I deliver" was well documented within the observations. *Participant Three* was always in front of the class. Student talk was limited to answering questions about previously covered materials. The common delivery method was didactic using a PowerPoint (PPt). Students took notes verbatim from the PPt. His response clearly illustrates this interpretation:

"During direct instruction I always allow students to participate with responses to questions pertaining to vocabulary meanings. It keeps their attention and makes them feel they are owners in the learning process."

Not surprisingly, hands-on activities or any type of inquiry appeared to be quite limited. He gave few examples of when his students were exposed to hands-on activities, always referring to previous years. Throughout the observations, I was unable to find any evidence of hands-on activities. As he elaborated about instruction during the interviews, it seemed clear that hands-on was seen something additional, not essential to learning science. He stated, "I usually start the lesson with the brainstorming activity, go over and discuss the ideas, a graphic organizer, and maybe some hands-on."

In terms of NOS, he responded, "I always tried to emphasize, 'Guys, this is really performing one of the steps scientific method and scientific inquiry,' because I emphasize both and the differences between them. It's important that they understand the steps." There is a clear emphasis on the scientific method both from the interviews and classroom observation. The observation and artifact collection yielded only coverage of the scientific method and variables. No other evidence was found to support the coverage of any other NOS topic.

Despite his biology degree, there was also a lack of understanding of certain NOS concepts. For instance, when asked about different concepts of NOS and which he focused on, explicitly or not explicitly, an immediate answer was not forthcoming. A prompt was eventually required in order to gain an answer. After the prompt of "theories and laws," he responded,

"If looking at the difference between theory and law I certainly make sure they understand the process of going from the point of the hypothesis to the theory and then to a law. I also let students know that accepted theories are subject to change due to the fact of the available technology at the time scientists completed their research."

When asked about institutional constraints to teaching, there seemed to be few, if any. He responded to a question about these constraints in the following way, "I feel like we have a lot of freedom to choose. We are not dictated to at all. They want us to stick with the curriculum map absolutely as far as the concepts, but as far as the activities we choose, I feel like I have as much freedom as I want."

Overall, *Participant Three* was a very hard working teacher who is devoted to students. He mentioned that he spends many hours after school planning lessons to share with his students. Unfortunately, these lessons rarely included hands-on activities and are limited to PPT's and worksheets. There was an obvious lack of the knowledge of and pedagogy required to teach NOS.

#### Participant Four.

*Participant Four* teaches at a K-8 Academy that has been rated as a B school by the State grading guidelines. The school is known for using instructional methods based upon the latest research. The school was the first in the District to incorporate non-fiction text (mostly science)

into the elementary reading blocks. The goal was to provide background so that students would enter the middle grades able to apply their knowledge.

*Participant Four* was the youngest of the participants, yet had superb management skills, that would be more expected of veteran and rapport with her students. She emphasized in discussion how she placed a priority on caring for her students. This caring and nurturing environment was quite obvious to an observer. She professes to make every attempt to provide students with engaging hands-on experiences, but at the same time, does not exclude those learners who have different strengths for learning, such as technology. She also explained how she places an emphasis on scientific thinking within the teaching of NOS. She confided she has few, if any, teaching constraints from her school's administration. Her only complaint for being able to do what she wanted in the classroom was the length of classes. "Fifty-five minutes is so hard to do labs," she recounted.

Although she had taught less than five years, she already had attained a master's degree in education from a local private college. During the interviews, she fondly recalled what she had learned about the practice of teaching and how she attempted to apply these methods. She explained, "I was taught to use the book as a guideline and not a Bible, and use the information, but don't drill and kill." It was surprising that *Participant Four* held the ideals of a constructivist in high regard, yet had one of the lowest scores on the *EBS* (131). From her actions in the classroom, it was obvious that the skills of constructivist teaching were emerging, but were not yet always present. She does use inquiry methods; on one of my visits she explained how she had just finished a classic inquiry of having students see how many drops of water can be placed on a penny. The goal of her lesson was to have students learn about the "scientific method" and to report and summarize data. It was not intended to teach the concept of cohesion.

She also made a point to tell me how it was necessary to cover material in three ways to correspond to the different learning styles of her students. From the discussion, I concluded that she almost, but not quite, understood how students need to construct their own knowledge. At present, the use of the multiple learning styles is meant to help students learn the facts and skills of science. In other words, it is a way for students to learn a teacher's knowledge, not construct their own.

In terms of NOS, this was more predictable, having an identical score as participants 2 & 3 on the EBS, and the second to lowest on the *SUSSI* survey (129). She did stress that NOS was extremely important on the State Standards and mentioned how they were assessed on every State exam. While she clearly recognized NOS's importance, she glaringly omitted anything other than the scientific method or the difference between the scientific method and methods of inquiry. The focus was mostly targeted at the hypothesis, variables and conclusions that are either correct or incorrect. There was no indication either from observation, interviews or artifacts concerning the knowledge construction processes of NOS. This was perhaps not surprising, as her background was in elementary education, and she had just recently moved to sixth grade science. Nevertheless, her science background was strong when compared to a science major or minor. What she did have in abundance is an enthusiasm for and love of science.

Her teaching constraints, beyond the lack of NOS knowledge, were minimal. Her administration gave teachers the option to try new things. She was the only sixth grade science teacher in this school, so co-planning was never an issue. She did mention that her colleagues had been a great help. Clearly, her beliefs about knowledge construction were still emerging. Furthermore, her use of hands-on activities for science was a step in the right direction and

beyond what was witnessed from other participants. Being new to sixth grade science may have impacted her knowledge of available resources for the teaching of NOS.

#### Participant Five.

Much like *Participant Four*, *Participant Five* came to the secondary classroom from an elementary background. Her *EBS* scores were equal to participants two through four (131). *Participant Five* worked at one of the District's low performing schools. The school has consistently been challenged in finding quality teachers. *Participant Five* was a spirited teacher who wanted desperately to have her students achieve academically. She made every effort to make her class interesting and cutting edge by asking unique questions. I observed her one day turn a question about the antics of her cat into an exercise for developing an experiment to test a hypothesis.

It was these types of creativity that set her apart from other teachers at her school. Unfortunately, it was this creativity that she felt was stifled by her colleagues as she co-planned. She explained that it is not that she doesn't want to draw on others' creativity; instead, she wanted the freedom to pick and choose the best ideas to provide the best possible instruction for her students.

Within every conversation, whether formal or informal, *Participant Five* indicated that she valued having students see the big picture and learn how to not just learn science, but to apply it. In one interview response, she included the following statement in response to a question regarding the perfect science classroom:

It would be inquiry-based, such as presenting an issue or a problem to the student. This method engages students and forces them to problem solve. I think it helps. I think the students learn more that way and they learn it deeper. It also sticks more.

While the answer sounds profound, I saw little evidence of this style of teaching in the classroom, at least those that would be directed at the State Standards that involve NOS, with one exception, during a District-mandated activity that she seemed to resist. The resistance was interesting as it was evident her students were able to apply their knowledge while engaged in this activity. This District-mandated activity resembled socioscientific issues SSI, a method now thought to improve some aspects of NOS knowledge. *SSI* also provides opportunities for students to develop their own knowledge (Zeidler & Sadler, 2011). In fact, as I was scheduling her visit, she asked me to not come on that day as she felt the activity was not worthwhile. On the contrary, it was one of the better days, but it was not clear even after the activity that she came to the same conclusion.

There was inquiry present within her instruction, but unfortunately, the inquiry was typically directed at topics unrelated to the District's curriculum or the State's standards. One such research project was on scientists with disabilities. I found exemplars of this particular project posted on her room's bulletin board. While the lesson had value, its focus was biographical and covered social, not scientific topics with a purpose more about collecting facts versus using it as an issue related to science. On another day, I observed her class doing the activity she discussed in the interview.

"I had students research a scientist and I allowed them to choose any scientist at all and gave them some training on how to search for one that meets their criteria. For example, they may have chosen a "Hispanic Female Astronaut."

Again, though the assignment had merit, its focus did not meet any of the intended instructional targets for the unit she was covering. While she did have exciting ideas, they were not always directed towards the intended District goals, which were based on *National Science Education Standards (NRC, 1996)*.

In terms of NOS, this knowledge was, as might be expected from a social science major, low. The SUSSI score was 134, placing her at the lowest reaches of the one standard deviation mark. It is obvious when speaking with her that she wanted to learn science and how to best teach it. I appreciated her honesty: when I asked about her explicitness of NOS instruction, she proclaimed:

For the lab part the scientific method, it is explicit. The other types of things are implicit. Honestly, have mostly just talked about that. I mostly just touch on it and give examples, (this year, they watched videos of scientists at work gathering data, making observations, etc. and we talked about what they were doing.

It would seem clear; the scientific method is the main and perhaps only focus and not always in a hands-on manner. If other NOS topics other than the scientific method were discussed in class, I was not present, nor was there evidence from artifacts. She freely admits she had spent too much time in the past on topics such as distinguishing between dependent and independent variables. While these are critical in order to carry out experiments, doing so out of context and as vocabulary is often difficult.

Her biggest challenge might not be traditional content knowledge or knowledge of NOS, but result from some constraints derived from co-planning. I was able to observe one of the planning sessions and it was clear that her co-worker also lacked NOS content, but did not want

to do the additional research required to develop a good lesson. *Participant Five*'s frustration was visible during this planning session, and was also mentioned in the interview,

They should also be willing to learn if they lack background knowledge. Some people aren't as willing to learn and take it as a personal insult if they make an error and it's brought to their attention. For example, my degree is in social sciences. For the first few years teaching science, I was like a sponge and tried to learn all I could from my coworkers, textbooks, workshops, and reading books on my own. I allow students to take limited decisions within the context of the curriculum. Unfortunately, I feel restricted by time, resources, and the curriculum when it comes to doing this more.

What did give me great hope for *Participant Five* is that she was eager to learn. On a curious note, after the observations and interviews were finished, I sent a summary and the transcriptions with a couple of follow up questions. As I had done this with other participants and received great results, what I got back from her was a surprise. She not only added the answers to my follow-up question, she also added to her original answers. Unlike the other participants, it was obvious that she had done extensive reading in order to add to the original questions. While her answers were not of immediate value because of her still new-found knowledge, it was interesting to see the understanding of NOS develop.

#### Participant Six.

*Participant Six*'s *EBS* score (143) placed him ten points above the previous group of participants and two points above the mean score for all participants. His *SUSSI* total score of 142 placed him as the fourth highest of the *Phase Two* group. *Participant Six* has been teaching for many years, originally teaching in a neighboring District. He is now teaching at a middle

school known for high quality instruction despite having a large immigrant population. One of the feeder elementary schools received a D rating from the State for the past two years. Despite this handicap, the school grades have remained fairly high. I have previous knowledge of this school, and know it to be one where collaboration between teachers is very common and the administration very supportive of their science program.

Two of this research project's teachers were also from this school (six and nine). They both went out of their way to report how much they love their co-workers and administration. The two participants do plan together and share lessons, but it was apparent during the NOS unit that they do take liberties. At no time during this nine-week project did I see identical or even similar lessons. I have had previous opportunities to visit their classrooms in the previous school year and have usually seen identical activities within their classroom.

It would seem that the NOS unit was open to interpretation, whereas more traditional topics, such as force and motion or energy, were not. While *Participant Nine* did follow the prescribed curriculum map provided by the District, *Participant Six* took his own path. While this might be construed as a creative measure, it was not beneficial for the topics of NOS.

It was not uncommon, and, in fact, more typically the norm, that the *Lesson Essential Question* (LEQ) on the board was not related to the activities of the class. For instance, in one particular visit, the LEQ posted was "Why Do People Interchange the Terms Science and Technology?" The activity the students were doing included the use of laptops to complete a Frayer Diagram for three vocabulary words: experiment, inference, and investigation. Frayer Models are commonly used to teach vocabulary where students provide a definition, factor characteristic, examples and non-examples of the word. However, there was no follow-up to this activity to make connections between these terms. If the LEQ indicated knowing the difference

between investigation and experiment, this may have been an appropriate activity, but here too, without a debriefing to make connections, it is only speculation what knowledge students left the classroom with. Unfortunately, this practice – or lack thereof – seemed to be the norm rather than the exception.

On another visit, the LEQ posted was "How Does Scientific Knowledge Differ from Other Bodies of Knowledge?" Again, a seemingly-unrelated activity accompanied this question. Students spent the class time on a classic activity to determine one's reaction time by dropping and catching a ruler. While this activity could have related to the LEQ, no evidence was apparent this was the case. It was also discovered that this was the second day of this activity and the biggest point the teacher made was "If" and "Then" must be included in their written hypothesis on their lab report.

Based on previous visits to this classroom, I am confident that *Participant Six* is capable of being an effective teacher and believes passionately about providing a great learning environment for his students. When questioned about what the ideal science classroom should look like and the students' role within that classroom, he provided the following response:

"It needs to be engaging. It needs to be both interesting and relevant. Students can tell I care about their learning. The student has to be engaged. Students have to be responsible and become an active participant. In my particular Kagan training, I've seen better ways of doing that. I have become more of a facilitator and I check for understanding. Personally one of my strategies that I use is the think-pair-share to explain to them what this means and then they correct each other. We've also traded group to group so they all share their answers." It is clear that this participant has the capacity and training to be an effective teacher of all content, not just NOS. Unfortunately, he consistently missed opportunities for greater effectiveness and infusion of NOS, because he focused primarily on the Scientific Method. While his score on the *SUSSI* was higher than others, and within one standard deviation of the mean, perhaps he had not yet reached the threshold to have an adequate understanding of NOS. When asked about what themes are most important, the only thing he mentioned was about the scientific method.

Nature of science is a necessity right at the beginning. We have to get them to realize that science is a process. Every single lab we do we go through the major steps of the nature of science, scientific process, all that stuff.

Besides the scientific process, which I assume he understood to mean the scientific method, in later responses to questions, he also included statements about the teaching of observation and inferences. Furthermore, he mentioned the difference between observation and inferences as indicated on the District's curriculum maps, but I could find no evidence this topic was covered in any meaningful way during classroom instruction.

It was clear that the focus of this nine-week unit was the Scientific Method. He also included instruction about variables and how to write a hypothesis. It seemed the focus on the scientific method and variables was more about preparation for a science fair project than the broader scope of NOS. In contrast, the teacher with whom he co-planned did cover the material more appropriately. This teacher also felt he has the freedom to teach what and how he wants with no constraints from administration, District or the State.

My interpretation of *Participant Six* was that he is a good teacher who cares deeply for his students, yet demands action from his them. It was clear he placed much emphasis on the

scientific method. He was outspoken about how much he enjoyed the collegiality of co-planning and felt no constraints from it. He also felt quite free to teach the way he wants.

### Participant Seven.

*Participant Seven* was one of two participants possessing a PhD (Curriculum and Instruction). She, too, had credentials from a major university. Not surprisingly, both her *EBS* (148) and *SUSSI* (153) score were high. She now teaches at a new STEM Academy having just transferred from a nearby high school where I first met her. Her philosophy of teaching, as one might expect, was much different from *Participant Two* who held a PhD in the Biological Sciences.

*Participants seven's* score on the *EBS* (143) was only two points away from the closest person having a true science background and slightly above the mean. Her *SUSSI* score (153) was fourth to highest of the participants in *Phase Two*, but second highest for those with notable science backgrounds.

If there were ever a true constructivist among the participants, it would be *Participant Seven*. The STEM Academy where she teaches serves a poor population. Before the school took on the brand of STEM Academy, it was known to be a challenging school to work in. Despite these challenges, *Participant Seven* teaches her class in true constructivist fashion. "I am a facilitator. I just give them the tools that they need to learn," she recounted during an interview. "Teaching is like that, you have got to do it individually as much as you can."

This being her first year teaching at the Academy, she was not there to plan the first unit of the year. Moreover, it should be noted, the unit did not follow the District's curriculum maps. Despite this major difference from other participants, I decided to include her in Phase Two

anyway to see if and how she wove in aspects of NOS. As she explained, the unit focus was on aqueducts.

"The ending concept is how aqueducts and dams are both detrimental to society and also an advantage to society. That's a huge question."

From the broader discussion about the STEM project, she made it evident that she felt that science and the technology derive from and are interconnected with society. Though the relationship between technology, science, and society are separate from the construct of NOS, it nevertheless shows how this teacher connects scientific knowledge to relevant societal issues.

During this unit and all future units, she offered a unique approach to her teaching. "I'm going to try to run my classroom as if this is their job," she explained during one of the interviews. It was fascinating to watch as student took on the role of an engineer investigating both modern and historical uses, designs, and potentials problems of aqueducts. There was no lecture, only a few minutes of directions at the beginning of class. The students worked all period with their teams, with each student having an assigned role. The teacher circulated and helped as needed, usually answering students' questions with another question in an effort to help guide their thoughts. Her skill was masterful as she roamed the class, never having to raise her voice to focus students.

When asked about constraints to her teaching she offered the following:

I have to go with the curriculum established by the District, but there's lots of freedom. We do co-plan. Like aqueducts, [this] would not have been my choice of topics. That was chosen before I got here, but it is okay. I can work with it. Personally, I feel like I have a lot freedom because I have proven myself.

In terms of NOS, even though the unit did not fall within the District's curriculum, she made sure that NOS was embedded. For example, students were expected to think critically about how science can affect society and vice versa. "The nature of science is the foundation of scientific thinking. It is how society works into these different ideas," she explained during the interviews. She clearly had an understanding of NOS. When asked if there were other ways to teach NOS and what specific themes she thought were most important, she offered the following:

We could teach NOS by looking at Jane Goodall's work with the chimps... The students could pull apart parts of her method where Jane Goodall's methods follow only parts of the "scientific method" but still work, even though her methods were not "correct." The students realize the scientific method was not set in stone. In terms of what themes are most important, I think they are all important. The key is to determine which are more important in each setting. Not all equally important all the time.

My assessment of her classroom was that it was a dynamic venue where she provided learning opportunities to all students regardless of ability and learning style on a moment-bymoment basis. She was not afraid to allow students to explore; in fact, she seemed to revel in it. The planning of her lessons included her taking the content structure and then fitting it into a broader and more social/cultural context (e.g., Jane Goodall reference). Her focus was on scientific thinking and was far beyond the typical scientific method. She also felt few constraints with co-planning, state or district curriculum mandates.

#### Participant Eight.

*Participant Eight* had an *EBS* score that was equal to one other participant and tied her for third highest score (150). To differentiate the two participants, despite having similar scores, *Participant Eight* held the highest *SUSSI* score (154) of all *Phase Two* participants. *Participant Eight* holds a biology degree and has worked for many years as a scientist before starting her teaching career. *Participant Eight* teaches at one of the District's magnet schools that are known for high standards.

During every observation, this participant had her students working together. Her classroom is arranged like most others in our district, in quads. While the arrangement may be commonplace, it is rare that it is utilized to its maximum collaborative potential. Interviews of this participant revealed a constructivist mindset. To questions regarding what the best science classroom looks like in terms of the teacher and students, her response confirmed the observations.

The perfect classroom has smooth transitions between topics, smooth transitions in answering the questions and keeping the interests of everyone. The students should be engaged at whatever level they can be engaged at. In the perfect model classroom, students are giving me feedback and working with each other to help each other understand. The end goal of instruction is that students learn how to learn; eventually they can teach themselves and the instructor is a facilitator.

From the interviews and observational data, it was clear *Participant Eight* understood where she was going in terms of classroom practice. She readily admitted that sixth graders were not used to this much freedom and had been accustomed to much more structure and what she referred to as "spoon feeding." She acknowledged that, at the beginning of the year, she had held

the role of teacher, but, by the end of the year, this role had transformed into one of facilitator, as the students become more comfortable with *their* new role as learners. As she explained,

At the beginning of the school year I teach differently than at the end. I sort of feel the students out the first nine weeks. Then I adjust my teaching style. I want my role as a teacher to be a facilitator. By the end of the year with my sixth-graders I am that facilitator: it takes a while for them to transition.

In terms of NOS, she conveyed a firm belief in its importance and was one of the few who could carry on that conversation beyond the scientific method. When asked about how she taught different concepts of NOS, she included the following description.

"I bring in the moving of the continents (people thought the Earth was flat), the reversal of the poles (evidence in the sea floor that it has happened before), the Global Warming/Climate Change debate (evidence that the Earth has experienced multiple warming and cooling periods), the Universe –Big Bang-no big bang-expansion; multiple dimensions (new evidence constantly discovered through the study of space with bigger and better technology-telescopes). How scientists are constantly trying to explain the world around them-hence theories and laws. I explain that Newton's Law's work on Earth and they are Laws which cannot be disproven or proven; but that we also have never left Earth so we do not know if those laws work elsewhere."

Within the SUSSI survey, where it asked about theories and laws, she wrote:

Laws are subject to natural phenomena that govern our existing conditions where we live. Laws do not change-at least in our Earth-what goes up; must come down.

Theories change over time-for example the theory of Geocentric Solar System vs Heliocentric Solar system. The base of observed knowledge had to grow for that theory to change.

While it is obvious she has some knowledge of NOS, there are still gaps in her knowledge.

*Participant Eight* had one of the most intriguing *SUSSI* surveys. Having worked as a biologist, she held an understanding that science was a slow meticulous process. She also had high scores within the category regarding collaboration and peer review, hence the emphasis in her classroom.

While it is evident she had a good understanding of NOS and made an attempt to teach NOS, the only thing missing was the activities-based approach to make her instruction explicit-reflective. She readily admitted, when asked about specific activities used to teach these concepts that she did not know what I was talking about. This was unfortunate, as these activities are included on a resource site that provides suggested activities for every topic, including NOS. All science teachers within the School District have access to and are encouraged to utilize this site. Clearly her admission represents a failure of the district to educate teachers about the resources available to them. These NOS resources had become available the past school year.

In this case, institutional barriers to instruction were present to some degree, with new programs being instituted at her school, but *Participant Eight* had chosen to ignore them. "In my classroom, I do what I need to do with my kids," she replied with confidence.

Overall, *Participant Eight* had good student rapport, with respect being a recursive practice, as she helped them become young investigators. She gave clear directions, and students were able to mostly follow those directions. If students needed more explanation, she provided it in a respectful manner. She favored teaching students to love science along with its investigative

properties. She was averse to teaching the facts needed to pass the next test. Although she had constraints with new curriculum mandates that could affect her practice, she chose to ignore what did not contribute to her envisioned classroom environment. She seemed to favor the teaching of inquiry more than strictly concentrating on experiments. This diversity with regard to the methods of science added to students' understandings of this important distinction. She also favored making sure students were able to see the very best of science practices, thus helping, through emphasis on ethical behavior and the peer review (collaboration) process, students make connections with real-life applications of science. In my four visits to her classroom, I observed her doing most of the talking only once. In that situation, she was covering school procedures and rules, not science. In every other visit she was the facilitator, and her students were either doing labs or research for projects. She recently sent me an email to inform me that she was one of two teachers at her school scoring at the top of the District's new evaluation system. As the evaluation focused on constructivist practices, I was not surprised.

## Participant Nine.

*Participant Nine* teaches at the same school as *Participant Six*. Despite co-planning, which both participants noted as valuable, the difference in class practices during the NOS unit is dramatic. Similar to *Participant Eight*, *Participant Nine's* EBS score was 150, just on the verge of the one standard deviation mark. Her *SUSSI* score was 141, at the average of the group. Like *Participant Eight*, in her classroom she was clearly using practices associated with constructivism. She was also the first person that I witnessed doing an assignment that explicitly and reflectively addressed a specific NOS concept. However, in contrast to *Participant One* who used it explicitly, the reflection portion fell short, perhaps due to her limited NOS knowledge.

It was obvious from interviews and confirmed by observations that she viewed her role as a facilitator. Field notes illustrated how she was a master at asking students questions in response to their questions, thereby forcing students to come to their own understanding rather than her giving "The Answer."

Having students teach other students was another component of her teaching philosophy. I witnessed more than once how she had students explain concepts they had figured out to other students who had not. In her soft voice, she asked an obviously shy student to help out a neighbor. The feeling of student empowerment was obvious on the face of the student as *Participant Nine* later confirmed the transfer of knowledge had happened and thanked the students for helping.

Instruction must meet the individual learner at his/her style; the student must "own" the learning. Encouragement from the teacher promotes the ownership. "Give respect to get respect" works both ways. Let the kids know they are important and that their future is important to you. Make sure they know that their future is affected by academics. They tend to "buy in." They will try to meet you at least halfway.

Clearly, she had embraced constructivism in a general sense and in terms of NOS: here too I witnessed and heard encouraging things.

I've been doing "What is Science" the CONPTT; the pseudoscience activity. I also do the Slime Lab where I focus on observation and inference. For the tentativeness of science, they are accustomed to my asking them "Why" and "How are we supposed to know that!?"

*Participant Nine* was one of few teachers who could immediately list some of the NOS topics and had answers about how they were explicitly addressed.

In terms of any institutional restriction, *Participant Nine*, just as *Participant Six*, stated how much she liked the administration. "The Principal is awesome. He is really fantastic. As long as I stay within the safety guidelines I have never heard him say, 'yes' or 'no' to anything," she told me. Other constraints seem minimal and were usually viewed as positives.

We have been assigned PLC's. This means collaborating and planning together. We agree to follow the curriculum map. We each maintain responsibility for our students. I do everything in my power to do what is expected of me. I also recognize that there are times when I (think I) know my students and myself better than my superiors do. So, I do what I CAN to meet expectations of admin while doing what I feel best for kids.

Other restrictions to teaching she felt were the burdens of paperwork and endless testing by the District, which affected the time she had with her students.

*Participant Nine* was very in tune with her students. She tried hard and seemed to be very successful at anticipating their learning needs. She allowed them to explore rather than giving them the answer. She moderated the time constraints as much as possible. Her NOS instruction focused on making good observations, the steps in the scientific method, and knowing what is and is not science. She believed she had few (if any) teaching constraints from administration. Most constraints come in the form of missed opportunities because of mandatory testing or through the burden of paperwork that kept her from planning, preparing labs, or communicating with parents. From every observation and interview prompt, she clearly demonstrated all the qualities of a constructivist teacher.
#### Participant Ten.

*Participant Ten* was one of two rather unique participants. *Participant Ten* came from an elementary background and proclaimed to feel inferior because of a lack of science background. *Participant Ten*'s *EBS* score was 151, placing her as second highest out of the eleven *Phase Two* participants. Her score also placed her over one standard deviation from the mean. It is obvious from the survey score, as well as the interview and observations, that she placed great value on student's developing their own knowledge. While her *SUSSI* score of 140 placed her just slightly below the mean. Interviews and casual discussions confirmed a shortfall in NOS understandings, but what happened in her classroom made up for the shortcomings with regard to NOS knowledge.

I first met this participant last year when she participated in a pilot for a *Bring Your Own Device* initiative. During an observation, I was in awe as I watched her students interact and work independently using their own electronic devices. Those who did not have their own devices used supplied laptops. Student engagement was 100%, whether doing the formative assessment via texting or continuing work on their projects. Even more profound than the classroom interaction was the students' achievement. At the end of the year, she administered a released State exam. Her sixth grade students, without having had seventh grade Life Science or eighth grade Earth Science, scored twice the school average. Science shortcomings or not, few could argue with her success in the classroom.

In *Participant Ten*'s classroom, there were no lectures or long-winded PowerPoints. It was the students who did the work, guided by a masterful facilitator.

"A lot of people think that the successful classroom is completely silent. I don't agree. I like to do a lot of hands-on and activities that require them to get up and move around. Students become more independent of their own learning and you become more of the moderator so to speak not moderator.... what's the word I'm looking for? Facilitator."

It is obvious she had a lot of CRISS trainings (that she had reported in casual conversations before and after classes) to the point that those strategies were second nature. CRISS is an acronym for (**CR**eating **I**ndependence through **S**tudent-owned **S**trategies) aimed at helping teaching students how to learn. Within every lesson I have ever observed, including some that extend to a previous year, there were always multiple activities used that engage the students in collaborative talk or writing exercises to challenge students to think about their thinking.

During the interviews, I felt bad for asking questions about the importance she placed on NOS, what it should look like in the classroom, and how they were included in her lessons. After a few no responses, she came back with the following, "When you say 'nature of science,' what are you talking about?" Clearly the term and its deeper connotations were not familiar despite being the unit topic for the nine weeks. From the interview, it seemed unlikely that NOS would be present within her instruction, but that was not the case. Though she lacked knowledge about NOS in a formal sense, she had one of the most impressive activities of all the participants that involved NOS.

As I began the day's observation, I quickly noticed a whiteboard displaying past, present and future activities. One particular activity was an instructional model that resembles SSI in that it requires students to use argumentation skills. Developed by the Florida Department of Education, Just Read, Florida! office, this strategy is called the Comprehensive Instructional

Sequence; students analyze complex text and then summarize and make inference from the text. Teachers could choose any text they wanted, from articles on the Internet to their textbook. The text she had chosen was one that I had provided to teachers about how science can be both rigid and flexible. The article covered the methods of science from hypothesis to theories and laws.

During another observation she was using an article about music piracy. The students analyzed the provided data, researched more data and drew conclusions based on their findings. As the conversation was wrapping up, she was able to draw the students to the realization that there was not a conclusive answer to the posed problem. She made the point that, this, too happens in science. When I questioned her about this after class, it was apparent that this train of thinking came from her broader epistemological beliefs and not knowledge of NOS, as she seemed again confused about NOS. It was interesting that it seemed to be more her understanding of how general knowledge was constructed that encouraged the classroom discussion and not her awareness that this is often how science knowledge is constructed with its often tentative nature.

In terms of constraints, she claimed there were no immediate constraints on her teaching. "Tve always had the flexibility to be creative in my lessons, except when I was in a structured program like reading," she replied. *Participant Ten* went on to include that it was only resources that dictate her classroom practice. If she had more science equipment, she claimed she would do more hands-on science.

While knowledge of NOS concepts may be lacking, *Participant Ten* was able to include some of these concepts, either by choosing resources that were offered to her or by her personal epistemological beliefs. In terms of what should be expected in a classroom in terms of

constructivist practices, she would have a model classroom. One can only speculate what her classroom would like if she had some training in NOS.

#### Participant Eleven.

*Participant Eleven* is perhaps the most interesting case of all the total 28 participants, both in survey responses and classroom actions. Far and away, he held top honors with the highest EBS score (162) for *Phase Two* participants, ten points higher than *Participant Ten*. While one might question this high score as an aberration, from interviews and observations it was well deserved. On the flip side, his knowledge of NOS and perhaps science itself made for an interesting dynamic in the classroom. His score on the *SUSSI* survey (130) indicated his understanding of NOS was not on par with his personal epistemological beliefs. Some categories within the SUSSI survey were extremely low, especially the area pertaining to the methods of science.

From the first interview, it was clear that his *EBS* score was a true representation of his beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction. He truly believed that students need to create their own knowledge. When asked what the classroom of the best science teacher would look like, he did not hesitate with the following answer.

No tables, no desks, no chairs. I would imagine all the students were there wearing lab coats, they were wearing goggles and they were all doing. They were listening to the teacher for direction, but they were all teaching themselves.

From the survey, as well as the observations, he held true to his beliefs. During my first observation his class was in the computer lab researching ideas for their science fair projects. The students had clear parameters for their research.

They were charged with finding a topic, locating information relating to their topic that may help them carry out their experiment, drafting a hypothesis statement, including all information into a presentation, and saving it onto the school server. The students worked independently and seemed to do a fine job. The teacher circulated, looking over shoulders, making sure everyone was doing okay. I left that day feeling pretty good about the instruction. My second visit I found the students again in the computer lab finishing up the assignment. By the pace of the progress of the students, I became concerned that these students had been in the computer lab many times in between my visits and doing little more than working on a science fair project. It was more typical that science fair projects were started in school, but the bulk of the work was done at home or after school. With my curiosity piqued, the third visit proved the most interesting.

Nearly seven weeks after the first visit, students were still working on science fair projects, but this surprise went beyond timelines. The students received their instructions, which came in the form of a puppet show the teacher performed. Using a puppet with a Scottish accent, he explained the parts of the science fair board. The students were mesmerized, as was I. He was certainly not the typical science teacher. As I further probed his background through casual conversations, I found out he was a theatre major. This detail might explain what came next.

The puppet lecturette explained not just how the board was to be laid out, but also the proper technique for painting the board. At this point I could hardly believe what I was hearing and seeing. Paint brushes were handed out, and painting smocks adorned. The students spent this and the next class period painting the background of their board. As this school had just received a D by the State, it was hard to believe valuable class time was taken up with painting techniques, not to mention, I had not seen or found evidence of NOS instruction, outside the scientific method and variables. It was now clear why he was unable to respond to any question

about NOS in a coherent fashion. When asked about how much freedom he has to teach the way he wants, he replied:

I think it's almost encouraged because I'm at an art school and I'm in sixth grade so I'm not I'm not really tested on the FCAT. We are given as much freedom as we want so long as that it's a positive learning environment and they are improving their test scores. BUT...the word of the school is, if I don't get these test scores up, I'll lose my job.

From the EBS scores and interviews, it was clear that *Participant Eleven* embraced the notion of constructivism. I found students working in groups and independently on projects, but unfortunately those projects were not involving the topics associated with NOS. Unfortunately, the truth behind the *SUSSI* score was revealed. I was able to find no evidence of NOS instruction beyond the scientific method and much classroom time was spent on non-science items. It would seem the entire nine week period to cover a host of topics, was limited to the scientific method and how it applies to the science fair project.

#### The Researcher.

As mentioned earlier, the dual role of researcher and administrator had implications to affect the observations and interviews. In all but two cases, the researcher had known the participants for at least five years and some as much as ten years. In the other two cases, the researcher had a good rapport with the school principal who approached the participant on the researcher's behalf. Throughout the research, great care was taken to separate these two roles as much as possible, but acknowledge that some affects were present, but believe the affects to be minimal to the outcomes of this research.

These relationships between the researcher and participants built over these years by way of interaction and various settings from trainings to many weeks spent together while building the District's curriculum. In many ways, the trust established through the years of working collaboratively on the various District projects or time spent together during trainings afforded the research with honesty between participants and researcher. This same level of honesty may not have been forthcoming without this established trust. The participants seemed at no time constrained about speaking about the day to day struggles of the modern classroom. This trust was continually confirmed as the researcher made sure to mention during any discussion that these words will not be repeated to any direct supervisor.

During the classroom observations, the participants were always eager to know what the researcher thought about their instruction. This eagerness to please may have been present regardless of the role of the observer. The typical response included a statement about this research is looking at overall choices the participants makes during this NOS unit and the relationship to their epistemological beliefs, not was this a good or bad lesson. If teachers were choosing to teach NOS, it was their version of NOS, which provided more observational opportunities.

In almost every case, the teachers had 24 hours' notice before the observations. This served two purposes. First, it gave the teachers advanced warning so that visits were less threatening. Second, and most important, the researcher was able to schedule visits more effectively by making sure science instruction would take place. Many times observations were not possible do to scheduled testing or some other non-science activity (e.g., nurse lessons, assemblies, etc.). Only once was the researcher told not to come on a day when science

instruction would take place as the participant (*Participant Five*) felt the activity would not fall into the category the researcher was investigating.

Overall, the researcher's role as administrator was diminished do to pre-existing relationships with most participants. If there was some affect from the role of administrator, it was not noticeable and held in check with the various reminders of the researcher role to hold information private, especially from their immediate supervisor.

#### **Profile Conclusions.**

Overall, interesting trends emerged from this group of participants. From the epistemological beliefs surveys, a strong trend emerged about this relationship. While interesting, the more complex nature of how these beliefs affected practice could have escaped notice without the interviews and observations. Table 10 provides an overview of the research findings about participants' epistemological beliefs, purported constraints to instruction and type of instructional practice (decontextualizes or contextualized). For example, Participant One focused solely on one facet of NOS isolated from other related facets. This lack of contextualization of learning separates the learning of basic knowledge from the bigger picture. In contrast, *Participant Nine* placed her NOS instruction within the context of a large setting where students were looking at a data and trying to determine a solution. NOS instruction was inserted into this context when question were presented to students about the certainty of knowledge given the provided information. Participant Ten, was the only teacher who provided both contextualized and decontextualized instruction of NOS. These were the only three candidates that had a NOS-COP score above the minimum. Even these three participants were limited in their NOS instruction, so though it was observed, the amount was minimal.

As many teachers ventured into more traditional content during this timeframe or used traditional content as a backdrop for teaching NOS, an additional column has been included to describe the types of instruction noted during this instruction. It is included here to provide a richer understanding of the participants and their practice. The categories used to distinguish types of instruction were positivist 1, positivist 2 and constructivist. Differences between the strictly teacher-centered activities of the positivist 1 category were distinguished from positivist 2 by the use of hands-on activities. Criteria distinguishing positivist 2 from constructivist were more qualitative in nature and rested in whether students were expected to come to their own understandings versus being told information or asked to confirm an authoritative answer. For example, a teacher providing instruction using didactic methods would be classified as positivist 1 with regard to instructional style. A teacher employing hands-on activities was classified as at minimum, positivist 2. For a teacher to be categorized as constructivist required a qualitative difference beyond merely using hands-on activities toward one that required students to be involved in the choices made during inquiry, such as designing the experiment, choosing variables, methods to analyze data, and making their own conclusions based upon collected data.

For the types of NOS instruction and its categorization, a similar theme occurred, but since there were few participants who taught NOS, the categories are less robust in terms of differences. Similar to categories used for practice and skills or more traditional content, NOS was divided into two broad, but quite distinct groups. The positivist group, which consisted of one participant (Participant One), taught NOS in a very teacher centered manner, where she gave "THE" answer after students filled out a worksheet on a NOS topic covering the differences between science and pseudoscience. The only other participants that could be considered to have taught NOS (i.e., Participant Nine & Ten) used a much more student-centered approach where

students were discussing answers and challenged to think and explain about the situation being posed in relationship to how science knowledge is constructed.

The table below (Table 10) also includes the SUSSI scores for comparison purposes. Though these scores were not used in the categorization of teachers, it seemed prudent to rank their scores to compare their relative position against the types of practices employed. Though the range of SUSSI scores was relatively small at 29 points, there were statistical differences (S.D. = 10.8) between the participants. Given the potential range of the survey of 160 points as 40 would be considered the lowest possible score, there was an 18% difference in points between the lowest scoring participant and the highest. Given this difference in relative scores as compared to types of NOS practice proved interesting. A more robust explanation and examples of teacher's choices regarding methods of instruction are provided in the section that examines research question 1c.

### Research Question 1b - In what ways does the co-occurence between understandings of NOS and personal epistemological beliefs affect the importance teachers place on NOS?

All participants either explicitly stated within interviews (See Table 11) or indicated in some way during casual conversations the importance of NOS instruction. All indicated that, in some manner, NOS can improve the learning of science content. Unfortunately, teachers conflated the practice and skills of science with the knowledge construction component commonly referred to as NOS (Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik, 2002). It was made clear within the interviews: teachers believed that "some version of NOS" served as a foundation for the learning of science.

Table 10

**Overview of Participants** 

Participant	NOS	Inst	ructio	nal	Cons	straint	s		Pra	actic	e
	Knowledge	Тур	e								
Ranked from Low to High According to EBS Survey	SUSSI Score	Contextualized	Decontextualized	Standards	District	Testing	School Admin	Peers	Length of Class Time	NOS	Traditional Content
One (128)	125		Х			Х	Х	Х	Х	Р	P2
Two (131)	146			Х	Χ	Х				Ν	P2
										А	
Three (131)	137									N A	P1
Four (131)	129								X	N	P2
										Α	
Five (131)	134						Х	Х		N A	P2
Six (143)	142				Х	Х				Ν	P2
										А	
Seven (148)	153									Ν	С
										А	
Eight (150)	154						Х			Ν	С
										А	
Nine (150)	154		Х							С	С
Ten (151)	140	Х	Х			Х			Х	С	С
Eleven (162)	130									Ν	С
										Α	

P1 = Positivist 1 style instruction with no hands-on component

P2 = Positivist 2 style with some hands-on components, but typically conformational in nature. Students mimic teacher.

C = Constructivist with hands-on components where students have the freedom to manipulate their own variables, analyze data, and develop their own conclusions.

NA = Not applicable as it was either not directly observed or evidence of its instruction was not evident via collected artifacts.

Table 11

Participants	Importance of NOS
One	I think it is as important [as more traditional content] in
	ability to be insightful is limited.
Four	Nature science has been has been one of my key topics
	as most major assessments include the scientific
	method are scientific inquiry questions
Five	They need to know what science is before they can
	learn anything else. [Teaching NOS] needs to be done.
	They need to know what science is before they can
	learn anything else. The con is to get hung up on things
	like variables.
Nine	I don't feel we can teach them anything in science if
	they don't understand the basics. If they don't
	understand how it's done. The nature of science is how
	it comes together why.

Importance of NOS within Instruction

Table 11 provides examples of how participants believe NOS was a foundational requirement for students to enable them to comprehend traditional content. Most participants held a view supporting the importance of NOS; what differed among the participants was their interpretation of NOS. Table 12 provides samples from participant interviews to give clarity about their interpretations of what they believe to be NOS.

Unfortunately, knowledge and importance can be blurred, as teachers were mostly unable to differentiate NOS from the practice and skills needed for science. Table 13 provides evidence about how most participants referred to the practices and skills as foundational components or the scientific method and not the NOS constructs this research was investigating. Neither the importance teachers place on NOS nor their understanding of NOS was enough to cause teachers to consider it integral science content, if the presence within instruction is any proxy. Classroom observations also supported the conclusion that most teachers emphasized the

scientific method rather than NOS as only three of the eleven participants included NOS

concepts into their instruction.

Table 12

#### Teacher Interpretations of NOS

Participants	Comments
One	The nature of science confuses me so I tried to teach all the components that
	I think that are important. I teach what is in the curriculum maps. I use
	examples that I feel are relevant to our city, county, state, and country. I try
	to guide the students to 'see' how scientists think or should think and how
	they might apply that to our studies and beyond the classroom.
Three	though I always tried to emphasize guys this is really performing one of the
	steps in the scientific method or scientific inquiry because I emphasize both
	of the differences between them. It's important that they understand the steps
Four	Nature of science has been has been one of my key topics as most major
	Nature science is applied almost all year
Participant	Teaching NOSI needs to be done. They need to know what science is before
Five	they can learn anything else. The con is to get hung up on things like
Tive	variables
Six	I value it quite a bit because everything we do focuses on the process of
	scientific evaluation.
Seven	the nature of science is the foundation the scientific thinking the scientific
	method how society works into these different actual ideas
Eight	I don't think they can understand the way that scientists work or the way the
	scientists arrive at anything without knowing how to do it.
	I try to promote the type of thinking process that leads to invention and
	inquiry.
Nine	I don't feel we can teach them anything in science if they don't understand
	the basics, if they don't understand how it's done. The nature of science is the
<b></b>	procedures the pieces or parts of how it comes together and why.
1 en	w nen you say nature science, what are you talking about?
Eleven	It's part of everything. I would never stop teaching that, it would be every
	day.

For example, *Participant Eleven*, despite having a very low score compared to the other participants on the SUSSI, felt it was very important. Unfortunately, he never ventured away from the scientific method at any time within the NOS unit. During every observation spread over the nine weeks, Participant Eleven's students were preparing their science fair projects and focused on the scientific method. In this unique case, his EBS score was the highest of the Phase *Two* participants, yet his *SUSSI* score was quite low in comparison. While his practice was almost exclusively student-centered as one might envision from a high score on the EBS survey, the SUSSI score and the lack of knowledge about NOS was obvious within his instruction. In contrast, *Participant One* indicated in the interview that she was confused about NOS topics despite having a bachelor's degree in a semi-related field. Her SUSSI scores were similar to Participant Eleven, but unlike Participant Eleven, she received a low score on the EBS survey. Despite this confusion and a low *EBS* score, she put forth her best effort to teach NOS through some of the ENSI activities as she made every attempt to follow the District's curriculum. From observations and interviews, it was obvious her personal epistemological beliefs were commensurate with her practice. The instructional style was teacher-centered, not studentcentered, and not explicit-reflective as would be hoped. From Participant One's own words, "I try to teach all the components that I think that are important," illustrates the difference between how she may perceive her role during more traditional content (e.g. light, motion, etc.), "a facilitator-director," and how that is different from when she covers the NOS unit. It is also obvious from this statement (See Table 13) and others in the interview that she does what she is told by the State, District or school administration. While it is clear she holds NOS as an important even though she may not have a good understanding of the construct, at the very least she makes every effort to help her students understand it. Unfortunately, the lack of knowledge

about NOS caused difficulties, so too may her personal epistemological beliefs. The influence of epistemological beliefs, both scientific and personal, will be discussed further later in a discussion of *Research Question 1c*.

#### **Knowledge Versus Importance of NOS.**

In other cases, where teachers had the knowledge to teach NOS, there was still no guarantee it would be taught, despite the implied importance by State and District mandates. From previous research, it is well known that adequate understandings of NOS do not necessarily influence practice or the importance placed on NOS (Abd- El-Khalik et al., 1998). In other words, when teachers choose to teach NOS, it is this choice that is important indicator of how they value NOS. It is not a matter of merely holding adequate understandings of NOS. For example, *Participant Two* holds a PhD in the field of genetics. He spent many years practicing his craft at the university level and has an intimate knowledge of NOS as evidenced from the fact that he can recite the NOS features included within the District's Curriculum Maps and is able to give examples from within his field. Despite this knowledge, he chooses not to focus on NOS beyond the scientific method. In this case, I surmise that this participant did not internalize the importance of NOS for students, as it is this internalization that is responsible for it to become translated into action (Bell et al., 2000). While what he understands that NOS played a major role during his prior role as a researcher discovered through the interviews, it may not be what he feels is necessary for his students. From the interviews and observations, there is a distinction between what he has done in the field of science research and his classroom practice. At no time was there discussion of major inquiry activities that he clearly had the capacity to undertake with his students. This interpretation is further supported by his rather disparate scores on the EBS and *SUSSI*. As one might expect from a PhD in the science field, his SUSSI survey score was relatively high and supported through interviews. In contrast, his *EBS* score was second to lowest. As he notes no other constraints to his instruction, it is unclear what else could be a factor of how he chooses to teach or not teach NOS other than views about knowledge acquisition that are more positivist than constructivist.

#### Summary.

As expected, a lack of NOS knowledge can be a barrier to NOS instruction, but knowledge does not equal importance with regard to students learning about NOS. In the case of these eleven participants, there were many who struggled with a knowledge of NOS and conflated it with the practice and skills of science. In terms of knowledge of NOS, it was participants 2, 6, 7, 8, & 9 who had some knowledge of NOS as defined by the generally accepted list of seven NOS tenets (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 1998). Whether or not this knowledge existed from previous coursework or from being placed in the Curriculum Maps is uncertain. Unfortunately, of these five who possessed adequate knowledge, it was only reflected in three of the classrooms during my visits. What was hopeful was that *Participant One*, with her low NOS score, tried to explicitly addresses the concepts, but, from what I observed, she was held back by her own lack of understanding.

In summary, there existed some evidence that the types of practice observed and epistemological beliefs. There was also some contrast between those who understood and attempted to teach NOS and those who focused entirely on the scientific method. Given that those participants with deficits in NOS understandings, based on the *SUSSI* and interview data, struggled to teach NOS, there may be some threshold of knowledge necessary to effectively

teach NOS. In general, those participants with *SUSSI* scores below 140 and *EBS* Survey scores below 148 did not teach NOS other than the scientific method or taught it in a positivist manner. The results confirm the notion that knowledge of NOS was not enough to instill importance in these participants. Even among teachers with higher SUSSI scores, representing better understanding of NOS, none provided the essential NOS instruction called for by the District's Curriculum Maps. Given this information about knowledge, constraints and epistemological beliefs, those with higher SUSSI scores who did not teach NOS may not have had the Pedagogical Content Knowledge to teach the concept of NOS.

# Research Question 1c - In what ways does the co-occurrence between understandings of NOS and personal epistemological beliefs affect the classroom activities during NOS instruction?

As mentioned earlier, epistemological beliefs can provide an understanding of a teacher's practice: they can guide instructional decisions, influence classroom management, and serve as a lens for understanding classroom events (e.g., Jones & Carter, 2007; Pajares, 1992; Richardson, 1996). Research regarding epistemological beliefs has revealed that beliefs do affect teacher practices (e.g., Hashweh, 1996; Tsai, 2002; Kang & Wallace, 2004; Yerrick, Parke, & Nugent, 1997). In fact, epistemological beliefs are believed to play a major role in determining classroom practice (Benson, 1989). Table 14 was created to provide examples of how teachers believe they are teaching NOS through the use of the activities they have chosen. Participants' answers provided in Table 13 were derived from responses to questions regarding the extent to which NOS is taught (e.g., reasons for teaching, pros and cons, how it is valued, factors impacting

instruction, etc.). Responses indicate confusion as to what is, and what is not NOS, as they

answered questions about their teaching of NOS.

Table 13

Participant Responses About NOS Activities

Participants	Participant Comments	Researcher Comments
One	I always coming back to always reminding	Response illustrates some
	them about	confusion as to what is and what is
	Predicting. What's our hypothesis? I use a	not NOS. She references an activity
	lot of worksheets. For example, Sunsets and	that corresponds to science versus
	Souls from the University of Indiana. I do a	pseudoscience, which is NOS, but
	cartoon about how you proceed through	then mentions the scientific
	solving a problem using the steps of the	method, which is not NOS.
	scientific method and try to go over the	
	CONPPT ideas.	
Two	Sometimes I do a project or lab work on and	Response illustrates he has an idea
	give them some latitude design	of what is NOS, but when asked
	we talked about the method in the scientific	what he does to teach it, practice
	method your design an experiment is	and skills are all that are
	updated pick three different balls of three	mentioned.
	different heights you get the information	
	that satisfies the scientific method.	
	but if you just put the acientific method	
	as the nature of science. I'm not sure totally	
	belongs there	
	belongs there.	
	In the beginning we talk about certain	
	scientists	
Three	if looking at the difference between theory	Responses indicate confusion
Thee	and law I certainly make sure they	between NOS and the Practice and
	understand the process of going from the	Skills of Science, Also, the
	point of the hypothesis to the theory and	response specific to NOS with
	then to a law.	regard to hypothesis, theory and
		law demonstrates an inadequate
	Absolutely, I include the steps of the	understanding of at least this NOS
	scientific method into the lab reports they	tenet.
	did at the end of the class.	

Table 13

Participants	Participant Comments	Researcher Comments
(Continued)		
Four	Last year, when teaching how to build a	Response indicates some confusion
	circuit. The students had to come up with a question that involved these materials. They	bands on science and the NOS
	duestion that involved those materials. They had to develop their hypothesis with the	tands-off science and the NOS
	real of actting the light hulb to light	the mandated aurriculum
	goar of getting the right-build to right.	the mandated curriculum.
	I've done the airplane lab.	
Five	For the lab part the scientific method, it is	Response indicates that no NOS
	explicit. The other types of things are	activities have been done.
	implicit. Honestly, have mostly just talked	
	about that [referring to NOS]. I mostly just	
	touch on it and give examples, (this year,	
	they watched videos of scientists at work	
	gathering data, making observations, etc.	
	and we talked about what they were doing.	
Six	We have to get them to realize different to	Response indicates confusion
	realize that science is a process. Every	between the scientific method and
	single lab we do we go through the major	NOS
	steps of the nature of science scientific	
	process.	
Eight	The most important thing is that they know	Response indicates confusion about
	those steps because we are going into the	the difference between the
	science projects, but I also teach it will be	scientific method and NOS
	teach about laws and theories. Also talk	
	about that religion is a belief system and	
	science is not	
Nine	I've been doing "What is Science (compared	Response indicated his participant
	to pseudoscience)."	had knowledge of NOS, what was
		required to be taught, and was
<b>T</b>		teaching it.
Ien	I hings definitely changed here with the 45	Response indicates an emphasis on
	minutes of class time, especially when	nands-on as it applies to the
	you re trying to do hands-on and you re	practice and skills rather than an
	trying to go through the steps [of the	NOS specific activity.
	scientific method] in a 45 minute class.	

Participant Responses About NOS Activities (Continued)

Table 13

Participants	Participant Comments	Researcher Comments
(Continued)		
Eleven	brought in their own matchbox cars were going to weight the vehicles and then we used different heights of the ramp we use a science verbal or in some textbooks and then we use stopwatch and they were calculating the vehicle speed and of course the ones that the reason they had to weigh them in it was to find out about the force and we talked about the car accident and I think they will perceive that it or how the of the variables one or two different variables that we use the scientific method and how to approach experiment.	This response indicates confusion about the difference between NOS and the scientific method. It also shows how this participant was not following the District's pacing guidelines.

Participant Responses About NOS Activities (Continued)

While the original sorting of teachers in Phase I was based on standard deviations from the Epistemological Belief Survey mean score, this was not meant to predict classroom practice, but helps in the comparing and contrasting of participants.

To better describe teacher practice, a table was created (See Table 14) to represent the relative position of participants according to epistemological belief scores and the types of practice they most commonly employed. Keeping with the emergent methodology of this research, commonalities arose between the participants with regard to their classroom practice. The range of classroom practice ranged from no hands-on to the use of very student-centered high levels of inquiry. Within this range were distinct clusters of classroom practices. It was these distinct clusters that were used to develop the categories that classify teacher practice. In all cases, these practices were observed first hand. Artifacts were used only to enhance the understandings gained from direct observation as some activities may span multiple days when the researcher may not have been present.

It is important to convey a caveat about using the epistemological beliefs survey with relation to teacher practice. The epistemological beliefs survey assesses beliefs about the construction of knowledge. It does not predict teacher practice based on these scores. It is used here to look at potential relationships only, not as a predictor and does not suggest it as a predictive tool.

Using data from classroom observation and also classroom artifacts when applicable, types of practice were classified. Two of the teachers performed no hands-on activities of any kind, and the classification of positivist 1 evolved reflecting the teacher's actions of ultimate authority holder. Participant Three exemplified this position with his choice of classroom activities. A typical class period involved a lecture from a PPT while students copied notes directly from the PPT. At no time was evidence found or discussed where students engaged in hands-on practices or even a small activity using manipulates. All information was provided to students via the PPT. The other two categories were then reflective of the use of hands-on activities. There again was a dichotomous differentiation as to how these activities were carried out. The positivist 2 classification had students mimic the teacher's actions, following directions in a systematic manner in order to confirm what the students had already been told. Participant *Two* serves as an exemplar for this category. This participant would speak at great length about what scientists do to investigate questions to the point that directions were provided to the students about what they were going to do, even down to what would happen as a result of their action. This emphasis on the teacher providing all the answers left little room for students to construct their own knowledge. The third category, also including hands-on activities, required students to utilize their own creativity in either designing their own activity or analyzing and constructing their own conclusion based on their data. An example of this type of instruction is

best examined through an activity Participant Nine had her students do. Instead of having students follow a scripted set of instructions, she had her students develop their own question and hypothesis. They then designed their own experiment to test their hypothesis, collect and analyze their data and construct conclusions based on their findings. Throughout this activity the instructor asked questions rather than providing answers as the students grappled with the task. While this exemplar provides a counter-balance to the other forms of instruction that were observed (Positivist 1 & 2), it still does not include what should, or could, be present in terms of NOS. Participant Nine, being one of the three who included any form of explicit NOS instruction. She was the only participant who had NOS-COP scores above the minimum ratings during the research period, as most did not teach what is typically thought of as NOS. The majority of participants only taught what they perceived as NOS, or, in the other two cases where NOS was taught, it was either extremely brief or taught in a manner that most would consider lecture. It is for this reason a greater emphasis was placed on field notes rather than the NOS-COP. It should be noted that instruction for all participants was mostly implicit in terms of NOS tenets and much focus on the scientific method itself. Only Participant One and Participant Nine explicitly targeted NOS tenets through the use of specific activities. Only Participant Nine used those activities in a manner to mirror preferred practices (e.g. explicit-reflective).

It is here another caveat should be placed. The categories in many cases represent more a release of responsibilities from teacher to student more than best practices for teaching what most would consider NOS. The teachers were teaching what they thought was NOS or provided activities they felt would cover the NOS benchmarks. Also, teachers taught numerous lessons and not all lessons were the same. Timing also did not permit seeing all lessons. It is the fact that

every classroom was observed multiple times during the research period that provides evidence to at least make tentative claims about practice during the NOS unit.

#### Table 14

EBS/NOS vs. Prac	ctice Type		
Participant	(EBS/SUSSI)	Practice	
Participant 1	128/125	Positivist 1	
Participant 2	131/146	Positivist 2	
Participant 3	131/137	Positivist 1	
Participant 4	131/129	Positivist 2	
Participant 5	131/134	Positivist 2	
Participant 6	143/142	Positivist 2	
Participant 7	148/153	Constructivist	
Participant 8	150/154	Constructivist	
Participant 9	150/141	Constructivist	
Participant 10	151/140	Constructivist	
Participant 11	162/130	Constructivist	

P1 = Positivist style instruction with no hands-on component

P2 = Positivist with some hands-on components, but typically conformational in nature. Students mimic teacher.

C = Constructivist with hands-on components where students have the freedom to manipulate their own variables, analyze data, and develop their own conclusions.

#### **Positivist style instruction.**

The distinctions in types of practices were quite evident. Teachers were consistent in their

instruction methods as that taught what they felt was NOS. Additionally, teachers' beliefs

according to survey scores closely mirrored their choices for instruction methods. Lower scores

on the epistemological beliefs surveys, or those with more positivist views, were mostly

represented by non-constructivist (or more positivist) approaches to teaching.

For example, *Participants One and Three*, each with lower *EBS* scores were categorized as using a more positivist instructional style. They were observed to lecture more and focus on the facts of science (e.g., definitions, formulas and the scientific method).

*Participant Three* was more typical of someone with more positivist beliefs and instructional methodologies. *Participant Three* employed a more didactic technique, relying on information transfer. Though he mentioned hands-on activities as the practice his students preferred to learn and the manner from which they learned best, there was no evidence of handson activities. If hands-on activities did exist, they apparently were infrequent. In the case of *Participant Three*, his *SUSSI* score (137) was higher than his *EBS* score, yet his activities were similar with regard to style and far more limited in terms of NOS than *Participant One*.

*Participant One* had the lowest *EBS* score and a low *SUSSI* score. She readily admitted to confusion about NOS. Though NOS activities were completed, the method of instruction was more teacher-centered, with the activity treated as another worksheet with correct answers eventually given by the teacher. Unfortunately, the lack of NOS knowledge seemed to limit her within NOS activities.

#### **Positivist 2 methods.**

Positivist 2 methods are marked by the use of hands-on activities and are emergent at best with regards to the pedagogical stance between positivist and constructivist. Clearly, hands-on activities do not equate to constructivist practices. Hands-on practices that were observed with a higher level of inquiry level above "cookbook" or conformational lab, where students took on more responsibility were reserved for the constructivist designation. *Participant Four* was another participant with a similar score on the *EBS* as *Participant Two*, *Three*, and *Five* (but

lower on the *SUSSI*). She employed hands-on activities in a far greater numbers. Although her activities were limited to the scientific method, they were present. The same case could be made for *Participant Five*.

One group with scores in the mid-range of the *Phase Two* participants (*Two, Four Five,* & *Six*) was more positivist 2, sometimes using a hands-on activity, but not to its fullest extent. Instead, the participants kept control by having students mimic their actions as opposed to letting students have the freedom to make choices about the investigation. The reason some participants struggled to get past this positivist 2 stage is unclear.

The teacher (*Participant Two*) with a lower epistemological belief gave students a lengthy description of how variables could be manipulated within a limited range of options. Students needed to do little more than mimic the teacher to perform the experiment correctly. In the latter situation, the class was mostly taken up by the lengthy lecture with little time left for the hands-on activity. In this case it was the attempt at applying hands-on activities that differentiates the teacher from a positivist 1 categorization.

#### **Constructivist methods.**

To illustrate the difference between positivist 2 and constructivist, *Participant Two* with his lower epistemological beliefs (131/146) can be contrasted with *Participant Nine* who held higher epistemological beliefs (150/141). Like *Participant Two*, *Participant Nine* had students do a nearly identical activity in which they designed their own investigation. *Participant Nine* provided students more freedom to choose variables and write their own procedures (*Participant Nine*). Furthermore, this teacher used questioning techniques rather than giving students answers in an attempt to help guide their progress. *Participant Nine* also emphasized constructing

knowledge from the data, collaboration, repetition and replication of data. *Participant Two*, in contrast, focused more on the steps of the scientific method, with the importance of repetition left to chance.

Overall, data may suggest a potential trend of increasing constructivist activities with higher EBS scores. Again, it is not suggested that the Epistemological Beliefs Instrument can or should be used as a predictive tool. This research did have the limitation of not mandating lessons. Given the freedom for teacher's to choose lessons and the fact they all had diverse backgrounds of both science and pedagogy to teach, it is admittedly difficult to make any broad claims about these relationships. Those participants with *EBS* scores closer toward the upper range of epistemological beliefs (*Participants Seven* through *Eleven*) were more student oriented, and they included more hands-on and inquiry activities (See Table 14).

Research has shown that these same epistemological beliefs affect **how** NOS is taught (Gallagher, 1991). This was certainly the case within this group of participants. Those with low scores on the *SUSSI* either did not teach NOS or it was limited to the scientific method. For those who taught NOS, the quality of that instruction as judged by whether it was constructivist, positivist 2 or positivist 1 methodologies, may have been reflective of their EBS scores.

### **Research Question 1d - What other factors are responsible for influencing the choices teachers make about classroom instruction?**

Effects on classroom instruction are multi-faceted in that typically no single thing controls the choices teachers make about teaching NOS. Certainly, teachers themselves need to possess adequate understandings of NOS. Teachers must also feel NOS to be an important part of science instruction. Both these conditions can be thought of as teacher's internal affordances to NOS instruction, but there are also external stimuli that can affect instructional practice. These situational and institutional barriers constraints typically include: pressure to cover content, classroom management skills, constraints imposed by cooperating teachers, beliefs about students, etc. Using observational data, formal interview and casual discussions with teachers during this research, potential trends emerged as to common institutional barriers. Table 15 provides an overview as to what the constraints to instruction were as well as which participants believed they faced these constraints.

Although some teachers mentioned a number of constraints, in most cases, constraints were acknowledged to be minimal by the participants; but a few overall potential trends developed from their responses. To acknowledge that the dual role of research and administrator may could in some cases affect the types of responses given by participants. In this case, there was never a situation in which the researcher felt the participants were holding back. In fact, the opposite case was more often true, that the trust of the prior relationship made participants open to providing honest response. As *Participant Eight* mentioned how the administration may have wanted her to do something, but when the door closed she did what she thought best for the benefit of her students. Overall, limitations from the dual role did not seem to affect the honesty of barriers provided by participants, evidenced by the numerous, but not severe constraints to instruction they felt were present.

These common themes served as the source of the categories presented below (See Table 15). These listed constraints include: State Standards, District mandates such as Curriculum Maps and timelines, testing, school-based administration, peers & duration of class periods. These constraints are discussed in further detail below.

#### Table 15

Teacher	Percei	vea Consi	traints			
Participant	Standards	District	Testing	School Admin	Peers	Length of Class Time
One			Х	Х	Х	Х
Two	Х	Х	Х			
Three						
Four						Х
Five				Х	Х	(X) planning related
Six		Х	Х			
Seven						
Eight				Х		
Nine						
Ten			Х			Х
Eleven						

animal Constraint р .1.

#### State Standards & District Curriculum.

There is an expectation by the District that the State Standards be covered. The District has also aligned the curriculum with the expectation that teachers' pacing should be close to one another. It is felt that concurrent pacing of courses is necessary because of the high mobility of the District's students. It is not uncommon that students are enrolled in several different schools during the school year. There are some schools where special programs such as Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts and Mathematics (STEAM), Science technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM), and Pre-International Baccalaureate Academies (Pre-IB) that exist that may preclude the following of the pacing guides, but for the most part, adherence to the guides is the rule.

Only one teacher took exception to the State's Standards (Florida Department of Education, 2008). *Participant Two* felt constrained by the fact he could not pursue a topic even if student interest was there. He was also one of the few teachers who may have had the background knowledge to carry out such a variance from a standard curriculum. All other teachers felt comfortable with teaching the State Standards and using the District's pacing guide.

In contrast, it would seem that *Participant One*, with her extremely low score on the SUSSI, may have been constrained by the District's curriculum in a positive way. *Participant One*, despite her limited NOS knowledge, made every attempt to follow what she felt was a restrictive District curriculum. As a result, she did include pieces of NOS that were likely not to have been included if she was left to her own choices. Even then, the instructional methods employed were not what would be hoped for by the District Administration, and did not include every construct that should be covered. *Participant One* was the exception in that she held a relatively inadequate understanding of NOS but still tried her best to teach the mandated curriculum. Most others who held similar low scores made no attempt to teach NOS beyond the scientific method. Lederman & Niess (1997) note, NOS understandings do not come naturally, nor can they be mandated. Overall, even with NOS having a prominent role in both the State's standards and being clearly defined within the District's curriculum, it had little effect on most teachers' practice, either positive or negative.

#### Class Time, Planning Time and Testing as a Function of Time.

Time was perceived as the biggest constraint and usually was mentioned in connection with District progress monitoring testing, which takes place three times per year for each core subject. This untimed test can exceed the allotted time for a class, so each core test can cannibalize much classroom time outside of the tested course. Testing was mentioned as a constraint by three participants (1, 2, & 6). The concern was voiced over the lost instruction time. Time was also a factor mentioned by participants in terms of scheduling models. It was noted that not having a block schedule was a limiting factor for providing hands-on opportunities. Time for planning was noted by *Participant Five* as being a limitation to instruction. If concerns about testing and planning are included as a function of time lost to instruction, then the majority (6/11) of teachers see that time lost as problematic (See Table 16 below).

#### Table 16

#### Time as a Barrier

Participants	Participant Comments	Researcher Comment
One	Last year it was very restrictive with extended	Progress monitoring
	reading passages, Discovery [progress monitoring]	occurs three times per
	testing, behavioral issues. Time is probably the big	year for math, science,
	gap because I do feel pressured to move through the	and language arts.
	curriculum. The first year I was here we had block	
	schedule and I felt like at least I could get a lab	
	accomplished	
Two	Lack of time for planning & classroom setup.	
	We have [time] pressure[s] because of testing.	
Four	55 minutes, [makes it] so hard to do labs.	
Five	Also, to come up with effective and engaging lessons	Refers to a planning time
	it takes time and when you don't have enough time.	constraint
Six	Discovery [progress monitoring] testing is a little bit	
	of a hindrance	
Ten	Discovery [progress monitoring testing] testing	
	with the 45 minutes of class time, especially when	
	you're trying to do hands-on and you're trying to go	
	through the steps in a 45 minute class. I had block	
	scheduling so there's a big difference with 45 minutes	
	and 90 minutes.	

#### School Administrative and Peer Constraints.

For the most part, the majority of participants felt they had the freedom to teach the way they wanted. While three of the eleven participants voiced explicit concerns about administrative constraints (*Participant One, Two and Five*), only one felt direct barriers (See Table 17). *Participant Two*, while vocal about his concerns, admitted that he felt few constraints from his current administration. *Participant Five*, on the other hand, vocalized her concerns about administrative controls as immediate concerns. *Participant One* voiced a general concern (See Table 17), but her biggest concerns, while related to administrative constraints, are better explained through the co-planning section to follow. Fortunately, most participants felt a great deal of freedom to teach the way they wanted with little interference from school administration.

Perhaps a more interesting finding is the mention of barriers to instruction based upon peer interaction through the co-planning process (see Table 18 below). As mentioned earlier, coplanning is a practice promoted by the District but implemented by the school administration. For most of the participants, there were short replies to questions about co-planning, such as "We have a great team," or "we work well together." In these responses, gathered during interviews, it was clear that most enjoyed sharing the workload, collaborating with peers and having a general sense of camaraderie with their peers. Though most had positive remarks about co-planning, four participants voiced concerns about co-planning. These concerns were related to both their peers and the administrational mandate to co-plan.

### Table 17

Administrative Constraints

Participants	Comments
One	It's a high expectation for us to do very similar things. They
	[The School Administration] want to see consistency. I think it
	comes from the District administration, which comes from the
	State.
Two	Number one comes from State & District. People telling me how
	to teach and what to teach and I don't have the freedom to take
	the ideas and run with them. Fortunately, I don't have that kind
	of administration (that tells me what to do).
Three	I feel like we have a lot of freedom to choose. We are not
	dictated to at all. They want us to stick with the curriculum map
	absolutely as far as the concepts. As far as the activities, we
	choose. I feel like I have as much freedom as I want.
Four	The biggest constraints are parental, not institutional (just
	getting parent's permission to do things).
Five	I would have given you a different answer last year, but at this
	point in time. I'd say 50% [freedom].
	I agree that there needs to be standards created to make sure
	that all students are exposed to evidence-based, productive
	teaching practices. However, some of these practices are put out
	[by administration] to everyone regardless of subject matter and
	it's a struggle to make it fit.
Six	The curriculum map determines how and what I do.
Seven	Personally I feel like I have a lot [of freedom] because I have
	proven myself. I have to go with the curriculum established by
	the district but there's lots of freedom
Eight	Sigh! I would say that I have some freedom to instruct the
	way that I want to since we have started the NYP process, it's a
	lot more possibilities, but it's also way more structured. They
	want the right verbiage, they don't want just the activity they
	want it written saying a certain thing. There not in my classroom
	every day you know.
Eleven	When asked about academic freedomI think it's almost
	encouraged because I'm at an art school and I'm in sixth grade,
	so I'm not I'm not really tested on the FCAT.

Table 18

Participants	Comments
One	I have freedoms, but within a guideline that do not allow for much
	divergence.
Five	We have group lesson planning and can be a really great thing, but
	if the other people you're working with disagree with you on
	teaching strategies or even they don't know the difference between
	theory and law, anything like that, you have to either make
	concessions or do things the way they want. So, co-planning It
	can be good when all individuals are open-minded to the ideas of
	others and willing to do their fair share of the work (One creates a
	worksheet, the other types up the lesson plan into the template,
	etc.) They should also be willing to learn if they lack background
	knowledge Some people aren't as willing to learn and take it
	as a personal insult if they make an error and it's brought to their
	attention.
Eight	Not really mandatory. We pretty much have a pretty good team
	now. Of course, there are the hogs and there are logs.
Eleven	I think it's more engaging to do a lab, but someone else may not
	feel the same way and want students to write the definitions to the
	words, so having a co-plan person makes it more realistic
	They can be the left-brain figure.

Co-Planning w/Peers

Participant Five felt that being forced to do the same lesson as another teacher took away her freedom. She emphasized that she did not mind the co-planning process as it could help develop better lessons, but struggled to come to a meeting of the minds with the person she was "forced" to plan with. She felt it was unfair to her and her students to have to plan with an uncompromising and unknowledgeable peer. Fortunately, few others had this same situation. *Participant Eight* mentioned how a new program was constraining, but only if she chose to follow it. In this case, it seemed more a matter with administration, though she did mention how some of her peers were more favorable to work with than others. *Participant Eleven* mentioned how planning with the ESE inclusion teaching kept him from straying too far from the path. Certainly this was a constraint for him. *Participant One* did have some constraints within her coplanning groups given her interviews responses.

#### **Summary of Barriers.**

While constraints other than NOS knowledge appeared with regularity, few participants voiced concerns of this having a major impact on their practice. It was Participants One, Two, and Five who voiced concerns more than others. It should also be noted that those with lower EBS scores (i.e., *Participants One, Two and Five*) voiced their concerns with greater frequency and had more constraints individually than participants having higher *EBS* scores. However, few if any of these constraints could account for the lack of NOS instruction.

#### **Question One Summary**

Research question 1a provided evidence of a strong correlation between personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS, which has been suggested by others (Akerson et al, 2008) but never quantitatively supported. While relationships existed, care must be taken to assume which belief predicted the other. For instance, one participant had an extremely high *EBS* score (162) and a low *SUSSI* score (130). Others with disparate scores with the reverse situation, a high *SUSSI* score and a low *EBS* score, were more moderate in the difference. In fact, they were never more than half the most extreme difference. This could mean that increases in knowledge about NOS have an effect on personal epistemological beliefs more so than the reverse, which would make sense. Why would personal epistemological beliefs lead to knowledge about how scientific knowledge is constructed? On the other hand, one participant who admittedly lacked NOS knowledge but had a high *EBS* score, was able to bring in a

construction of scientific knowledge into an activity. It would make sense that a higher *EBS* score would aid in the learning and internalization of NOS. This notion supports other work that states how epistemological beliefs are linked to NOS retention (Akerson, et al. 2006) and are related to teachers' NOS views (Akerson et al.,2008).

As expected, participants' lack of NOS knowledge was a major constraint. For many of these participants, it was their biggest barrier to teaching NOS. In terms of knowledge of NOS, it was Participants 2, 6, 7, 8, & 9 who had observable knowledge of NOS, at least as defined by the generally accepted list of NOS tenets (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 1998) drawn from the *SUSSI* survey, interviews, casual conversations or observations of practice. Unfortunately, the remaining participants struggled to define these concepts, though there were exciting moments, as when *Participant Ten* unexpectedly included NOS within a lesson.

The general trend was participants with SUSSI scores of 142 and under did not teach NOS beyond the scientific method. While constraints with NOS knowledge existed, according to the teachers, they were not the only constraints.

In terms of other constraints to teaching, an interesting pattern emerged among the participants. In general, participants with higher *EBS* and *SUSSI* scores noted fewer constraints to their teaching. One possibility may have been because these teachers with epistemological beliefs more toward a constructivist view were regarded by their administration as good educators since their practice matches the new teacher evaluation protocol. They may also have had better coping mechanisms to deal with the constraints, such as ignoring them. As a result of this perception of freedom, those with higher EBS and *SUSSI* scores felt empowered to engage in whatever type of classroom practice they chose. While administrative constraints were limited to three teachers (1, 5, & 8), time was mentioned as a constraint the same amount and mostly

limited to those with lower belief scores. When testing became part of the mentioned time constraint, time was mentioned twice as often as administrative concerns.

Most teachers felt additional time was needed to adequately cover the existing standards they are expected to teach in a school year (Kendall & Marzano, 2000). It is of little surprise that participants mentioned time (to include time lost to testing requirements) as a major constraint. If testing were included along with time constraints, then six of the eleven participants directly or indirectly described time as a constraint to their practice.

Overall, even those who commented about constraints admitted to not having large constraints other than time that had any appreciable effect on their practice. *Participant One* perhaps had the most rigid working conditions, followed by *Participant Five*. There were mentions of restrictions from State Standards and District curriculum, but only by one participant (*Participant Two*). Fortunately, for this research, one common constraint to instruction of NOS was removed. The District curriculum, unlike other studies (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 2000) served as a positive factor, as it provided ample time for the instruction of NOS. NOS was not an *additional component* within the general curriculum: it <u>was</u> the curriculum.

## Question Two - In what ways do classroom practices differ between NOS instruction and instruction of scientific practices and skills?

To answer this question, I looked specifically at the instructional practices for NOS and related aspects of the skills and practices of science such as measuring, graphing, & lab safety. Within the first nine weeks of this research, teachers were required to cover content involving what the science education community understands as NOS. During the same unit, they were also required to provide instruction in the processes and skills necessary to conduct science
Table 19 provides an overview of teacher instruction during the nine week NOS unit. Included within the unit were not just NOS constructs, but items that involve the practice and skills of science (measuring, graphing, lab safety, etc.). To mirror the previous section qualitative categories, methods of instruction were categorized as positivist 1, positivist 2, and constructivist.

Using data from classroom observation and classroom artifacts when applicable, types of practice were again classified just as they were for the previous section involving NOS instruction. The positivist 1 category acknowledged that no hands-on activity or inquiry of any type occurred. In these cases, only didactic instruction was employed, sometimes inter-mixed with student worksheets for gathering information and "facts" from the PPt. In this case, the worksheet was used more as a graphic organizer to keep track of important notes and not as a way to help conceptualize components of the instruction. For example, one teacher (Participant Three) performed no hands-on activities of any kind. His classification of Positivist 1 is reflective of someone who positions himself as the ultimate authority holder. The other two categories (positivist 2 and constructivist) made use of hands-on activities. There again was a distinct differentiation as to how these activities were carried out. The Positivist 2 classification had students mimic the teacher's actions and activities were always confirmational in nature. The constructivist category had students move beyond confirmation science. In this category students utilized their own creativity either to design their own activity or to analyze and construct their own conclusion based on their data. Table 19 also indicates the frequency of occurrence for inquiry in order to provide a sense of the classroom environment (Low, Medium, & High). Categories were defined, with Low being described as hands-on activities either never or quite rarely present in the classroom. Medium was defined as hands-on activities being witnessed or

hands-on artifacts found more than twice during the nine weeks up to small portions of days. High was defined as doing hands-on inquiry type activities during the majority of class periods, with the exception of days devoted to testing. Furthermore, a category for the quality of NOS instruction has been included to provide a comparison to the instruction of practice and skills. Most (8) participants did not address NOS beyond the scientific method. The remaining participants only addressed the desired tenets of NOS infrequently. The following section provides a description of how these components (quality and quantity of instruction between these two constructs of NOS and practice and skills) are intertwined with epistemological views.

## Table 19

	÷.			
Participant	(EBS/SUSSI)	NOS Practice	Practice and Skills (Freq. of Inquiry)	Practice and Skills (Quality of Inquiry)
Participant 1	128/125	Positivist	(L)	(Positivist 1)
Participant 2	131/146	NA	(M)	(Positivist 2)
Participant 3	131/137	NA	(L)	(Positivist 1)
Participant 4	131/129	NA	(H)	(Positivist 2)
Participant 5	131/134	NA	(M )	(Positivist 2)
Participant 6	143/142	NA	(M)	(Positivist 2)
Participant 7	148/153	NA	(H)	(Constructivist)
Participant 8	150/154	NA	(H)	(Constructivist)
Participant 9	150/141	Constructivist	(H)	(Constructivist)
Participant 10	151/140	Constructivist	(H)	(Constructivist)
Participant 11	162/130	NA	(L)	(Constructivist)

Instructional methods during practice and skills activities

# Research Question 2a - In what ways are these differences reflective of understandings of NOS?

Using evidence gained from the SUSSI survey to provide understandings of NOS, classroom artifacts and observations to provide evidence of practice, a characterization of was developed for each teacher with regard to their instructional practice. Perhaps not surprising, a general trend of instructional practice was evident, given the apparent correlation between EBS and SUSSI scores previously discussed in question 1a, within most classrooms. As understandings of NOS increased using evidence from the SUSSI, so did the quality and frequency of activities that would be cited as practices associated with constructivism, evidenced from observation, casual discussion noted in researcher's journal, and artifacts. Those participants with higher SUSSI scores were usually more apt to employ inquiry as a methodology. Their classrooms were also more student-centered. This orientation may have had nothing to do with NOS understanding, but more to do with quality of teacher preparation, which included NOS in its curriculum. There was also a general trend of increasing quality of those inquiry activities with increases in NOS knowledge. So too, the number and quality of hands-on experiences and other types of inquiry, such as collaborative research, were employed at a far greater frequency by teachers with increased SUSSI scores.

As expected, the barrier of knowledge of NOS appeared to exert a large influence on instruction. With the exception of *Participant One*, who employed activities to directly target NOS understanding, it was (with the exception of *Participant One*), the other two participants who mention NOS beyond the scientific method within their classrooms had higher SUSSI scores. It should be noted that only *Participants One, Eight* and *Nine* provided explicit instruction, where the outcome of instruction was planned rather than hoped for as an artifact

from the lesson. This intentional focus on outcome is known to be critical for the understanding of NOS (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman 2000a; Akerson et al., 2000; Akindehin 1988; Bell et al., 2000; Clough 1997, 1998, 2004; Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik 2002; Lederman 1992; McComas 2000). Whether explicit or implicit, it was only those two participants with higher SUSSI scores who mentioned NOS in an appropriate manner. One might surmise this was the effect of limited knowledge of NOS, more so than importance, but there were some outliers to this line of thought. Participant One struggled with the concept of NOS, yet attempted to incorporate it into her lessons because she felt it had value. Participant Two, with a PhD in a science field, years of lab experience, and a satisfactory SUSSI score did not include aspects of NOS into his instruction beyond the scientific method, perhaps indicating that he did not hold NOS as important as other aspects of science. Perhaps his situation raises a question about whether the importance was reserved for those who use science and not students who perhaps, in his view, only needed to learn about science. It is here that the visions of scientific literacy may be related to the importance factor for NOS. The explanation may be related to how one views science for students. Is it viewed as something students do or need to know some facts about (Vision I) or is it something students will apply in their daily lives (Vision II)? Unfortunately, data do not exist to answer this question, but the link to Robert's (2007) visions of scientific literacy does pose an interesting question.

Another possibility exists for the reason NOS instruction was absent for those with lower SUSSI scores and mostly limited to those with higher scores. With increased NOS knowledge, one might have expected a rapid increase in the teaching of NOS. Clearly, knowledge of NOS was not enough for it to be emphasized to the same degree as the skills and practice. A limiting factor may have been training of pedagogical methods aimed at teaching NOS.

One could assume that teachers with a background in science courses have had some experience carrying out experiments and the skills that accompany the practice of science. The likelihood that these teachers learned about the pedagogy of teaching NOS through their science coursework is slim (Abd-El-Khalick & BouJaoude, 1997; Carey & Strauss, 1968; Duschl, 1990; Kimball, 1967-1968; King, 1991; Lederman, 1992; Pomeroy, 1993).

In contrast, NOS scores may have played a smaller role in terms of the practice and skills of science. With the exception of *Participant Three*, every teacher employed some type of handson or student-centered activity for the teaching of the practices and skills of science. At the lower extremes of *SUSSI* scores, there were small attempts at hands-on activities or other inquiry based student-centered activities. Even *Participant One*, with her low scores on the *SUSSI*, had her students complete an activity that required students to use the tools of science in order to learn about lab safety.

While hands-on or other student-centered activities focused on the practice and skill of science were limited for those participants having lower *SUSSI* scores, compared to the lack of NOS instruction it was a distinct difference. With increasing *SUSSI* scores, the amount and quality of student-centered activities focused on the practices and skills portion of the curriculum increased. For those in the lower realm, these student-centered activities were focused on research projects more than hands-on inquiry. For example, *Participant Five* had students complete a research project about scientists. *Participant Eleven* had his students research ideas for science fair projects. As the levels of understandings of NOS increased, so too did the number of hands-on activities focused on lab investigations. Looking at the backgrounds of these of participants, it is perhaps not unexpected. A good example is *Participant Eight* who has worked in a lab as a biologist. She had students perform no less than four elaborate lab

investigations focused on helping students become familiar with the methods and practice of science. Many of these investigations spanned multiple days. Other teachers who had strong science backgrounds from their coursework also had students actively engaged in hands-on science (e.g., *Participant Seven* and *Nine*). There was some evidence to suggest a relationship between SUSSI scores, amounts of previous science coursework, and amounts of laboratory investigations. Unfortunately, I was not able to obtain lesson plans from every participant, which would have provided a much better quantitative measure. Even without exact numbers, the large difference in terms of types of practice and numbers of hands-on activities between teachers made the distinction obvious. I was able to use teacher observations (4 to 5 for each teacher) and artifacts (such as posted work and informal discussion) to reliably assess these differences. Many also responded to a later question asking for this information, which does provide more clarity and supported previous estimations based on other data.

*Participant Two*, who held a large amount of knowledge about NOS as evidenced on the SUSSI as well as interviews and casual conversation throughout the research period, perhaps due to his research background, focused entirely on the scientific method. He did make use of handson activities such as designing and carrying out experiments, but these were far from the higher level of inquiry that was hoped for. As mentioned previously, students needed only to mimic what he had just explained to accomplish their assigned tasks and he was always ready to provide the answer to students who asked. This method stands in contrast to *Participant Nine*, who answered questions with more questions as she guided students' understandings. Although he was ranked as positivist 2 in terms of methods employed, his activities were not at high quality as the lack the minds-on components called for in reforms (NRC, 1996). In the case of *Participant Two*, it would seem that the greater NOS understanding had little to do with the

quality of hands-on activities. It also had little relationship with the types of activities chosen for NOS instruction. The hands-on activities were focused on the teaching of the scientific method or practice and skills and not NOS.

## Research Question 2b - In what ways are these differences reflective of personal epistemological beliefs?

Again, it was *Participant Eleven* who proved most interesting. Although he is clearly a constructivist, given his student-centered approach to practice and extremely high *EBS* score, his NOS activities were limited to the scientific method and all computer-based research on science fair projects. At no time did I witness, or find evidence for, any hands-on inquiry. It is here, with his personal epistemological beliefs score at the upper extreme of the group and his SUSSI score near the lowest, that his teaching would make an interesting case study on its own. *Participant Eleven*'s practice may have been driven by his epistemological beliefs, given his *SUSSI* score was so low. There seemed to be no connection between how science knowledge was constructed and how other knowledge is constructed. This can perhaps be explained by a lack of science knowledge, including coursework. While student-centered activities increased with rising EBS scores, it is not surprising that hands-on activities were much more present in those participants with science backgrounds.

For example, *Participant Eight*, having worked in a lab as an environmental biologist, engaged students in many quality hands-on activities and on research focused activities. *Participant Eight* conducted six quality student-centered activities over the nine weeks, some lasting for more than one day. Of the six, four were directed toward student learning of the practice and skills of science. Two were inclusive of NOS. In one such activity, students

investigated the relationship of theories, laws and models. Upon completion of the research, students completed a Venn diagram comparing and contrasting theories and laws. In the same activity, they also completed another Venn diagram about the difference between experiments and investigations. While the term "model" was used in her lesson plan, no such reference could be found in the activity. Like other participants in the study, she also had students design their own activity. Other activities included the finding of volumes, masses, densities, etc.

While a general theme developed based on EBS scores and SUSSI scores in terms of the limitations of just a high *EBS* score, one episode illustrates how co-mingled these two constructs are and may provide additional information about how best to teach NOS. Participant Ten constantly engaged her students in what would be considered student-centered activities. What was never observed in her classroom was any type of science inquiry that one would expect to see in a sixth grade science classroom. Instead, her lessons focused more on how to use science than doing science through individual and group research. There were many opportunities for students to discuss ideas and think about solutions to broad issues related to science and society. In these instances, her classroom was definitely student-centered, but there was little in the way of typical hands-on science activities. Not as extreme as *Participant Eleven* – although the dichotomy of practices was striking - was *Participant Eleven*, when her practices were compared to those of *Participant Eight*. Her epistemological beliefs score would certainly suggest a constructivist-minded teacher. She admitted during the interviews and other casual discussions to a lack of general science and NOS knowledge. What made her unique was her classroom approach, and how she was able to weave in NOS despite her lack of knowledge. I can only surmise that she was able to translate her strong epistemological beliefs into a scientific epistemological belief.

## **Question 2 Summary**

Given the evidence for a correlation of the relationship between understandings of NOS and personal epistemological beliefs discussed to answer research question 1a, it is perhaps of little surprise that similar themes were evident between the quantity & quality of studentcentered activities and participants' personal epistemological beliefs within the two domains (practice & skills and NOS). With the exception of *Participant One*, those with lower *EBS* scores either did not teach NOS, or instruction during this unit was aimed at learning the steps of the scientific method rather than the knowledge construction components associated with NOS. Furthermore, only 3 of the eleven participants taught NOS explicitly to include *Participant One*. With only one exception (*Participant Three*), those who did not teach NOS beyond the scientific method still provided students with hands-on opportunities to explore the practice of science. The *SUSSI* survey was not valuable in predicting who explicitly taught NOS beyond the scientific method, but may be helpful for predicting the quantity and quality of inquiry activities, and the broader shift from research-based activities (e.g. finding science fair projects or biographical information) to laboratory experiences.

While clearly, research has provided evidence that epistemological beliefs are a profound driver of classroom practice (Tsai, 2004); in this research they did not appear to be sufficient to provide an impetus for teachers to include hands-on science. Perhaps the most prevalent theme in this research was the potential relationship in terms of the *EBS* score was the qualitative change of teacher practice reflected in the use of higher levels of inquiry within their hands-on components. It is this emphasis about how to use science, not just do science. Though evidence does not support such as claim at this point, the linkage between personal epistemological beliefs, understandings of NOS, may prove an interesting quest to investigate relationship

between these two constructs (NOS and personal epistemological beliefs) and visions of scientific literacy proposed by Roberts (2007).

## **Chapter Five**

## Introduction

While the previous chapter was a presentation and analysis of data, this chapter relates the findings with the research base in this area. This chapter begins with a recapitulation of key results, followed by conclusions, implications, limitations, and considerations for further research. In the study summary, a brief review of the study, including the research questions and methods employed, will be revisited.

#### **Discussion of Findings**

The study itself was separated into two phases. *Phase One* was intended to accomplish two goals. First, it served as a sorting mechanism to choose participants that would later serve in *Phase Two*. Second, *Phase One* was used to investigate the correlation between the two epistemological beliefs. Though relationships between these two beliefs had been suggested previously (Abd-El-Khalik, 2003), scant research exists to confirm this notion. In 2010, Yang and Tsai put forth the notion that this connection between understandings of NOS and personal epistemological beliefs deserves further research, but currently suffers a lack of research as much of the current research focuses on domain specific contexts.

To be able to answer RQ1, potential relationships were investigated in terms of two types of epistemological beliefs (NOS and personal epistemological beliefs). Results from scores on both the EBS and the SUSSI survey showed a strong correlation using the Pearson r Correlational Coefficient (r = 0.62). More significantly, by removing one extremely disparate

score, the correlation increased dramatically (r = .80). This one participant affected the correlational score because of the extreme nature of his score (ranging 32 points between the two beliefs constructs: twice that of the next highest ranging score). He held one of the highest epistemological beliefs scores, but one of the very lowest NOS scores. So while a strong correlation may be more typical, a few dissimilar scores within the participant group suggest the two epistemological beliefs are not the same and are not recursive with respect to their support of one another.

A higher NOS score does not guarantee higher personal epistemological beliefs scores. The previous statement may seem obvious, in that knowledge of science would seem to be more of a prerequisite to a higher score on a NOS survey than personal epistemological beliefs. In contrast, a personal epistemological belief score does serve as a fair predictor of better understandings of NOS, but is no guarantee. The reasoning for this statement is found in the nature of these observed relationships. The differences between high *EBS* and low *SUSSI* scores were more dramatic than the differences between higher *SUSSI* scores than *EBS* scores.

While *RQ1a* could be answered strictly from quantitative data, the remaining questions required additional evidence to help explain how beliefs affect practice. The *EBS* score can give us a relative approximation to a participant's beliefs about knowledge and knowledge construction, but the non-domain specificity suggested by this research does leave a margin of error. According to Bell and Linn, (2002), individuals can hold independent beliefs that are sometimes in conflict with one another. They may also represent themselves differently across domains. Furthermore, the *SUSSI* survey spans a large domain; a participant may have an adequate understanding of one domain and not another. For instance, a participant might

understand how theories change based on new evidence, but not understand that scientific laws can change for the same reason.

Multiple data sources are required to answer the following questions. Through the use of a constant comparative method (Merriam, 1998), the remaining research questions were to be answered using the appropriate data sources to triangulate the best possible understanding. Every attempt was made to develop a rich description of the topic in order to provide answers towards the research questions.

*Phase Two* was designed to more deeply probe teachers' epistemological beliefs through interviews, examination of artifacts, and observations of classroom practice. Research has suggested these relationships of epistemological beliefs are extremely important due to the impact they have on choices teachers make in their classrooms (Feucht, 2008; Feucht & Bendixen, 2010; Patrick & Pintrich, 2001; Schraw & Olafson, 2002; Tsai, 2002). To further help in answering the final questions, teacher profiles were developed using multiple data sources. Also, consideration of the many variables beyond epistemological beliefs that are known to affect a teacher's practice required the probing of these additional factors to help isolate them from the epistemological beliefs. From the list of typical constraints, it became necessary to include additional questions to help answer the overarching question: In what ways do teachers' epistemological beliefs affect practice in the science classroom during NOS instruction? With evidence suggesting a strong relationship between NOS and personal epistemological beliefs among these participants, it was then necessary to answer the tougher questions about why evidence was not more prevalent in classroom practice. As suggested by previous research (Abd-El-Khalik et al., 1998; Bell et al., 2000; Lederman, 1992) knowledge alone does not always translate into practice. Teachers must possess not only adequate knowledge and pedagogy to

teach it, but also they must believe NOS to be important (Abd-El-Khlaik & Akerson, 2004). It was this dynamic of knowledge, pedagogy, and importance that were revealed within this research. While there are other constraints, for the most part, only one participant had a social/institutional constraint that may have directly affected her instruction. All other participants were able to overcome real or perceived constraints during the teaching of NOS. That is not to say they taught NOS with integrity, only that decisions about teaching were not due to a constraint other than knowledge, pedagogy or importance.

#### Beliefs and their influence on importance about NOS.

Clearly, teachers cannot teach what they themselves do not understand. Furthermore, even when teachers have an understanding of NOS, it may not emerge in practice for a variety of reasons (Abd-El-Khalik et al., 1998; Bell et al., 2000; Lederman, 1992). Of the eleven teacher/participants in this study, some clearly had neither adequate knowledge of NOS nor necessary pedagogy to teach NOS. Even when they did have knowledge of NOS, it did not always emerge in practice to a degree required by the school district.

All teachers who participated in this study remarked on the importance of NOS. In many of those cases, the importance was centered on what they knew to be NOS, rather than what is mostly agreed upon by the science education community to be NOS. Knowledge of NOS, as was expected from the onset, was limited (Abd-El-Khalik & BouJaoude 1997; Behnke 1950; Carey & Stauss 1970; Duschl, 1990; Lederman, 1992, 2007; Pomeroy 1993). Although few participants had representations of explicit-reflective NOS instruction, most teachers emphasized NOS to the best of their abilities. Clearly, knowledge impacted importance of different aspects of NOS as

defined by the *Lederman Seven* (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 1998), but it was not the only constraint.

### Beliefs and their implications to practice.

Data suggest a definite contrast between those who understood and attempted to teach NOS and those who focused entirely on the scientific method. For most participants, there is a potential for a threshold of perception of NOS knowledge appeared to be necessary for them to effectively teach NOS. It was participants with higher scores on the SUSSI survey or who displayed proficient understandings of NOS within the interviews that more effectively implemented NOS instruction. A rich history of research supports the fact that NOS may not translate into practice (Abd-El-Khalik et al., 1998; Bell et al., 2000; Lederman, 1992) thus fortifying the notion that there are sometimes other factors beyond mere knowledge of NOS that constrain importance. In contrast, it also became evident, though perhaps not typical, that it is possible to include aspects of NOS within instruction without the threshold NOS knowledge being met if certain criteria are in place in terms of epistemological beliefs.

These variations in whether or not a teacher chooses to teach NOS in relationship to certain epistemological beliefs being in place may suggest some restrictive or catalyzing, affecting the importance teachers place on NOS. While this situation applied to only a few participants whose scores were not in concert (referring the relationship of the personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS), this difference may be associated with some of the reluctance or struggle to emphasize NOS. While these cases represent only a fraction of the individuals in the study, they do represent an interesting scenario.

Personal epistemological beliefs may buffer or catalyze the importance placed on NOS as judged by their inclusion within instruction.

In summary, all participants viewed NOS as important and foundational for the learning of science. What differentiated these participants were their epistemological beliefs and how these beliefs affected NOS instruction. While, clearly, the importance the District placed on NOS was quite explicit within its description on the Curriculum Maps, even with this stated importance, many teachers taught NOS only to the limits of their understanding. Anything beyond those understandings may be assumed was not as important as the scientific method and in many cases, not even important enough to mention.

As understandings of NOS increased, so too did the number of topics within NOS that were placed into practice. In some ways, this may be viewed as increased knowledge of NOS, but the results were not that clear. Some instances suggest importance goes beyond knowledge about the construct and into the realm of epistemological beliefs. There was a definite relationship between the quantity and quality of NOS instruction. As the *SUSSI* scores increased so too did the amounts of NOS topics introduced, as well as the quality of the instruction. Those participants with higher *SUSSI* scores used didactic measures less often and were more apt to embed NOS into a lesson. Whether or not these intentions were planned is questionable; nevertheless, they did occur.

Perhaps the most interesting evidence came in the form of how personal epistemological beliefs might help support or restrict NOS importance. It was observed in several cases where personal epistemological beliefs seemed to play a role, especially in the quality of NOS instruction, whether favorable or unfavorable. For one participant with a fairly sophisticated NOS understanding and a low personal epistemological beliefs score, the instruction of NOS never advanced beyond the scientific method, hands-on was limited to following directions, and there was a liberal use of didactic instruction. In essence, the lower epistemological beliefs score seemed to keep him from teaching in a manner closer to that of a constructivist, even though his background in science should have suggested the opposite.

Without a doubt, knowledge was a limiting factor for instruction. Those who lacked more advanced knowledge were in most cases unable to include effective NOS instruction and were restricted to the scientific method. Personal epistemological beliefs played a larger than expected role in governing the types or quality of instruction with regards to NOS instruction. It may have been necessary to have adequate NOS knowledge to teach NOS, but those participants with the greater personal epistemological beliefs were best able to present it in a more constructivist manner.

#### **Epistemological Beliefs and Other Constraints to Practice.**

While constraints are mentioned in the literature (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik , 2000) as impediments to instruction of NOS, for the most part, these were minimal within this participant group. The participants themselves listed few constraints overall, and I observed few true constraints to practice during this investigation and no classroom environmental factors that should restrict NOS teaching (e.g., classroom management, time constraints, etc.).

The more typical curricular constraints normally associated with the teaching of NOS were irrelevant here, as the District's curriculum required the teaching of NOS. NOS was not something that took away from the time required to teach the more traditional content (e.g., force, gravity, energy, etc.) as the unit was specially built to ensure NOS was covered effectively and given the time it deserves. Because of this purposeful NOS unit, there was not the pressure to cover other content as noted by Abd-El-Khalik (1998) as a constraint. Lederman et al. (2000) discussed the problem that teachers face to find resources from which to teach NOS concepts. This problem, too, should not have been a problem, as many activities were available to teachers via a teacher resource site created the previous year. With that said, to this day, teachers still utilize this site and these resources to a lesser extent than one would expect given the necessity to teach NOS. A few teachers did have knowledge of the University of Indiana site that provides NOS activities, but they were not the majority. Therefore, not having adequate resources must be considered as one possible constraint. On the other hand, they were made aware of the District resource site on many occasions, yet they chose not to utilize those resources for NOS or any other topic within the first nine weeks, so the problem may run deeper than access. Choosing not to retrieve activities may be related to either the teacher's knowledge of or importance placed on NOS. Given the correlation observed between knowledge of NOS and inclusion within practice, it may be a matter that they chose to teach they already knew, which, in most cases, was the scientific method to the exclusion of the other topics of NOS. It also partially explains the overall lack of quality and quantity of NOS instruction.

In general, participants with epistemological beliefs more like that of a constructivist noted fewer constraints than their more positivist peers. As constructivist practices are believed by many administrators to be associated with best practice, this belief may be related to teacher constraints. As noted previously, teachers' classroom practices were generally reflective of their beliefs. It would seem possible that this "good teaching" as viewed by an administrator results in fewer constraints for teachers. In contrast, teachers not employing what are considered best practices may find themselves in a more structured environment by way of administrative mandates in the hopes their teaching practice may improve. Given the new evaluation inventory now in place within the District that favors the constructivist teacher style; this opportunity for freedom will hopefully become more prevalent. Another possibility is that epistemological beliefs are somehow correlated to coping mechanisms, at least in terms of being capable of ignoring constraints.

Even so, few noted administrative constraints as a problem that would affect their classroom practice. The only constraint that was not limited to those with lower epistemological belief scores was time. While time was mentioned in terms of scheduling models, it was also at the root a problem of testing to address accountability mandates causing additional instructional time lost. With the inclusion of testing as a loss of time, time in general was noted as a factor more often than any other constraint. It comes as little surprise that most teachers feel additional time is needed to adequately cover the existing standards (Kendall and Marzano, 2000).

With respect to the previous listing of constraints voiced or observed by teachers, these constraints were not severe and were usually prefaced as such by the participants. Perhaps the largest potential constraint could have been the District curriculum. Unlike other studies where lack of time and pressure to cover content were problematic (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 2000),

it was not so here. The District curriculum in this case supported the teaching of NOS, but even with this important support, teachers were inconsistent in their implementation of NOS. NOS instruction was typically non-existent beyond the scientific method or extremely limited. What came to be an interesting bit of evidence was that personal epistemological beliefs that led to constructivist practices were typically associated with good NOS practice.

Overall, even those who commented about constraints did not have large constraints other than time. Fortunately for this research, one common constraint to instruction of NOS was removed. The District curriculum, unlike that noted in other studies (Lederman & Abd-El-Khalik, 2000), served as a positive, since it provided ample time for the instruction of NOS. Notably, NOS was not something additional to the general curriculum: it <u>was</u> the curriculum. As expected, knowledge of NOS was a major constraint, but certainly not the only factor minimizing NOS instruction. With few other social or institutional constraints, it would seem logical to conclude that indeed epistemological beliefs played a major role in predicting the amount, type, and quality of NOS instruction. The amounts of NOS instruction would seem to be more linked to NOS knowledge with personal epistemological beliefs boosting the quality observed within the instruction. It is important to note and there was no evidence to suggest that personal epistemological beliefs can predict the quality of NOS instruction without some knowledge of NOS.

### NOS/Practice and Skills.

Within the nine-week unit were portions where a focus on the skills and practices of science were expected. In some ways, the relationship observed between personal epistemological beliefs, understandings of NOS, and classroom instruction was similar to what

was observed during the NOS portions of instruction, there were differences. These differences occurred perhaps because these two beliefs contributed to and detracted from classroom practices. Furthermore, these beliefs may also affect practice as judged by quantity and quality of activities and may even contribute to the scope and purpose of the science instruction.

As perhaps expected, a lack of NOS knowledge as determined by the SUSSI survey, interviews, and observation may have been, in general, related to the amounts of NOS activities observed in the classroom. In fact, an interesting phenomenon resulted in Those participants with SUSSI survey scores above 147 were able to include NOS to a far greater degree of effectiveness than those with lower scores, but explicit-reflective practice was limited to two participants. With increases in understandings of NOS, a trend in instructional practices emerged demonstrating a shift from mostly positivist approaches to more constructivist practices (e.g., inquiry, collaborative research, etc.). Unfortunately, even though the amounts of NOS instruction and the quality of that instruction improved, it was rare to find explicit-reflective instructions approaches within the participants' practice. As this type of instruction is critical for students to effectively learn about NOS (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman 2000a; Akerson et al., 2000; Akindehin 1988; ell et al., 2000; Clough 1997, 1998, 2004; Khishfe & Abd-El-Khalik 2002; Lederman 1992; McComas 2000), there was a definite need to look more closely at professional development in an effort to remediate this lack of best practices. Even those teachers holding NOS views more like a constructivist included NOS only to a limited basis. For most, it was extremely unlikely they have learned about the pedagogy necessary to teach NOS from any of their science coursework (Abd-El-Khalick & BouJaoude, 1997; Carey & Strauss, 1968; Duschl, 1990; Kimball, 1967-1968; King, 1991; Lederman, 1992; Pomeroy, 1993).

On the other hand, for the practice and skills portion, those same beliefs about science were less predictive for the number and quality of hands-on activities normally associated with the development of these skills.

Almost every participant employed hands-on activities as part of their instruction that were related to the practice/ skills of science. This instructional practice was in sharp contrast to the almost non-existent activities for NOS within this same group with the lower SUSSI survey scores. Similar to the possible relationship between epistemological beliefs and NOS instruction, higher scores can be associated with increased frequency and quality. One potential reason for this increased frequency and quality was that many of the participants with higher NOS scores had done some type of science research or had been connected with higher education in terms of science education, and in all cases, participants had more science coursework. While coursework has been shown to be a poor indicator for NOS instruction, in this case, it suggests support for more hands-on or student-centered learning opportunities for students in the teaching of the practices and skills of science.

#### Personal Epistemological Beliefs/NOS/ Practice and Skills.

It perhaps comes as little surprise, given the correlation between epistemological beliefs, that personal epistemological beliefs may have visible relationships with the two constructs of *NOS* and *practice & skills*. In general, participants with lower *EBS* scores did not teach NOS or it was limited to the scientific method. Participants with higher *EBS* scores were able to teacher NOS more effectively, but to the greatest extent when the two epistemological beliefs were in tandem. Increased *EBS* scores also were often associated with to student-centered activities. Furthermore, participants with higher *EBS* scores employed more activities associated with

constructivism. Most intriguing was that participants with higher *EBS* scores appeared to have a different vision of scientific literacy.

This emergent trend may suggest that personal epistemological beliefs affected not just the instruction, but also may be related to a teacher's broader vision of scientific literacy.

## Conclusions

Given the struggle for science educators to incorporate NOS into the classroom practice, this research does support previous research in the field and also extends that research. *Phase One* confirmed a correlation between personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS as suggested by Abd-El-Khalik (2003). *Phase Two* further delineated how these beliefs interacted with other known constraints to instruction mentioned by Lederman and Abd-El-Khalik (2000).

Fortunately, and different from other studies, by easing curricular restraints with the pressure to cover content removed, a better focus could be placed on teacher beliefs and how they affect practice. As it turned out, it was not so much the understandings of NOS that revealed surprises, but rather the co-occurrence of the personal epistemological beliefs that may provide interesting extensions from this work. The following points summarize the main findings of this study.

First, there was a moderately high correlation between understandings of NOS and personal epistemological beliefs suggesting NOS understandings predict broader epistemological beliefs. I do not suggest that personal epistemological beliefs affect understandings of NOS. Second, understandings in NOS in general affected the amount and quality of NOS instruction. With increases in NOS scores, the number and quality (e.g., *confirmation* vs. *open inquiry* &

beyond/not beyond the scientific method) of NOS was increased. Third, there was limited use of explicit-reflective instruction for NOS and few instances of accessible activities for its instruction being used, suggesting problems with awareness of materials and the importance of this type of instruction. Fourth, the lack of knowledge of NOS, whether high or low, appeared to place NOS instruction at a disadvantage to the practice and skills content. All participants, with only one exception, included hands-on practices, but the majority (8/11) of the participants were unable to include NOS instruction beyond the scientific method. Fifth, with increases in understandings of NOS, increases in the numbers and quality of instruction to include hands-on activities were observed. Sixth, to a certain degree, understandings of NOS predicted constructivist practices, but not as powerfully as personal epistemological beliefs with regard to predicting types of classroom practices associated with constructivism. In only a few instances, this divergence of beliefs and practice was observed, but this insight may provide opportunities to better remediate teacher practice. If a teacher does not have adequate beliefs about the broader scope of knowledge (i.e., personal epistemological beliefs), this research suggests the teacher will have difficulty emphasizing the importance of NOS beyond the scientific method. In contrast, those teachers with minimal understandings of NOS, but having personal epistemological beliefs closer to a constructivist, may be in a better position to learn about and place more importance on the teaching of NOS. In final, those with higher personal epistemological beliefs seem to gravitate towards what Roberts (2007) has defined as Vision II of scientific literacy, while those with lower scores on the EBS seem relegated to his Vision I description. With only limited data to suggest this link, it is difficult to say where or why this relationship may exist. For now, it may just represent potential fertile ground for future research.

In contrast to tandem beliefs, (i.e., closely matched scores of personal epistemological beliefs & understandings of NOS) disparate epistemological scores were quite interesting. Table 20 provides observations to compare varying relationships between personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS. Again, these disparate beliefs and the potential effect of personal epistemological beliefs might suggest relationships to visions of scientific literacy.

#### Table 20

Potential Effects of Disp	parate Beliefs
Tandem increases of	With increases in epistemological beliefs, so too increased the quantity
EBS and SUSSI	and quality of instruction for both NOS and the Practice & Skills of
scores	science
Higher EBS as	Increased use of student-centered activities (e.g., individual research,
compared to SUSSI	student to student discussions, etc.), but limited NOS instruction.
scores	
Higher SUSSI	Increased amounts of hands-on learning targeted at the practice of
compared to EBS	science, but to a much lesser degree NOS instruction (limited to the
scores	scientific method)

By moving beyond knowledge of NOS to include personal epistemological beliefs yet exclude curricular constraints, this research has extended the boundaries of the more typical quest to enhance NOS instruction in the classroom. This extension now suggests personal epistemological beliefs may play a more powerful role in determining how NOS is learned and taught. It also has further ramifications in terms of predicting the vision of scientific literacy taught the classroom.

### Implications

Even with this new data, it is still unknown how much NOS knowledge and pedagogical skills are necessary to teach NOS in a manner reflective of the goals of the scientific community. As this research study demonstrated, even if constraints are removed and known best practices

are supported and encouraged, NOS is still mostly neglected in favor of the practice and skills of science or relegated to inclusion with the scientific method. Clearly, some level of NOS knowledge combined with the support to teach NOS was not enough to overcome the current schism between theory and practice. Given that NOS plays a major role in scientific literacy, it is vital to find ways to overcome known boundaries and help focus instruction.

Given the importance that some people in the science education community feel is essential to making science relevant for decisions about socio-scientific issues, the importance of the effect of personal epistemological belief on NOS instruction should not be overlooked. Perhaps the most important point is that further research is needed to better understand the complex relationship between these beliefs (personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS) and student outcomes (Hofer & Pintrich, 2002; Pajares, 1992; Schraw & Olafson, 2002). In other words, what is it we want students to be able to do? Is that outcome more aligned with Vision I (Roberts, 2007) of scientific literacy where the focus is on the facts of science and learning how to do science? Or is it on making sure students are able to use science in a practical way within their own lives, via Vision II (Roberts, 2007) or even Vision III to include the moral and ethical aspects of science as a societal endeavor (Zeidler & Keefer, 2003; Zeidler et al., 2005; Zeidler & Sadler, 2008)? As many in the science education community hope to move at minimum toward Robert's Vision II (2007) of scientific literacy, personal epistemological beliefs may play a large role in this transition.

Additional reasons to consider personal epistemological beliefs also exist with relation to Vision II of scientific literacy in terms of how we expect students to learn. It would make sense that if the goal is to produce students capable of using science effectively in their own lives, they must first be able to practice those skills. There is a growing body of research that suggests that

personal epistemologies play a crucial role in promoting the types of learning associated with Vision II (Feucht & Bendixen, 2010). Environments that do not foster critical thinking can be counter-productive to students (Chandler, et al., 2002; Feucht, 2008; Walton, 2000). Jonassen, Marra and Palmer (2004) claim students can have their learning impeded in a non-constructivist learning environment. In those situations, unfortunately, it is the teacher's subconscious epistemological beliefs that can have a major negative effect on student achievement (Calderhead, 1996). Furthermore, this lack of exposure to constructivist practices adversely affects the students' own developing epistemic beliefs (Bendixen & Rule, 2004) thereby making them less able to think critically and more reliant on authority for knowledge (Feucht & Bendixen, 2010). It is for these reasons, personal epistemological beliefs must become a focus of the educational community, not just for the teaching of NOS, but for the future of Vision II for both the teacher and the student.

Also, even though these personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS do have a high correlation, they are often distinct. Given that those participants with more positivist beliefs as measured by personal epistemological beliefs seem to be more prone to treat knowledge as transferrable as discrete units (Hagege et al., 2007), what does that mean for the teaching of NOS? Are these personal epistemological beliefs related to the importance factor often cited as a constraint to the teaching of NOS beyond the scientific method?

To improve the overall stock of science teachers, a greater importance must be placed on developing and shaping their personal epistemological beliefs. Given that epistemological beliefs are a more predictive factor in determining the types of instructional practices than either content knowledge or instructional strategies (Jones & Carter, 2007; Pajares, 1992; Richardson, 1996), personal epistemological beliefs must become a focus. Fenstermacher and Richardson (2000)

suggest good teaching within many pedagogical paradigms is synonymous with constructivist teaching. Unfortunately, it is not a matter of teaching teachers better techniques: the problem is far more complex. Cohen (1990) and, more recently, Tsai (2006), suggest the root of the problem is not the ability to learn better teaching techniques: rather, the problem is teachers' deep-rooted transmission beliefs. To summarize, as long as teachers have beliefs that are not associated with constructivism, they will struggle to teach science well, and especially NOS, with its philosophical roots in the construction of scientific knowledge. It is not to say a positivist style of teaching is ineffective, only that instructional method must be aligned to instructional goals (Kuhn, 2007).

To help the stock of current sixth grade teachers, there are several things that may need to occur if NOS instruction is to improve. As evidence by this research, time to teach NOS and even explicit concepts being included within curriculum maps is not enough to overcome barriers. Beyond professional development to increase understandings of NOS, which is needed in many cases, teachers need help to learn specific pedagogies to teach concepts of NOS in an effective manner. They also need professional development, or some type of focused response, to inspire personal epistemological growth. Teachers need to understand that students need to be constructing their own understand and not just be capable of parroting the teachers knowledge.

### Limitations

One limitation that became apparent was the immense geographical size of the district. Even though much time was allotted to carry out this research, the size of the district became a limiting factor. Combined with the more typical restrictions of school start times, varying lunch schedules, and differing teacher schedules, it became difficult to visit multiple schools in one

day. Because of this limitation, schools visits were usually limited to one or two schools per day. Given that restriction, I was not able to observe every teacher as they incorporated the same exact topics from the district's curriculum timeline. But again, as many of the teachers were not teaching the topics included on the curriculum maps, it may not have been a significant factor. In a perfect world, I would have limited my research to those participants working in nearby schools and included more teachers within the schools to provided adequate, more highly comparable participation.

Another limitation would be the ability to transfer these findings, either to different grades, different geographic regions, or even demographics. Given the District's range, having both urban and rural, it might not be possible to transfer these generalizations to other areas, whether they are all rural or strictly urban. The largest city in the District has also been recently ranked as one of the poorest in the Nation (Brookings Institute, 2010). Of the 170+ schools, 90 are Title I. Of the 18 middle schools within the District, 15 are Title I. Therefore, the transferability of the findings from this study to a more affluent area may be problematic.

Another limitation was the assumption teachers would closely follow and use the ample information about NOS on the District's Curriculum Maps. Such was not the case and much time was wasted by the researcher observing classroom where NOS topics should have been taught, but instead were by-passed by the teachers in favor of other content that was sometimes unrelated to the State's standards (Florida Department of Education, 2008). It was the limitation of not mandating lessons or at least seeing similar lessons that made drawing anything more than tentative conclusions difficult to make regarding broad claims about relationships between pedagogy and epistemological beliefs. Also, the fact that participants all had diverse

backgrounds of both science, the nature of science, and pedagogy to teach NOS, placed limitations on making claims.

The non-compliance issue of not following the prescribed curriculum, that should have benefitted NOS instruction, did little to support the transferability of this research. The knowledge gained from this investigation may be limited to other Districts with similar curricular non-compliance issues.

Perhaps the biggest limitation of the study was the self-selecting process, because it might not have garnered a true representative sample of the district. It is difficult to speculate if I was able to include those with epistemological beliefs lower than what was observed. It was unfortunate that the two participants that held more sophisticated epistemological beliefs were not included in Phase Two because of position changes and administrator reservations about the invasiveness of the research.

#### **Suggestions for Future Research**

Within this research project, important constraints that typically affect NOS instruction (e.g., not enough time to include NOS) were minimized with its inclusion into the prescribed curriculum to provide a focus on epistemological beliefs. Given the interesting relationship that developed between personal epistemological beliefs and understandings of NOS and their effect on instruction, what are the next steps? Further isolating restraints to instruction is recommended, such as choosing participants with firm knowledge of NOS and traditional science content knowledge, having all participants participate in professional development to inform about appropriate pedagogy, and providing better scripted curriculum to include specific activities. Also, examining epistemological beliefs as coping mechanisms may prove fruitful.

The interviews moreover revealed that those participants with higher personal epistemological beliefs voiced fewer concerns about constraints to their instruction.

A final thought concerns future direction to look more closely at NOS as a vehicle to improve decision-making through socioscientific issues (SSI). Those participants with more constructivist beliefs related to their personal epistemological beliefs seemed to embrace a more progressive view of scientific literacy. Because they may have felt students needed to learn how to use science in a relevant manner, it would seem prudent to look more closely at this relationship between personal epistemological beliefs and visions of scientific literacy.

Overall, this research provides an additional examination of the problems associated with students' general lack of NOS knowledge. Much of the typical constraints to teaching NOS, such as teacher knowledge, pedagogy, and institutional constraints of various kinds, and the importance factor still present a large barrier that is not very well understood. This research furthermore provides the science education community with an indication of how the relationship between understandings of NOS and personal epistemological beliefs may play a role in the importance teachers place on NOS.

## References

- Abd-El-Khalik, F. (1998). The influence of history of science courses on students' conceptions of the nature of science. *Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Oregon State University*.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F. (1999). *Nature of science: An overview*. Unpublished manuscript, American University of Beirut.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F. (2001). Embedding nature of science instruction in preservice elementary science courses: Abandoning scientism, but .... *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 12(3), 215–233.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F. (2003). Socioscientific issues in pre-college science classrooms. In D. Zeidler, *The Role of Moral Reasoning on Socioscientific Issues and Discourse in Science Education* (pp. 41-62). Dordrecht,, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F. (2005). Developing deeper understandings of nature of science: The impact of a philosophy of science course on preservice science teachers' views and instructional planning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 27(1), 15-42.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F., & Akerson, V. (2004). Learning as conceptual change: Factors mediating the development of preservice elementary teachers' views of nature of science. *Science Education*, 88, 785-810.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F., & Akerson, V. L. (2009). The influence of metacognitive training on preservice elementary teachers' conceptions of nature of science. *International Journal of Science Education*, *31*(16), 2161-2184.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F., & BouJaoude, S. (1997). An exploratory study of the knowledge base for science teaching. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *34*(7), 673 699.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F., & Lederman, N. G. (1998, April). Improving science teachers' conceptions of the nature of science: A critical review of the literature. *Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching*,. San Diego, CA.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F., & Lederman, N. G. (2000a). Improving science teachers' conceptions of nature of science: A critical review of the literature. *International Journal of Science Education*, 22(7), 665–701.

- Abd-El-Khalik, F., & Lederman, N. G. (2000b). The influence of history of science courses on students' views of nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *37*(10), 1057 1095.
- Abd-El-Khalik, F., Bell, R. L., & Lederman, N. G. (1998). The nature of science and instructional practice: Making the unnatural natural. *Science Education*, 82(4), 417 436.
- Abd-El-Khalick, F., Waters, M. and Le, A.-P. (2008), Representations of nature of science in high school chemistry textbooks over the past four decades. Journal of Research of Science Teaching, 45, 835–855. doi: 10.1002/tea.20226
- Abd-El-Khalik, F., BouJaoude, S., Duschl, R., Lederman, N. G., Mamlok-Naaman, R., Hofstein, A., . . . Tuan, H. (2004). Inquiry in science education: International perspectives. *Science Education*, 88, 397–419.
- Abell, S. K., & Smith, D. (1994). What is science? Preservice elementary teachers' conceptions of the nature of science. *International Journal of Science Education*, *16*(4), 475-487.
- Achieve, Inc. (2013). Next Genertion Science Standards. Achieve, Inc.
- Adams, A. D., & Chiappetta, E. L. (1998). Students' beliefs, attitudes, and conceptual change in a traditional high school physics classroom. *Paper presented at the annual meeting annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association*. San Diego, CA.
- Aguirre, J., Haggerty, S., & Linder, C. J. (1990). Student-teachers' conceptions of science, teaching and learning: a case study in preservice science education. *International Journal* of Science Education, 12(4), 381–390.
- Aikenhead, G. (1973). The measurement of high school students' knowledge about science and scientists'. *Science Education*, *57*, 539-549.
- Aikenhead, G., & Ryan, A. (1992). The development of a new instrument: 'Views on Science-Technology-Society' (VOSTS). *Science Education*, *76*, 477-492.
- Aikenhean, G., Orpwood, G., & Fensham, P. (2011). Scientific literacy for a knowledge society.In O. L. Linder C., (*Eds*) Exploring the Landscape of Scientific Literacy (pp. 28-44). New York: Routledge.
- Akerson, V. L., & Hanuscin, D. L. (2007). Teaching nature of science through inquiry: Results of a 3-year professional development program. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 44(5), 653–680.
- Akerson, V. L., Abd-El-Khalik, F., & Lederman, N. G.-b. (2000). The influence of a reflective activity-based approach on elementary teachers' conceptions of the nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37, 295–317.

- Akerson, V. L., Buzzelli, C. A., & Donnelly, L. A. (2008). Early childhood teachers' views of nature of science: The influence of intellectual levels, cultural values, and explicit reflective teaching. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 45, 748–770.
- Akerson, V., & Volrich, M. (2006). Teaching nature of science explicitly in a first-grade internship setting. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *43*, 377–394.
- Akerson, V., Buzzelli, C., & Donnelly, L. O. (2010). On the Nature of Teaching Nature of Science: Preservice Early Childhood Teachers' Instruction in Preschool and Elementary Settings. *Journal Of Research In Science Teaching*, 47(2), 213–233.
- Akerson, V., Morrison, J., & McDuffie, A. (2006). One course is not enough: Preservice elementary teachers' retention of improved views of nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 43(2), 194–213.
- Akindehin, F. (1998). Effect of an instructional package on preservice science teachers' understanding of the nature of science and acquisition of science-related attitudes. *Science Education*, 72, 73-82.
- Akpan, B. B. (2010). Innovations in science and technology education through science teacher associations. *Science Education International*, 21(2), 67-79.
- Allchin, D. (2011). Evaluating knowledge of the nature of (whole) science. *Science Education*, 95, 518–542. doi:10.1002/sce.20432
- Allchin, D. (2012). Toward clarity on whole science and KNOWS. *Science Education*, 96(4), 693–700. doi:DOI 10.1002/sce.21017
- Alters, B. J. (1997). Whose Nature of Science? *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *34*(1), 39-55.
- Alvesson, M., & Skoldberg, K. (2009). Reflexive methodology (2nd ed.). London: SAGE.
- American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS). (1989). Science for all Americans: A project 2061 report on literacy goals in science, mathematics, and technology. Washington, DC: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS). (1990). Science for all Americans. New York: Oxford University Press.
- American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS). (1993). Benchmarks for science literacy: A Project 2061 report. New York: Oxford University Press.
- American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS). (1997). *Resources for science literacy: Professional development*. New York: Oxford University Press.

- American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS). (2009). *Benchmarks for scientific literacy (revised)*. Retrieved September 20, 2010, from www.project2061.org/publications/bsl/online/index.php
- Anderson, Ronald D. (2007). Inquiry as an organising theme for science curricula. Abell,
  Sandra.K. & Lederman, Norman G. (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Science Education* (p. 807-830). London. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Applefield, J., Huber, R., & Moallem, M. (2001). Constructivism in theory and practice: Toward a better understanding. *The High School Journal*, *84*(2), 35-53.
- Australian Science Teachers Association. (2009). *Charter for the Australian teaching profession: A statement of values and commitments.* Australian Institute for Teaching and Schools Limited. Retrieved May 3, 2012, from http://asta.edu.au/resources/professional\_standards/asta\_teachingaus\_ps
- Bakken, L., Thompson, J., Clark, F., Johnson, N., & Dwyer, K. (2001). Making conservationists and classifiers of preoperational fifth-grade children. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 95(1), 56-61.
- Barnes, D. (1970). Identifying and using critical thinking skills in the elementary classroom. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. EJO34804).
- Baviskar, S., Hartley, T., & Whitney, T. (2009). Essential criteria to characterize constructivist teaching: Derived from a review of the literature and applied to five constructivist-teaching method articles. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(4), 541 550.
- Behnke, F. L. (1950). Reactions of scientists and science teachers to statements bearing on certain aspects of science and science teaching. *School Science and Mathematics*, 61, 193-207.
- Belenky, M. F., Clinchy, B. M., Goldberger, N. R., & Tarule, J. M. (1986.). Women's Ways of *Knowing*. New York: Basic Books.
- Bell, B. F., & Pearson, J. (1992). Better learning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 14(3), 349-361.
- Bell, B. F., & Pearson, J. (1992). Better learning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 14(3), 349-361.
- Bell, P., & Linn, M. B. (2002). Beliefs about science: How does science instruction contribute? In B. Hofer, & P. Pintrich, (*Eds.*). *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 191-208). Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Bell, R. (1996). Secondary teachers' conceptions of the nature of science: Their relationship to classroom practice and student learning. Corvallis, Oregon: Unpublished manuscript, Oregon State University.
- Bell, R. (2003). Exploring the role of NOS understandings in decision-making. In D. Zeidler, (Eds) The role of moral reasoning on socioscientific issues and discourse in science education. The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Press.
- Bell, R. L., & Lederman, N. G. (2003). Understandings of the nature of science and decision making on science and technology based issues. *Science Education*, 87, 352-377.
- Bell, R. L., Lederman, N. G., & Abd-El-Khalik, F. (2000). Developing and acting upon one's conception of the nature of science: A follow-up study. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37, 563–581.
- Bell, R., Matkins, J., & Gansneder, B. (2011). Impacts of contextual and explicit instruction on preservice elementary teachers' understandings of the nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 48(4), 414-436.
- Bendixen, L., & Rule, D. (2004). An integrative approach to personal epistemology: A guiding model. *Educational Psychologist*, *39*(1), 69-80.
- Benson, G. (1989). Epistemology and science education. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 21, 329-344.
- Bentley, M. L., & Fleury, S. C. (1998). Of starting points and destinations: Teacher education and the nature of science. In W. McComas, (*Eds*) The nature of science and science education: Rationales and strategies (pp. 277–291). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Billeh, V., & Hasan, O. (1975). Factors affecting teachers' gains in understanding the nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 12, 209-219.
- Board of Science Education, U.S. National Academies of Sciences. (2010). *Draft of the conceptual framework for the new science education standards*. Washington, DC: National Academies. Retrieved July 30, 2010, from www7.nationalacademies.org/bose/Standards
- Bogdan, R., & & Biklen, S. (2003). *Qualitative research for education* (4th ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- BouJaoude, S. (2000). Conceptions of science teaching revealed by metaphors and by answers to open-ended questions. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, *11*, 173-186.
- Boulton-Lewis, G., Smith, D. J., McCrindle, A., Burnett, P., & Campbell, K. (2001). Secondary teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning. *Learning and Instruction*, 11(1), 35-51.
- Bransford, J. D., & Donovan, S. (2005). *How Students Learn: History, Mathematics, and Science in the Classroom.* Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press.
- Brickhouse, N. (1990). Teachers' beliefs about the nature of science and their relationship to classroom practice. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *41*(3), 53-62.
- Brickhouse, N., Dagher, Z., Letts, W., & Shipman, H. (2000). Diversity of students' views about evidence, theory, and the interface between science and religion in an astronomy course. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *37*, 340–362.
- Britner, S. L. (2008). Motivation in high school science students: A comparison of gender differences in life, physical, and earth science classes. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 45, 955-970.
- Broadhurst, N. A. (1970). A study of selected learning outcomes of graduating high school students in South Australian schools. *Science Education*, 54, 17-21.
- Brooks, J. G., & Brooks, M. G. (1993). *The case for constructivist classrooms*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Brophy, J. (2002). *Social constructivist teaching: Affordances and constraints*. Oxford: Elsevier Science, Ltd.
- Brown, J., Collins, A., & Duguid, P. (1989). Situated cognition and the culture of learning. *Educational Researcher*, *17*, 32–42.
- Buehl, M. M., & Alexander, P. A. (2005). Motivation and performance differences in students' domain-specific epistemological belief profiles. *American Education Research Journal*, 42, 697–726.
- Buehl, M. M., & Alexander, P. A. (2006). Examining the dual nature of epistemological beliefs. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 45, 28–42.
- Buehl, M. M., Alexander, P. A., & Murphy, P. K. (2002). Beliefs about schooled knowledge: domain specific or domain general? *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 27, 415– 449.
- Bybee, R. (2008). Scientific literacy, environmental issues, and PISA 2006: The 2008 Paul F-Brandwein Lecture. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, *17*, 566–585.
- Bybee, R., Fensham, P., & Laurie, R. (2009). Scientific literacy and contexts in PISA 2006. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(8), 862-864.

- Calderhead, J. I. (1996). Teachers: Beliefs and knowledge. In D. Berliner, & R. Calfee, (*Eds.*), *Handboook of educational psychology* (pp. 709-25). New York: MacMillan.
- Carey, R. L., & Stauss, N. G. (1968). An analysis of the understanding of the nature of science by prospective secondary science teachers. *Science Education*, *52*, 358-363.
- Carey, R., & Stauss, N. (1969). An analysis of the relationship between prospective science teachers' understanding of the nature of science and certain academic variables. *Bulletin* of the Georgia Academy of Science, 27, 148-158.
- Carey, R., & Strauss, N. (1970, May). An analysis experienced science teachers' understanding of the nature of science. *School Science and Mathematics*, 366-376.
- Carey, S. S. (1994). *A beginner's guide to scientific method*. Belmont, California: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Carey, S., & Smith, C. (1993). On understanding the nature of science of scientific knowledge. *Educational Psychologist*, 28, 235-251.
- Central Association of Science and Mathematics Teachers. (1907). A consideration of the principles that should determine the courses in biology in the secondary schools. *School Science and Mathematics*, 7, 241-247.
- Chalmers, A. (1990). *Science and its Fabrication*. Minneapolis, Minnesota: University of Minnesota Press.
- Chandler, M. (1988). Constructive Evolution. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Chandler, M. J. (1987). The Othello effect: Essays on the emergence and eclipse of skeptical doubt. *Human Development*, *30*, 137-59.
- Chandler, M. J., Hawllett, D., & Sokol, B. (2002). Competing claims about competing knowledge claims. In B. Hofer, & P. Pintrich, (*Eds.*) Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing (pp. 145-168). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Chisum, W. T. (2007). Crime Reconstruction. Boston: Elsevier Science.
- Moon-Heum Cho, M-H, Lankford, D.M., & Wescott, D. J (2011). <u>Exploring the relationships</u> <u>among epistemological beliefs, nature of science, and conceptual change in the learning</u> <u>of evolutionary theory</u>. Springer Online, 4, 313-322. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12052-011-0324-7</u>

- Clinchy, B. M. (2002). Revisiting women's ways of knowing. In B. K. Hofer, & P. R. Pintrich, (*Eds.*), *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 63-87). Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Clough, M. P. (1997). Strategies and activities for initiating and maintaining ressure on students' naïve views concerning the nature of science. *Interchange*, 28(2-3), 191-204.
- Clough, M. P. (1998). Integrating the Nature of Science with Student Teaching: Rationales and Strategies. In W. F. McComas, *The Nature of Science in Science Education: Rationales* and Strategies (pp. 197-208). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Clough, M. P. (2003). Explicit but insufficient: Additional considerations for successful NOS Instruction. *Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Association for the Education of Teachers*. St. Louis, MO.
- Clough, M. P. (2004). The Nature of Science: Understanding How the "Game" of Science is Played. In J. Weld, (*Eds.*) *The Game of Science Education* (pp. 198-227). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Clough, M. P. (2006). Learners' responses to the demands of conceptual change: Considerations for effective nature of science instruction. *Science & Education*, 15(5), 463 494.
- Clough, M. P. (2007). Teaching the Nature of Science to Secondary and Post-Secondary Students: Questions Rather Than Tenets. *The Pantaneto Forum, 25*. Retrieved from http://www.pantaneto.co.uk/issue25/front25.htm
- Cohen, A. D. (1990). *Language learning: Insights for learners, instructors, and researchers.* New York: Newbury House/HarperCollins.
- Collins, H. M. (1986). Uncovering the nature of science. Times Higher Educational Supplement.
- Collins, H. M., & Pinch, T. (1998). *The golem: What you should know about science* (2nd ed.). Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Collins, H. M., & Shapin, S. (1986). Uncovering the nature of science . *Times Higher Educational Supplement*, 13-19.
- Cotham, J., & Smith, E. (1981). Development and validation of the conceptions of scientific theories test. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *18*(5), 387-396.
- Denzin, N. K. (1970). The Research Act in Sociology. Chicago: Aldine.
- Devitt, M. (2001). A shocking idea about meaning. *Revue Internationale de Philosophie*, 55(218), 471-494.

- Dewey, J. (1933). *How we think*. Buffalo, NY: Prometheus Books (Original work published 1910).
- Dewey, J. (1966/1916). Democracy and Education. An introduction to the philosophy of education (1916 edn). New York: Free Press.
- Donnelly, J. (1999). Interpreting differences: the educational aims of teachers of science and history, and their implication. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *31*(1), 17–41.
- Driver, R., Leach, J., Millar, R., & Scott, P. (1996). *Young people's images of science*. Bristol, PA: Open University Press.
- Driver, R., Newton, P., & Osborne, J. (2000). Establishing the norms of scientific argumentation in classrooms. *Science Education*, *84*, 287-312.
- Duell, O., & Schommer, M. (2001). Measures of people's beliefs about knowledge and learning. *Educational Psychological Review*, 11, 419–490.
- Duit, R., Gropengieber, H., & Kattmann, U. (2005). *Developing Standards in Research on Science Education*, London: Taylor and Francis, 1–9.
- Duschl, R. A. (1990). Restructuring science education. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Duschl, R. A., & Osborne, J. (2002). Supporting and promoting argumentation discourse in science education. *Studies in Science Education*, *38*, 39-72.
- Duschl, R., & Wright, E. (1989). A case study of high school teachers' decision making models for planning and teaching science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 26, 467-501.
- Eastwood, J., Sadler, T., Zeidler, D., Lewis, A., Amiri, L., & Applebaum, S. (2012). Contextualizing nature of science instruction in socioscientific issues. *International Journal of Science Educatio*, 34(15), 2289-2315.
- Edmonson, K. M., & Novak, J. D. (1993). The interplay of scientific epistemological views, learning strategies, and attitudes of college students. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *30*(6), 547–559.
- Elby, A. (2009). Defining personal epistemology: A response to Hofer & Pintrich and Sandova. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 8(1), 138-149.
- Elder, A. (2002). Characterizing fifth grade students' epistemological beliefs in science. In B.
   Hofer, & P. Pintrich, (*Eds.*). *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 191-208). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Fensham, P. (2008). Science education policy-making. Paris: UNESCO.

- Fenstermacher, G. D., & Richardson, V. (2000). On Making Determinations of Quality in Teaching. Paper commissioned by the Board on International Comparative Studies in Education of the National Academies/National Research Council.
- Feucht, F. (2008). *The nature of epistemic climates in elementary classrooms*. Las Vegas: Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation. University of Las Vegas.
- Feucht, F. C. (2010). Epistemic climate in elementary classrooms. In L. D. Bendixen, & F. C. Feucht, *Personal epistemology in the classroom: Theory, research, and educational implications* (pp. 55-93). New York : Cambridge University Press.
- Feucht, F., & Bendixen, L. D. (2010). Exploring similarities and differences in personal epistemologies of U.S. and German elementary school teachers. *Cognition and Instruction*, 28(1), 39-69.
- Feucht, F., & Bendixen, L. D. (2010). Personal epistemology in the classroom: A welcome and guide for the reader . In L. Bendixen, & F. Feucht, (*Eds*). *Personal Epistemology in the Classroom* (pp. 3-28). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Florida Department of Education. (2012). *Next Generation Sunshine State Standards (NGSSS)*. Retrieved from Collaborate, Plan, Align, Learn, Motivate, Share (CPALMS) : http://www.cpalms.org/Standards/FLStandardSearch.aspx
- Fosmot, C. (1996). Constructivism: A psychological theory of learning. In C. T. Fosmot, (*Eds.*), *Constructivism: Theory, perspectives, and practice* (pp. 8-33). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Fraenkel, J., & Wallen, N. (2003). *How to design and evaluate research in education (5th ed.)*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Fraser, B. J. (1980). Science teacher characteristics and student attitudinal outcomes. *School Science and Mathematics*, *80*, 300-308.
- Freedman, M. P. (1997). Relationships among laboratory instruction, attitude toward science, and achievement in science knowledge. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 34(4), 343-357.
- Freedman, M. P. (2002). The influence of laboratory instruction on science achievement and attitude toward science across gender differences. *Journal of Women and Minorities in Science and Engineering*, 8(2), 191-200.
- Gallagher, J. J. (1991). Prospective and practicing secondary school science teachers' knowledge and beliefs about the philosophy of science. *Science Education*, 75(1), 121-133.

- Gibbs, A., & Lawson, A. E. (1992). The nature of scientific thinking as reflected by the work of biologists and by biology textbooks. *American Biology Teacher*, *54*(3), 137-152.
- Gibson, H. L., & Chase, C. (2002). Longitudinal impact of an inquiry-based science program on middle school students' attitudes toward science. *Science Education*, *86*(5), 693-705.
- Giere, R. N. (1988). *Exploring Science: A Cognitive Approach*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Gilbert, J. (2005). *Catching the knowledge wave? The knowledge society and the future of education*. Wellington, NZ: NZCER Press.
- Gilbert, J., & Swift, D. (1985). Towards a lakotosian analysis of the piagetian and alternative conceptions research programs. *Science Education*, *69*, 681-696.
- Giordan, A., & De Veechi, G. (1987). Les urigenes du savi. Paris: Dalachaus.
- Gjertsen, D. (1989). Science and philosophy past and present. New York: Penguin Books.
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). *Discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. Chicago: Aldine.

Glaserfield, E. (2001). The radical constructivist view of science. Foundations of Science, (6)1-3, 31-43.

- Gruber, H. E. (1960). Science teachers and the scientific attitude: an appraisal of an academic year institute. *Science*, *132*, 467-468.
- Gruber, H. E. (1963). Science as doctrine or thought? A critical study of nine academic year institutes. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 1(2), 124-128.
- Gustafson, B. J., & Rowell, P. M. (1995). Elementary preservice teachers: constructing conceptions about learning science, teaching science and the nature of science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 17(5), 589–605.
- Hagège, H., Dartnell, C., & Sallantin, J. (2007). Positivism Against Constructivism: A Network Game to Learn Epistemology. *In Discovery Science: 10th International Conference, DS* 2007, (pp. 91-103). Sendai, Japan.
- Hammer, D. (1994). Epistemological beliefs in introductory physics. *Cognition and Instruction*, *12*(2), 151-183.
- Hammrich, P. (1997). Yes daughter you can: Empowering parents is the first step toward improving females' achievement in science. *Science and Children*, *34*(4), 21-24.

- Hammrich, P. L. (1998). Sisters in science: An intergenerational science program for elementary school girls. *The School to Community Journal*, 8(2), 21-36.
- Handelsman, J., Ebert-May, D., Beichner, R., Bruns, P., Chang, A., & DeHaan, R. (2004). Scientific teaching. *Science*, *304*(5670), 521–522.
- Harris, K. R., & Graham, S. (1996). Constructivism and students with special needs: Issues in the classroom. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, *11*, 134-137.
- Hashweh, M. (1985). An exploratory study of teacher knowledge and teaching: The effects of science teachers' knowledge of subject-matter and their conceptions of learning on their teaching. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Stanford University: California.
- Hashweh, M. (1996). Effects of science teachers' epistemological beliefs in teaching. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 33, 47-63.
- Hazen, R. (2002). Why Should You Be Scientifically Literate? *ActionBioscience.org*. Retrieved August 7, 2011 , from http://www.actionbioscience.org/newfrontiers/hazen.html
- Herman, B. C., Clough, M. P., & Olson, J. K. (2013). Teachers' nature of science implementation practices 2–5 years after having completed an intensive science education program. *Science Education*, 97, 271–309. doi:10.1002/sce.21048
- Hobson, A. (2008). The surprising effectiveness of college scientific literacy courses. *The Physics Teacher*, *46*(7), 404-406.
- Hodson, D. (1993). Philosophic stance of secondary school science teachers, curriculum experiences and children's understanding of science; some preliminary findings. *Interchange*, 24(1-2), 41 52.
- Hofer, B. (2006). Beliefs about knowledge and knowing: Integrating domain specificity and domain Generality: A response to Muis, Bendixen, and Haerle. *Educational Psychology Review*, 18(1).
- Hofer, B. K. (2001). Personal epistemology research: implications for learning and teaching. *Educational Psychology Review*, *13*(4), 353–383.
- Hofer, B. K. (2002). Personal epistemology as a psychological and educational construct: An introduction. In B. K. Hofer, & P. R. Pintrich, *Personal epistemology: the psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing*. Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Hofer, B., & Pintrich, P. (1997). The development of epistemological theories: Beliefs about knowledge and knowing and their relation to learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 67, 88-140.

- Hofer, B., & Sinatra, G. (2010). Epistemology, Metacognition, and Self-Regulation: Musings on an Emerging Field. *Metacognition and Learning*, 5(1), 113-120.
- Horizon Research.Com . (2000). Validity and Reliability Information for the LSC Classroom Observation Protocol. Retrieved from www.horizonresearch.com/LSC/news/cop\_validity\_2000.pdf
- Howard, B., McGee, S., Schwartz, N., & Purcell, P. (2000). The experience of constructivism: Transforming teacher epistemology. *Journal of Research on Computing in Education*, 32(4), 455-465.
- Inhelder, B., & Piaget, J. (1958). *The Growth of Logical Thinking from Childhood to Adolescence*. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- International Council of Associations for Science Education. (2007). *The Perth Declaration on Science and Technology Education*. Perth, Australia: Australian Science Teachers Association (ASTA) . Retrieved May 19, 2012, from http://www.icaseonline.net/perth.pdf
- International Council of Associations for Science Education. (2009). *ICASE Position Paper: Sustainability / Environmental Education*. Retrieved from International Council of Associations for Science Education (ICASE).: http://www.icaseonline.net/sus\_pos.html
- Jehng, J., Johnson, S., & Anderson, R. (1993). Schooling and students' epistemological beliefs about learning. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 18, 23-35.
- Jelinek, D. (1998, April). Student perceptions of the nature of science and attitudes towards science education in an experiential science program. *Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching*. San Diego, CA.
- Jenkins, E. (2000). 'Science for all': Time for a paradigm shift? . In R. R. Millar, J. Leach, & J. Osborne, (*Eds.*), *Improving science education: The contribution of research* (pp. 207-226). Buckingham, UK: Open University Press.
- Johnston, A. T., & Southerland, S. A. (2002, April). Conceptual ecologies and their influence on nature of science conceptions: More dazed and confused than ever. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the National Association for Research in ScienceScience Teaching . New Orleans, LA.
- Johnston, P., Woodside-Jiron, H., & Day, J. (2001). Teaching and learning literate epistemologies. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *93*(1), 223-233.
- Jonassen, D. (1991). Objectivism vs. constructivism: Do we need a philosophical paradigm? *Educational Technology Research and Development, 39*, 5-14.

- Jonassen, D. H., Marra, R. M., & Palmer, B. (2004). Epistemological development: An implicit entailment of constructivist learning environments. In N. Seel, & S. Dikjstra, (*Eds.*), *Curriculum, plans and processes in instructional design: International perspectives* (pp. 75–88). Mahwah, N J: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Jones, M. G., & Carter, G. (2007). Science teacher attitudes and beliefs. In S. Abell, & N. Lederman, (*Eds.*), *Handbook of research on science education* (pp. 1067-1104). Mahwah, New Jerse: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Kang, N., & Wallace, C. W. (2004). Secondary science teachers' use of laboratory activities: Linking epistemological beliefs, goals, and practices. *Science Education*, 89, 140–165.
- Karakas, M. (2007). The influence of constructivism on nature of Science as an area of research and as a classroom subject. *Asia-Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching*, 8(2).
- Kattmann, U., Duit, R., Gropengieber, H., & Komorek, M. (1996). Educational reconstruction bringing together issues of scientific clarification and students' conceptions. *Paper* presented at the Annual Meeting of the National Association of Research in Science Teaching (NARST), St. Louis, Mo.
- Kendall, J. S., & Marzano, R. J. (2000). *Content knowledge: A compendium of standards and benchmarks for K–12 education (3rd ed.)*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Khishfe, R., & Abd-El-Khalik, F. (2002). Influence of explicit and reflective versus implicit inquiry-oriented instruction on sixth graders' views of nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *39*(7), 551-578.
- Khishfe, R., & Lederman, N. (2006). Teaching nature of science within a controversial topic: Integrated versus nonintegrated. *Journal of Research In Science Teaching*, 43(4), 395–418.
- Khishfe, R., & Lederman, N. (2007). Relationship between instructional context and views of nature of science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 29(8), 939 961.
- Kimball, M. (1967-1968). Understanding the nature of science: A comparison of scientists and science teachers. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *5*(2), 110-120.
- King, B. B. (1991). Beginning teachers' knowledge of and attitudes toward history and philosophy of science. *Science Education*, *75*(1), 135-141.
- King, P. M., & Kitchener, K. S. (1994). Developing reflective judgment: Understanding and promoting intellectual growth and critical thinking in adolescents and adults. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- King, P. M., & Kitchener, K. S. (2002). The reflective judgment model: Twenty years of research on epistemic cognition. In B. K. Hofer, & P. R. Pintrich, (*Eds.*), *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 37-61). Mahway, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum, Publisher.
- Kirschner, P. A., Sweller, J., & Clark, R. E. (2006). Why minimal guidance during instruction does not work: An analysis of the failure of constructivist, discovery, problem-based, experiential, and inquiry-based teaching. *Educational Psychologist*, 41, 75–86.
- Kitchener, R. (2002). Folk epistemology: An introduction. New Ideas in Psychology, 20, 89-105.
- Klopfer, L., & Watson, F. (1957). Historical materials and high school science teaching. *The Science Teacher*, *24*, 264–293.
- Koballa, T., Graber, W., Coleman, D. C., & Kemp, A. C. (2000). Prospective gymnasium teachers' conceptions of chemistry learning and teaching. *International Journal of Science Education*, 22(2), 209–224.
- Kornbeck, J. & Rosendal Jensen, N. (2009) 'Introduction: Social pedagogy in europe diverse with common features', in Kornbeck, J. and Rosendal Jensen, N. (eds), *The diversity of social pedagogy in europe*, Bremen, Europäischer Hochschulverlag.
- Kuhn, D. (1991). The skill of argument. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kuhn, D. (1999). A developmental model of critical thinking. *Educational Researcher*, 28, 16-46.
- Kuhn, D. (2007). Is direct instruction an answer to the right question? *Educational Psychologist*, 42(2), 109–113.
- Kuhn, D., & Weinstock, M. (2002). What is epistemological thinking and why does it matter? In B. K. Hofer, & P. R. Pintrich, (*Eds.*), *Personal Epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 121-144). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Kuhn, D., Amsel, E., & O'Loughlin, M. (1989). *The development of scientific thinking skills*. New York: Academic Press.
- Kuhn, D., Cheney, R., & Weinstock, M. (2000). The development of developmental understandings. *Cognitive Development*, 15, 309-328.
- Kuhn, T. S. (1962). *The structure of scientific revolutions*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

- Lagemann, E. C. (1989). The plural worlds of educational research. *History of Education Quarterly*, 29, 185–214.
- Lakin, S., & Wellington, J. (1994). Who will teach the 'nature of science'? Teachers' views of science and their implications for science education. *International Journal of Science Education*, 16(2), 175–190.
- Lanier, J. E., & Little, J. W. (1986). Research on teacher education. In M. C. Wittrock, (*Eds.*) *Handbook of research on teaching, (3rd ed.)* (pp. 527–569). New York: Macmillan.
- Larkin, D., Seyforth, S., & Lasky, H. (2009). Implementing and sustaining science curriculum reform: A study of leadership practices among teachers within a high school science department. *Journal Of Research In Science Teaching*, 46(7), 813–835.
- Lawson, A. (1982). The nature of advanced reasoning and science instruction. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *19*, 743–760.
- Lederman, N. (1983). Delineating classroom variables related to students' conceptions of the nature of science. (Doctoral dissertation, Syracuse University), 1983 Dissertation Abstracts International, 5-02A, 0483.
- Lederman, N. (1992). Students' and teachers conceptions of the nature of science: A review of the research. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 29, 331-359.
- Lederman, N. (1999). Teachers' understanding of the nature of science and classroom practice: Factors that facilitate or impede the relationship. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *36*(8), 916–929.
- Lederman, N. (2007). The nature of science: Past, present, and future. In S. A. Lederman, (*Eds.*), *Handbook of Research on Science Education*. London: Lawrence Erlbaum & Associates.
- Lederman, N., & Abd-El-Khalik, F. (1998). Avoiding de-natured science: Activities that promote understandings of the nature of science. In W. McComas, (*Eds.*), *The nature of science in science education: Rationales and strategies* (pp. pp. 83 – 126). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer.
- Lederman, N., & Druger, M. (1985). Classroom factors related to changes in students' conceptions of the nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 22(7), 649–662.
- Lederman, N., & Lederman, J. (2004). Revising instruction to teach nature of science. *The Science Teacher*, *71*(9), 36.
- Lederman, N., & Niess, M. (1997). The nature of science: Naturally? . *School Science and Mathematics*, *97*, 1-2.

- Lederman, N., & O'Malley, M. (1990). Students' perceptions of tentativeness in science: Development, use, and sources of change. *Science Education*, 74, 225–239.
- Lederman, N., & Zeidler, D. (1987). Science teachers' conceptions of the nature of science: Do they really influence teacher behavior? *Science Education*, 74, 225-239.
- Lederman, N., Abd-El-Khalik, F., & Bell, R. L. (2001). If we want to talk the talk we must also walk the walk: The nature of science, professional development and educational reform. In J. Rhoton, & P. S. Bowers, (*Eds.*), *Professional development: Planning and design* (pp. 25 42). Arlington, VA: National Science Teachers Association Press.
- Lederman, N., Abd-El-Khalik, F., Bell, R. L., & Schwartz, R. (2002). Views of nature of science questionnaire (VNOS): Toward valid and meaningful assessment of learners' conceptions of nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *39*(6), 497-521.
- Lederman, N., Schwartz, R., Abd-El-Khalik, F., & Bell, R. (2001). Preservice teachers' understanding and teaching of nature of science: An intervention study. *Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education*, 1(2), 135 – 160.
- Ledoux, M., & McHenry, N. (2004). A constructivist approach in the interdisciplinary instruction of science and language arts methods. *Science Teaching*, *15*(4), 385-399.
- Lemke, J. (1990). Talking science: Language, learning and values. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Levitt, K. (2001). An analysis of elementary teachers' beliefs regarding the reaching and learning of science. *Science Education*, *86*, 1-22.
- Lewis, J., & Leach, J. (2006). Discussion of socio-scientific issues: The role of science knowledge. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(11), 1267-1287.
- Liang, L. L., Chen, S., Chen, X., Kaya, O. N., Adams, A. D., Macklin, M., & Ebenezer, J. (2008). Assessing preservice elementary teachers' views on the nature of scientific knowledge: a dual-response instrument. *Asia-Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching*.
- Linn, M. C., & Hsi, S. (2000). *Computers, teachers, peers: Science learning partners*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Lonka, K., Joran, E., & Brysin, M. (1996). Conceptions of learning and knowledge: Does training make a difference? *Contemporary Education Psycholog*, *21*, 240-260.
- Lord, T. (1998). Cooperative learning that really works in biology teaching. Using constructivist based activities to challenge student teams. *The American Biology Teacher*, 60(8), 580-588.

- Lorsbach, A. W., Tobin, K., Briscoe, C., & LaMaster, S. U. (1995). An interpretation of assessment in middle school science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 14(3), 305-317.
- Lorsbach, A., & Tobin, K. (1993). Constructivism as a referent for science teaching. *NARST News*, *34*(3), 9-11.
- Loving, C. (1997). From the summit of truth to its slippery slopes: Science education's journey through positivist-postmodern territory. *American Educational Research Journal*, 34(3), 421–452.
- Loyens, S. M., Rikers, R. M., & Schmidt, H. G. (2009). Students' conceptions of constructivist learning in different programme years and different learning environments. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 79, 501–514.
- Mackay, L. D. (1971). Development of understanding about the nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 8, 57-66.
- Magolda, B. (2002). Epistemological reflection. In B. K. Hofer, & P. R. Pintrich, (Eds.), Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing (pp. 231-260). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Marin, N., Benarroch, A., & Jimenez-Gomez, E. (2000). What is the relationship between social constructivism and Piagetian constructivism? An analysis of the characteristics of the ideas within both theories. *International Journal of Science Education*, 22(3), 225 238.
- Marks, R., & Eiks, I. (2009). Promoting scientific literacy using a sociocritical and problemoriented approach to chemistry teaching: Concepts, examples, experiences . *International Journal of Environmental & Science Education*, 4(3), 231-245.
- Mason, L. (2010). Beliefs about knowledge and revisions of knowledge: on the importance of epistemic beliefs for intentional conceptual change in elementary and middle school students. In L. Bendixen, & F. Feucht, (*Eds.*), *Personal Epistemology in the Classroom* (pp. 258-291). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mason, L., Gava, M., & Boldrin, A. (2008). On warm conceptual change: the interplay of text, epistemological beliefs, and topic interest. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *100*(2), 291–309.
- Matthews, M. R. (1994). *Science teaching: The role of history and philosophy of science*. London: Routledge.
- Matthews, M. R. (1998). (ed.), Constructivism in Science Education. Dordrecht: Kluwer.

- Matthews, M. R. (2009). Science, worldviews and education. *Journal of Science and Educatio*, *18*(6-7), 641-666.
- Mayer, R. (2004). Should There Be a Three-Strikes Rule Against Pure Discovery Learning. *American Psychologist*, 59(1), 14-19.
- McComas, W. (1993, April). The effects of an intensive summer laboratory internship on secondary students' understanding of the NOS as measured by the test on understanding of science (TOUS). *Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching*. Atlanta, GA.
- McComas, W. (1996). Ten myths of science: Reexamining what we think we know about the nature of science. *School Science and Mathematics*, 91(1), 10 16.
- McComas, W. F. (1997, spring). The nature of the laboratory experience: a guide for describing, classifying and enhancing hands-on activities. *CSTA Journal*, 6-9.
- McComas, W. F. (2000). The principal elements of the nature of science: Dispelling the myths. In W. F. McComas, (*Eds.*), *The nature of science: Rationales and strategies* (pp. 3-39). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- McComas, W., & Olson, J. (1998). The nature of science in international science education standards documents. In W. F. McComas, *The nature of science in science education: rationales and strategies* (pp. 41–52). Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- McComas, W., Clough, M., & Alamazroa, J. (1998). The role and character of the nature of science in science education. *Science and Education*, *7*, 511-532.
- McEneaney, E. H. (2003). The worldwide cachet of scientific literacy. *Comparative Education Review*, 47(2), 217–237.
- Mercer, N. (1996). *The guided construction of knowledge*. Clevedon, England: Multilingual Matters.
- Merriam, S. (1998). *Qualitative Research and Case Study Applications in Education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, Inc.
- Metz, K. E. (1998). Scientific inquiry within reach of young children. In B. J. Fraser, & K. G. Tobin, (*Eds.*), *International Handbook of Science Education* (pp. 81-96). Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Miles, M., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative Data Analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Millar, R., & Wynne, B. (1988). Public understanding of science: From content to processes. *International Journal of Science Education*, 10(4), 388-398.
- Miller, J. (2007). The impact of college science courses for non-science majors on adult science literacy. A paper presented to a symposium titled "The Critical Role of College Science Courses for Non-Majors" at the annual meeting of the AAAS. San Francisco.
- Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China. (2001). *Science education standards* (7-9). Beijing: Beijing Normal University.
- Moon-Heum Cho, M-H, Lankford, D.M., & Wescott, D. J (2011). <u>Exploring the relationships</u> <u>among epistemological beliefs, nature of science, and conceptual change in the learning</u> <u>of evolutionary theory</u>. Springer Online, 4, 313-322. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12052-011-0324-7
- Moore, W. S. (2002). Understanding learning in a postmodern world: Reconsidering the Perry scheme of intellectual and ethical development. In B. K. Hofer, & P. R. Pintrich, (*Eds.*) *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 17-36). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Morrison, J. A., Raab, F., & Ingram, D. (2009). Factors influencing elementary and secondary teachers' views on the nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(4), 384-404. doi:10.1002/tea.20252
- Moss, D., Abrams, E., & Kull, J. R. (April, 1998). Describing student conceptions of the nature of science over an entire school year. *National Association for Research in Science Teaching*. San Diego, CA.
- Murcia, K., & Schibeci, R. (1999). Primary student teachers' conceptions of the nature of science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 21, 1123–1140.
- Murphy, P. K., Alexander, P. A., Greene, J. A., & Edwards, M. N. (2007). Epistemological threads in the fabric of conceptual change research. In S. e. Vosniadou, (*Eds.*), *Reframing the conceptual change approach in learning and instruction* (pp. 105-122). Oxford: Elsevier.
- National Academy of Science . (2007). *Rising Above the Gathering Storm: Energizing and Employing America for a Brighter Economic Future*. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2004). *Highlights from the trends in international mathematics and science study (TIMSS) 2003*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

- National Commission on Excellence in Education . (1983). A Nation at Risk: The Imperative for Educational Reform. Washingington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education.
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices; Council of Chief State School Officers. (2010). *Common Core State Standards*. Washington D.C.: National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, Council of Chief State School Officers.
- National Research Council. (1996). *National science education standards*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- National Research Council. (2012). A Framework for K-12 Science Education: Practices, Crosscutting Concepts, and Core Ideas. Washington, DC: The National Academy Press.
- National Science Board. (2006). *Science and Engineering Indicators 2006, Vol. 1, NSB 06-01, Vol. 2, NSB 06-01A.* Arlington, VA: National Science Foundation.
- National Science teacher Organization(NSTA) (2012). *The NSTA Reader's Guide to A Framework for K–12 Science Education*. Arlington VA: NSTA Press.
- National Science Teachers Association. (2000). *NSTA position statement: Nature of science*. Retrieved February 9, 2010, from http:/ /www.nsta.org/about/positions/natureofscience.aspx
- Nott, M., & Wellington, J. (1995). Critical incidents in the science classroom and the nature of science. *School Science Review*, 276, 41–46.
- Nott, M., & Wellington, J. (1995). Critical incidents in the science classroom and the nature of science. *School Science Review*, *76*, 41-46.
- Olafson, L., & Shraw, G. (2010). Beyond epistemology: assessing teachers' epistemological and ontological worldviews. In L. Bendixen, & F. Feucht, (*Eds.*), *Personal Epistemology in the Classroom* (pp. 516-552). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Olson, J. K., & Clough, M. P. (2001). Technology's tendency to undermine serious study: A cautionary note. *The Clearing House*, 75(1), 8-13.
- Olstad, R. G. (1969). The effect of science teaching methods on the understanding of science. *Science Education*, *53*, 9-11.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2003), Definition and selection of competencies: Theoretical and conceptual foundations (DeSeCo), *Summary* of the final report "Key Competencies for a Successful Life and a Well-Functioning Society", OECD, Paris.

- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2007). *PISA 2006: Science competencies for tomorrow''s world. Vol. 1.* Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/pisa/pisaproducts/pisa2006/39703267.pdf
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development(OECD). (2009). *What Students Know and Can Do: Student Performance in Reading, Mathematics and Science.* Retrieved from PISA 2009 key findings: http://www.oecd.org/pisa/46643496.pdf
- Osborne, J. (1996). Beyond constructivism. Science Education, 80(1), 53-83.
- Paul, R. & Elder, L. (2008). *The Miniature Guide to Critical Thinking Concepts and Tools*. Tomales, CA: The Foundation for Critical Thinking Press.
- Pajares, M. F. (1992). Teachers' beliefs and educational research: cleaning up a messy construct. *Review of Educational Research*, 62(3), 307-332.
- Palmer, B., & Marra, R. M. (2008). Individual domain-specific epistemologies: Implications for educational practice. In M. S. Khine, (*Ed.*), *Knowing, knowledge and beliefs: Epistemological studies across diverse cultures* (pp. 325–50). New York: Springer.
- Patrick, H., & Pintrich, P. (2001). Conceptual Change in teachers' intuitive conceptions and epistemological beliefs. In B. B. Torf, & Sternberg, (*Eds.*), Understanding and teaching the intuitive minds (pp. 117-143). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Patrick, H., & Pintrich, P. (2001). Conceptual Change in teachers' intuitive conceptions and epistemological beliefs. In B. Torf, & Sternberg, (*Eds.*), Understanding and teaching the intuitive minds (pp. 117-143). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Paul, R., Binker, A., Jensen, K., & Krelau, H. (1990). Critical thinking handbook: 4th and 6th grades. Dillon Beach, CA: Foundation for Critical Thinking.
- Pearson, D., Moje, E., & Greenleaf, C. (2010). Literacy and Science: Each in the Service of the Other. *Science*, *328*, 459-463.
- Pearson, K. (1937). The grammar of science. London: Dutton.
- Perry, W. G. (1970). *Forms of intellectual and ethical development in the college years: A scheme*. New York: Rinehart and Winston Inc.
- Peterman, F. (1993). Implications of psychological research on student learning and college teaching for teacher education. In W. R. Houston, (*Eds.*), Handbook of research on teacher education (pp. 826-857). New York: Macmillan.
- Phillips, D. C. (1995). The good, the bad, and the ugly: The many faces of constructivism, *Educational Researcher*, 24(7), 5-12.

- Piaget, J. (1968). *On the development of memory and identity*. Barre, MA: Clark University Press with Barre Publishers.
- Pintrich, P. (1990). Motivational and self-regulated learning components of classroom academic performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(1), 33–40.
- Pomeroy, D. (1993). Implications of teachers' beliefs about the nature of science: Comparison of the beliefs of scientists, secondary science teachers, and elementary teachers. *Science Education*, 77(3), 261–278.
- Poole, D. (1994). Routine testing practices and the linguistic construction of knowledge. *Cognition and Instruction, 12*, 125-150.
- Popper, K. (1963). *Conjectures and refutations: The growth of scientific knowledge*. London: Routledge.
- Popper, K. R. (1959). The Logic of Scientific Discovery. London: Hutchinson Education.
- Posner, G. J., Strike, K. A., Hewson, P. W., & Gertzog, W. A. (1982). Accommodation of a scientific conception: Toward a theory of conceptual change. *Science Education*, 66, 211-227.
- Richardson, V. (1996). The role of attitudes and beliefs in learning to teach. In J. Sikula, (*Eds.*), *The handbook of research in teacher education* (2nd ed., pp. 102-119). New York: Macmillan.
- Richardson, V. (2003). Constructivist Pedagogy. Teachers College Record, 105(9), 1623–1640.
- Riley, D. (2007). The paradox of constructivism. *Social Science History Association*, 31(1), 115-126.
- Roberts, D. (2007). Scientific literacy / science literacy. In S. K. Abell, & N. G. Lederman, (*Eds.*), *Handbook of research on science education* (pp. 729-780). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Roberts, D. (2011). Competing Visions of Scientific literacy. In C. Linder, L. Ostman, D.
  Roberts, P. Wickman, G. Erickson, & A. MacKinnon, (*Eds.*), *Exploring the Landscape of Scientific literacy* (pp. 11-27). NewYork: Routledge.
- Roehrig, G. H., & Luft, J. A. (2004). Constraints experienced by beginning secondary science teachers in implementing scientific inquiry lessons. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26, 3-24.

- Roehrig, G. H., & Luft, J. A. (2006). Does one size fit all? The induction experience of beginning science teachers from different teacher preparation programs. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 43(9), 963 – 985.
- Roth, W. M. (1995). Authentic school science. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer.
- Roth, W. M., & Roychoudhury, A. (1994). Physics students' epistemologies and view about knowing and learning. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *31*, 5–30.
- Rowe, M. (1974). A humanistic intent: The program of preservice elementary education at the University of Florida. *Science Education*, *58*, 369-376.
- Rubba, P. A. (1977). The development, field testing and validation of an instrument to assess secondary school students' understandings of the nature of scientific knowledge.
   Dissertations Abstracts International, 38, 5378A (University Microfilms No. 78-00, 998).
- Rubba, P., Horner, J., & Smith, J. M. (1981). A study of two misconceptions about the nature of science among junior high school students. *School Science and Mathematics*, 81, 221-226.
- Rutherford, F. J., Holton, G., & Watson, F. G. (1970). *The project physics course*. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Ryan, A., & Aikenhead, G. (1992). Students' preconceptions about the epistemology of science. *Science Education*, *76*, 559-580.
- Ryder, J., & Leach, J. (1999). University science students' experiences of investigative project work and their images of science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 21(9), 945–956.
- Ryder, J., Leach, J., & Driver, R. (1999). Undergraduate science students' images of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *36*(2), 201-219.
- Sadler, T. D. (2004). Informal reasoning regarding socioscientific issues: A critical review of the research. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *41*(5), 513–536.
- Sadler, T. D., & Zeidler, D. L. (2009). Scientific literacy, PISA, and socioscientific discourse: Assessment for progressive aims of science education. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46, 909-921.
- Sadler, T. D., Chambers, W. F., & Zeidler, D. (2002). Investigating the crossroads of socioscientific issues, the nature of science, and critical thinking. *Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching*. New Orleans, LA.

- Sadler, T., & Zeidler, D. (2009). Scientific Literacy, PISA, and socioscientific discourse: Assessment for progressive aims of scientific education. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(8), 909-921.
- Saka, Y., Southerland, S., & Brooks, J. (2009). Becoming a member of a school community while working toward science education reform: Teacher induction from a cultural historical activity theory (CHAT) perspective. *Science Education*, 93, 996-1025.
- Scerri, E. (2003). Philosophical confusion in chemical education research. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 80(5), 468–474. doi:doi:10.1021/ed080p468
- Scharmann, L. C. (1988a). Locus of control: a discriminator of the ability to foster an understanding of the nature of science among preservice elementary teachers. *Science Education*, 72, 453-465.
- Scharmann, L. C. (1988b). The influence of sequenced instructional strategy and locus of control on preservice elementary teachers' understandings of the nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 25, 589-604.
- Scheurman, G. (1998). From behaviorist to constructivist teaching. Social Education, 62, 6-9.
- Schommer, M. (1990). Effects of beliefs about the nature of knowledge and comprehension. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 498-504.
- Schommer, M., Crouse, A., & Rhodes, N. (1992). Epistemological beliefs and mathematical text comprehension: Believing it is simple does not make it so. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 84, 435–443.
- Schommer-Aikins, M. (2004). Explaining the epistemological belief system: Introducing the embedded systemic model and coordinated research approach. *Educational Psychologist*, 39(1), 19 - 29.
- Schommer-Aikins, M., Bird, M., & Bakken, L. (2010). Manifestations of epistemological beliefs in Pre-K - 12 classrooms. In L. D. Bendixen, & F. C. Feucht, (*Eds.*), *Personal Epistemology in the Classroom: Theory, Research, and Implications for Practice* (pp. 31 - 54). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Schommer-Aikins, M., Mau, W., Brookhart, S., & Hutter, R. (2000). Understanding middle students' beliefs about knowledge and learning using multidimensional paradigm. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 94, 120-127.
- Schraw, G., & Olafson, L. (2002). Teacher's epistemological worldviews and educational practices. *Issues in Education*, 8(2), 99-148.

- Schwartz, R. S., Lederman, N. G., & Crawford, B. A. (2004). Developing views of nature of science in an authentic context: An explicit approach to bridging the gap between nature of science and scientific inquiry. *Science Education*, 88(4), 610 – 645.
- Schwartz, R., & Lederman, N. (2002). "It's the nature of the beast": The influence of knowledge and intentions on learning and teaching nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 39(3), 205 – 236.
- Schwartz, R., Lederman, N., & Abd-El-Khalick, F. (2012). A series of misrepresentations: A response to Allchin's whole approach to assessing nature of science understandings. *Science Education*, 96(4).
- Shamos, M. H. (1995). *The myth of scientific literacy*. New Brunswick, New Jersey: Rutgers University Press.
- Siegel, M. A., & Ranney, M. A. (2003). Developing the changes in attitude about the relevance of science (cars) questionnaire and assessing two high school science classes. *Journal Of Research In Science Teaching*, 40(8), 757-775.
- Simmons, M., & Zeidler, D. (2003). Beliefs in the nature of science and repsonses to socioscientific issues. In D. L. Zeidler, (*Eds.*), *The role of moral reasoning on socioscientific issues and discourse in science education* (pp. 81-96). The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Press.
- Sinatra, G., & Kardash, C. (2004). Preservice teachers'epistemological beliefs, dispositions, and views about teaching as persuasion. *Contemporary Educational Psycholog*, *29*, 483-488.
- Slavin, R. (2000). Educational Psychology. 6th ed. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Smith, D. C., & Anderson, C. W. (1999). Appropriating scientific practices and discourses with future elementary teachers. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *36*(7), 755–776.
- Smith, M., & Scharmann, L. (1999). Defining versus describing the nature of science: A pragmatic analysis for classroom teachers and science educators . *Science Education*, 83, 493-509.
- Solomon, J. (1994). The rise and fall of constructivism. *Studies in Science Education*, 23, 1–19.
- Solomon, J. (1994). The rise and fall of constructivism. *Studies in Science Education*, 23(1), 1-19.
- Staver, J. R. (1998). Constructivism: Sound theory for explicating the practice of science and science teaching. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *35*(5), 501-520.

- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). *Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures* and techniques. Newbury Park, CA: sage.
- Strike, K. A., & Posner, G. J. (1992). A revisionist theory of conceptual change. In R. A. Duschl,
  & R. J. Hamilton, (*Eds.*), *Philosophy of science, cognitive psychology, and educational theory and practic* (pp. 147 – 176). New York: State University of New York.
- Susman, E. J., & Rogol, A. (2004). Puberty and psychological development. In R. M. Lerner, & L. Steinberg, *Handbook of adolescent psychology* (2nd ed., pp. 15–44). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Taber, K. S. (2009). 'Scientific' research in education. In K. S. Taber, (Eds.), Progressing Science Education: Constructing the scientific research programme into the contingent nature of learning science (pp. 51-78). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Tamir, P., & Zohar, A. (1991). Anthropomorphism and teleology in reasoning about biological phenomena. *Science Education*, *75*, 57-68.
- Taylor, J. A., & Dana, T. M. (2003). Secondary school physics teachers' conceptions of scientific evidence: An exploratory study. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 40(8), 721 – 736.
- Tobin, K. (1990). Conceptualizing teaching roles in terms of metaphors and beliefs sets. *Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association*. Boston.
- Tobin, K. (1993). Constructivist perspectives on teacher learning. In K. Tobin, (*Eds.*), *The Practice of constructivism in science education* (pp. 215-226). Hillsdale, N.J: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Tomanek, D., & Cummings, K. E. (2000). The use of secondary science classroom teaching assistant experiences to recruit academically talented science majors into teaching. *Science education*, 84(2), 212-227.
- Trochim, W. M. (2006). *The research methods knowledge base*. Retrieved November 13, 2012, from Web Center for Social Research Methods: http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/positvsm.php
- Tsai, C. C. (1998a). An analysis of scientific epistemological beliefs and learning orientations of Taiwanese eighth graders. *Science Education*, *82*, 473–489.
- Tsai, C. C. (1998b). An analysis of scientific epistemological beliefs and learning orientations of Taiwanese eighth graders. *Science Education*, *82*, 473 489.

- Tsai, C. C. (1998b). An analysis of Taiwanese eighth graders' science achievement, scientific epistemological beliefs and cognitive structure outcomes after learning basic atomic theory. *International Journal of Science Education*, 20, 413–425.
- Tsai, C. C. (1999a). "Laboratory exercises help me memorize the scientific truths": A study of eighth graders' scientific epistemological views and learning in laboratory activities. *Science Education*, 83, 654 – 674.
- Tsai, C. C. (2000b). The effects of STS-oriented instruction on female tenth graders' cognitive structure outcomes and the role of student scientific epistemological beliefs. *International Journal of Science Education*, 22, 1099 1115.
- Tsai, C. C. (2002). Nested epistemologies: Science teachers' beliefs of teaching, learning and science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 24, 771-783.
- Tsai, C. C. (2006). Reinterpreting and reconstructing science: Teachers' view changes toward the nature of science by courses of science education. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 22, 363 – 375.
- Tsai, C. C. (2007). Teachers' scientific epistemological views: The coherence with instruction and students' views. *Science Education*, *91*, 222-43.
- Tsai, C. C., & Liu, S. Y. (2005). Developing a multi-dimensional instrument for assessing students' epistemological views toward science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 27, 1621-1638.
- Turkish Ministry of National Education . (2005). New curriculum of science and technology education. Retrieved December 14, 2012, from Turkey's National Board of Education Web site: http://ttkb.meb.gov.tr/ogretmen/
- U.S. Department of Education . (2008). A Nation Accountable: Twenty-five Years After A Nation at Risk. Washington, D.C.
- UNESCO. (1990). *World Declaration on Education for All*. Leeds: Centre for Studies in Science and Mathematics Education, University of Leeds, in association with UNESCO. An annotated bibliography. Retrieved August 18, 2011, from http://www.unesco.org/education/efa/ed\_for\_all/background/jomtien\_declaration.shtml
- Von Glaserfield, E. (1989). Constructivism in Education. In T. Husen, & Postlewaite, (Eds.), International Encyclopedia of Education (pp. 162-163). Oxford, England: Pergamon Press.
- Von Glaserfield, E. (1992). Constructivism reconstructed: A reply to Suchting. *Science and Education*, *1*, 379 384.

- Von Glasersfeld, E. (1990). An exposition of constructivism: Why some like it radical. In R. B. Davis, C. A. Maher, & N. Nodddings, (*Eds*), Constructivist views on the teaching and learning of mathematics (pp. 19-29). Reston, Virginia: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- Waeytens, K., Lens, W., & Vandenberghe, R. (2002). Learning to learn: Teachers conceptions of their supporting role. *Learning and Instruction*, 12, 305–322.
- Walker, K. A., & Zeidler, D. L. (2007). Promoting discourse about socioscientific issues through scaffolded inquiry. *International Journal of Science Education*, 29(11), 1387-1410.
- Wallace, C. S., Tsoi, M. Y., Calkin, J., & Darley, M. (2003). Learning from inquiry based laboratories in nonmajor biology: An interpretive study of the relationships among inquiry experience, epistemologies, and conceptual growth. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 40, 986-1024.
- Walton, M. D. (2000). Say it's a lie or I'll punch you: Naive epistemology in classroom conflict episodes. *Discourse Processes*, 29, 113-136.
- Welch, W. W., & Pella, M. O. (1967–1968). The development of an instrument for inventorying knowledge of the processes of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 5(64), 64-68.
- Wells, G. (1999). *Dialogic inquiry: Towards a sociocultural practice and theory of education*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Wenner, G. (1993). Relationship between science knowledge levels and beliefs toward science instruction held by preservice elementary teachers. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 2(3), 461-468.
- Westby, E., & Samarapungavan, A. (2001, April). The relationship between increased methodological knowledge and epistemic beliefs: The role of instrumentation and techniques in Chemistry education. *Paper presented at the American Educational Research Association Annual Meeting*. Seattle, WA.
- Westphal, E. (1990). Unterricht und Leben: Zur Theorie und Praxis lebensprobelemzentrieter Unterrichsgestaltung (Lessons of Life: About theory and practice of life-problemcentered-classroom lesson planning). Oldenburg: Zentrum fur Padago-gische Beruspra.
- Wheatley, G. H. (1991). Constructivist perspectives on science and mathematics. *Science Education*, 75(1), 9-22.
- White, B. C. (2000). Pre-service teacher's epistemology viewed through perspectives on problematic classroom situations. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, *26*(3), 279-306.

- Wildenger, L. K., Hofer, B. K., & Burr, J. E. (2010). Epistemological development in very young knowers. In L. Bendixen, & F. Haerle, (*Eds.*), *Personal epistemology in the classroom: Theory, research, and implications for practice.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Wilson, L. (1954). A study of opinions related to the nature of science and its purpose in society. *Science Education*, *32*(2), 159-164.
- Windschitl, M. (2002). Framing constructivism in practice as the negotiations of dilemmas: An analysis of the conceptual, pedagogical, cultural and political challenges facing teachers. *Review of Educational Research*, 72(2), 131–175.
- Wood, P. K., & Kardash, C. A. (2002). Critical elements in the design and analysis of studies of epistemology. In B. K. Hofer, & P. R. Pintrich, (*Eds.*), *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 231-260). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Wood, R. L. (1972). University education student's understanding of the nature and processes of science. *School Science and Mathematics*, 72, 73–79.
- Yang, F. Y. (2004). Exploring high school students' use of theory and evidence in an everyday context: The role of scientific thinking in environmental science decision. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26, 1345-1964.
- Yang, F. Y., & Tsai, C. C. (2010). Reasoning on science-related uncertain issues and epistemological perspectives among children. *Instructional Science*, 38, 325–354.
- Yang, F., Chang, C. Y., & Hsu, Y. S. (2008). Teacher views about constructivist instruction and personal epistemology: a national study in Taiwan. *Educational Studies*, 34(5), 527 - 542.
- Yerrick, R., Parke, H., & Nugent, J. (1997). Struggling to promote deeply rooted change: The 'filtering effect' of teachers' beliefs on understanding transformational views of teaching science. *Science Education*, 81, 137-159.
- Yore, L., Pimm, D., & Tuan, H. (2007). The literacy components of mathematical and scientific literacy. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, *5*, 559-589.
- Zeidler, D. L. (1984). Moral issues and social policy in science education: Closing the literacy gap. *Science Education*, *68*, 411–419.
- Zeidler, D. L., & Sadler, T. D. (2008). Social and ethical issues in science education: A prelude to action. *Science & Education*, *17*(8-9), 799-803.

- Zeidler, D. L., & Sadler, T. D. (2008). The role of moral reasoning in argumentation: Conscience, character and care. In S. Erduran, & M. Jimenez-Aleixandre, (*Eds.*), *Argumentation in science education: Perspectives from classroom-based research* (pp. 201-216). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer Press.
- Zeidler, D. L., Sadler, T. D., Simmons, M. L., & Howes, E. V. (2005). Beyond STS: A researchbased framework for socioscientific issues education. *Science Education*, 89(3), 357-377.
- Zeidler, D., & Keefer, M. (2003). The role of moral reasoning and the status of socioscientific issues in science education: Philosophical, psychological and pedagogical considerations. In D. L. Zeidler, (*Eds.*), *The role of moral reasoning on socioscientific issues* (pp. 7-40). Dordrecht: The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Zeidler, D., & Lederman, N. (1989). The effect of teachers' language on students' conceptions of the nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 26(9), 771-783.
- Zeidler, D., & Sadler, T. (2011). An inclusive view of scientific literacy: Core issues and future directions of socioscientific reasoning. In C. Linder, L. Ostman, D. A. Roberts, P. Wickman, G. Erickson, & A. MacKinnon, (*Eds.*), *Exploring the landscape of scientific literacy* (pp. 176-192). New York: Routledge.
- Zeidler, D., & Schafer, L. (1984). Identifying mediating factors of moral reasoning in science education. *Journal of Research of Science Teaching*, 21, 1-15.
- Zeidler, D., Herman, B., Ruzek, M., Linder, A., & Lin, S. (2013). Cross-Cultural Epistemological Orientations to Socioscientific Issues. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 50(3), 251-253.
- Zeidler, D., Sadler, T., Applebaum, S., & Callahan, B. (2009). Advancing reflective judgment through socioscientific issues. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *46*, 74–101.
- Zeidler, D., Walker, K., Ackett, W., & Simmons, M. (2002). Tangled up in views: Beliefs in the nature of science and responses to socioscientific dilemmas. *Science Education*, 86, 343– 367.

### Appendix A

#### **Epistemological Belief Survey**

Please indicate how strongly you agree or disagree with each of the statements listed below. Please circle the number that best corresponds to the strength of your belief.

1. You can believe most things you read.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

### 2. The only thing that is certain is uncertainty itself.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

#### 3. If something can be learned, it will be learned immediately.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
l 1	2	3	4	5

4. I like information to be presented in a straightforward fashion; I don't like having to read

between the lines.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

5. It is difficult to learn from a textbook unless you start at the beginning and master one section at a time.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
lisagree	2	3	4	5
6. Forming your o	wn ideas is more in	nportant than learni	ing what the text	books say.
strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5
7. Almost all the i reading.	nformation you can	understand from a	textbook you wi	Ill get during the first
strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5
8. A really good v	vay to understand a	textbook is to reorg	ganize the inform	nation according to
your own persona	l scheme.			
strongly disagree	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

9. If scientists try hard enough, they can find the answer to almost every question.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

10. You should evaluate the accuracy of information in textbooks if you are familiar with the topic.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

11. You will just get confused if you try to integrate new ideas in a textbook with knowledge you already have about a topic.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				

### 12. When I study, I look for specific facts.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

13. If professors would stick more to the facts and do less theorizing, one could get more out

of college.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

14. Being a good student generally involves memorizing a lot of facts.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree 1	2	3	4	5

15. Wisdom is not knowing the answers, but knowing how to find the answers.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

16. Working on a difficult problem for an extended period of time only pays off for really smart students.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

17. Some people are born good learners; others are just stuck with a limited ability.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

18. Usually, if you are ever going to understand something, it will make sense to you the first time.

strongly disagree	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5
19 Successfi	ul students understand th	nings quickly		
17. 54000551		iiigs quienij:		
strongly disagree	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5
20. Today's	facts may be tomorrow'	s fiction.		
strongly disagree	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

21. I really appreciate instructors who organize their lectures carefully and then stick to their

plan.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

22. The most important part of scientific work is original thinking.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

23. Even advice from experts should be questioned.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

24. If I can't understand something quickly, it usually means I will never understand it.

strongly disagree	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

25. I try my best to combine information across chapters or even across classes.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

26. I don't like movies that don't have a clear-cut ending.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

## 27. Scientists can ultimately get to the truth.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

28. It's a waste of time to work on problems that have no possibility of coming out with a

clear-cut answer.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

29. Understanding main ideas is easy for good students.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

30. It is annoying to listen to lecturers who cannot seem to make their mind up as to what

they re	eally	be	lieve.
---------	-------	----	--------

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

31. A good teacher's job is to keep students from wandering from the right track.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree 1	2	3	4	5

32. A sentence has little meaning unless you know the situation in which it was spoken.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
lisagree	2	3	4	5

33. The best thing about science courses is that most problems have only one right answer.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

### 34. Most words have one clear meaning.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

35. The really smart students don't have to work hard to do well in school.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

36. When I learn, I prefer to make things, as simple as possible.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

37. I find it refreshing to think about issues that experts can't agree on.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
lisagree	2	3	4	5

38. The information we learn in school is certain and unchanging.

strongly	disagree	unsure	agree	strongly agree
disagree				
1	2	3	4	5

# Appendix B

# **District's Curriculum**

Please use the link below to view district curriculum.

http://publish.learningfocused.com/6352747

## Appendix C

### Student Understanding of Science and Scientific Inquiry

Please read EACH statement carefully, and then indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree with EACH statement by circling the appropriate choice to the right of each statement. Ensure to provide detailed written responses where directed. If you need more room to complete your written responses, please place the number of the particular item at the end of the instrument and continue writing.

- SD = Strongly Disagree
- D = Disagree More Than Agree
- U = Uncertain or Not Sure
- A = Agree More Than Disagree
- SA = Strongly Agree

### 1. Scientific Observations

A.	Scientists' observations of the same event may be different because the scientists' prior knowledge may affect their observations.	SD	D	U	A	SA
B.	Scientists' observations of the same event will be the same because scientists are unbiased.	SD	D	U	А	SA
C.	Scientists' observations of the same event will be the same because observations are facts.	SD	D	U	Α	SA
D.	Scientists may make different interpretations based on the same observations.	SD	D	U	A	SA

<u>With examples</u>, explain why you think scientists' observations and interpretations are the same **OR** different.

Where do you recall acquiring the examples and ideas regarding this question?

## 2. Scientific Theories

A.	Scientific theories are subject to on-going testing and revision.	SD	D	U	Α	SA
В.	Scientific theories may be completely replaced by new theories in light of new evidence.	SD	D	U	А	SA
C.	Scientific theories may be changed because scientists reinterpret existing observations.	SD	D	U	А	SA
D.	Scientific theories based on accurate experimentation will not be changed.	SD	D	U	А	SA
With examples, explain why you think scientific theories change OR do not change over						
tim	е.					

Where do you recall acquiring the **<u>examples</u>** and **<u>ideas</u>** regarding this question?

### 3. Scientific Laws Compared to Theories

A.	Scientific theories exist in the natural world and are uncovered through scientific investigations.	SD	D	U	А	SA
В.	Unlike theories, scientific laws are not subject to change.	SD	D	U	А	SA
C.	Scientific laws are theories that have been proven.	SD	D	U	А	SA
D.	Scientific theories explain scientific laws.	SD	D	U	А	SA

With examples, explain what scientific theories and laws are and how they are different.

Where do you recall acquiring the **<u>examples</u>** and **<u>ideas</u>** regarding this question?

### 4. Social and Cultural Influences on Science

А.	Scientific research is not influenced by society and culture because scientists are trained to conduct pure, unbiased studies.	SD	D	U	А	SA
B.	Cultural values and expectations influence what science is conducted and accepted.	SD	D	U	А	SA
C.	Cultural values and expectations influence <u>how</u> science is conducted and accepted.	SD	D	U	А	SA
D.	All cultures conduct scientific research the same way because science is universal and independent of society and culture.	SD	D	U	A	SA

With examples, explain how society and culture affect OR do not affect scientific research.

Where do you recall acquiring the *examples* and *ideas* regarding this question?
## 5. Imagination and Creativity in Scientific investigations.

A	Scientists use their imagination and creativity when they collect data.	SD	D	U	A	SA
B	Scientists use their imagination and creativity when they analyze and interpret data.	SD	D	U	A	SA
C	Scientists do <b>not</b> use their imagination and creativity because these conflict with their logical reasoning.	SD	D	U	Α	SA
D	Scientists do <b>not</b> use their imagination and creativity because these can interfere with the need to be unbiased.	SD	D	U	Α	SA
With examples, explain why scientists use OR do not use imagination and creativity.						

Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?

#### 6. Methodology of Scientific Investigations

A ·	Considering what scientists actually do, there really is no such thing as the scientific method.	SD	D	U	A	SA
В	Scientists follow the same step-by-step scientific method.	SD	D	U	А	SA
C ·	When scientists use the scientific method correctly, their results are true and accurate.	SD	D	U	A	SA
D	Experiments are the only way scientists develop valid scientific knowledge when they investigate the natural world.	SD	D	U	А	SA

<u>With examples</u>, explain whether scientists follow a single, universal scientific method OR use a variety of methods.

Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?

## 7. Social Interaction among Scientific Researchers

A.	Scientists <u>usually</u> work collaboratively with other scientists when conducting research.	SD	D	U	A	SA
В.	Scientists <u>usually</u> work with other scientists, but only to share results.	SD	D	U	A	SA
C.	Scientists usually work alone when conducting research.	SD	D	U	Α	SA
D.	Scientific knowledge <u>usually</u> emerges from discussions and social interactions among scientists.	SD	D	U	A	SA

<u>With examples</u>, explain to what degree scientists work with other scientists when doing research.

Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?

#### 8. Science and Religion

	0					
A.	Science and religion are <u>usually</u> in conflict with one another.	SD	D	U	Α	SA
B.	Supernatural explanations are not useful for helping scientists understand the natural world.	SD	D	U	Α	SA
C.	Science ideas that have religious implications usually set scientists who do believe in supernatural beings against those who do not believe in supernatural beings.	SD	D	U	A	SA
D.	Scientists who will not use supernatural explanations when doing science can still believe in a supernatural being.	SD	D	U	A	SA

<u>With examples</u>, explain why supernatural explanations should OR should not be used in credible scientific ideas.

Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?

#### 9. Development and Acceptance of Science Ideas

A.	Credible scientific ideas are <u>usually</u> generated in a matter of days, weeks or months.	SD	D	U	А	SA
B.	Scientific ideas <u>usually</u> come to be accepted by the scientific community in a matter of days, weeks or months.	SD	D	U	А	SA
C.	Credible scientific ideas are <u>usually</u> generated over a period of years to decades.	SD	D	U	А	SA
D.	Scientific ideas <u>usually</u> come to be accepted by the scientific community over a period of years to decades.	SD	D	U	А	SA

With examples, explain how much time is usually required for credible scientific ideas to be generated, and then accepted by the scientific community.

Where do you recall acquiring the *examples* and *ideas* regarding this question?

### **10. Discovery and Invention**

In responding to the four items below, assume that a gold miner "discovers" gold while an author "invents" a story.

A.	Scientific theories (for example, atomic theory, plate-tectonic theory, gene theory) are discovered.	SD	D	U	А	SA
B.	Scientific laws (for example, laws of planetary motion, gas laws, gravitational law, law of pendulum motion) are discovered.	SD	D	U	А	SA
C.	Scientific theories (for example, atomic theory, plate-tectonic theory, gene theory) are invented.	SD	D	U	А	SA
D.	Scientific laws (for example, laws of planetary motion, gas laws, gravitational law, law of pendulum motion) are invented.	SD	D	U	А	SA
With examples, explain whether scientific laws and theories are invented OR discovered.						

Where do you recall acquiring the **examples** and **ideas** regarding this question?

For items which you needed additional space to write, in the remaining space below and on the back, please place the item number and continue your written response.

# Appendix D

#### Nature of Science Classroom Observation and Artifact Protocol

Herman, B. C., Olson, J. K. & Clough, M. P.

P. 2011 NARST International Conference in Orlando, FL

April 6, 2011

APPENIDX A. NATURE OF SCIENCE CLASSROOM OBSERVATION AND ARTI	FACT
PROTOCOL (NOS-COP)	

Key	indicators	No At Al	ot : 1	To Gre Ext	a eat tent	*D/K <sup>†</sup>	N/A
Ext clea add	ent to which the lesson structure/artifacts has ir opportunities for accurately and explicitly iressing the NOS				-		_
1.	Science is taught through inquiry.	1	2	34	5	6	/
2.	and/or scientists are incorporated in the lesson.	1	2	34	5	6	7
3.	Other (e.g.)	1	2	34	5	6	7
Ext exp 4.	ent to which the instructor and/or lesson structure/artifa licitly and reflectively addressed the NOS NOS ideas addressed are accurate?	icts	2	34	5	6	7
5.	Students' attention is explicitly and reflectively drawn to how classroom instructional practices reflect or distort the NOS.	1	2	34	5	6	7
6.	Students' attention is explicitly and reflectively drawn to the NOS in the context of science content being taught.	1	2	34	5	6	7
7.	Students' attention is explicitly and reflectively drawn to NOS ideas implicit in inquiry activities.	1	2	34	5	6	7
8.	NOS ideas are explicitly and reflectively scaffolded back and forth along the decontextualized to contextualized NOS instructional continuum.	1	2	34	5	6	7
9.	Students are required to reflect on explicitly identified NOS ideas in the lesson.	1	2	34	5	6	7
*D	on't Know						

<sup>†</sup>Not Applicable

#### NOS Implementation Synthesis Rating:

1	2	3	4	5
Not at all				Extremely
reflective of best				reflective of best
practices in				practices in
science education				science education

#### APPENIDX A. NOS-COP CONTINUED

Coding scheme for determining the extent that the instructor and/or artifacts actually *did* accurately, explicitly, and reflectively address the NOS.

Score	Observations	Artifacts
3	Attention is limited in explicitness, reflectivity, and/or depth.	Attention is limited in explicitness, reflectivity, depth, and/or consistency.
	Exemplar: In response to student mistakes in an inquiry based lab: "Having an issue with the validity of data is like an issue in science." (Peter)	Exemplar: "What previous knowledge or experiences did you think of while writing your story? How might previous knowledge help and how might it hinder an investigation?" (Sharon, A4)
1	Non-existent	Non-existent
6. Stud science	ents' attention was explicitly and reflecti content being taught	ively drawn to the NOS in the context of
5	Attention drawn explicitly, reflectively and deeply. Exemplar: In relation to glacially carved valleys: "Why should we not use supernatural ideas such as Paul Bunyan to explain the natural world?" (Luke)	Attention drawn consistently, explicitly, reflectively and deeply. Exemplar: "Lyell is studying nature. How is his work different from the idea that scientists do all of their work in a lab? In what way is his work similar?" (Luke, A1)
3	Attention is limited in explicitness, reflectivity, and/or depth. Exemplar: Stating: "Schleiden and Schwann were sitting having dinner and then decided all things were made of cells and they made the cell theory" with no questions afterwards (Maddy)	Attention is limited in explicitness, reflectivity, depth, and/or consistency. Exemplar: Asking: "What did John Bennet Lawes create, and what effects has it had on the world?" with no focus on a specific NOS theme (Carey, A4)
1	Non-existent	Non-existent

#### APPENIDX A. NOS-COP CONTINUED

imagination?" (None recorded)

Coding scheme for determining the extent that the instructor and/or artifacts actually did							
accurat	ely, explicitly, and reflectively address the	NUS.					
Score	Observations	Artifacts					
7. Stud	lents' attention was explicitly and reflect	vely drawn to NOS ideas implicit in inquiry					
5 5	Attention drawn explicitly, reflectively and deeply. Exemplar: During an inquiry activity with dichotomous keys: "Think about the dichotomous keys in relation to plants and animals. To what extent do you think they were invented or discovered?" (Luke)	Attention drawn consistently, explicitly, reflectively and deeply. Exemplar: "How does this activity relate to the scientists we have learned about in this case study? What roadblocks did you hit while creating your thermometer? How do you know your thermometer really works? How might a scientist have figured out if their tool actually worked?" (Matthew, A11)					
3	Attention is limited in explicitness, reflectivity, and/or depth. Exemplar: After lecturing on Mendeleev using patterns to sort elements asking in an inquiry based periodic table activity: "What characteristics did you use for sorting the cards? What patterns appear in your arrangements?" (Matthew,)	Attention may exclude explicitness, reflectivity, depth, or consistency. Exemplar: Only explicitly addressing NOS superficially in initial decontextualized activities and then not embedding NOS in later contextualized activities. E.G.: Asking: "Why are models like this used in science?" solely on an introductory tube lab (Mary, A4).					
1	Non-existent	Non-existent					
8. NOS decont	S ideas were explicitly and reflectively sca extualized to highly contextualized NOS	iffolded back and forth along the instructional continuum					
5	Scaffolds constructed explicitly, reflectively and deeply along entire continuum. Example: "To what extent do our investigations with falling bodies relate to the tube activity? How did you have to use imagination and creativity in both of these investigations? In what ways was	Scaffolds consistently constructed explicitly, reflectively and deeply along entire continuum. Exemplar: "In relation to quote from Einstein on studying closed systems: Using your own words paraphrase what Einstein is saying. In what ways is what Einstein saying relate to the tube activity? Give other examples from					

283

this like how Galileo used creativity and science that illustrate this idea." (Isaac, A4)

#### APPENIDX A. NOS-COP CONTINUED

Coding scheme for determining the extent that the instructor and/or artifacts actually *did* accurately, explicitly, and reflectively address the NOS.

Score	Observations	Artifacts
3	Scaffolds may be superficial or incomplete (e.g. decontextualixed to moderately contextualized). Exemplar: Asking: "Why did we need to make models of the tube in relation to making models of the moon, sun, and earth?" with no reference to real scientists. (Andrew)	Scaffolds may be superficial, inconsistent or incomplete (e.g., decontextualixed to moderately contextualized). In inquiry based activity with density asking: "How does this lab compare to how real science works? How is this lab like the tube activity?" and never linking the experience to real scientists. (Andrew, A6)
1	Non-existent	Non-existent
9. Stud	ents were required to reflect on explicitly	identified NOS ideas in the lesson.
5	Reflections required were explicit and in depth. Exemplar: In relation to models of the solar system: "Why do we still use this model even though it is flawed? Why do scientists use models even if they are not fully accurate? Why did we need to make models of the tube?" (Andrew)	Reflections required were consistently explicit and in depth. Exemplar: "It is often claimed scientific thinking is different than everyday thinking? To what extent do the force demonstrations and your experiences interpreting them support this claim? Be specific and give examples." (John, A2)
3	Reflections required may lack depth and or explicitness. Exemplar: Asking surface level questions such as: "Are models in science always the exact reality of what is out there?" (Mark)	Reflections required may lack consistency, depth and or explicitness. Asking: "Why do scientists use scientific notation?" on a test (Mary, A2).
1	Non-existent	Non-existent

## Appendix E

#### **Semi-Structured Interview Questions**

#### 1. Variables targeted: View on learning, general teaching and responsibility

How do you know when learning is occurring in your classroom?

- How do you know when your students understand?
- *How do you maximize student learning in your classroom?*
- > Why do you think this approach is important?
- > Describe a classroom situation where you believed as though your students were really learning?
- > What do you think your responsibilities are as a teacher?
- > In your view, what does the most successful science teacher like? Why?

# **2.** Variables targeted: General and NOS teaching and understanding of NOS teaching, motivation to teach the NOS (value or compliance), teaching constraints.

To what extent do you teach the nature of science?

- What are your reasons for teaching (or not teaching) the NOS?
- What are the pros and cons of teaching the NOS?
- How did you come to value or not value NOS teaching the way you do?
- What factors impact your NOS teaching and why?
- To what extent are you proficient in teaching the NOS?
- What specific NOS themes do you feel are most important and why?
- > To what extent do you explicitly or not explicitly draw your student' attention to NOS ideas.

# **3.** Variables targeted: Teaching constraints (i.e. classroom management, institutional constraints).

How much freedom do you have to instruct the way you want to?

- What do you feel are the greatest influences on your decision making as a teacher?
- What factors impact your instructional practices and how do they do it?
- *How do you determine what and how to teach?*
- > To what extent are you expected to teach **like** your colleagues?
- What external factors impact your instructional practices both in general content or NOS?

Additional questions (Post Interview Only) about teacher's scientific epistemological beliefs will be based on their written responses to the following to provide further clarification if necessary:

#### FROM SUSSI

- **<u>1.</u>** <u>With examples</u>, explain why you think scientists' observations and interpretations are the same **OR** different. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- 2. <u>With examples</u>, explain why you think scientific theories change OR do not change over time. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- 3. <u>With examples</u>, explain what scientific theories and laws are and how they are different. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- **<u>4.</u>** <u>**With examples**</u>, explain how society and culture affect OR do not affect scientific research. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- 5. <u>With examples</u>, explain why scientists use OR do not use imagination and creativity. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- **6.** <u>With examples</u>, explain whether scientists follow a single, universal scientific method OR use a variety of methods. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- **<u>7.</u>** <u>With examples</u>, explain to what degree scientists work with other scientists when doing research. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- **8.** <u>With examples</u>, explain why supernatural explanations should OR should not be used in credible scientific ideas. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- **<u>9.</u>** With examples, explain how much time is usually required for credible scientific ideas to be generated, and then accepted by the scientific community. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?
- **10.** With examples, explain whether scientific laws and theories are invented OR discovered. Where do you recall acquiring the <u>examples</u> and <u>ideas</u> regarding this question?

### Appendix F

#### **Participant Profiles**

Of the 18 traditional middle schools where participants for Phase I of this research were drawn, 15 were Title I. Of the 11 participants selected for Phase II, 10 schools were represented, of which, 8 schools were Title I. The table below illustrates the participants with regard to the schools Title I status and years teaching.

Participant	EBS/SUSSI Score	Title I (Y/N)	Years Teaching (avg. 13.7 yrs.)	Sex M/F
One	128/125	Y	5	F
Two	131/146	Y	18	Μ
Three	131/137	Y	14	Μ
Four	131/129	Ν	3	F
Five	131/134	Y	12	F
Six	143/142	Y	17	Μ
Seven	148/153	Y	24	F
Eight	150/154	Ν	9	F
Nine	150/154	Y	25	F
Ten	151/140	Y	17	F
Eleven	162/130	Y	7	М

### Appendix G

Informed Consent to Participate in Research Information to Consider Before Taking Part in this Research Study

#### IRB Study # Pro00008042

You are being asked to take part in a research study. Research studies include only people who choose to take part. This document is called an informed consent form. Please read this information carefully and take your time making your decision.

We are asking you to take part in a research study called:

The Effect of Teachers' Epistemological Beliefs on Practice

The person who is in charge of this research study is Milton Huling. This person is called the Principal Investigator. He is being guided in this research by Dr. Dana Zeidler.

The research will be conducted at various schools within Polk County.

#### **Purpose of the study**

The purpose of this study is to gain a better understanding of the relationship between teacher's philosophy about knowledge and its effects on classroom practice. By gaining this understanding, improvements can be made within preservice science methods courses, as well as improve professional development opportunities for active teachers.

This research is being conducted by a doctoral student as part of a dissertation process.

## **Study Procedures**

You are being asked to take part in this study because you are a sixth grade teacher. If you take part in this study, you will be asked to complete an online questionnaire/survey (**Phase One**) taking less than one hour. A selected number of initial participants will be contacted about participating in Phase Two of this research.

Participants being contacted about **Phase Two** of this research will be provided an additional informed consent document to sign. The following bulleted items describe Phase Two.

- **Phase Two** will consist of three interviews (pre, mid, & post, each approximately onehour in length) over a nine-week period. These interviews will take place at your convenience. The interviews will either take place face-to-face when possible, or, through the use of technology (Live-Meeting, SKYPE, etc.). Period-long classroom visits will also be conducted throughout the nine-week research period. During these visits, information about practice will be collected, including artifacts of instruction (lesson plans, copies of student assignments). To be clear, no student work will be reviewed as part of this research.
- Data collection is expected to start several weeks before the beginning of the school year with the questionnaire/survey. Participants selected for Phase Two will participate in a one-hour long preliminary interview, on; or before, the first week of school. Participants should expect to have period-long classroom visits every two to three weeks, or more if possible. The second interview will be conducted during the fifth or sixth week of school. The final interview will be conducted soon after the first nine weeks of the school year. Participation in this research will involve a total of approximately four hours of additional time beyond a typical school requirement.
- The initial questionnaire/survey will be conducted online and taken at a location of the participant's choice (home, school, my office, etc.). The interview location will be a mutually agreeable site selected to provide the participant maximum convenience.
- All interviews will be digitally recorded (either by video or audio). The researcher will hold the only copy of the digital information and its transcription. All materials will be kept in a secure location, with only the researcher knowing the identity of the participants. Only the researcher and his research supervisor will have access to this collected data. Any collected information will be kept for five years and disposed of thereafter in a means necessary to safeguard the identity of the participants. Any transcriptions will be shredded and digital information erased.

## **Total Number of Participants**

Approximately 30 individuals will take part in Phase One this study. Nine teachers of the original 30 will be asked to participate in Phase Two of this research.

## Alternatives

You do not have to participate in this research study.

## Benefits

We are unsure if you will receive any benefits by taking part in this research study. There will be no financial reward for participation.

## **Risks or Discomfort**

This research is considered to be of minimal risk. That means that the risks associated with this study are the same as what you encounter every day. There are no known additional risks to those who take part in this study.

## Compensation

You will receive no payment or other compensation for taking part in this study.

# **Privacy and Confidentiality**

We will keep your study records private and confidential. Certain people may need to see your study records. By law, anyone who looks at your records must keep them completely confidential. The only people who will be allowed to see these records are:

- The research team, including the Principal Investigator, study coordinator, research nurses, and all other research staff.
- Certain government and university people who need to know more about the study. For example, individuals who provide oversight on this study may need to look at your records. This is done to make sure that we are doing the study in the right way. They also need to make sure that we are protecting your rights and your safety.
- Any agency of the federal, state, or local government that regulates this research. This includes the Office for Human Research Protection (OHRP).
- The USF Institutional Review Board (IRB) and its related staff who have oversight responsibilities for this study, staff in the USF Office of Research and Innovation, USF Division of Research Integrity and Compliance, and other USF offices who oversee this research.

We may publish what we learn from this study. If we do, we will not include your name. We will not publish anything that would let people know who you are.

## **Voluntary Participation / Withdrawal**

You should only take part in this study if you want to volunteer. You should not feel that there is any pressure to take part in the study. You are free to participate in this research or withdraw at any time. There will be no penalty or loss of benefits you are entitled to receive if you stop taking part in this study. Voluntary participation or withdrawal from this study will have no impact on the job status of any participant.

#### You can get the answers to your questions, concerns, or complaints

If you have any questions, concerns, or complaints about this study, or experience an adverse event or unanticipated problem, call Milton Huling at 863-370-3087.

If you have questions about your rights as a participant in this study, general questions, or have complaints, concerns or issues you want to discuss with someone outside the research, call the USF IRB at (813) 974-5638.

## **Consent to Take Part in this Research Study**

It is up to you to decide whether you want to take part in this study. If you agree to take part, please choose yes, to agree to participate. By choosing the YES option, you are affirming that you have read and understand this document and agree to participate in Phase One of this research.

If you want to take part, please choose the YES option and press submit, if the following statements are true.

I freely give my consent to take part in this study as agreed above, be collected/disclosed in this study. I understand that by choosing YES and completing this electronic survey form I am agreeing to take part in Phase One of this research. Please print this page for future use.